INTERNATIONAL TRADE LAW THROUGH THE CASES



J.H.H. Weiler NYU School of Law

Julian Arato University of Michigan Law School

Sungjoon Cho Chicago-Kent College of Law

Kathleen Claussen Georgetown University Law Center

Unit XI: Trade in Services (GATS) and Dispute Settlement (DSU)

International Trade Law Through the Cases

Unit XI: Trade in Services (GATS) and Dispute Settlement (DSU)

Table of Contents

SUPPLEMENTARY READING	2
1. INTRODUCTION TO SERVICES	3
1-1. Overview	3
1-2. Relevant Provisions	6
1-3. SCHEDULES OF SPECIFIC COMMITMENTS	22
2. UNITED STATES – MEASURES AFFECTING THE CROSS-BORDER SUPPLY OF	
GAMBLING AND BETTING SERVICES (THE GAMBLING DISPUTE)	27
2-1. Introduction	27
2-2. HISTORY OF THE GAMBLING DISPUTE	28
2-3. APPELLATE BODY REPORT IN GAMBLING	30
2-3-A. United States – Measures affecting the cross-border supply of gambling and	
betting services, Appellate Body Report, 7 April 2005, WT/DS285/AB/R	30
2-3-B. Meeting of the Dispute Settlement Body on April 20, 2005	87
2-4. Arbitration under Article 21.3(c) DSU	89
2-5. COMPLIANCE PROCEEDING UNDER ARTICLE 21.5 DSU	102
2-6. Arbitration under Article 22.6 DSU	135
2-7. MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF CONCESSIONS – ARTICLE XXI GATS	179
2-7-A. Procedures for the implementation of Article XXI of the General Agreement on	
Trade in Services (GATS) (Modification of Schedules)	179
2-7-B. Modification of gambling concessions by the United States	183

Supplementary Reading

The following are suggestions for supplementary reading on the law of the GATS. For supplementary reading on Dispute Settlement in the WTO see Unit X.

Peter van den Bossche and Werner Zdouc, <u>The Law and Policy of the World Trade Organization</u>, 5th ed. 2021, 173-336.

Raj Bhala, Modern GATT Law. A Treatise on the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, 2013, 98-134.

Michael J. Trebilcock, Robert Howse, and Antonia Eliasson, <u>The Regulation of International Trade</u>, 4th ed. 2013, 172-227, 472-514.

John H. Jackson, William J. Davey, Alan O. Sykes, <u>International Economic Relations: Cases, Materials, and Text on the National and International Regulation of Transnational Economic Relations</u>, 6th ed. 2013, 271-399, 1035-1105.

John H. Jackson, <u>The World Trading System</u>, 2nd ed. 1997, 107-138; 306-310.

1. Introduction to Services

1-1. OVERVIEW

http://www.wto.org/english/thewto e/whatis e/tif e/agrm6 e.htm

Services: rules for growth and investment

The <u>General Agreement on Trade in Services</u> (GATS) is the first and only set of multilateral rules governing international trade in services. Negotiated in the Uruguay Round, it was developed in response to the growth of the services economy and the increasing importance of services in world trade.

Services represent the fastest growing sector of the global economy and account for over two thirds of global output and nearly 20% of global trade. In value-added terms, services account for approximately 50% of world trade.

When the idea of bringing rules on services into the multilateral trading system was floated in the early to mid-1980s, a number of countries were sceptical. The agreement that was developed, however, allows a high degree of flexibility, both within the framework of rules and also in terms of the market access commitments.

GATS explained

The General Agreement on Trade in Services has three elements: the main text containing general obligations and disciplines; annexes containing provisions on specific sectors; and individual members' specific commitments to provide guarantees of access to their markets and non-discriminatory treatment.

General obligations and disciplines

Scope: The agreement covers all internationally-traded services — for example, banking, telecommunications, tourism, professional services, etc. The only services excluded from the scope of the GATS are "services provided under governmental authority" and air transport services, except for aircraft repair and maintenance, the selling and marketing of air transport services, and computer reservation system (CRS) services. It also defines four ways (or "modes") of trading services:

- services supplied from one country to another (e.g. international telephone calls), officially known as "**cross-border supply**" (in WTO jargon, "mode 1")
- services supplied to consumers of one member in the territory of another member (e.g. tourism), officially "consumption abroad" ("mode 2")
- a foreign company setting up subsidiaries or branches to provide services in another country (e.g. foreign banks setting up operations in a country), officially "commercial presence" ("mode 3")
- individuals travelling from their own country to supply services in another (e.g. fashion models or consultants), officially "presence of natural persons" ("mode 4")

Most-favoured-nation (MFN) treatment (Article II): Favour one, favour all. <u>MFN</u> essentially means treating one's trading partners equally on the principle of non-discrimination. Under GATS, if a country allows foreign suppliers in a sector, equal opportunities in that sector should be given to service providers from all other WTO members. (This applies even if the country has made no specific commitment to provide foreign companies access to its markets under the WTO.)

MFN applies to all services, but the Agreement allowed members, at the date of entry into effect of the Agreement, to list exemptions to protect certain practices inconsistent with Article II. The Agreement provides that these exemptions should, in principle, not exceed a period of 10 years. More than 90 members currently maintain such exemptions.

Commitments on market access and national treatment (Articles XVI and XVII): Individual members' commitments to open markets in specific sectors — and how open those markets will be — are the outcome of negotiations. The commitments appear in "schedules" that list the sectors to which the obligations of market access and national treatment will apply, and the extent to which measures inconsistent with "market access" and "national treatment" may be used in different modes of supply (e.g., limitations on foreign capital participation).

These clearly defined commitments are "bound": like bound tariffs for trade in goods, they can only be modified after negotiations with affected countries. Because "unbinding" is difficult, the commitments are virtually guaranteed conditions for foreign exporters and importers of services and investors in the sector to do business.

Transparency. GATS says governments must publish all relevant laws and regulations, and set up enquiry points within their bureaucracies. Foreign companies and governments can then use these inquiry points to obtain information about regulations in any service sector. And they have to notify the WTO of any changes in regulations that apply to the services that come under specific commitments.

Regulations: objective and reasonable. Since domestic regulations are the most significant means of exercising influence or control over services trade, the agreement says governments should regulate services reasonably, objectively and impartially. When a government makes an administrative decision that affects a service, it should also provide an impartial means for reviewing the decision (for example a tribunal).

Recognition. When two (or more) governments have agreements recognizing each other's qualifications (for example, the licensing or certification of service suppliers), GATS says other members must also be given a chance to negotiate comparable pacts. The recognition of other countries' qualifications must not be discriminatory, and it must not amount to protectionism in disguise. These recognition agreements have to be notified to the WTO.

International payments and transfers. Once a government has made a commitment to open a service sector to foreign competition, it must not normally restrict money being transferred out of the country as payment for services supplied ("current transactions") in that sector. The only exception is when there are balance-of-payments difficulties, and even then the restrictions must be temporary and subject to other limits and conditions.

Progressive liberalization. The Uruguay Round was only the beginning. GATS requires more negotiations, which began in early 2000 and are now part of the Doha Development Agenda. The goal is to take the liberalization process further by increasing the level of commitments in schedules.

The annexes: services are not all the same

International trade in goods is a relatively simple idea to grasp: a product is transported from one country to another. Trade in services is much more diverse. Telephone companies, banks, airlines and accountancy firms provide their services in quite different ways. The GATS annexes reflect some of the diversity.

Movement of natural persons. This annex deals with negotiations on individuals' rights to stay temporarily in a country for the purpose of providing a service. It specifies that the agreement does not apply to people seeking permanent employment or to conditions for obtaining citizenship, permanent residence or permanent employment.

Financial services. Instability in the banking system affects the whole economy. The financial services annex says governments have the right to take prudential measures, such as those for the protection of investors, depositors and insurance policy holders, and to ensure the integrity and stability of the financial system. It also excludes from the agreement services provided when a government is exercising its authority over the financial system, for example central banks' services.

Telecommunications. The telecommunications sector has a dual role: it is a distinct sector of economic activity; and it is an underlying means of supplying other economic activities (for example electronic money transfers). The annex says governments must ensure that foreign service suppliers are given access to the public telecommunications networks without discrimination.

Air transport services. Under this annex, traffic rights and directly related activities are excluded from GATS's coverage. They are handled by other bilateral agreements. However, the annex establishes that the GATS will apply to aircraft repair and maintenance services, marketing of air transport services and computer-reservation services.

1-2. Treaty Text

Read carefully the following primary sources, excerpted below.

- GATS Preamble, Arts. I-III, V-VII, IX, XIII-XIV bis, XVI-XXIII, XXVIII

Preamble

Members.

Recognizing the growing importance of trade in services for the growth and development of the world economy;

Wishing to establish a multilateral framework of principles and rules for trade in services with a view to the expansion of such trade under conditions of transparency and progressive liberalization and as a means of promoting the economic growth of all trading partners and the development of developing countries:

Desiring the early achievement of progressively higher levels of liberalization of trade in services through successive rounds of multilateral negotiations aimed at promoting the interests of all participants on a mutually advantageous basis and at securing an overall balance of rights and obligations, while giving due respect to national policy objectives;

Recognizing the right of Members to regulate, and to introduce new regulations, on the supply of services within their territories in order to meet national policy objectives and, given asymmetries existing with respect to the degree of development of services regulations in different countries, the particular need of developing countries to exercise this right;

Desiring to facilitate the increasing participation of developing countries in trade in services and the expansion of their service exports including, inter alia, through the strengthening of their domestic services capacity and its efficiency and competitiveness;

Taking particular account of the serious difficulty of the least-developed countries in view of their special economic situation and their development, trade and financial needs;

Hereby agree as follows:

Article I

Scope and Definition

- 1. This Agreement applies to measures by Members affecting trade in services.
- 2. For the purposes of this Agreement, trade in services is defined as the supply of a service:

- (a) from the territory of one Member into the territory of any other Member;
- (b) in the territory of one Member to the service consumer of any other Member;
- (c) by a service supplier of one Member, through commercial presence in the territory of any other Member;
- (d) by a service supplier of one Member, through presence of natural persons of a Member in the territory of any other Member.
- 3. For the purposes of this Agreement:
 - (a) "measures by Members" means measures taken by:
 - (i) central, regional or local governments and authorities; and
 - (ii) non-governmental bodies in the exercise of powers delegated by central, regional or local governments or authorities;

In fulfilling its obligations and commitments under the Agreement, each Member shall take such reasonable measures as may be available to it to ensure their observance by regional and local governments and authorities and non-governmental bodies within its territory;

- (b) "services" includes any service in any sector except services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority;
- (c) "a service supplied in the exercise of governmental authority" means any service which is supplied neither on a commercial basis, nor in competition with one or more service suppliers.

Article II

Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment

- 1. With respect to any measure covered by this Agreement, each Member shall accord immediately and unconditionally to services and service suppliers of any other Member treatment no less favourable than that it accords to like services and service suppliers of any other country.
- 2. A Member may maintain a measure inconsistent with paragraph 1 provided that such a measure is listed in, and meets the conditions of, the Annex on Article II Exemptions.
- 3. The provisions of this Agreement shall not be so construed as to prevent any Member from conferring or according advantages to adjacent countries in order to facilitate exchanges limited to contiguous frontier zones of services that are both locally produced and consumed.

Article III

Transparency

- 1. Each Member shall publish promptly and, except in emergency situations, at the latest by the time of their entry into force, all relevant measures of general application which pertain to or affect the operation of this Agreement. International agreements pertaining to or affecting trade in services to which a Member is a signatory shall also be published.
- 2. Where publication as referred to in paragraph 1 is not practicable, such information shall be made otherwise publicly available.
- 3. Each Member shall promptly and at least annually inform the Council for Trade in Services of the introduction of any new, or any changes to existing, laws, regulations or administrative guidelines which significantly affect trade in services covered by its specific commitments under this Agreement.
- 4. Each Member shall respond promptly to all requests by any other Member for specific information on any of its measures of general application or international agreements within the meaning of paragraph 1. Each Member shall also establish one or more enquiry points to provide specific information to other Members, upon request, on all such matters as well as those subject to the notification requirement in paragraph 3. Such enquiry points shall be established within two years from the date of entry into force of the Agreement Establishing the WTO (referred to in this Agreement as the "WTO Agreement"). Appropriate flexibility with respect to the time-limit within which such enquiry points are to be established may be agreed upon for individual developing country Members. Enquiry points need not be depositories of laws and regulations.
- 5. Any Member may notify to the Council for Trade in Services any measure, taken by any other Member, which it considers affects the operation of this Agreement.

(...)

Article V

Economic Integration

- 1. This Agreement shall not prevent any of its Members from being a party to or entering into an agreement liberalizing trade in services between or among the parties to such an agreement, provided that such an agreement:
 - (a) has substantial sectoral coverage, and
 - (b) provides for the absence or elimination of substantially all discrimination, in the sense of Article XVII, between or among the parties, in the sectors covered under subparagraph (a), through:
 - (i) elimination of existing discriminatory measures, and/or
 - (ii) prohibition of new or more discriminatory measures,

either at the entry into force of that agreement or on the basis of a reasonable time-frame, except for measures permitted under Articles XI, XII, XIV and XIV bis.

- 2. In evaluating whether the conditions under paragraph 1(b) are met, consideration may be given to the relationship of the agreement to a wider process of economic integration or trade liberalization among the countries concerned.
- 3. (a) Where developing countries are parties to an agreement of the type referred to in paragraph 1, flexibility shall be provided for regarding the conditions set out in paragraph 1, particularly with reference to subparagraph (b) thereof, in accordance with the level of development of the countries concerned, both overall and in individual sectors and subsectors.
 - (b) Notwithstanding paragraph 6, in the case of an agreement of the type referred to in paragraph 1 involving only developing countries, more favourable treatment may be granted to juridical persons owned or controlled by natural persons of the parties to such an agreement.
- 4. Any agreement referred to in paragraph 1 shall be designed to facilitate trade between the parties to the agreement and shall not in respect of any Member outside the agreement raise the overall level of barriers to trade in services within the respective sectors or subsectors compared to the level applicable prior to such an agreement.
- 5. If, in the conclusion, enlargement or any significant modification of any agreement under paragraph 1, a Member intends to withdraw or modify a specific commitment inconsistently with the terms and conditions set out in its Schedule, it shall provide at least 90 days advance notice of such modification or withdrawal and the procedure set forth in paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of Article XXI shall apply.
- 6. A service supplier of any other Member that is a juridical person constituted under the laws of a party to an agreement referred to in paragraph 1 shall be entitled to treatment granted under such agreement, provided that it engages in substantive business operations in the territory of the parties to such agreement.
- 7. (a) Members which are parties to any agreement referred to in paragraph 1 shall promptly notify any such agreement and any enlargement or any significant modification of that agreement to the Council for Trade in Services. They shall also make available to the Council such relevant information as may be requested by it. The Council may establish a working party to examine such an agreement or enlargement or modification of that agreement and to report to the Council on its consistency with this Article.
 - (b) Members which are parties to any agreement referred to in paragraph 1 which is implemented on the basis of a time-frame shall report periodically to the Council for Trade in Services on its implementation. The Council may establish a working party to examine such reports if it deems such a working party necessary
 - (c) Based on the reports of the working parties referred to in subparagraphs (a) and (b), the Council may make recommendations to the parties as it deems appropriate.
- 8. A Member which is a party to any agreement referred to in paragraph 1 may not seek compensation for trade benefits that may accrue to any other Member from such agreement.

Article V bis

Labour Markets Integration Agreements

This Agreement shall not prevent any of its Members from being a party to an agreement establishing full integration of the labour markets between or among the parties to such an agreement, provided that such an agreement:

- (a) exempts citizens of parties to the agreement from requirements concerning residency and work permits;
- (b) is notified to the Council for Trade in Services

Article VI

Domestic Regulation

- 1. In sectors where specific commitments are undertaken, each Member shall ensure that all measures of general application affecting trade in services are administered in a reasonable, objective and impartial manner.
- 2. (a) Each Member shall maintain or institute as soon as practicable judicial, arbitral or administrative tribunals or procedures which provide, at the request of an affected service supplier, for the prompt review of, and where justified, appropriate remedies for, administrative decisions affecting trade in services. Where such procedures are not independent of the agency entrusted with the administrative decision concerned, the Member shall ensure that the procedures in fact provide for an objective and impartial review.
 - (b) The provisions of subparagraph (a) shall not be construed to require a Member to institute such tribunals or procedures where this would be inconsistent with its constitutional structure or the nature of its legal system.
- 3. Where authorization is required for the supply of a service on which a specific commitment has been made, the competent authorities of a Member shall, within a reasonable period of time after the submission of an application considered complete under domestic laws and regulations, inform the applicant of the decision concerning the application. At the request of the applicant, the competent authorities of the Member shall provide, without undue delay, information concerning the status of the application.
- 4. With a view to ensuring that measures relating to qualification requirements and procedures, technical standards and licensing requirements do not constitute unnecessary barriers to trade in services, the Council for Trade in Services shall, through appropriate bodies it may establish, develop any necessary disciplines. Such disciplines shall aim to ensure that such requirements are, *inter alia*:
 - (a) based on objective and transparent criteria, such as competence and the ability to supply the service;

- (b) not more burdensome than necessary to ensure the quality of the service;
- (c) in the case of licensing procedures, not in themselves a restriction on the supply of the service.
- 5. (a) In sectors in which a Member has undertaken specific commitments, pending the entry into force of disciplines developed in these sectors pursuant to paragraph 4, the Member shall not apply licensing and qualification requirements and technical standards that nullify or impair such specific commitments in a manner which:
 - (i) does not comply with the criteria outlined in subparagraphs 4(a), (b) or (c); and
 - (ii) could not reasonably have been expected of that Member at the time the specific commitments in those sectors were made.
 - (b) In determining whether a Member is in conformity with the obligation under paragraph 5(a), account shall be taken of international standards of relevant international organizations applied by that Member.
- 6. In sectors where specific commitments regarding professional services are undertaken, each Member shall provide for adequate procedures to verify the competence of professionals of any other Member.

Article VII

Recognition

- 1. For the purposes of the fulfilment, in whole or in part, of its standards or criteria for the authorization, licensing or certification of services suppliers, and subject to the requirements of paragraph 3, a Member may recognize the education or experience obtained, requirements met, or licenses or certifications granted in a particular country. Such recognition, which may be achieved through harmonization or otherwise, may be based upon an agreement or arrangement with the country concerned or may be accorded autonomously.
- 2. A Member that is a party to an agreement or arrangement of the type referred to in paragraph 1, whether existing or future, shall afford adequate opportunity for other interested Members to negotiate their accession to such an agreement or arrangement or to negotiate comparable ones with it. Where a Member accords recognition autonomously, it shall afford adequate opportunity for any other Member to demonstrate that education, experience, licenses, or certifications obtained or requirements met in that other Member's territory should be recognized.
- 3. A Member shall not accord recognition in a manner which would constitute a means of discrimination between countries in the application of its standards or criteria for the authorization, licensing or certification of services suppliers, or a disguised restriction on trade in services.

4. Each Member shall:

(a) within 12 months from the date on which the WTO Agreement takes effect for it, inform the Council for Trade in Services of its existing recognition measures and state whether

- such measures are based on agreements or arrangements of the type referred to in paragraph 1;
- (b) promptly inform the Council for Trade in Services as far in advance as possible of the opening of negotiations on an agreement or arrangement of the type referred to in paragraph 1 in order to provide adequate opportunity to any other Member to indicate their interest in participating in the negotiations before they enter a substantive phase;
- (c) promptly inform the Council for Trade in Services when it adopts new recognition measures or significantly modifies existing ones and state whether the measures are based on an agreement or arrangement of the type referred to in paragraph 1.
- 5. Wherever appropriate, recognition should be based on multilaterally agreed criteria. In appropriate cases, Members shall work in cooperation with relevant intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations towards the establishment and adoption of common international standards and criteria for recognition and common international standards for the practice of relevant services trades and professions.

(...)

Article IX

Business Practices

- 1. Members recognize that certain business practices of service suppliers, other than those falling under Article VIII, may restrain competition and thereby restrict trade in services.
- 2. Each Member shall, at the request of any other Member, enter into consultations with a view to eliminating practices referred to in paragraph 1. The Member addressed shall accord full and sympathetic consideration to such a request and shall cooperate through the supply of publicly available non-confidential information of relevance to the matter in question. The Member addressed shall also provide other information available to the requesting Member, subject to its domestic law and to the conclusion of satisfactory agreement concerning the safeguarding of its confidentiality by the requesting Member.

(...)

Article XIII

Government Procurement

- 1. Articles II, XVI and XVII shall not apply to laws, regulations or requirements governing the procurement by governmental agencies of services purchased for governmental purposes and not with a view to commercial resale or with a view to use in the supply of services for commercial sale.
- 2. There shall be multilateral negotiations on government procurement in services under this Agreement within two years from the date of entry into force of the WTO Agreement.

Article XIV

General Exceptions

Subject to the requirement that such measures are not applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail, or a disguised restriction on trade in services, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent the adoption or enforcement by any Member of measures:

- (a) necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order;
- (b) necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health;
- (c) necessary to secure compliance with laws or regulations which are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement including those relating to:
 - (i) the prevention of deceptive and fraudulent practices or to deal with the effects of a default on services contracts;
 - (ii) the protection of the privacy of individuals in relation to the processing and dissemination of personal data and the protection of confidentiality of individual records and accounts;
 - (iii) safety;
- (d) inconsistent with Article XVII, provided that the difference in treatment is aimed at ensuring the equitable or effective6 imposition or collection of direct taxes in respect of services or service suppliers of other Members;
- (e) inconsistent with Article II, provided that the difference in treatment is the result of an agreement on the avoidance of double taxation or provisions on the avoidance of double taxation in any other international agreement or arrangement by which the Member is bound.

Article XIV bis

Security Exceptions

- 1. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed:
 - (a) to require any Member to furnish any information, the disclosure of which it considers contrary to its essential security interests; or
 - (b) to prevent any Member from taking any action which it considers necessary for the protection of its essential security interests:
 - (i) relating to the supply of services as carried out directly or indirectly for the purpose of provisioning a military establishment;
 - (ii) relating to fissionable and fusionable materials or the materials from which they are derived;
 - (iii) taken in time of war or other emergency in international relations; or

- (c) to prevent any Member from taking any action in pursuance of its obligations under the United Nations Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security.
- 2. The Council for Trade in Services shall be informed to the fullest extent possible of measures taken under paragraphs 1(b) and (c) and of their termination.

(...)

Article XVI

Market Access

- 1. With respect to market access through the modes of supply identified in Article I, each Member shall accord services and service suppliers of any other Member treatment no less favourable than that provided for under the terms, limitations and conditions agreed and specified in its Schedule.
- 2. In sectors where market-access commitments are undertaken, the measures which a Member shall not maintain or adopt either on the basis of a regional subdivision or on the basis of its entire territory, unless otherwise specified in its Schedule, are defined as:
 - (a) limitations on the number of service suppliers whether in the form of numerical quotas, monopolies, exclusive service suppliers or the requirements of an economic needs test;
 - (b) limitations on the total value of service transactions or assets in the form of numerical quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test;
 - (c) limitations on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output expressed in terms of designated numerical units in the form of quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test;
 - (d) limitations on the total number of natural persons that may be employed in a particular service sector or that a service supplier may employ and who are necessary for, and directly related to, the supply of a specific service in the form of numerical quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test;
 - (e) measures which restrict or require specific types of legal entity or joint venture through which a service supplier may supply a service; and
 - (f) limitations on the participation of foreign capital in terms of maximum percentage limit on foreign shareholding or the total value of individual or aggregate foreign investment.

Article XVII

National Treatment

1. In the sectors inscribed in its Schedule, and subject to any conditions and qualifications set out therein, each Member shall accord to services and service suppliers of any other Member, in respect of all measures affecting the supply of services, treatment no less favourable than that it accords to its own like services and service suppliers.

- 2. A Member may meet the requirement of paragraph 1 by according to services and service suppliers of any other Member, either formally identical treatment or formally different treatment to that it accords to its own like services and service suppliers.
- 3. Formally identical or formally different treatment shall be considered to be less favourable if it modifies the conditions of competition in favour of services or service suppliers of the Member compared to like services or service suppliers of any other Member.

Article XVIII

Additional Commitments

Members may negotiate commitments with respect to measures affecting trade in services not subject to scheduling under Articles XVI or XVII, including those regarding qualifications, standards or licensing matters. Such commitments shall be inscribed in a Member's Schedule.

Article XIX

Negotiation of Specific Commitments

- 1. In pursuance of the objectives of this Agreement, Members shall enter into successive rounds of negotiations, beginning not later than five years from the date of entry into force of the WTO Agreement and periodically thereafter, with a view to achieving a progressively higher level of liberalization. Such negotiations shall be directed to the reduction or elimination of the adverse effects on trade in services of measures as a means of providing effective market access. This process shall take place with a view to promoting the interests of all participants on a mutually advantageous basis and to securing an overall balance of rights and obligations.
- 2. The process of liberalization shall take place with due respect for national policy objectives and the level of development of individual Members, both overall and in individual sectors. There shall be appropriate flexibility for individual developing country Members for opening fewer sectors, liberalizing fewer types of transactions, progressively extending market access in line with their development situation and, when making access to their markets available to foreign service suppliers, attaching to such access conditions aimed at achieving the objectives referred to in Article IV.
- 3. For each round, negotiating guidelines and procedures shall be established. For the purposes of establishing such guidelines, the Council for Trade in Services shall carry out an assessment of trade in services in overall terms and on a sectoral basis with reference to the objectives of this Agreement, including those set out in paragraph 1 of Article IV. Negotiating guidelines shall establish modalities for the treatment of liberalization undertaken autonomously by Members since previous negotiations, as well as for the special treatment for least-developed country Members under the provisions of paragraph 3 of Article IV.
- 4. The process of progressive liberalization shall be advanced in each such round through bilateral, plurilateral or multilateral negotiations directed towards increasing the general level of specific commitments undertaken by Members under this Agreement.

Article XX

Schedules of Specific Commitments

- 1. Each Member shall set out in a schedule the specific commitments it undertakes under Part III of this Agreement. With respect to sectors where such commitments are undertaken, each Schedule shall specify:
 - (a) terms, limitations and conditions on market access;
 - (b) conditions and qualifications on national treatment;
 - (c) undertakings relating to additional commitments;
 - (d) where appropriate the time-frame for implementation of such commitments; and
 - (e) the date of entry into force of such commitments.
- 2. Measures inconsistent with both Articles XVI and XVII shall be inscribed in the column relating to Article XVI. In this case the inscription will be considered to provide a condition or qualification to Article XVII as well.
- 3. Schedules of specific commitments shall be annexed to this Agreement and shall form an integral part thereof.

Article XXI

Modification of Schedules

- 1. (a) A Member (referred to in this Article as the "modifying Member") may modify or withdraw any commitment in its Schedule, at any time after three years have elapsed from the date on which that commitment entered into force, in accordance with the provisions of this Article.
 - (b) A modifying Member shall notify its intent to modify or withdraw a commitment pursuant to this Article to the Council for Trade in Services no later than three months before the intended date of implementation of the modification or withdrawal.
- 2. (a) At the request of any Member the benefits of which under this Agreement may be affected (referred to in this Article as an "affected Member") by a proposed modification or withdrawal notified under subparagraph 1(b), the modifying Member shall enter into negotiations with a view to reaching agreement on any necessary compensatory adjustment. In such negotiations and agreement, the Members concerned shall endeavour to maintain a general level of mutually advantageous commitments not less favourable to trade than that provided for in Schedules of specific commitments prior to such negotiations.
 - (b) Compensatory adjustments shall be made on a most-favoured-nation basis.

- 3. (a) If agreement is not reached between the modifying Member and any affected Member before the end of the period provided for negotiations, such affected Member may refer the matter to arbitration. Any affected Member that wishes to enforce a right that it may have to compensation must participate in the arbitration.
 - (b) If no affected Member has requested arbitration, the modifying Member shall be free to implement the proposed modification or withdrawal.
- 4. (a) The modifying Member may not modify or withdraw its commitment until it has made compensatory adjustments in conformity with the findings of the arbitration.
 - (b) If the modifying Member implements its proposed modification or withdrawal and does not comply with the findings of the arbitration, any affected Member that participated in the arbitration may modify or withdraw substantially equivalent benefits in conformity with those findings. Notwithstanding Article II, such a modification or withdrawal may be implemented solely with respect to the modifying Member.
- 5. The Council for Trade in Services shall establish procedures for rectification or modification of Schedules. Any Member which has modified or withdrawn scheduled commitments under this Article shall modify its Schedule according to such procedures.

Article XXII

Consultation

- 1. Each Member shall accord sympathetic consideration to, and shall afford adequate opportunity for, consultation regarding such representations as may be made by any other Member with respect to any matter affecting the operation of this Agreement. The Dispute Settlement Understanding (DSU) shall apply to such consultations.
- 2. The Council for Trade in Services or the Dispute Settlement Body (DSB) may, at the request of a Member, consult with any Member or Members in respect of any matter for which it has not been possible to find a satisfactory solution through consultation under paragraph 1.
- 3. A Member may not invoke Article XVII, either under this Article or Article XXIII, with respect to a measure of another Member that falls within the scope of an international agreement between them relating to the avoidance of double taxation. In case of disagreement between Members as to whether a measure falls within the scope of such an agreement between them, it shall be open to either Member to bring this matter before the Council for Trade in Services. The Council shall refer the matter to arbitration. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the Members.

Article XXIII

Dispute Settlement and Enforcement

- 1. If any Member should consider that any other Member fails to carry out its obligations or specific commitments under this Agreement, it may with a view to reaching a mutually satisfactory resolution of the matter have recourse to the DSU.
- 2. If the DSB considers that the circumstances are serious enough to justify such action, it may authorize a Member or Members to suspend the application to any other Member or Members of obligations and specific commitments in accordance with Article 22 of the DSU.
- 3. If any Member considers that any benefit it could reasonably have expected to accrue to it under a specific commitment of another Member under Part III of this Agreement is being nullified or impaired as a result of the application of any measure which does not conflict with the provisions of this Agreement, it may have recourse to the DSU. If the measure is determined by the DSB to have nullified or impaired such a benefit, the Member affected shall be entitled to a mutually satisfactory adjustment on the basis of paragraph 2 of Article XXI, which may include the modification or withdrawal of the measure. In the event an agreement cannot be reached between the Members concerned, Article 22 of the DSU shall apply.

(...)

Article XXVIII

Definitions

For the purpose of this agreement

- (a) "measure" means any measure by a Member, whether in the form of a law, regulation, rule, procedure, decision, administrative action, or any other form;
- (b) "supply of a service" includes the production, distribution, marketing, sale and delivery of a service;
- (c) "measures by Members affecting trade in services" include measures in respect of
 - (i) the purchase, payment or use of a service;
 - (ii) the access to and use of, in connection with the supply of a service, services which are required by those Members to be offered to the public generally;
 - (iii) the presence, including commercial presence, of persons of a Member for the supply of a service in the territory of another Member;
- (d) "commercial presence" means any type of business or professional establishment, including through
 - (i) the constitution, acquisition or maintenance of a juridical person, or
 - (ii) the creation or maintenance of a branch or a representative office, within the territory of a Member for the purpose of supplying a service;
- (e) "sector" of a service means,

- (i) with reference to a specific commitment, one or more, or all, subsectors of that service, as specified in a Member's Schedule,
- (ii) otherwise, the whole of that service sector, including all of its subsectors;
- (f) "service of another Member" means a service which is supplied,
 - (i) from or in the territory of that other Member, or in the case of maritime transport, by a vessel registered under the laws of that other Member, or by a person of that other Member which supplies the service through the operation of a vessel and/or its use in whole or in part; or
 - (ii) in the case of the supply of a service through commercial presence or through the presence of natural persons, by a service supplier of that other Member;
- (g) "service supplier" means any person that supplies a service;
- (h) "monopoly supplier of a service" means any person, public or private, which in the relevant market of the territory of a Member is authorized or established formally or in effect by that Member as the sole supplier of that service;
- (i) "service consumer" means any person that receives or uses a service;
- (j) "person" means either a natural person or a juridical person;
- (k) "natural person of another Member" means a natural person who resides in the territory of that other Member or any other Member, and who under the law of that other Member:
 - (i) is a national of that other Member; or
 - (ii) has the right of permanent residence in that other Member, in the case of a Member which:
 - 1. does not have nationals; or
 - 2. accords substantially the same treatment to its permanent residents as it does to its nationals in respect of measures affecting trade in services, as notified in its acceptance of or accession to the WTO Agreement, provided that no Member is obligated to accord to such permanent residents treatment more favourable than would be accorded by that other Member to such permanent residents. Such notification shall include the assurance to assume, with respect to those permanent residents, in accordance with its laws and regulations, the same responsibilities that other Member bears with respect to its nationals;
- (l) "juridical person" means any legal entity duly constituted or otherwise organized under applicable law, whether for profit or otherwise, and whether privately-owned or governmentally-owned, including any corporation, trust, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship or association;
- (m) "juridical person of another Member" means a juridical person which is either:

- (i) constituted or otherwise organized under the law of that other Member, and is engaged in substantive business operations in the territory of that Member or any other Member; or
- (ii) in the case of the supply of a service through commercial presence, owned or controlled by:
 - 1. natural persons of that Member; or
 - 2. juridical persons of that other Member identified under subparagraph (i);
- (n) a juridical person is:
 - (i) "owned" by persons of a Member if more than 50 per cent of the equity interest in it is beneficially owned by persons of that Member;
 - (ii) "controlled" by persons of a Member if such persons have the power to name a majority of its directors or otherwise to legally direct its actions;
 - (iii) "affiliated" with another person when it controls, or is controlled by, that other person; or when it and the other person are both controlled by the same person;
- (o) "direct taxes" comprise all taxes on total income, on total capital or on elements of income or of capital, including taxes on gains from the alienation of property, taxes on estates, inheritances and gifts, and taxes on the total amounts of wages or salaries paid by enterprises, as well as taxes on capital appreciation.

DECISION ON INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TRADE IN SERVICES

Ministers decide to recommend that the Council for Trade in Services at its first meeting adopt the decision on subsidiary bodies set out below.

The Council for Trade in Services,

Acting pursuant to Article XXIV with a view to facilitating the operation and furthering the objectives of the General Agreement on Trade in Services,

Decides as follows:

- 1. Any subsidiary bodies that the Council may establish shall report to the Council annually or more often as necessary. Each such body shall establish its own rules of procedure, and may set up its own subsidiary bodies as appropriate.
- 2. Any sectoral committee shall carry out responsibilities as assigned to it by the Council, and shall afford Members the opportunity to consult on any matters relating to trade in services in the sector concerned and the operation of the sectoral annex to which it may pertain. Such responsibilities shall include:

- (a) to keep under continuous review and surveillance the application of the Agreement with respect to the sector concerned;
- (b) to formulate proposals or recommendations for consideration by the Council in connection with any matter relating to trade in the sector concerned;
- (c) if there is an annex pertaining to the sector, to consider proposals for amendment of that sectoral annex, and to make appropriate recommend-ations to the Council;
- (d) to provide a forum for technical discussions, to conduct studies on measures of Members and to conduct examinations of any other technical matters affecting trade in services in the sector concerned;
- (e) to provide technical assistance to developing country Members and developing countries negotiating accession to the Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization in respect of the application of obligations or other matters affecting trade in services in the sector concerned; and
- (f) to cooperate with any other subsidiary bodies established under the General Agreement on Trade in Services or any international organizations active in any sector concerned.
- 3. There is hereby established a Committee on Trade in Financial Services which will have the responsibilities listed in paragraph 2.

1-3. SCHEDULES OF SPECIFIC COMMITMENTS

http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/serv_e/guide1_e.htm

Guide to reading the GATS schedules of specific commitments and the list of article II (MFN) exemptions

The General Agreement on Trade in Services consists of the framework agreement (the Articles of the Agreement), its Annexes, the schedules of members' specific commitments and the lists of Article II (MFN) exemptions submitted by WTO. The schedules and the exemption lists are integral parts of the Agreement.

Introduction

At the time of the signature of the Final Act of the Uruguay Round, on 15 April 1994, 95 schedules of specific commitments in services and 61 lists of derogations from the MFN principle had been submitted and agreed.

It is only by reference to a country's schedule, and (where relevant) its MFN exemption list, that it can be seen to which services sectors and under what conditions the basic principles of the GATS -market access, national treatment and MFN treatment — apply within that country's jurisdiction. The schedules are complex documents in which each country identifies the service sectors to which it will apply the market access and national treatment obligations of the GATS and any exceptions from those obligations it wishes to maintain.

The commitments and limitations are in every case entered with respect to each of the four modes of supply which constitute the definition of trade in services in Article I of the GATS: these are cross-border supply; consumption abroad; commercial presence; and presence of natural persons:

Cross-border supply — the possibility for non-resident service suppliers to supply services cross-border into the Member's territory.

Consumption abroad — the freedom for the Member's residents to purchase services in the territory of another Member.

Commercial presence — the opportunities for foreign service suppliers to establish, operate or expand a commercial presence in the Member's territory, such as a branch, agency, or wholly-owned subsidiary.

Presence of natural persons — the possibilities offered for the entry and temporary stay in the Member's territory of foreign individuals in order to supply a service.

In order to determine the real level of market access represented by a given schedule it is therefore necessary to examine the range of activities covered in each service sector and the limitations on market access and national treatment pertaining to the different modes of supply. In addition, in cases where a country has also tabled a list of MFN exemptions, this must be examined in order to assess the extent to which the country gives preferential treatment to, or discriminate against, one or more of its trading partners.

The purpose of this introduction is to assist users to read and interpret the schedules and exemption lists and to assess their commercial significance.

Schedules of specific commitments

A specific commitment in a services schedule is an undertaking to provide market access and national treatment for the service activity in question on the terms and conditions specified in the schedule. When making a commitment a government therefore binds the specified level of market access and national treatment and undertakes not to impose any new measures that would restrict entry into the market or the operation of the service. Specific commitments thus have an effect similar to a tariff binding — they are a guarantee to economic operators in other countries that the conditions of entry and operation in the market will not be changed to their disadvantage.

Commitments can only be withdrawn or modified after the agreement of compensatory adjustments with affected members, and no withdrawals or modifications may be made until three years after entry into force of the commitments. Such modifications of commitments may not affect the application of most-favoured-nation (MFN) treatment. Commitments can however be added or improved at any time.

The national schedules all conform to a standard format which is intended to facilitate comparative analysis. For each service sector or sub-sector that is offered, the schedule must indicate, with respect to each of the four modes of supply, any limitations on market access or national treatment which are to be maintained. A commitment therefore consists of eight entries which indicate the presence or absence of market access or national treatment limitations with respect to each mode of supply. The first column in the standard format contains the sector or subsector which is the subject of the commitment; the second column contains limitations on market access; the third column contains limitations on national treatment. In the fourth column governments may enter any additional commitments which are not subject to scheduling under market access or national treatment.

In nearly all schedules, commitments are split into two sections. First, "horizontal" commitments stipulate limitations or undertakings that apply to all of the sectors included in the schedule; these often refer to a particular mode of supply, notably commercial presence and the presence of natural persons. Any evaluation of sector-specific commitments must therefore take the horizontal entries into account. In the second section of the schedule, commitments which apply to trade in services in a particular sector or subsector are listed.

The terminology used in schedules has also been standardized wherever possible. What follows is a description of the information which has to be inscribed in each column of the schedules and a summary of the terminology used.

The information that is entered in the columns

Sector or sub-sector column: this column contains a clear definition of the sector, subsector or activity that is the subject of the specific commitment. Members are free, subject to the results of their negotiations with other participants, to identify which sectors, subsectors or activities they will list in their schedules, and it is only to these that the commitments apply. It will be seen that committed sectors are sometimes very broad, as in "banking and other financial services" and sometimes very narrow, as in "noise abatement services".

In the great majority of schedules the order in which the sectors are listed corresponds to the Services Sectoral Classification List (MTN.GNS/W/120) which lists 12 broad sectors as follows:

1. Dusiness,
2. Communication;
3. Construction and Engineering;
4. Distribution;
5. Education;
6. Environment;
7. Financial;
8. Health;
9. Tourism and Travel;
10. Recreation, Cultural, and Sporting;
11. Transport;
12. "Other".

1 Rucinece

Furthermore, in most cases, the sectoral entries are accompanied by numerical references to the Central Product Classification of the United Nations which gives a detailed explanation of the services covered by each listed sector or subsector, and on which the W/120 Classification List is based. Where this was not possible, sectoral descriptions are to provide a sufficiently detailed definition to avoid any ambiguity as to the scope of the commitment.

Market access column: When a Member undertakes a commitment in a sector or subsector it must indicate for each mode of supply what limitations, if any, it maintains on market access. Article XVI:2 of the GATS lists six categories of restriction which may not be adopted or maintained unless they are specified in the schedule. All limitations in schedules therefore fall into one of these categories. They comprise four types of quantitative restriction plus limitations on types of legal entity and on foreign equity participation.

National treatment column: The national treatment obligation under Article XVII of the GATS is to accord to the services and service suppliers of any other Member treatment no less favourable than is accorded to like domestic services and like service suppliers. A Member wishing to maintain any limitations on national treatment — that is any measures which result in less-favourable treatment of foreign services or service suppliers — must indicate these limitations in the third column of its schedule

Additional commitments column: Entries in this column are not obligatory but a Member may decide in a given sector to make additional commitments relating to measures other than those subject to scheduling under Articles XVI and XVII, for example qualifications, standards and licensing matters.

This column is to be used to indicate positive undertakings, not the listing of additional limitations or restrictions.

How commitments are recorded in schedules

In essence, the entries which constitute a legally binding commitment in a Member's schedule indicate the presence or absence of limitations on market access and national treatment in relation to each of the four modes of supply for a listed sector, sub-sector or activity. In the following cases the entries use **uniform terminology**:

- Where there are no limitations on market access or national treatment in a given sector and mode of supply, the entry reads NONE. However, it should be noted that when the term NONE is used in the second or sector-specific part of the schedule it means that there no limitations **specific to this sector**: it must be borne in mind that, as noted above, there may be relevant horizontal limitations in the first part of the schedule.
- All commitments in a schedule are bound unless otherwise specified. In such a case, where a
 Member wishes to remain free in a given sector and mode of supply to introduce or maintain
 measures inconsistent with market access or national treatment, the Member has entered in the
 appropriate space the term UNBOUND.
- In some situations a particular mode of supply such as the cross-border supply of bridge-building services may not be technically possible or feasible. In such cases the term UNBOUND* has been used, usually in conjunction with an explanatory footnote stating "Unbound due to lack of technical feasibility".

In many cases it will be seen that there are textual descriptions of bound commitments which indicate limitations on market access or national treatment. Such entries, which vary in length considerably, do not use uniform terminology but are based on one of two **common approaches**:

- The entry describes in the appropriate space the nature of the limitation, indicating the elements which make it inconsistent with Articles XVI and XVII of the GATS.
- In some cases, Members have chosen to indicate a limited commitment by describing what they are offering rather than the limitations they are maintaining. Such an approach is often used to indicate the market access opportunities for the entry of certain categories of foreign natural persons who supply services.

B. Lists of Article II (MFN) exemptions

Most-favoured-nation treatment is a general obligation that applies to all measures affecting trade in services. However, it has been agreed that particular measures inconsistent with the MFN obligation can be maintained — in principle for not more than ten years and subject to review after not more than five years. Such measures must have been specified in a list of MFN Exemptions submitted at the entry into force of the GATS for the member concerned. Subsequently, requests for exemptions from Article II (MFN) can only be granted under the waiver procedures of the Marrakesh Agreement.

In contrast to the complex nature of schedules of commitments, these lists are largely self-explanatory and are structured in a straightforward manner. In order to ensure a complete and precise listing of a country's MFN exemptions, five types of information are required for each exemption:

- (i) Description of the sector or sectors in which the exemption applies;
- (ii) Description of the measure, indicating why it is inconsistent with Article II;
- (iii) The country or countries to which the measure applies;
- (iv) The intended duration of the exemption;
- (v) The conditions creating the need for the exemption.

It is a basic principle of the Agreement that specific commitments are applied on an MFN basis. Where commitments are entered, therefore, the effect of an MFN exemption can only be to permit more favourable treatment to be given to the member to which the exemption applies than is given to all other Members. Where there are no commitments, however, an MFN exemption may also permit less favourable treatment to be given. It is not necessary to list measures providing for preferential liberalization of trade in services among Members of economic integration agreements, such as Free Trade Areas; such preferential treatment is permitted under Article V of the GATS and must meet the criteria laid down in that Article.

2. United States – Measures affecting the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services (the "Gambling Dispute")

This Unit examines together the most important principles of the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) together with dispute settlement in the WTO, through a close study of the Gambling Dispute.

The initial Appellate Body Report of 2005 focuses on the substance of the GATS. Compare it to your study of the GATT. The Appellate Body's interpretation of the GATS can also be fruitfully compared to its case law on how the GATT relates to the TBT and SPS treaties.

The subsequent decisions illustrate the long arc of the dispute resolution process. As you read them consider carefully the effectiveness of the WTO dispute resolution process. How can it be effectively used? What are the prospects for abuse?

2-1. Introduction

From: D.A. Irwin & J.H.H. Weiler, Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services (DS 285), World T.R. 2008, 7(1), 71-113.

In the *US-Gambling* dispute, Antigua and Barbuda (Antigua) challenged a number of provisions of United States Federal and State law, notably the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act¹ which, according to Antigua amounted to an effective ban on internet gambling. This, it was alleged, effectively shut out Antiguan service providers in a sector in relation to which the United States had, in its Schedule, given a commitment namely "recreational, cultural, and sporting services" in violation of, notably, Article XVI GATS.

The United States denied that it had made such a commitment, argued that even if it had given such a commitment, the internal measures in question where origin neutral and of a regulatory nature and therefore did not violate its access commitments under Article XVI. It further argued that the measures in question where in furtherance of policies designed to protect "public morals and public order" and were thus permitted under the General Exceptions ex Article XIV GATS. The United States maintained at all times that it did not discriminate between domestic- and foreign-service providers in enforcing the prohibition on internet gambling.

¹ 18 U.S.C 1084; 18 U.S.C 1952; 18 U.S.C. 1955

2-2. HISTORY OF THE GAMBLING DISPUTE

13 March 2003	Request for consultations by Antigua and Barbuda pursuant to Art. XXII GATS and Art. 4 DSU (WT/DS285/1)
12 June 2003	Request for the establishment of a panel by Antigua and Barbuda pursuant to Art. 6 DSU (WT/DS285/2)
21 July 2003	Establishment of a panel by the DSB in accordance with Art. 6 DSU with standard terms of reference (Art 7(1) DSU) (WT/DSB/M153)
24 March 2004	Transmission of Interim Report to the parties per Art. 15(2) DSU.
30 April 2004	Final Report of the panel issued to the parties.
7 January 2005	Notification of Appeal by the United States pursuant to Art. 16(4) DSU.
19 January 2005	Notification of Appeal by Antigua and Barbuda per Art. 16(4) DSU.
7 April 2005	Appellate Body Report circulated.
20 April 2005	DSB adopts Appellate Body Report and Panel Report.
6 June 2005	Antigua and Barbuda requests that a reasonable period of time for implementation of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB be determined by binding arbitration pursuant to Article 21.3 (c) DSU.
19 August 2005	Article 21.3(c) Arbitration Report circulated.
3 April 2006	Expiration of the reasonable period of time for implementation.
6 July 2006	Antigua and Barbuda requests (after failed consultations with the US) the DSB to establish a compliance panel pursuant to Article 21.5 DSB.
30 March 2007	Article 21.5 Panel Report circulated.
4 May 2007	Announcement by the United States of its intent to withdraw its commitment for gambling services under Article XXI of the GATS.
25 May 2007	DSB adopts Panel Report, which finds that United States has failed to comply with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute.
21 June 2007	Antigua and Barbuda requests authorization from the DSB, under Article 22.2 DSU, to suspend concessions and related obligations to the United States under GATS and TRIPS amounting to US\$3.443 billion annually.
23 July 2007	United States objects to the level of suspension per Article 22.6 DSU.
24 July 2007	DSB refers the matter to arbitration.

21 December 2007

Article 22.6 Arbitration Report circulated.

2-3. APPELLATE BODY REPORT IN GAMBLING

When reading the Appellate Body Report, pay specific attention to the method of interpretation used by the AB. Do you find it convincing? Consider the following questions: What do you make of the Appellate Body's distinction between measures and effects and its confirmation of the panel's holding that a total prohibition arising out of a combination of various measures cannot be challenged as a single measure itself? Many in the literature contend that the AB should have decided this case under GATS Art. XVII – had it done so, what should have been the outcome?

2-3-A. United States – Measures affecting the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services, Appellate Body Report, 7 April 2005, WT/DS285/AB/R

Note that the footnote numbering does not correspond to that in the original report.

Sacerdoti, Presiding Member; Abi-Saab, Member; Lockhart, Member

I. Introduction

- 1. The United States, and Antigua and Barbuda ("Antigua"), each appeals certain issues of law and legal interpretations developed in the Panel Report, *United States Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services* (the "Panel Report"). The Panel was established to consider a complaint by Antigua concerning certain measures of state and federal authorities that allegedly make it unlawful for suppliers located outside the United States to supply gambling and betting services to consumers within the United States....
- 4. In its oral and written submissions to the Panel, the United States maintained its objections to the Panel's consideration of Antigua's claims on the basis of an alleged "total prohibition", reiterating its argument that Antigua had failed to establish a prima facie case. In the Panel Report, circulated to Members of the World Trade Organization (the "WTO") on 10 November 2004, the Panel addressed this argument by "identify[ing] the measures that the Panel [would] consider in determining whether the specific provisions of the GATS that Antigua [had] invoked have been violated." The Panel determined, first, that Antigua was not entitled to rely on the alleged "total prohibition" as a "measure" in and of itself. The Panel then determined that the following laws of the United States had been "sufficiently identified [by Antigua] so as to warrant a substantive examination by the Panel":

(A) Federal Laws:

- (i) Section 1084 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Wire Act");
- (ii) Section 1952 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Travel Act"); and
- (iii) Section 1955 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Illegal Gambling Business Act", or "IGBA"). ...

IV. Measures at Issue

115. We begin with the participants' appeals relating to the measures at issue. First, we review the Panel's finding that the "'total prohibition' on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services"

(the "total prohibition"²) cannot constitute an autonomous measure that can be challenged *per se*. Next, we consider whether the Panel erred in stating that "'practice' can be considered as an autonomous measure that can be challenged in and of itself". Finally, we evaluate the United States' allegation that Antigua failed to make a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article XVI with respect to certain federal and state laws and that, therefore, the Panel should not have ruled on these claims.

A. "Total Prohibition" as a Measure

- 116. In its panel request, Antigua identified the "total prohibition" as the "effect" of various United States federal and state laws. In its first written submission, Antigua claimed that it was not necessary to show that these laws produced the effect of a "total prohibition" because the United States Ambassador had acknowledged, during the DSB meeting considering Antigua's first panel request, the existence of such a prohibition. Therefore, Antigua asserted, "[t]he subject of this dispute is the *total prohibition on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services*—and the parties are in agreement as to the existence of that total prohibition."
- 117. In the course of responding to a United States request for preliminary rulings, prompted by alleged deficiencies in Antigua's description of the measures it was challenging, the Panel stated:

Antigua and Barbuda emphasised that it is effectively challenging the overall and cumulative effect of various federal and state laws which, together with various policy statements and other governmental actions, constitute a complete prohibition of the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services.³

In its responses to the Panel's first set of questions, and in its second written submission to the Panel, Antigua asserted that it was challenging the "total prohibition" as a "measure in and of itself". Antigua disputed the United States' contention that the "total prohibition" could not constitute a measure *per se* for purposes of WTO dispute settlement.

- 118. In its report, the Panel found that, "in the circumstances of this case", a "total prohibition" could not constitute a "measure" *per se*. The Panel based its conclusion on three factors. First, the Panel found that the "total prohibition" did not constitute an "instrument containing rules or norms". Secondly, the Panel stated that Antigua had not sufficiently identified the "total prohibition" in its panel request as a measure at issue, including the precise relevant United States laws that give rise to this prohibition. Thirdly, the Panel stated that it "fail[ed] to see how the United States could be requested to implement a DSB recommendation to bring a 'prohibition' into compliance with the GATS pursuant to Article 19.1 of the DSU when an imprecisely defined 'puzzle' of laws forms the basis of the 'total prohibition'."
- 119. Antigua appeals the Panel's finding and emphasizes that Article XXVIII(a) of the GATS defines a "measure" broadly, as do the Appellate Body's decisions in *US Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review* and *US Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*. Antigua also relies on the alleged "concessions" made by the United States Ambassador during DSB meetings in her statements responding to Antigua's

²The Panel refers throughout the Panel Report to the "total prohibition" on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services" as the "total prohibition". (See, for example, Panel Report, paras. 6.139 and 6.154) In this Report we use the term "total prohibition" in the same manner.

³Panel's decision on the United States' request for preliminary rulings, para. 17, Panel Report, p. B-4. The Panel did not grant the United States' request to invite Antigua to file another submission detailing with greater specificity the measures being challenged. The Panel also made no ruling relating to the "total prohibition" as a measure *per se*.

panel requests. Antigua argues that, in the light of this statement, the Panel erred in not proceeding to evaluate Antigua's challenge on the basis of the "total prohibition". Antigua therefore requests the Appellate Body to reverse the Panel's finding that Antigua was not entitled to rely on the "total prohibition" as a measure *per se* in this dispute. Antigua further requests the Appellate Body to complete the analysis with respect to the consistency of the "total prohibition" with Article XVI.

- 120. The question before us, therefore, is whether an alleged "total prohibition" on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services constitutes a measure that may be challenged under the GATS.
- 121. The DSU provides for the "prompt settlement" of situations where Members consider that their benefits under the covered agreements "are being impaired by *measures* taken by another Member". Two elements of this reference to "measures" that may be the subject of dispute settlement are relevant. First, as the Appellate Body has stated, a "nexus" must exist between the responding Member and the "measure", such that the "measure"—whether an act or omission—must be "attributable" to that Member. Secondly, the "measure" must be the *source* of the alleged impairment, which is in turn the *effect* resulting from the existence or operation of the "measure".
- 122. Similarly, consultations at the outset of a dispute are based on:

... measures affecting the operation of any covered agreement taken within the territory [of the responding Member].

This provision contemplates that "measures" themselves will "affect" the operation of a covered agreement. Finally, we note that this distinction between measures and their effects is also evident in the scope of application of the GATS, namely, to "measures by Members affecting trade in services".

- 123. We are therefore of the view that the DSU and the GATS focus on "measures" as the subject of challenge in WTO dispute settlement. To the extent that a Member's complaint centres on the effects of an action taken by another Member, that complaint must nevertheless be brought as a challenge to the *measure* that is the source of the alleged effects.
- 124. Viewed in this light, the "total prohibition" described by Antigua does not, in itself, constitute a "measure". As Antigua acknowledged before the Panel and on appeal, the "total prohibition" is the *collective effect* of the operation of several state and federal laws of the United States. And it is the "total prohibition" itself—as the *effect* of the underlying laws—that constitutes the alleged impairment of Antigua's benefits under the GATS.
- 125. We note also that, if the "total prohibition" were a measure, a complaining party could fulfil its obligation to identify the "specific measure at issue", pursuant to Article 6.2 of the DSU, merely by explicitly mentioning the "prohibition". Yet, without knowing the precise source of the "prohibition", a responding party would not be in a position to prepare adequately its defence, particularly where, as here, it is alleged that numerous federal and state laws underlie the "total prohibition".
- 126. Therefore, we conclude that, without demonstrating the source of the prohibition, a complaining party may not challenge a "total prohibition" as a "measure", *per se*, in dispute settlement proceedings

⁴Article 3.3 of the DSU. (emphasis added)

⁵Appellate Body Report, *US - Corrosion-Resistant Steel Sunset Review*, para. 81.

⁶Article 4.2 of the DSU.

⁷Article I:1 of the GATS.

under the GATS. Accordingly, we *uphold* the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.175 of the Panel Report, that "the alleged 'total prohibition' on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services describes the alleged effect of an imprecisely defined list of legislative provisions and other instruments and cannot constitute a single and autonomous 'measure' that can be challenged in and of itself".

- 127. Antigua also contests the Panel's finding that Antigua could not rely on the "total prohibition" as a measure in this dispute because Antigua had failed to identify such a measure in its panel request. Having found that, in any event, the "total prohibition", as posited by Antigua, is not a measure that can be challenged in itself, we *need not rule* on whether Antigua's panel request identifies the "total prohibition" as a specific measure at issue in this dispute, as would be required by Article 6.2 of the DSU.
- 128. Finally, Antigua challenges, under Article 11 of the DSU, the Panel's failure to accord sufficient weight to the alleged United States admission as to the existence of a "total prohibition". Antigua advances this contention in the context of its broader claim on appeal that the Panel erred in not considering the "total prohibition" as "measure". Because, however, we have upheld this finding of the Panel, we *need not consider* whether the Panel satisfied its duties under Article 11 of the DSU, in its treatment of the alleged "admission" by the United States.

(...)

C. Antigua's Prima Facie Case

- 133. We examine next the United States' claim on appeal that Antigua failed to establish a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article XVI of the GATS, with respect to the eight state laws and the three federal laws that the Panel determined were the measures that it should examine.
- 134. Antigua's panel request listed nine federal laws and eighty-four other laws from all fifty states, as well as from the District of Columbia, Guam, Puerto Rico, and the United States Virgin Islands. In seeking to identify, from this list, the measures that were the subject of Antigua's claims, the Panel explained that it had:

... perused all of Antigua's submissions, including footnotes to those submissions and exhibits submitted by Antigua, with a view to identifying which of the 93 laws listed in its Panel request we should consider in determining whether or not the United States is in violation of its obligations under the GATS.⁸

(...)

136. The Panel then reviewed laws that had been mentioned in the panel request *and* that were discussed in Antigua's submissions. The Panel concluded that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA were identified sufficiently by Antigua because Antigua's "discussions indicate[d] according to which particular provisions and how the laws allegedly result in a prohibition on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services." On the same basis, the Panel determined that Antigua had identified as part of its case certain laws of Colorado, Louisiana, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, South Dakota, and Utah.

⁸Panel Report, para. 6.209.

- 137. The United States contends that, in taking this approach, the Panel itself improperly made Antigua's *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article XVI of the GATS. The United States claims that Antigua did not argue before the Panel how the laws eventually selected for review by the Panel constituted a "total prohibition" on the cross-border supply of gambling services. Finally, the United States argues, as Antigua's case throughout the panel proceedings was based on the existence of a "total prohibition", Antigua's arguments focused on allegations that the "total prohibition" is itself inconsistent with various provisions of the GATS. According to the United States, this meant that Antigua failed to allege that any of the *individual* measures discussed by the Panel is inconsistent with Article XVI of the GATS.
- 138. The complaining party bears the burden of proving an inconsistency with specific provisions of the covered agreements. ...
- 139. Where the complaining party has established its *prima facie* case, it is then for the responding party to rebut it. A panel errs when it rules on a claim for which the complaining party has failed to make a *prima facie* case.
- 140. A *prima facie* case must be based on "evidence *and* legal argument" put forward by the complaining party in relation to *each* of the elements of the claim. A complaining party may not simply submit evidence and expect the panel to divine from it a claim of WTO-inconsistency. Nor may a complaining party simply allege facts without relating them to its legal arguments.

(...)

- 142. Antigua's case focused on Article XVI:2 of the GATS and, in particular, its sub-paragraphs (a) and (c). The relevant provisions provide:
 - 2. In sectors where market-access commitments are undertaken, the measures which a Member shall not maintain or adopt either on the basis of a regional subdivision or on the basis of its entire territory, unless otherwise specified in its Schedule, are defined as:
 - (a) limitations on the number of service suppliers whether in the form of numerical quotas, monopolies, exclusive service suppliers or the requirements of an economic needs test:

...

- (c) limitations on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output expressed in terms of designated numerical units in the form of quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test (footnotes omitted)
- 143. This text suggests that Antigua was required to make its *prima facie* case by first alleging that the United States had undertaken a market access commitment in its GATS Schedule; and, secondly, by identifying, with supporting evidence, how the challenged laws constitute impermissible "limitations" falling within Article XVI:2(a) or XVI:2(c).

- 144. In the present case, the Panel determined that Antigua could not pursue its claim on the basis of the "total prohibition" as the measure at issue. In our view, the Panel was correct in so concluding. In order for the Panel properly to continue with its analysis, then, Antigua was required to make its *prima facie* case with respect to *specific* federal and state laws identified in its panel request.
- 145. In its written submissions to the Panel, Antigua asserted that the United States had "made a full commitment [in its GATS Schedule] to the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services" along with references to the relevant sector of that Schedule. This assertion, in our view, satisfies the first requirement of Antigua's *prima facie* case under Article XVI:2.
- 146. As to the second requirement of the *prima facie* case, Antigua's claims under sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2, as regards individual laws rather than the "total prohibition", are set out in the following paragraph from its second written submission to the Panel:

The individual legislative and regulatory provisions, applications thereof and related practices that make up the United States' total prohibition are also caught by both Article XVI:2(a) and XVI:2(c) as separate "measures"

- Federal laws specifically prohibiting "cross-border" supply function like an establishment requirement and are therefore the equivalent of a zero quota for cross-border supply ...
- 147. We begin our examination of the challenged measures with the three federal laws, namely, the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. We observe that Antigua submitted the texts of these statutes and explained its understanding of them. In support of its argument that the three federal statutes prohibited certain kinds of cross-border supply of gambling services, Antigua submitted to the Panel a report by the United States General Accounting Office on internet gambling, and a letter from a Deputy Assistant Attorney General of the Department of Justice informing an industry association of broadcasters that internet gambling violates the three federal statutes.
- 148. ... Although, Antigua did not expressly mention these statutes by name when alleging inconsistency with Article XVI, we are of the view that, in the context of Antigua's previous statement clearly identifying these three statutes⁹ and the Panel's subsequent questioning on these particular

⁹ ... In its opening statement at the first substantive panel meeting, Antigua discussed "three federal statutes", which it identified as follows:

The 'Wire Act' (18 U.S.C § 1084), which prohibits gambling businesses from knowingly receiving or sending certain types of bets or information that assist in placing bets over interstate and international wires;

The 'Travel Act' (18 U:S:C § 1952), which imposes criminal penalties for those who utilize interstate or foreign commerce with the intent to distribute the proceeds of any unlawful activity, including gambling considered unlawful in the United States;

[•] The 'Illegal' Gambling Business Act' (18 U.S.C § 1955), which makes it a federal crime to operate a gambling business that violates the law of the state where the gambling takes place (provided that certain other criteria are fulfilled such as the involvement of at least five people and an operation during more than 30 days).

measures, the reference to "[f]ederal laws" clearly covered the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. As a result, in our view, Antigua's arguments and evidence were sufficient to identify the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA, and to make a *prima facie* case of their inconsistency with sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2.

- (...) [Editors' note: the Appellate Body found, by contrast, that Antigua had not made out a prima facie case concerning the laws of several US states.]
- 153. In our view, therefore, Antigua established its *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article XVI, only as to the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA.

(...)

V. Interpretation of the Specific Commitments Made by the United States in its GATS Schedule

158. The Panel found, at paragraph 7.2(a) of the Panel Report, that:

... the United States' Schedule under the GATS includes specific commitments on gambling and betting services under subsector 10.D.

The United States appeals this finding. According to the United States, by excluding "sporting" services from the scope of subsector 10.D of its GATS Schedule, it excluded gambling and betting services from the scope of the specific commitments that it undertook therein. The United States argues that the Panel misinterpreted the ordinary meaning of the text of subsector 10.D, "Other recreational services (except sporting)", and erroneously found that the ordinary meaning of "sporting" does not include gambling. The United States also contends that the Panel erred in its identification and analysis of the context in which the terms of subsector 10.D must be interpreted. In particular, the Panel is alleged to have mistakenly elevated certain documents used in the preparation of GATS Schedules (W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines) to the status of "context", when they are in fact "mere 'preparatory work'", and, as such, cannot be relied upon when they suggest a meaning at odds with the unambiguous ordinary meaning of the text. According to the United States, the Panel relied on an "erroneous presumption" that, unless the United States "expressly" departed from W/120, the United States could be "assumed to have relied on W/120 and the corresponding CPC references". Finally, the United States argues, in the alternative, that the Panel should have found that gambling falls under subsector 10.E, "Other", where the United States made no commitment.

- 159. In the context of the GATT 1994, the Appellate Body has observed that, although each Member's Schedule represents the tariff commitments that bind *one* Member, Schedules also represent a common agreement among *all* Members. Accordingly, the task of ascertaining the meaning of a concession in a Schedule, like the task of interpreting any other treaty text, involves identifying the *common intention* of Members, and is to be achieved by following the customary rules of interpretation of public international law, codified in Articles 31 and 32 of the *Vienna Convention*.
- 160. In the context of the GATS, Article XX:3 explicitly provides that Members' Schedules are an "integral part" of that agreement. Here, too, the task of identifying the meaning of a concession in a

Each of these three laws separately prohibits the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services from Antigua.

GATS Schedule, like the task of interpreting any other treaty text, involves identifying the *common intention* of Members. Like the Panel—and, indeed, both the participants—we consider that the meaning of the United States' GATS Schedule must be determined according to the rules codified in Article 31 and, to the extent appropriate, Article 32 of the *Vienna Convention*.

- 161. The contentious issues in this appeal concern whether the Panel erred in the way that it *used* the *Vienna Convention* principles of interpretation in determining the scope of the specific commitments made by the United States in subsector 10.D of its GATS Schedule, and whether the Panel erred in the conclusions it drew on the basis of its approach.
 - A. Interpretation of Subsector 10.D According to the General Rule of Interpretation: Article 31 of the Vienna Convention
- 162. The United States' appeal focuses on the Panel's interpretation of the word "sporting" in subsector 10.D of the United States' GATS Schedule. According to the United States, the ordinary meaning of "sporting" includes gambling and betting and the Panel erred in finding otherwise. We observe first that the interpretative question addressed by the Panel was a broader one, namely "whether the US Schedule includes specific commitments on gambling and betting services notwithstanding the fact that the words 'gambling and betting services' do not appear in the US Schedule." In tackling this question, the Panel turned to Sector 10 of the United States' Schedule to the GATS, which Antigua claimed included a specific commitment on gambling and betting services, and the United States claimed did not. The relevant part of the United States' Schedule provides: 10

37

¹⁰ The United States of America – Schedule of Specific Commitments, GATS/SC/90, 15 April 1994 (the "United States' Schedule"). The "National Treatment" and "Additional Commitments" columns of the United States' Schedule are omitted from this excerpt. The relevant part of the United States' GATS Schedule is attached, in its entirety, as Annex III to this Report.

Sector or subsector	Limitations on market access	
10. RECREATIONAL, CULTURAL, & SPORTING SERVICES		
A. ENTERTAINMENT SERVICES (INCLUDING THEATRE, LIVE BANDS AND CIRCUS SERVICES)	 None None None Unbound, except as indicated in the horizontal section 	
B. NEWS AGENCY SERVICES	 None None None Unbound, except as indicated in the horizontal section 	
C LIBRARIES, ARCHIVES, MUSEUMS AND OTHER CULTURAL SERVICES	 None None None Unbound, except as indicated in the horizontal section 	
D. OTHER RECREATIONAL SERVICES (except sporting)	 None None The number of concessions available for commercial operations in federal, state and local facilities is limited Unbound, except as indicated in the horizontal section 	

163. In considering this section of the United States' Schedule, the Panel stated that it would begin by "examining the ordinary meaning of various key terms used in the US Schedule." The Panel examined the term "Other recreational services (except sporting)" in subsector 10.D, as well as the term "Entertainment services" in subsector 10.A. Having consulted the dictionary definitions of various words, the Panel found that "the *ordinary* meaning of 'sporting' does not include gambling". The United States submits that the Panel could not have made this finding had it properly followed Article 31(1) of the *Vienna Convention*.

164. Article 31(1) of the *Vienna Convention* requires a treaty to be interpreted "in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in the light of its object and purpose." In order to identify the ordinary meaning, a Panel may start with the dictionary definitions of the terms to be interpreted.¹¹ But dictionaries, alone, are not necessarily capable

For pragmatic reasons the normal usage ... is to start the interpretation from the ordinary meaning of the "raw" text of the relevant treaty provisions and then seek to construe it in its context and in the light of the treaty's object and purpose.

(Panel Report, US – Section 301 Trade Act, para. 7.22)

¹¹We note, in this regard, the words of the panel in *US – Section 301 Trade Act*:

of resolving complex questions of interpretation¹², as they typically aim to catalogue *all* meanings of words—be those meanings common or rare, universal or specialized.

165. In this case, in examining definitions of "sporting", the Panel surveyed a variety of dictionaries and found a variety of definitions of the word. All of the dictionary definitions cited by the Panel define "sporting" as being connected to—in the sense of "related to", "suitable for", "engaged in" or "disposed to"—sports activities. Some dictionaries also define "sporting" as being connected to gambling or betting, but others do not. Of those that do, several note that the word is mainly used in this sense in the phrase "a sporting man", or in a pejorative sense, and some note that the word is used in this sense only when the gambling or betting activities pertain to sports. Based on this survey of dictionary definitions, as well as the fact that "gambling" does not fall within the meaning of the Spanish and French words that correspond to "sporting", namely "déportivos" and "sportifs" the Panel made its finding that "the ordinary meaning of 'sporting' does not include gambling". 14

166. We have three reservations about the way in which the Panel determined the ordinary meaning of the word "sporting" in the United States' Schedule. First, to the extent that the Panel's reasoning simply equates the "ordinary meaning" with the meaning of words as defined in dictionaries, this is, in our view, too mechanical an approach. Secondly, the Panel failed to have due regard to the fact that its recourse to dictionaries revealed that gambling and betting can, at least in some contexts, be one of the meanings of the word "sporting". Thirdly, the Panel failed to explain the basis for its recourse to the meanings of the French and Spanish words "déportivos" and "sportifs" in the light of the fact that the United States' Schedule explicitly states, in a cover note, that it "is authentic in English only." 15

167. Overall, the Panel's finding concerning the word "sporting" was premature. In our view, the Panel should have taken note that, in the abstract, the range of possible meanings of the word "sporting" includes *both* the meaning claimed by Antigua and the meaning claimed by the United States, and then continued its inquiry into *which* of those meanings was to be attributed to the word as used in the United States' GATS Schedule.

168. Nevertheless, even accepting that the Panel erred in reaching a conclusion regarding the meaning of "sporting" at such an early stage of its analysis, this alone is not decisive of the United States' appeal. This is because the Panel did not end its analysis once it had considered the dictionary definitions of "sporting". Rather, having found that the word "sporting" did *not* include gambling and betting services, it examined whether other words in Sector 10 of the United States' Schedule *did* serve to make a specific commitment on gambling and betting services. To do so, the Panel turned to the terms "recreational services" and "entertainment services". Beginning again with dictionary definitions, the Panel observed that "words such as 'recreational' and 'entertainment' could cover virtually the same types of services activities". The Panel expressed its view that "gambling and betting have, *a priori*, the characteristics of being entertaining or amusing, or of being used as a form of recreation." Having thus consulted dictionaries for "the words 'Other recreational services (except sporting)' and 'entertainment services'", the

¹²Appellate Body Report, *US – Softwood Lumber IV*, para. 59; Appellate Body Report, *Canada – Aircraft*, para. 153; and Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 92.

¹³Panel Report, paras. 6.59-6.60.

¹⁴*Ibid.*, para. 6.61. (original emphasis)

¹⁵The cover note is included in the excerpt from the United States' Schedule attached as Annex III to this Report.

¹⁶Panel Report, para. 6.63.

¹⁷*Ibid.*, para. 6.66.

Panel observed that these left "a number of questions open" and did not "allow it to reach a definitive conclusion on whether or not the US Schedule includes specific commitments on 'gambling and betting services' in sector 10". The Panel then turned to consider the context in which the relevant terms from sector 10 of the United States' Schedule are situated.

169. The United States contests the Panel's identification and use of relevant context for the interpretation of the commitment made by the United States in its Schedule. In particular, the United States argues that the Panel erred in treating two documents from the Uruguay Round of trade negotiations, namely W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines, as relevant context within the meaning of Article 31(2) of the *Vienna Convention*.

170. The Panel found that:

... both W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines were agreed upon by Members with a view to using such documents, not only in the negotiation of their specific commitments, but as interpretative tools in the interpretation and application of Members' scheduled commitments. As such, these documents comprise the "context" of GATS Schedules, within the meaning of Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention* and the Panel will use them for the purpose of interpreting the GATS, GATS schedules and thus the US Schedule.¹⁹

- 171. Before turning to the specifics of the United States' appeal, we observe that the second paragraph of Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention* defines "context" as follows:
 - 2. The context for the purpose of the interpretation of a treaty shall comprise, in addition to the text, including its preamble and annexes:
 - (a) any agreement relating to the treaty which was made between all the parties in connexion with the conclusion of the treaty;
 - (b) any instrument which was made by one or more parties in connexion with the conclusion of the treaty and accepted by the other parties as an instrument related to the treaty.

172. We also consider it useful to set out, briefly, the nature of the two documents at issue. On 10 July 1991, the GATT Secretariat circulated document W/120, entitled "SERVICES SECTORAL CLASSIFICATION LIST". This followed the circulation of an informal note containing a draft services sectoral classification list in May 1991, as well as the circulation of an initial reference list of sectors (the "W/50") in April 1989. A short cover note to W/120 explains that the document reflects, to the extent possible, comments made by negotiating parties on the May draft, and that W/120 itself might be subject to future modification. Otherwise, the document consists of a table in two columns. The left column is entitled "SECTORS AND SUBSECTORS" and consists of a list classifying services into 11 broad service sectors, each divided into several subsectors (more than 150 in total). The right column is entitled "CORRESPONDING CPC" and sets out, for nearly every subsector listed in the left-hand column, a CPC

¹⁸*Ibid.*, para. 6.67.

¹⁹Panel Report, para. 6.82.

²⁰MTN.GNS/W/50, 13 April 1989.

number to which that subsector corresponds. It is not disputed that the reference in W/120 to "CPC" is a reference to the United Nations' Provisional Central Product Classification.²¹ The CPC is a detailed, multi-level classification of goods and services.²² The CPC is *exhaustive* (all goods and services are covered) and its categories are *mutually exclusive* (a given good or service may only be classified in *one* CPC category).²³ The CPC consists of "Sections" (10), "Divisions" (69), "Groups" (295), "Classes" (1,050) and "Subclasses" (1,811). Of the 10 "Sections" of the CPC, the first five primarily classify *products*. They are based on the Harmonised Commodity Description and Coding System, and are not referred to in W/120. The second five Sections of the CPC primarily classify *services*, and all of the references in W/120 are to sub-categories of these five Sections.

173. On 3 September 1993, the GATT Secretariat, in response to requests by the negotiating parties, circulated an "Explanatory Note" designed to "assist in the preparation of offers, requests, and national Schedules of commitments" and to ensure "comparable and unambiguous commitments" and achieve "precision and clarity". This document, known as the "1993 Scheduling Guidelines", addresses two main questions: (i) *what* items should be put in a Schedule; and (ii) *how* they should be entered. In addressing these questions, the Guidelines provide examples as to the types of measures that should be scheduled or need not be scheduled, and cover a variety of issues, including the scope of coverage under each mode of supply, and the relationship between different modes when making commitments on market access. The document also instructs Members as to the language to use when making a specific commitment, and includes a template indicating the overall structure, and columns and rows that should constitute a Member's Schedule.

174. Bearing the above in mind, we see two main difficulties with the Panel's characterization of these documents as context. First, we see no basis for the Panel's finding that they "constitute an agreement made between all the parties or an instrument[] made between some parties and accepted by the others as such". To reach this finding, the Panel reasoned that, although the documents were "technically" drafted by the GATT Secretariat:

²¹Provisional Central Product Classification, Statistical Papers, Series M No. 77, United Nations (1991). The United Nations Central Product Classification has been revised on several occasions. The latest version is the Central Product Classification, Version 1.1, Statistical Papers, Series M No. 77, United Nations (2004).

²²The main purposes of the CPC are to provide a framework for international comparison of statistics dealing with goods, services, and assets and to serve as a guide for developing and revising existing classification schemes of products. (Preface to the CPC, p. V)

²³See *infra*, paras. 0 and 0 for further details on the CPC, and for the way in which the CPC classifies the services at issue in this dispute.

²⁴Scheduling of Initial Commitments in Trade in Services: Explanatory Note, MTN.GNS/W/164, 3 September 1993, at p. 1.

²⁵For example, paragraphs 24 to 27 explain that: to indicate a full commitment, a Member should enter "NONE"; to make no commitment, it should enter "UNBOUND"; and to make a commitment with limitations, the Member should enter a concise description of each measure, "indicating the elements which make it inconsistent with Articles XVI or XVII".

²⁶Panel Report, para. 6.77.

... they can be considered "agreement[s] ... made between all [Members]" or ... "instrument[s] ... made by one or more [Members]" but accepted by all of them as such within the meaning of Article 31:2(a) and (b) of the Vienna Convention. In this regard, it may be recalled that the two documents were prepared by the – then – GATT Secretariat, at the behest of the Uruguay Round participants. The *participants* can thus be considered to be the "intellectual" authors of the documents. Besides, both documents were the object of a series of formal and informal consultations during which Members had the opportunity to amend them and to include changes. Both were circulated as formal "green band" documents with the agreement of the participants.²⁷ (footnotes omitted)

175. We note that Article 31(2) refers to the *agreement* or *acceptance* of the parties. In this case, both W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines were drafted by the GATT Secretariat rather than the parties to the negotiations. It may be true that, on its own, authorship by a delegated body would not preclude specific documents²⁸ from falling within the scope of Article 31(2). However, we are not persuaded that in this case the Panel could find W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines to be context. Such documents can be characterized as context only where there is sufficient evidence of their constituting an "agreement relating to the treaty" between the parties or of their "accept[ance by the parties] as an instrument related to the treaty".

176. We do not accept, as the Panel appears to have done, that, simply by requesting the preparation and circulation of these documents and using them in preparing their offers, the parties in the negotiations have accepted them as agreements or instruments related to the treaty. Indeed, there are indications to the contrary. As the United States pointed out before the Panel, the United States and several other parties to the negotiations clearly stated, at the time W/120 was proposed, that, although Members were encouraged to follow the broad structure of W/120, it was never meant to bind Members to the CPC definitions, nor to any other "specific nomenclature", and that "the composition of the list was not a matter for negotiations". Similarly, the Explanatory Note that prefaces the Scheduling Guidelines itself appears to contradict the Panel in this regard, as it expressly provides that, although it is intended to assist "persons responsible for scheduling commitments", that assistance "should not be considered as an authoritative legal interpretation of the GATS."²⁹

177. The Panel also reasoned that:

.... both W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines were agreed upon by Members with a view to using such documents, *not only in the negotiation* of their specific commitments, but *as interpretative tools* in the interpretation and application of Members' scheduled commitments.³⁰ (emphasis added)

²⁷*Ibid.*, para. 6.80.

²⁸The Panel reasoned that assigning the task of drafting these documents to the Secretariat was simply "the most practical and efficient way to work on such a matter" and that such delegation did not deprive the parties to the negotiations of authorship. (Panel Report, para. 6.80)

²⁹1993 Scheduling Guidelines, p. 1.

³⁰Panel Report, para. 6.82.

In our opinion, the Panel's description of how these documents were created and used may suggest that the parties agreed to use such documents in the negotiations of their specific commitments. The Panel cited no evidence, however, directly supporting its further conclusion, in the quotation above, that the agreement of the parties encompassed an agreement to use the documents "as interpretative tools in the interpretation and application of Members' scheduled commitments."

178. In our opinion, therefore, the Panel erred in categorizing W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines as "context" for the interpretation of the United States' GATS Schedule. Accordingly, we set aside this part of the Panel's examination of "context". There is, however, additional context referred to by the Panel and the participants that we must consider, namely: (i) the remainder of the United States' Schedule of specific commitments; (ii) the substantive provisions of the GATS; (iii) the provisions of covered agreements other than the GATS; and (iv) the GATS Schedules of *other* Members.

179. We begin by examining the immediate context in which the relevant entry is found, that is, the United States' Schedule as a whole. The United States admits that it "generally followed the W/120 structure in its Schedule of specific commitments." The Schedule makes no reference to CPC codes. The Schedule does, however, refer to W/120 in two instances³², apparently in order to make clear that the United States' commitment corresponds to only part of a subsector listed in W/120. This suggests that, at least for some of its entries, the United States also expressly referred to W/120 in order to define the content of a Schedule entry and, thereby, limit the scope of its specific commitment.³³ At the same time, the context provided by the United States' Schedule as a whole does not indicate clearly the scope of the commitment in subsector 10.D.

180. We move, therefore, to examine the context provided by the structure of the GATS itself. The agreement defines "services" very broadly, as including "any service in any sector except services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority". In addition, the GATS definition of "sector" provides that any reference to a "sector" means—unless otherwise specified in a Member's Schedule—a reference to all of the subsectors contained within that sector. Many of the obligations in the GATS apply only in sectors in which a Member has undertaken specific commitments. To us, the structure of the GATS necessarily implies two things. First, because the GATS covers all services except those supplied in the exercise of governmental authority, it follows that a Member may schedule a specific commitment in respect of any service. Secondly, because a Member's obligations regarding a particular service depend on the specific commitments that it has made with respect to the sector or subsector within which that service falls, a specific service cannot fall within two different sectors or subsectors. In other

- (e) "sector" of a service means,
 - (i) with reference to a specific commitment, one or more, or all, subsectors of that service, as specified in a Member's Schedule.
 - (ii) otherwise, the whole of that service sector, including all of its subsectors;

³¹United States' response to Question 5 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, p. C-26. (original emphasis)

³²Sector B of the Schedule is as follows "COMPUTER AND RELATED SERVICES (MTN.GNS/W/120 a) - e), except airline computer reservation systems)"; and the entry in subsector F.r reads "Publishing (Only part of MTN.GNS/W/120 category: 'r) Printing, Publishing')".

³³The Panel made a similar point in paragraph 6.104 of the Panel Report and footnote 665 thereto.

³⁴GATS Article I:3(b). (emphasis added)

³⁵Article XXVIII provides that:

³⁶See, for example, Articles VI:1, VIII:1, XVI, and XVII of the GATS.

words, the sectors and subsectors in a Member's Schedule must be mutually exclusive.³⁷ In the context of the United States' Schedule, this means that, notwithstanding the broad language used in sector 10—for example, "recreational services", "sporting", and "entertainment services"—, gambling and betting services can *only* fall—if at all—within *one* of those service categories.

- 181. Looking beyond the GATS to other covered agreements, we observe that Article 22.3(f) of the DSU provides that, for purposes of suspending concessions, "sector means(ii) with respect to services, a principal sector as identified in the current 'Services Sectoral Classification List' which identifies such sectors". A footnote adds that "[t]he list in document MTN.GNS/W/120 identifies eleven sectors." This reference confirms the relevance of W/120 to the task of identifying service sectors in GATS Schedules, but does not appear to assist in the task of ascertaining within which *subsector* of a Member's Schedule a specific service falls.
- 182. Both participants³⁸, as well as the Panel, accepted that other Members' Schedules constitute relevant context for the interpretation of subsector 10.D of the United States' Schedule.³⁹ As the Panel pointed out, this is the logical consequence of Article XX:3 of the GATS, which provides that Members' Schedules are "an integral part" of the GATS. We agree. At the same time, as the Panel rightly acknowledged, use of other Members' Schedules as context must be tempered by the recognition that "[e]ach Schedule has its own intrinsic logic, which is different from the US Schedule."⁴⁰
- 183. The United States relies on the Schedules of other Members as context seeking to establish that: (i) because many Members refer to CPC codes in their Schedules but the United States does not, the United States' Schedule cannot be "presumed" to follow the CPC; and (ii) scheduling gambling and betting services in subsector 10.E (rather than 10.D) was one of several accepted approaches used by Members. We are not persuaded that the conclusions the United States argues must be drawn from this context necessarily follow. It is true that a large majority of Members used CPC codes in their Schedules. It is also true that the United States did not use them. However, the United States' Schedule, like the Schedules of nearly all Members, generally follows the structure, and adopts the language, of W/120.

³⁷If this were not the case, and a Member scheduled the same service in two different sectors, then the scope of the Member's commitment would not be clear where, for example, it made a full commitment in one of those sectors and a limited, or no, commitment, in the other. At the oral hearing in this appeal, both the United States and Antigua agreed that the entries in a Member's Schedule must be mutually exclusive. See also Panel Report, paras. 6.63, 6.101, and 6.119.

³⁸Antigua's and United States' responses to questioning at the oral hearing.

³⁹In paragraph 6.97 of the Panel Report, the Panel stated that it agreed "with the United States that other Members' Schedules comprise the 'context' within the meaning of Article 31:2 of the Vienna Convention."

⁴⁰Panel Report, para. 6.98. By referring to other Members' Schedules here, we are not interpreting such Schedules, but rather using them as "context" for the interpretation of the United States' Schedule.

⁴¹Before the Panel, the United States referred to the Schedules of Iceland and Senegal. (See footnote 106 to para. 74 of the United States' first written submission to the Panel)

⁴²The Panel observed, in an earlier discussion, that:

^{...} most Members chose to refer to CPC numbers to define the scope of their commitments: (i) only 17 schedules adopted a non-CPC approach; (ii) a few schedules have a "mixed" approach, i.e. they include CPC numbers for some sectors only.

⁽Panel Report, footnote 651 to para. 6.81)

 $^{^{43}}$ As we observed *supra*, para. 0, the United States admits that it generally followed the W/120 structure, and its Schedule specifically refers to W/120 in two instances.

These structural and linguistic similarities lead us to conclude, contrary to the United States submission, that the absence of references to CPC codes does not mean that words used in the United States' Schedule *must* have a different meaning and scope than the same words used in the Schedules of other Members.

184. We also note that, unlike the United States, several Members specifically used the words "gambling and betting services", or some approximation thereof, in their Schedules. The fact that the United States did not use any such specific language tends, if anything, to undercut its assertion that it intended to single out such services for exclusion from the scope of its commitment. Whether or not they used the term "gambling and betting services" in their Schedules, several Members also made clear, through reference to CPC codes, that they were making a commitment in respect of "sporting services" and that the services falling within the category "sporting services" did *not* include gambling and betting services. ⁴⁴ Moreover, the United States did not point to any example in another Member's Schedule where the category of "sporting services" clearly *included* gambling and betting services.

185. We also find unpersuasive the arguments of the United States with respect to subsector 10.E, "Other". Only one Member clearly scheduled gambling and betting services in subsector 10.E, and it used specific words to do so. Another Member specifically excluded "gambling and gambling related services" from the scope of its commitment under subsector 10.A. From these examples it appears that different Members have dealt with gambling and betting services in different subsectors of their Schedules. But the examples also suggest that Members have used specific language in order to make clear the location of their commitments within their own Schedules. Furthermore, as the Panel noted the United States' argument that gambling and betting services fall under subsector 10.E appears to contradict its argument that gambling and betting services are comprised in the ordinary meaning of "sporting services" under subsector 10.D. As we have observed above, the same service cannot be covered in two different subsectors within the *same* Schedule.

186. Overall, we find it significant that the entries made by many Members in sector 10 of their Schedules contain text additional to the text found in the headings and sub-headings used by the United States (and used in W/120). Such Members disaggregated their entries beyond the five subsectors identified in W/120 as falling within sector 10. There is a broad range of ways in which this was accomplished. Some Members used CPC codes with more digits than the codes used in W/120, (that is, indicating a more disaggregated service category) and some used (either in addition to the CPC codes or alone) precise wording to indicate that gambling and betting services were somehow treated differently from other services in subsector 10.D. Several Members used CPC codes to distinguish commitments with respect to sporting services from commitments with respect to gambling and betting services. This context indicates that Members seeking to distinguish the commitments they were making regarding gambling and betting services from other commitments they were making in subsector 10.D used specific language and/or CPC codes to indicate this distinction. This context does not, however, provide a definitive answer to the question whether, in the United States' Schedule, gambling and betting services

⁴⁴See the Schedules of Australia (GATS/SC/6); Japan (GATS/SC/46); Liechtenstein (GATS/SC/83-A); Switzerland (GATS/SC/83); and Thailand (GATS/SC/85).

⁴⁵Although subsector 10.E, "Other", figures in W/120, no such entry is included in the United States' Schedule.

⁴⁶Senegal listed "Gambling and betting services" under 10.E. However, Senegal also appears to have made a relatively narrow commitment under 10.D, with respect to "Recreational Fishing" only.

⁴⁷See the Schedule of Bulgaria. (GATS/SC/122)

⁴⁸Panel Report, para. 6.101.

⁴⁹Supra, para. 0.

fall within the ordinary meaning of the word "sporting", within the ordinary meaning of the term "other recreational services", or elsewhere.

- 187. The above examination leads us to the view that an examination of the term "Other recreational services (except sporting)" in its context does not clearly reveal whether, in the United States' Schedule to the GATS, gambling and betting services fall within the category of "other recreational services" or within the category of "sporting services". Accordingly, we turn to the object and purpose of the GATS to obtain further guidance for our interpretation.
- 188. The Panel referred to the requirement of "transparency" found in the preamble to the GATS, as supporting the need for precision and clarity in scheduling, and underlining the importance of having Schedules that are "readily understandable by all other WTO Members, as well as by services suppliers and consumers". The Panel also referred to the Appellate Body Report in *EC Computer Equipment* as follows:

The Appellate Body found that "the security and predictability of 'the reciprocal and mutually advantageous arrangements directed to the substantial reduction of tariffs and other barriers to trade' is an object and purpose of the WTO Agreement, generally, as well as of GATT 1994." This confirms the importance of the security and predictability of Members' specific commitments, which is equally an object and purpose of the GATS.⁵¹ (footnote omitted)

- 189. We agree with the Panel's characterization of these objectives, along with its suggestion that they reinforce the importance of Members' making clear commitments. Yet these considerations do not provide specific assistance for determining where, in the United States' Schedule, "gambling and betting services" fall. Accordingly, it is necessary to continue our analysis by examining other elements to be taken into account in interpreting treaty provisions.
- 190. In addition to context, the third paragraph of Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention* directs a treaty interpreter to take into account, *inter alia*, subsequent practice establishing the agreement of the parties regarding the interpretation of the treaty. Antigua argues that the "subsequent practice" of Members demonstrates that W/120 and the Scheduling Guidelines must be used to interpret the United States' GATS Schedule.⁵² Antigua asserts that such relevant subsequent practice is found in the 2001 Scheduling Guidelines⁵³, in a submission made by the United States regarding the classification of energy services⁵⁴,

⁵⁰Panel Report, para. 6.107.

⁵¹*Ibid.*, para. 6.108.

⁵²Antigua's response to Question 1 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, pp. C-1 to C-3.

⁵³Guidelines for the Scheduling of Specific Commitments under the General Agreement on Trade in Services, S/L/92. The 2001 Scheduling Guidelines serve, in the current round of services negotiations, the same function as the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines served in the Uruguay Round negotiations. The former reproduce the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines almost in their entirety, and contain some additional provisions. The 2001 Scheduling Guidelines were adopted by the Council for Trade in Services on 23 March 2001.

⁵⁴Antigua referred to document S/CSC/W/27, a proposal submitted by the United States concerning the classification of energy services. (Antigua's first written submission to the Panel, footnote 301 to para. 173) Paragraph 2 of this document states that:

as well as in a publication by the United States International Trade Commission ("USITC").⁵⁵ The Panel did not reach these arguments by Antigua as it had found W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines to be context.

- 191. In *Japan Alcoholic Beverages II* and *Chile Price Band System*, respectively, the Appellate Body referred to "practice" within the meaning of Article 31(3)(b) as:
 - ... a "concordant, common and consistent" sequence of acts or pronouncements which is sufficient to establish a discernible pattern implying the agreement of the parties [to a treaty] regarding its interpretation.⁵⁶
 - ... a discernible pattern of acts or pronouncements implying an agreement among WTO Members on the interpretation of [the relevant provision]⁵⁷
- 192. Thus, in order for "practice" within the meaning of Article 31(3)(b) to be established: (i) there must be a common, consistent, discernible pattern of acts or pronouncements; *and* (ii) those acts or pronouncements must imply *agreement* on the interpretation of the relevant provision.
- 193. We have difficulty accepting Antigua's position that the 2001 Scheduling Guidelines constitute "subsequent practice" revealing a common understanding that Members' specific commitments are to be construed in accordance with W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines. Although the 2001 Guidelines were explicitly adopted by the Council for Trade in Services, this was in the context of the negotiation of *future* commitments and in order to assist in the preparation of offers and requests in respect of such commitments. As such, they do not constitute evidence of Members' understanding regarding the interpretation of *existing* commitments. Furthermore, as the United States emphasized before the Panel, in its Decision adopting the 2001 Guidelines, the Council for Trade in Services explicitly stated that they were to be "non-binding" and "shall not modify any rights or obligations of the Members under the GATS". Accordingly, we do not consider that the 2001 Guidelines, in and of themselves, constitute "subsequent practice" within the meaning of Article 31(3)(b) of the *Vienna Convention*.
- 194. Nor do the two other documents relied on by Antigua constitute "subsequent practice". Although they may be relevant in identifying the United States' practice, they do not establish a common, consistent, discernible pattern of acts or pronouncements by Members as a whole. Nor do they

These numerous energy-related activities are closely interrelated and, taken as a whole, can be said to comprise the "energy sector." Some of these activities cut horizontally across *existing GATS sectoral classifications (W/120)*, such as business services, communications services, construction services, financial services, and transportation services, among others. Others may involve activities that are not yet specified in existing GATS classifications, are deeply embedded in existing GATS classifications, or are not within the scope of the GATS. (emphasis added)

⁵⁵US Schedule of Commitments under the General Agreement on Trade in Services, United States International Trade Commission, May 1997, p. 25.

⁵⁶Appellate Body Report, *Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II*, p. 13, DSR 1996:I, 97, at 106. The Appellate Body, in that case, found that panel reports adopted by the GATT contracting parties do *not* constitute subsequent practice within the meaning of Article 31(3)(b) of the *Vienna Convention*.

⁵⁷Appellate Body Report, *Chile – Price Band System*, para. 214.

⁵⁸United States' response to Question 39 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, pp. C-63 to C-64.

demonstrate a common understanding *among Members* that specific commitments are to be interpreted by reference to W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines. Accordingly, we do not find that Antigua has identified any relevant subsequent practice that can assist us in the interpretation of subsector 10.D of the United States' Schedule.

- 195. The above reasoning leads us to the conclusion—contrary to the Panel⁵⁹—that application of the general rule of interpretation set out in Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention* leaves the meaning of "other recreational services (except sporting)" ambiguous and does not answer the question whether the commitment made by the United States in subsector 10.D of its Schedule includes a commitment in respect of gambling and betting services. Accordingly, we are required, in this case, to turn to the supplementary means of interpretation provided for in Article 32 of the *Vienna Convention*.⁶⁰
 - B. Interpretation of Subsector 10.D in Accordance with Supplementary Means of Interpretation: Article 32 of the Vienna Convention
- 196. We observe, as a preliminary matter, that this appeal does *not* raise the question whether W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines constitute "supplementary means of interpretation, including the preparatory work of the treaty and the circumstances of its conclusion". Both participants agree that they do, and we see no reason to disagree.
- 197. The United States argues, however, that, because the "ordinary meaning" of subsector 10.D of its Schedule is clear from an examination of the text, context (not including W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines) and object and purpose, it is neither necessary nor appropriate to have recourse to Article 32 of the *Vienna Convention*. We disagree. As we have explained, the Panel erred in characterizing W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines as "context". Yet, we have also seen that a proper interpretation pursuant to the principles codified in Article 31 of the *Vienna Convention* does not yield a clear meaning as to the scope of the commitment made by the United States in the entry "Other recreational services (except sporting)". Accordingly, it is appropriate to have recourse to the supplemental means of interpretation identified in Article 32 of the *Vienna Convention*. These means include W/120, the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines, and a cover note attached to drafts of the United States' Schedule.
- 198. Turning to the question of how the subsector 10.D entry "Other recreational services (except sporting)" is to be interpreted in the light of W/120 and the Scheduling Guidelines, we consider it useful to set out the relevant parts of both documents. The relevant section of W/120 is as follows:

SECTORS AND SUB-SECTORS

CORRESPONDING CPC

[...]

10. RECREATIONAL, CULTURAL AND SPORTING SERVICES (other than audiovisual services)

The US Schedule, read in the light of paragraph 16 of the Scheduling Guidelines, can be understood to include a specific commitment on gambling and betting services under subsector 10.D (*Recreational services (except sporting)*). (original italics)

⁵⁹The Panel concluded, at para. 6.110 of the Panel Report, that:

⁶⁰The Panel also had recourse to such means in order to "confirm" the meaning that it had reached through application of Article 31. (Panel Report, para. 6.112)

A.	Entertainment services (including theatre, live bands and circus services)	9619
B.	News agency services	962
C.	<u>Libraries</u> , <u>archives</u> , <u>museums and other</u> <u>cultural services</u>	963
D.	Sporting and other recreational services	964
E.	<u>Other</u>	

199. Thus, W/120 clearly indicates that its entry 10.D—"Sporting and other recreational services"—corresponds to CPC Group 964. W/120 does not, however, contain any explicit indication of: (i) whether the reference to Group 964 necessarily incorporates a reference to *each and every sub-category* of Group 964 within the CPC; or (ii) how W/120 relates to the GATS Schedules of individual Members.

200. With respect to the first issue, we observe that W/120 sets out a much more aggregated classification list than the one found in the CPC. Whereas W/120 contains 12 sectors (11 and one "other") and more than 150 subsectors, the CPC classification scheme is comprised of 10 Sections, 69 Divisions, 295 Groups, 1,050 Classes and 1,811 Subclasses. The first draft classification list prepared by the GATT Secretariat, W/50, explained that one of the reasons for selecting the CPC as a basis for classification in the services negotiations was that such a product-based system "allows a higher degree of disaggregation and precision to be attained should it become necessary, at a later stage." Thus, the CPC's level of disaggregation was one of the very reasons it was selected as a basis for a sectoral classification list. As the CPC is a decimal system of that category. Put differently, a reference to a three-digit CPC Group should, in the absence of any indication to the contrary, be understood as a reference to all the four-digit Classes and five-digit Sub-classes that make up the group; and a reference to a four-digit Class should be understood as a reference to all of the five-digit Sub-classes that make up that Class.

201. In the CPC, Group 964, which corresponds to subsector 10.D of W/120 (Sporting and other recreational services), is broken down into the following Classes and Sub-classes:

964 Sporting and other recreational services

9641 Sporting services

96411 Sports event promotion services

96412 Sports event organization services

96413 Sports facility operation services

96419 Other sporting services

9649 Other recreational services 96491 Recreation park and beach services

⁶¹MTN.GNS/W/50, para. 6. (emphasis added)

⁶²The CPC hierarchy consists of Sections designated by one-digit codes, Divisions designated by two-digit codes, Groups designated by three-digit codes, Classes designated by four-digit codes, and Subclasses designated by five-digit codes.

96492 Gambling and betting services 96499 Other recreational services n.e.c.

Thus, the CPC Class that corresponds to "Sporting services" (9641) does *not* include gambling and betting services. Rather, the Sub-class for gambling and betting services (96492) falls under the Class "Other recreational services" (9649).

202. W/120 does not shed light on the issue of how it relates to individual Member's Schedules. That issue is, however, addressed in the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines:

HOW SHOULD ITEMS BE SCHEDULED?

15. Schedules record, for each sector, the legally enforceable commitments of each Member. It is therefore vital that schedules be clear, precise and based on a common format and terminology. This section describes how commitments should be entered in schedules. ...

A. How to describe committed sectors and subsectors

16. The legal nature of a schedule as well as the need to evaluate commitments, require the greatest possible degree of clarity in the description of each sector or subsector scheduled. In general the classification of sectors and subsectors should be based on the Secretariat's revised Services Sectoral Classification List. [W/120] Each sector contained in the Secretariat list is identified by the corresponding Central Product Classification (CPC) number. Where it is necessary to refine further a sectoral classification, this should be done on the basis of the CPC or other internationally recognised classification (e.g. Financial Services Annex). The most recent breakdown of the CPC, including explanatory notes for each subsector, is contained in the UN Provisional Central Product Classification.

Example: A Member wishes to indicate an offer or commitment in the subsector of map-making services. In the Secretariat list, this service would fall under the general heading "Other Business Services" under "Related scientific and technical consulting services" (see item l.F.m). By consulting the CPC, map-making can be found under the corresponding CPC classification number 86754. In its offer/schedule, the Member would then enter the subsector under the "Other Business Services" section of its schedule as follows:

Map-making services (86754)

If a Member wishes to use its own subsectoral classification or definitions it should provide concordance with the CPC in the manner indicated in the above example. If this is not possible, it should give a sufficiently detailed definition to avoid any ambiguity as to the scope of the commitment. (emphasis added; footnote omitted)

203. The Scheduling Guidelines thus underline the importance of using a common format and terminology in scheduling, and express a clear preference for parties to use W/120 and the CPC classifications in their Schedules. At the same time, the Guidelines make clear that parties wanting to use their own subsectoral classification or definitions—that is, to disaggregate in a way that diverges from W/120 and/or the CPC—were to do so in a "sufficiently detailed" way "to avoid any ambiguity as to the scope of the commitment." The example given in the Scheduling Guidelines illustrates how to make a positive commitment with respect to a discrete service that is more disaggregated than a service subsector identified in W/120. It is reasonable to assume that the parties to the negotiations expected the same technique to be applied to *exclude* a discrete service from the scope of a commitment, when the commitment is made in a subsector identified in W/120 and the excluded service is more disaggregated than that subsector.

204. In our view, the requisite clarity as to the scope of a commitment could not have been achieved through mere omission of CPC codes, particularly where a specific sector of a Member's Schedule, such as sector 10 of the United States' Schedule, follows the structure of W/120 in all other respects, and adopts *precisely* the same terminology as used in W/120. As discussed above, W/120 and the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines were prepared and circulated at the request of parties to the Uruguay Round negotiations for the express purpose of assisting those parties in the preparation of their offers. These documents undoubtedly served, too, to assist parties in reviewing and evaluating the offers made by others. They provided a common language and structure which, although not obligatory, was widely used and relied upon. In such circumstances, and in the light of the specific guidance provided in the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines, it is reasonable to assume that parties to the negotiations examining a sector of a Schedule that tracked so closely the language of the same sector in W/120 would—absent a clear indication to the contrary—have expected the sector to have the same coverage as the corresponding W/120 sector. This is another way of stating that, as the Panel observed, "unless otherwise indicated in the Schedule, Members were assumed to have relied on W/120 and the corresponding CPC references."

205. Accordingly, the above excerpt from the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines, together with the linguistic similarities between the two subsectors, provide strong support for interpreting subsector 10.D of the United States' Schedule as corresponding to subsector 10.D of W/120, notwithstanding the absence of CPC codes in the United States' Schedule. Subsector 10.D of W/120, in turn, corresponds to Class 964 of CPC, along with its sub-categories.

206. We observe that another element of the preparatory work of the GATS suggests that the United States itself understood the Scheduling Guidelines in this way and sought to comply with them in the drafting of its GATS Schedule. Several drafts of the United States' Schedule included the following cover note:

[E]xcept where specifically noted, the scope of the sectoral commitments of the United States corresponds to the sectoral coverage in the Secretariat's Services Sectoral Classification List (MTN.GNS/W/120, dated 10 July 1991).⁶⁴

207. These explanatory notes confirm that the United States used W/120 and sought to follow the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines. Although the United States emphasizes that this note did not form part of the

⁶³Panel Report, para. 6.106.

⁶⁴Communication from the United States of America – Draft Final Schedule of the United States of America Concerning Initial Commitments, MTN.GNS/W/112/Rev.3, 7 December 1993. See also MTN.GNS/W/112/Rev.2, 1 October 1993.

final version of the United States' GATS Schedule, the reasons why the note was omitted are unclear⁶⁵ and, in any event, the commitment made by the United States in subsector 10.D remained the same in the drafts that had this cover note and in the final version of the Schedule. In other words, the other parties to the negotiations could not have been expected to understand that the mere omission of the cover note from the final version of the United States' Schedule somehow modified the scope of the commitment undertaken in Sector 10.

208. In our view, therefore, the relevant entry in the United States' Schedule, "Other recreational services (except sporting)", must be interpreted as *excluding* from the scope of its specific commitment services corresponding to CPC class 9641, "Sporting services". For the same reasons, the entry must be read as *including* within the scope of its commitment services corresponding to CPC 9649, "Other recreational services", including Sub-class 96492, "Gambling and betting services".

(...)

C. Summary

213. Based on our reasoning above, we reject the United States' argument that, by excluding "sporting" services from the scope of its commitment in subsector 10.D, the United States excluded gambling and betting services from the scope of that commitment. Accordingly, we *uphold*, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding, in paragraph 7.2(a) of the Panel Report, that:

... the United States' Schedule under the GATS includes specific commitments on gambling and betting services under subsector 10.D.

VI. Article XVI of the GATS: Market Access

- 214. Article XVI of the GATS sets out specific obligations for Members that apply insofar as a Member has undertaken "specific market access commitments" in its Schedule. The first paragraph of Article XVI obliges Members to accord services and service suppliers of other Members "no less favourable treatment than that provided for under the terms, limitations and conditions agreed and specified in its Schedule." The second paragraph of Article XVI defines, in six sub-paragraphs, measures that a Member, having undertaken a specific commitment, is not to adopt or maintain, "unless otherwise specified in its Schedule". The first four sub-paragraphs concern quantitative limitations on market access; the fifth sub-paragraph covers measures that restrict or require specific types of legal entity or joint venture through which a service supplier may supply a service; and the sixth sub-paragraph identifies limitations on the participation of foreign capital.
- 215. The Panel found that the United States' Schedule includes specific commitments on gambling and betting services, and we have upheld this finding. The Panel then considered the consistency of the measures at issue with the United States' obligations under Article XVI of the GATS. The scope of those obligations depends on the scope of the specific commitment made in the United States' Schedule. In this case, the relevant entry for mode 1 supply in the market access

⁶⁵Before the Panel, and at the oral hearing in this appeal, the European Communities explained that such notes were removed as part of the process of "technical verification" of schedules and that the United States could not have unilaterally amended the scope of its commitments after 15 December 1993. See the parties' responses to Question 3 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, pp. C-22ff.

column of subsector 10.D of the United States' Schedule reads "None". 66 In other words, the United States has undertaken to provide full market access, within the meaning of Article XVI, in respect of the services included within the scope of its subsector 10.D commitment. In so doing, it has committed not to maintain any of the types of measures listed in the six sub-paragraphs of Article XVI:2.

216. Before the Panel, Antigua claimed that, in maintaining measures that prohibit the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services, the United States is maintaining quantitative limitations that fall within the scope of sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI and that are, therefore, inconsistent with the market access commitment undertaken in subsector 10.D of the United States' Schedule. The Panel took the view that a prohibition on the supply of certain services effectively "limits to zero" the number of service suppliers and number of service operations relating to that service. The Panel reasoned that such a prohibition results in a "zero quota" and, therefore, constitutes a "'limitation on the number of service suppliers in the form of numerical quotas' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(a)" and "a limitation 'on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output ... in the form of quotas' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(c)".⁶⁷

(...)

A. Preliminary Matters

218. The United States appeals both the Panel's interpretation of sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI, as well as its application of those provisions to the measures at issue. We have already determined that the Panel should not have made findings under Article XVI with respect to certain state laws because Antigua had not made out a *prima facie* case in respect of these measures. Having already reversed the Panel's findings regarding these state laws⁶⁸, we need not consider them further in our assessment of this part of the United States' appeal. Accordingly, our analysis below is limited to a review of the Panel's interpretation of sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2, as well as to its application of that interpretation to the three *federal* statutes at issue in this case.

219. We also note that the Notice of Appeal filed by the United States appears to indicate a separate, independent challenge to:

The Panel's finding that a WTO Member does not respect its GATS market access obligations under Article XVI:2 if it limits market access to any part of a scheduled sector or subsector, or if it restricts any means of delivery under mode 1 with respect to a committed sector.⁶⁹

220. The United States did not, however, adduce any arguments in support of such a challenge in its appellant's submission. Nor did the United States expressly refer to, or request us to reverse, any paragraph of the Panel Report in which the "finding" referred to in the above excerpt is found. Accordingly, we understand that the United States does *not* challenge separately the Panel's findings as regards restrictions on the supply of *part of a sector*, or as regards restrictions on *part of a mode of*

 $^{^{66}}$ This notation is the opposite of the notation "Unbound", which means that a Member undertakes *no* specific commitment.

⁶⁷Panel Report, paras. 6.338 and 6.355.

⁶⁸Supra, paras. 154 and 155.

⁶⁹United States' Notice of Appeal, para. 3(c)

supply (that is, on one or more means of supplying a given service).⁷⁰ In response to questioning at the oral hearing, the United States confirmed that its appeal focuses on the Panel's interpretation of subparagraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2, and we shall limit our examination accordingly.

- B. The Meaning of Sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI
- 221. The chapeau to Article XVI:2, and sub-paragraphs (a) and (c), provide:

In sectors where market-access commitments are undertaken, the measures which a Member shall not maintain or adopt either on the basis of a regional subdivision or on the basis of its entire territory, unless otherwise specified in its Schedule, are defined as:

- (a) limitations on the number of service suppliers whether in the form of numerical quotas, monopolies, exclusive service suppliers or the requirements of an economic needs test; ...
- (c) limitations on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output expressed in terms of designated numerical units in the form of quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test; ⁹

222. In its appeal, the United States emphasizes that *none* of the measures at issue states any numerical units or is in the form of quotas and that, therefore, *none* of those measures falls within the scope of sub-paragraph (a) or (c) of Article XVI:2. The United States contends that the Panel erred in its interpretation of sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2 by failing to give effect to certain elements of the text of these provisions, notably to key terms such as "form" and "numerical quotas". According to the United States, the Panel appears to have been influenced by a "misguided" concern that prohibitions on foreign service suppliers should not escape the application of Article XVI simply because they are not expressed in numerical terms. The United States asserts that the Panel ignored the fact that such prohibitions remain subject to other provisions of the Agreement, including Articles XVII and VI, and contends that, in its approach, the Panel improperly expanded the obligations in Article XVI. For the United States, Members that have made a specific commitment under Article XVI have committed themselves not to maintain the precisely defined limitations set out in Article XVI:2; Members have *not* committed themselves to eliminate all other limitations or restrictions that may impede the supply of the relevant services.

1. Sub-paragraph (a) of Article XVI:2

223. In interpreting sub-paragraph (a) of Article XVI:2, the Panel determined that:

Subparagraph 2(c) does not cover measures of a Member which limit inputs for the supply of services.

⁷⁰We understand the relevant findings to be those in paragraphs 6.287 and 6.290 of the Panel Report. The Panel found that: (i) as regards a particular service, a Member that has made an unlimited market access commitment under mode 1 commits itself not to maintain measures that prohibit the use of one, several or all means of delivery of that service; and (ii) a Member that has made a market access commitment in a sector or subsector has committed itself in respect of *all* services that fall within the relevant sector or subsector.

⁷¹United States' appellant's submission, para. 98.

[a prohibition on one, several or all means of delivery cross-border] is a "limitation on the number of service suppliers in the form of numerical quotas" within the meaning of Article XVI:2(a) because it totally prevents the use by service suppliers of one, several or all means of delivery that are included in mode 1.⁷²

- 224. The United States submits that this interpretation ignores the text of sub-paragraph (a), in particular the meaning of "form" and "numerical quotas", and erroneously includes within the scope of Article XVI:2(a) measures that have the *effect* of limiting the number of service suppliers or output to zero. Although the Panel opined that any other result would be "absurd", the United States stresses the opposite—that a contrary result would be consistent with the balance between liberalization and the right to regulate that is reflected in the GATS.
- 225. Article XVI:2(a) prohibits "limitations on the number of service suppliers whether in the form of numerical quotas, monopolies, exclusive service suppliers or the requirements of an economic needs test." In interpreting this provision we observe, first, that it refers to restrictions "on the *number* of service suppliers", as well as to "*numerical* quotas". These words reflect that the focus of Article XVI:2(a) is on limitations relating to numbers or, put differently, to *quantitative* limitations.
- 226. The United States urges us to give proper effect to the terms "in the form of" in sub-paragraph (a) and, to that end, refers to dictionary definitions to establish the meaning of "form" in Article XIV:2(a). Yet even these definitions suggest a degree of ambiguity as to the scope of the word "form". For example, "form" covers both the mode in which a thing "exists", as well as the mode in which it "manifests itself". This suggests a broad meaning for the term "form".⁷³
- 227. The words "in the form of" in sub-paragraph (a) relate to all four of the limitations identified in that provision. It follows, in our view, that the four types of limitations, themselves, impart meaning to "in the form of". Looking at these four types of limitations in Article XVI:2(a), we begin with "numerical quotas". These words are not defined in the GATS. According to the dictionary definitions provided by the United States, the meaning of the word "numerical" includes "characteristic of a number or numbers". The word "quota" means, *inter alia*, "the maximum number or quantity belonging, due, given, or permitted to an individual or group"; and "numerical limitations on imports or exports". Thus, a "numerical quota" within Article XVI:2(a) appears to mean a quantitative limit on the number of service suppliers. The fact that the word "numerical" encompasses things which "have the characteristics of a number" suggests that limitations "in the form of a numerical quota" would encompass limitations which, even if not in themselves a number, have the characteristics of a number. Because zero is *quantitative* in nature, it can, in our view, be deemed to have the "characteristics of" a number—that is, to be "numerical".

⁷²Panel Report, para. 6.338.

⁷³In footnote 166 to paragraph 105 of its appellant's submission, the United States refers to "*The New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary*, p. 1006, which defines 'form' *inter alia* as 'shape, arrangement of parts,' or '[t]he particular mode in which a thing exists or manifests itself,' or, in linguistics, 'the external characteristics of a word or other unit as distinct from its meaning".

⁷⁴The United States, at footnote 167 to paragraph 105 of its appellant's submission, observes that the "*New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary*, at p. 1955, defines 'numerical' as '[o]f, pertaining to, or characteristic of a number or numbers; (of a figure, symbol, etc.) expressing a number."

⁷⁵The United States' appellant's submission, footnote 167 to para. 105 (referring to the *New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary*, p. 2454).

- 228. The second type of limitation mentioned in sub-paragraph (a) is "limitations on the number of service suppliers... in the form of ... monopolies". Although the word "monopolies", as such, is not defined, Article XXVIII(h) of the GATS defines a "monopoly supplier of a service" as:
 - ... any person, public or private, which in the relevant market of the territory of a Member is authorized or established formally *or in effect* by that Member as the sole supplier of that service. (emphasis added)
- 229. The term "exclusive service suppliers", which is used to identify the third limitation in Article XVI:2(a) ("limitations on the number of service suppliers...in the form of exclusive service suppliers"), is defined in Article VIII:5 of the GATS, as:
 - ... where a Member, formally *or in effect*, (a) authorizes or establishes a small number of service suppliers and (b) substantially prevents competition among those suppliers in its territory. (emphasis added)
- 230. These two definitions suggest that the reference, in Article XVI:2(a), to limitations on the number of service suppliers "in the form of monopolies and exclusive service suppliers" should be read to include limitations that are in form *or in effect*, monopolies or exclusive service suppliers.
- 231. We further observe that it is not clear that "limitations on the number of service suppliers ... in the form of ... the requirements of an economic needs test" must take a particular "form." Thus, this fourth type of limitation, too, suggests that the words "in the form of" must not be interpreted as prescribing a rigid mechanical formula.
- 232. This is not to say that the words "in the form of" should be ignored or replaced by the words "that have the effect of". Yet, at the same time, they cannot be read in isolation. Rather, when viewed as a whole, the text of sub-paragraph (a) supports the view that the words "in the form of" must be read in conjunction with the words that precede them—"limitations on the *number* of service suppliers"—as well as the words that follow them, including the words "*numerical* quotas". (emphasis added) Read in this way, it is clear that the thrust of sub-paragraph (a) is not on the *form* of limitations, but on their *numerical*, or *quantitative*, nature.
- 233. Looking to the context of sub-paragraph (a), we observe that the chapeau to Article XVI:2, refers to the purpose of the sub-paragraphs that follow, namely, to define the measures which a Member shall not maintain or adopt for sectors where market access commitments are made. The chapeau thus contemplates circumstances in which a Member's Schedule includes a commitment to allow market access, and points out that the function of the sub-paragraphs in Article XVI:2 is to define certain limitations that are prohibited unless specifically entered in the Member's Schedule. Plainly, the drafters of sub-paragraph (a) had in mind limitations that would impose a maximum limit of above zero. Similarly, Article II:1(b) of the GATT 1994 prohibits Members from imposing duties "in excess of" the bound duty rate. Such bound duty rate will usually be above zero. Yet this does not mean that Article II:1(b) does not also refer to bound rates set at zero.
- 234. It follows from the above that we find the following reasoning of the Panel to be persuasive:

⁷⁶See the WTO Secretariat Note on "Economic Needs Tests", S/CSS/W/118, 30 November 2001, para. 4.

[t]he fact that the terminology [of Article XVI:2(a)] embraces lesser limitations, in the form of quotas greater than zero, cannot warrant the conclusion that it does not embrace a greater limitation amounting to zero. Paragraph (a) does not foresee a "zero quota" because paragraph (a) was not drafted to cover situations where a Member wants to maintain full limitations. If a Member wants to maintain a full prohibition, it is assumed that such a Member would not have scheduled such a sector or subsector and, therefore, would not need to schedule any limitation or measures pursuant to Article XVI:2.⁷⁷

- 235. As for the first paragraph of Article XVI, we note that it does not refer expressly to any requirements as to form, but simply links a Member's market access obligations in respect of scheduled services to "the terms, limitations and conditions agreed and specified in its Schedule". Neither this provision, nor the object and purpose of the GATS as stated in its preamble⁷⁸, readily assists us in answering the question whether the reference in Article XVI:2(a) to "limitations on the number of service suppliers ... in the form of numerical quotas" encompasses the type of measure at issue here, namely, a prohibition on the supply of a service in respect of which a specific commitment has been made.
- 236. In our view, the above examination of the words of Article XVI:2(a) read in their context and in the light of the object and purpose of the GATS suggests that the words "in the form of" do not impose the type of precisely defined constraint that the United States suggests. Yet certain ambiguities about the meaning of the provision remain. The Panel, at this stage of its analysis, observed that any suggestion that the "form" requirement must be strictly interpreted to refer *only* to limitations "explicitly couched in numerical terms" leads to "absurdity". In either circumstance, this is an appropriate case in which to have recourse to supplementary means of interpretation, such as preparatory work.
- 237. We have already determined that the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines constitute relevant preparatory work. As the Panel observed, those Guidelines set out an example of the type of limitation that falls within the scope of sub-paragraph (a) of Article XVI:2, that is, of the type of measures that will be inconsistent with Article XVI if a relevant commitment has been made and unless the Member in question has listed it as a condition or limitation in its Schedule. That example is: "nationality requirements for suppliers of services (equivalent to zero quota)". This example confirms the view that measures equivalent to a zero quota fall within the scope of Article XVI:2(a).
- 238. For the above reasons, we are of the view that limitations amounting to a zero quota are quantitative limitations and fall within the scope of Article XVI:2(a).

To hold that only restrictions explicitly couched in numerical terms fall within Article XVI:2(a) would produce absurd results. It would, for example, allow a law that explicitly provides that "all foreign services are prohibited" to escape the application of Article XVI, because it is not expressed in numerical terms.

⁷⁷Panel Report, para. 6.331.

⁷⁸We recall that the Panel identified, as forming part of the object and purpose of the GATS: transparency, the progressive liberalization of trade in services, and Members' right to regulate trade in services provided that they respect the rights of other Members under the GATS. (Panel Report, paras. 6.107-6.109, and 6.314-6.317)

⁷⁹In paragraph 6.332 of the Panel Report, the Panel reasoned that:

⁸⁰Supra, para. 0.

⁸¹See 1993 Scheduling Guidelines, para. 6.

239. As we have not been asked to revisit the other elements of the Panel's reasoning on this issue—in particular its findings regarding limitations on market access in respect of part of a committed sector⁸², and limitations on one or more means of cross-border delivery for a committed service⁸³—we therefore, *uphold* the Panel's finding that:

[a prohibition on one, several or all means of delivery cross-border] is a "limitation on the number of service suppliers in the form of numerical quotas" within the meaning of Article XVI:2(a) because it totally prevents the use by service suppliers of one, several or all means of delivery that are included in mode 1.84

2. Sub-paragraph (c) of Article XVI:2

(...)

- 245. Ultimately, we are not persuaded that the key to the interpretation of this particular provision is to be found in a careful dissection of the use of commas within its grammatical structure. Regardless of which language version is analyzed, and of the implications of comma placement (or lack thereof), *all* three language versions are grammatically ambiguous. All three can arguably be read as identifying two limitations on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output. All three can also arguably be read as identifying *three* limitations on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output. The mere presence or absence of a comma in Article XVI:2(c) is not determinative of the issue before us.
- 246. We find it more useful, and appropriate, to look to the language of the provision itself for its meaning. Looking at the provision generally, we see that the first clause of sub-paragraph (c) deals with the *target* of the limitations covered by that provision. There are two such types of limitations: on the number of service operations; and on the quantity of service output. Both are *quantitative* in nature. The second part of the provision provides more detail as to the *type* of limitations—relating to those service operations or output—that fall within sub-paragraph (c). These are: "designated numerical units in the form of quotas or the requirement of an economic needs test". The second part of the provision clearly modifies the first part of the provision (service operations, service output). Yet certain elements of the second part apply differently to the two elements of the first part. For example, in its ordinary sense, the term "numerical units" is more naturally used to refer to "output" than to "operations".
- 247. In our view, by combining, in sub-paragraph (c), the elements of the first clause of Article XVI:2(c) and the elements in the second part of the provision, the parties to the negotiations sought to ensure that their provision covered certain types of limitations, but did not feel the need to clearly demarcate the scope of each such element. On the contrary, there is scope for overlap between such elements: between limitations on the number of service operations and limitations on the quantity of service output, for example, or between limitations in the form of quotas and limitations in the form of an

⁸² Panel Report, para. 6.335.

⁸³*Ibid.*, para. 6.338.

 $^{^{84}}Ibid$.

⁸⁵That is: (i) limitations ... expressed in terms of designated numerical units in the form of quotas; or (ii) limitations ... expressed in terms of the requirement of an economic needs test.

⁸⁶That is: (i) limitations ... expressed in terms of designated numerical units; (ii) limitations ... expressed ... in the form of quotas; or (iii) limitations ... expressed in terms of the requirement of ... an economic needs test.

economic needs test. That sub-paragraph (c) applies in respect of all four modes of supply under the GATS also suggests the limitations covered thereunder cannot take a single form, nor be constrained in a formulaic manner. Nonetheless, all types of limitations in sub-paragraph (c) are quantitative in nature, and all restrict market access. For these reasons, we are of the view that, *even if* sub-paragraph (c) is read as referring to only *two* types of limitations, as contended by the United States, it does not follow that sub-paragraph (c) would not catch a measure equivalent to a zero quota.

- 248. To the extent that the above interpretation leaves a degree of ambiguity as to the proper meaning of Article XVI:2(c), we consider it useful to resort to supplementary means of interpretation. The market access obligations set forth in Article XVI were intended to be obligations in respect of *quantitative*, or "quantitative-type" measures. The difficulties faced by the negotiating parties concerned not *whether* Article XVI covered quantitative measures—for it was clear that it did—but rather how to "know where the line should be drawn between quantitative and qualitative measures". 88
- 249. We also consider it appropriate to refer to the 1993 Scheduling Guidelines as preparatory work. These Guidelines set out an example of the type of measure covered by sub-paragraph (c) of Article XVI:2. They refer to "[r]estrictions on broadcasting time available for foreign films" without mentioning numbers or units.
- 250. The strict interpretation of Article XVI:2(c) advanced by the United States would imply that only limitations that contain an express reference to numbered units could fall within the scope of that provision. Under such an interpretation, sub-paragraph (c) could not cover, for example, a limitation expressed as a percentage or described using words such as "a majority". It is neither necessary nor appropriate for us to draw, in the abstract, the line between quantitative and qualitative measures, and we do not do so here. Yet we are satisfied that a prohibition on the supply of services in respect of which a full market access commitment has been undertaken is a quantitative limitation on the supply of such services.
- 251. In this case, the measures at issue, by prohibiting the supply of services in respect of which a market access commitment has been taken, amount to a "zero quota" on service operations or output with respect to such services. As such, they fall within the scope of Article XVI:2(c).
- 252. For all of these reasons, we *uphold* the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.355 of the Panel Report, that a measure prohibiting the supply of certain services where specific commitments have been undertaken is a limitation:

... within the meaning of Article XVI:2(c) because it totally prevents the services operations and/or service output through one or more or all means of delivery that are included in mode 1. In other words, such a ban results in a "zero quota" on one or more or all means of delivery include in mode 1.

(...)

D. Application of Article XVI to the Measures at Issue

⁸⁷Statement by the Co-Chairman at the meeting of 17-27 September 1991, MTN.GNS/45, para. 16.

⁸⁸Ihid

⁸⁹1993 Scheduling Guidelines, p. 3.

- 257. Having upheld the Panel's interpretation of Article XVI:2(a) and (c), we now consider its application of that interpretation to the measures at issue in this case. In so doing, we consider, for the reasons already explained, only that part of the Panel's analysis relating to the three *federal* laws, and not its analysis relating to state laws.
- 258. The Panel's explanation of the three federal laws is set out in paragraphs 6.360 to 6.380 of the Panel Report. It is, in our view, useful to set out briefly the relevant part of each statute, as well as the Panel's finding in respect of that statute. The relevant part of the Wire Act states:

Whoever being engaged in the business of betting or wagering knowingly uses a wire communication facility for the transmission in interstate or foreign commerce of bets or wagers or information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers on any sporting event or contest, or for the transmission of a wire communication which entitles the recipient to receive money or credit as a result of bets or wagers, or for information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than two years, or both. 90

- 259. With respect to this provision, the Panel found that "the Wire Act prohibits the use of at least one or potentially several means of delivery included in mode 1"91, and that, accordingly, the statute "constitutes a 'zero quota' for, respectively, one, several or all of those means of delivery."92 The Panel reasoned that the Wire Act prohibits service suppliers from supplying gambling and betting services using remote means of delivery, as well as service operations and service output through such means. Accordingly, the Panel determined that "the Wire Act contains a limitation 'in the form of numerical quotas' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(a) and a limitation 'in the form of a quota' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(c)."93
- 260. As regards the Travel Act, the Panel quoted the following excerpt:
 - (a) Whoever travels in interstate or foreign commerce or uses the mail or any facility in interstate or foreign commerce, with intent to
 - (1) distribute the proceeds of any unlawful activity; or
 - (2) commit any crime of violence to further any unlawful activity; or
 - (3) otherwise promote, manage, establish, carry on, or facilitate the promotion, management, establishment, or carrying on, of any unlawful activity,

and thereafter performs or attempts to perform --

⁹⁰Section 1084(a) of Title 18 of the United States Code (quoted in Panel Report, para. 6.360).

⁹¹Panel Report, para. 6.362.

⁹²*Ibid.*, para. 6.363.

⁹³ Ihid.

- (A) an act described in paragraph (1) or (3) shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both; or
- (B) an act described in paragraph (2) shall be fined under this title, imprisoned for not more than 20 years, or both, and if death results shall be imprisoned for any term of years or for life.
- (b) As used in this section (i) "unlawful activity" means (1) any business enterprise involving gambling ... in violation of the laws of the State in which they are committed or of the United States.⁹⁴
- 261. The Panel determined that "the Travel Act prohibits gambling activity that entails the supply of gambling and betting services by 'mail or any facility' to the extent that such supply is undertaken by a 'business enterprise involving gambling' that is prohibited under state law and provided that the other requirements in subparagraph (a) of the Travel Act have been met."⁹⁵ The Panel further opined that the Travel Act prohibits service suppliers from supplying gambling and betting services through the mail, (and potentially other means of delivery), as well as services operations and service output through the mail (and potentially other means of delivery), in such a way as to amount to a "zero" quota on one or several means of delivery included in mode 1. For these reasons, the Panel found that "the Travel Act contains a limitation in the form of numerical quotas' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(a) and a limitation in the form of a quota' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(c)."
- 262. The Panel considered the relevant part of the Illegal Gambling Business Act to be the following:
 - (a) Whoever conducts, finances, manages, supervises, directs or owns all or part of an illegal gambling business shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.
 - (b) As used in this section –
 - (1) 'illegal gambling business' means a gambling business which
 - (i) is a violation of the law of a State or political subdivision in which it is conducted;
 - (ii) involves five or more persons who conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct, or own all or part of such business; and
 - (iii) has been or remains in substantially continuous operation for a period in excess of thirty days or has a gross revenue of \$2,000 in any single day.

⁹⁴Section 1952(a) and (b) of Title 18 of the United States Code (quoted in Panel Report, para. 6.366).

⁹⁵Panel Report, para. 6.370. See also para. 6.367.

⁹⁶*Ibid.*, paras. 6.368-6.370.

⁹⁷*Ibid.*, para. 6.371.

- (2) 'gambling' includes but is not limited to pool-selling, bookmaking, maintaining slot machines, roulette wheels or dice tables, and conducting lotteries, policy, bolita or numbers games, or selling chances therein.⁹⁸
- 263. The Panel then determined that because the IGBA "prohibits the conduct, finance, management, supervision, direction or ownership of all or part of a 'gambling business' that violates state law, it effectively prohibits the supply of gambling and betting services through at least one and potentially all means of delivery included in mode 1 by such businesses"; that this prohibition concerned service suppliers, service operations and service output; and that, accordingly, the IGBA "contains a limitation in the form of numerical quotas' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(a) and a limitation in the form of a quota' within the meaning of Article XVI:2(c)."
- 264. The United States' appeal of the Panel's findings with respect to the consistency of its measures with sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2 rests on two pillars: (i) that the Panel erred in interpreting those provisions; and (ii) that the measures at issue do not contain any limitations that explicitly take the form of numerical quotas or designated numerical units. The United States does *not* appeal the Panel's findings as to the various activities that are prohibited under these statutes. We have upheld the Panel's interpretation of sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2 and, in particular, its determination that these provisions encompass measures equivalent to a zero quota. In these circumstances, the fact that the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the IGBA do not explicitly use numbers, or the word "quota", in imposing their respective prohibitions, does not mean, as the United States contends, that the measures are beyond the reach of Article XVI:2(a) and (c). As a result, there is no ground for disturbing the above findings made by the Panel.
- 265. We have upheld the Panel's finding that the United States' Schedule to the GATS includes a specific commitment in respect of gambling and betting services. In that Schedule, the United States has inscribed "None" in the first row of the market access column for subsector 10.D. In these circumstances, and for the reasons given in this section of our Report, we also *uphold* the Panel's ultimate finding, in paragraph 7.2(b)(i) of the Panel Report, that, by maintaining the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act, the United States acts inconsistently with its obligations under Article XVI:1 and Article XVI:2(a) and (c) of the GATS.

VII. Article XIV of the GATS: General Exceptions

266. Finally, we turn to the Panel's analysis of the United States' defence under Article XIV of the GATS. We found above that Antigua failed to make a *prima facie* case of inconsistency with Article XVI in relation to the eight state laws examined by the Panel. The Panel found that no other state laws had been sufficiently identified by Antigua as part of its claims in this dispute. We therefore limit our discussion to the Panel's treatment of the defence asserted by the United States with respect to the three federal laws—the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act ("IGBA")—under Article XIV.

⁹⁸Section 1955(a) and (b) of Title 18 of the United States Code (quoted in Panel Report, para. 6.374).

⁹⁹Panel Report, paras. 6.376-6.378.

¹⁰⁰*Supra*, para. 0.

¹⁰¹Supra, paras. Error! Reference source not found.-0.

¹⁰²Panel Report, paras. 6.211-6.249.

The United States and Antigua each raises multiple allegations of error with respect to the Panel's analysis under Article XIV. We begin with Antigua's claim that the Panel erred in examining the merits of the United States' defence, notwithstanding that the United States did not raise it until its second written submission to the Panel. Next, we consider the participants' allegations that the Panel erred by taking it upon itself to construct the defence or rebuttal for the other party. We then turn to the participants' claims of error in relation to the Panel's analysis under paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XIV, and under the chapeau, or introductory paragraph, of Article XIV.

(...)

B. Did the Panel Err in its Treatment of the Burden of Proof Under Article XIV?

277. In its analysis of issues arising under Article XIV of the GATS, the Panel drew extensively on arguments made and evidence submitted by the parties in connection with other issues in this case. This approach of the Panel to Article XIV is the subject of appeals by both Antigua and the United States. Each alleges that the Panel erred in its treatment of the burden of proof.

278. Antigua argues that the Panel acted inconsistently with its obligations under Article 11 of the DSU because it "constructed the GATS Article XIV defence on behalf of the United States." First, with respect to Article XIV(a), Antigua claims that the United States identified only *two* interests relating to "public morals" or "public order", namely: (i) organized crime; and (ii) underage gambling. Antigua argues that the Panel, however, identified an additional three concerns on its own initiative: (i) money laundering¹⁰⁴, (ii) fraud¹⁰⁵, and (iii) public health. Secondly, Antigua contends that the Panel erred in its analysis of the United States' defence under the chapeau of Article XIV because the United States' arguments assessed by the Panel were not taken from the United States' submissions relating to Article XIV, but rather, from the United States' response to Antigua's national treatment claim under Article XVII of the GATS.

279. In its appeal, the United States submits that it established its case that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are justified under Article XIV, but that the Panel improperly constructed a rebuttal under the chapeau to that provision when Antigua itself had failed to do so. The United States alleges, in particular, that the Panel did so "by recycling evidence and argumentation that Antigua had used to allege a national treatment violation under Article XVII as if those arguments had been made in the context of the Article XIV chapeau."

280. We begin our analysis by referring to the Appellate Body's view that:

... nothing in the DSU limits the faculty of a panel freely to use arguments submitted by any of the parties - or to develop its own legal reasoning - to support its own findings and conclusions on the matter under its consideration. 108

¹⁰³Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 80.

¹⁰⁴Panel Report, paras. 6.499-6.505.

¹⁰⁵*Ibid.*, paras. 6.506-6.509.

¹⁰⁶*Ibid.*, paras. 6.510-6.514.

¹⁰⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 188.

 $^{^{108}}$ Appellate Body Report, EC-Hormones, para. 156. See also Appellate Body Report, $US-Certain\ EC$ *Products*, para. 123.

- 281. However, a panel enjoys such discretion only with respect to specific claims that are properly before it, for otherwise it would be considering a matter not within its jurisdiction. Moreover, when a panel rules on a claim in the absence of evidence and supporting arguments, it acts inconsistently with its obligations under Article 11 of the DSU. ¹⁰⁹
- 282. In the context of affirmative defences, then, a responding party must invoke a defence and put forward evidence and arguments in support of its assertion that the challenged measure satisfies the requirements of the defence. When a responding party fulfils this obligation, a panel may rule on whether the challenged measure is justified under the relevant defence, relying on arguments advanced by the parties or developing its own reasoning. The same applies to rebuttals. A panel may not take upon itself to rebut the claim (or defence) where the responding party (or complaining party) itself has not done so.
- 283. Turning to the issues on appeal, we begin with the three protected interests that the Panel allegedly identified on its own in examining the United States' defence under paragraph (a) of Article XIV, namely, health concerns, and combating money laundering and fraud. In both its first and second written submissions to the Panel, the United States, in responding to one of Antigua's claims under the GATS, identified five "concerns associated with the remote supply of gambling [services]." These "concerns" relate to: (1) organized crime¹¹¹; (2) money laundering¹¹²; (3) fraud¹¹³; (4) risks to youth, including underage gambling¹¹⁴; and (5) public health. When subsequently arguing that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are justified under Article XIV(a), the United States explicitly referred back to the discussion, earlier in its second written submission to the Panel, of all these interests *except* for that relating to public health. 116
- 284. In other words, four of the five interests mentioned by the Panel were plainly discussed or referred to by the United States as part of its defence under Article XIV(a). The fifth interest—relating to public health—was prominently identified by the United States in a previous discussion of the protected interests relating to the remote supply of gambling services and, therefore, was not an invention of the Panel. In our view, the fact that this fifth interest was not *explicitly* raised *again* in the context of the

¹⁰⁹Appellate Body Report, *Chile – Price Band System*, para. 173.

¹¹⁰United States' second written submission to the Panel, para. 45.

¹¹¹United States' first written submission to the Panel, paras. 10-11; United States' second written submission to the Panel, paras. 46-49.

¹¹²United States' first written submission to the Panel, paras. 12-13; United States' second written submission to the Panel, para. 50.

¹¹³United States' first written submission to the Panel, paras. 14-15; United States' second written submission to the Panel, para. 51.

¹¹⁴United States' first written submission to the Panel, paras. 16-18; United States' second written submission to the Panel, paras. 54-56.

¹¹⁵United States' first written submission to the Panel, paras. 19-21; United States' second written submission to the Panel, paras. 52-53.

¹¹⁶See the United States' second written submission to the Panel, para. 111 and footnote 139 thereto (referring to the United States' second written submission, paras. 46-51); and para. 114 and footnote 143 thereto (referring to the United States' second written submission, paras. 54-55).

¹¹⁷United States' first written submission to the Panel, Section III.A.4 ("Supply of gambling into private homes, workplaces, and other environments creates additional health risks"); United States' second written submission to the Panel, Section III.B.1.b.iv ("Remote gambling poses a greater and broader threat to human health").

United States' Article XIV arguments should not have precluded the Panel from considering it as part of its analysis under Article XIV(a). We therefore dismiss this ground of Antigua's appeal.

285. We turn now to the participants' arguments relating to the Panel's treatment of the burden of proof in its analysis under the chapeau of Article XIV. Antigua had advanced a claim before the Panel under Article XVII of the GATS, alleging that the United States fails to accord to Antiguan services and service suppliers, treatment no less favourable than that accorded to like domestic services and service suppliers. Throughout the panel proceedings, the United States disputed this assertion, consistently arguing that United States laws on gambling make no distinction between domestic and foreign services, or between domestic and foreign service suppliers. The Panel exercised judicial economy with respect to Antigua's claim under Article XVII. Nevertheless, in the course of considering whether the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA satisfy the conditions of the chapeau of Article XIV, the Panel examined arguments put by the parties in relation to Antigua's Article XVII claim.

286. On appeal, both participants contest the Panel's use of such arguments. Antigua contends that the Panel's reliance on the United States' arguments on Article XVII demonstrates that the Panel constructed a defence for the United States, whereas the United States points to the Panel's reliance on Antigua's arguments on Article XVII as proof that the Panel improperly assumed Antigua's responsibility to rebut the United States' defence.

287. In arguing its Article XIV defence before the Panel, the United States asserted that its measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV because they do not discriminate *at all*. In particular, the United States contended:

The restrictions in [the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA] meet the requirements of the chapeau. None of these measures introduces any discrimination on the basis of nationality. On the contrary, *as the United States has repeatedly observed*, they apply equally regardless of national origin.¹²¹ (emphasis added)

In our view, this statement by the United States, particularly the adverb "repeatedly", reflects an intention to incorporate into its Article XIV defence its previous arguments relating to non-discrimination in general, which were made in response to Antigua's national treatment claim. We therefore consider that the Panel did not err in referring to these arguments—originally made in the context of Article XVII—in its Article XIV analysis.

288. With respect to Antigua's rebuttal of the arguments, we note that, contrary to the United States' assertions, Antigua did contend that the three federal statutes are applied in a discriminatory manner and therefore fail to meet the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV. In its opening statement at the second substantive panel meeting, Antigua said:

¹¹⁸Antigua's first written submission to the Panel, paras. 110-111, 117-118, 122-123, 125-128, and 188; Antigua's second written submission to the Panel, para. 39; Antigua's statement at the first substantive panel meeting, paras. 88-96; Antigua's statement at the second substantive panel meeting, paras. 61-67; Antigua's response to Question 19 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, pp. C-45 to C-49.

¹¹⁹Panel Report, para. 6.426.

¹²⁰*Ibid.*, para. 6.584. See also paras. 6.585-6.603.

¹²¹United States' second written submission to the Panel, para. 118.

Even were the United States to make out a provisional defence under Article XIV, it is required to demonstrate that the three federal statutes in question meet the additional requirements of the "chapeau" of Article XIV. This is *clearly* not the case. ... First, the United States *discriminates* against Antigua services because they cannot be supplied through distribution methods that are available for the distribution of domestic services. This is an *obvious* "unjustifiable discrimination". 122 (emphasis added; footnote omitted)

We consider that, in making this statement, Antigua effectively formulated an allegation of discrimination, describing it as" clear[]" and "obvious". This must be understood as a reference to the arguments that it had advanced in support of its national treatment claim. Accordingly, the Panel did not err in evaluating, as part of its analysis under the chapeau to Article XIV, the extent to which Antigua's arguments under Article XVII rebutted the defence advanced by the United States.

289. Therefore, we *find* that the Panel did not improperly assume the burden of constructing the defence under Article XIV(a) for the United States. We also *find* that the Panel did not improperly assume the burden of making a rebuttal to the United States' defence on behalf of Antigua.

290. Antigua also claims on appeal that the Panel improperly constructed the defence for the United States under paragraph (c) of Article XIV. Antigua argues that the United States "failed to sufficiently identify" the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations statute (the "RICO statute") as a law relevant to the Panel's examination of the challenged United States measures under Article XIV(c). Antigua submits that the Panel should therefore have refused to consider the RICO statute in its assessment of the United States' Article XIV(c) defence. In the light of our analysis in the next subsection of this Report, it is not necessary for us to determine whether the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA might also constitute measures falling under Article XIV(c). In these circumstances, we need not rule on Antigua's appeal relating to the Panel's treatment of the burden of proof in its analysis under paragraph (c) of Article XIV.

C. The Panel's Substantive Analysis Under Article XIV

291. Article XIV of the GATS sets out the general exceptions from obligations under that Agreement in the same manner as does Article XX of the GATT 1994. Both of these provisions affirm the right of Members to pursue objectives identified in the paragraphs of these provisions even if, in doing so, Members act inconsistently with obligations set out in other provisions of the respective agreements, provided that all of the conditions set out therein are satisfied. Similar language is used in both provisions¹²⁵, notably the term "necessary" and the requirements set out in their respective chapeaux.

¹²²Antigua's statement at the second substantive panel meeting, para. 80.

¹²³Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 121.

¹²⁴Infra, para. Error! Reference source not found..

¹²⁵Notwithstanding the general similarity in language between the two provisions, we note that Article XIV(a) of the GATS expressly enables Members to adopt measures "necessary to protect public morals *or to maintain public order*", whereas the corresponding exception in the GATT 1994, Article XX(a), speaks of measures "necessary to protect public morals". (emphasis added)

Accordingly, like the Panel, we find previous decisions under Article XX of the GATT 1994 relevant for our analysis under Article XIV of the GATS. 126

292. Article XIV of the GATS, like Article XX of the GATT 1994, contemplates a "two-tier analysis" of a measure that a Member seeks to justify under that provision. A panel should first determine whether the challenged measure falls within the scope of one of the paragraphs of Article XIV. This requires that the challenged measure address the particular interest specified in that paragraph and that there be a sufficient nexus between the measure and the interest protected. The required nexus—or "degree of connection"—between the measure and the interest is specified in the language of the paragraphs themselves, through the use of terms such as "relating to" and "necessary to". Where the challenged measure has been found to fall within one of the paragraphs of Article XIV, a panel should then consider whether that measure satisfies the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV.

1. <u>Justification of the Measures Under Paragraph (a) of Article XIV</u>

293. Paragraph (a) of Article XIV covers:

... measures ... necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order. (footnote omitted)

294. In the first step of its analysis under this provision, the Panel examined whether the measures at issue—the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA—are "designed" to protect public morals and to maintain public order. As a second step, the Panel determined whether these measures are "necessary" to protect public morals or to maintain public order, within the meaning of Article XIV(a). The Panel found that:

... the United States has not been able to provisionally justify, under Article XIV(a) of the GATS, that the Wire Act, the Travel Act (when read together with the relevant state laws) and the Illegal Gambling Business Act (when read together with the relevant state laws) are necessary to protect public morals and/or public order within the meaning of Article XIV(a). We, nonetheless, acknowledge that such laws are designed so as to protect public morals or maintain public order.¹³¹ (footnotes omitted)

295. Our review of this conclusion proceeds in two parts. We address first Antigua's challenge to the Panel's finding that the three federal statutes are "measures that are designed to 'protect public morals' and/or 'to maintain public order' in the United States within the meaning of Article XIV(a)." We then

¹²⁶In this respect, we observe that this case is not only the first where the Appellate Body is called upon to address the general exceptions provision of the GATS, but also the first under any of the covered agreements where the Appellate Body is requested to address exceptions relating to "public morals".

 $^{^{127}}$ Appellate Body Report, US-Shrimp, para. 147. See also Appellate Body Report, US-Gasoline, p. 22, DSR 1996:I, 3, at 20.

¹²⁸Appellate Body Report, US – Gasoline, pp. 17-18, DSR 1996:I, 3, at 16.

¹²⁹Panel Report, paras. 6.479-6.487.

¹³⁰*Ibid.*, paras. 6.488-6.534.

¹³¹*Ibid.*, para. 6.535.

¹³²Panel Report, para. 6.487.

address the participants' respective challenges to the Panel's finding that the three federal statutes are not "necessary" to protect public morals and to maintain public order.

(a) "Measures ... to protect public morals or to maintain public order"

296. In its analysis under Article XIV(a), the Panel found that "the term 'public morals' denotes standards of right and wrong conduct maintained by or on behalf of a community or nation." The Panel further found that the definition of the term "order", read in conjunction with footnote 5 of the GATS, "suggests that 'public order' refers to the preservation of the fundamental interests of a society, as reflected in public policy and law." The Panel then referred to Congressional reports and testimony establishing that "the government of the United States consider[s] [that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA] were adopted to address concerns such as those pertaining to money laundering, organized crime, fraud, underage gambling and pathological gambling." On this basis, the Panel found that the three federal statutes are "measures that are designed to 'protect public morals' and/or 'to maintain public order' within the meaning of Article XIV(a)." ¹³⁶

297. Antigua contests this finding on a rather limited ground, namely that the Panel failed to determine whether the concerns identified by the United States satisfy the standard set out in footnote 5 to Article XIV(a) of the GATS, which reads:

[t]he public order exception may be invoked only where a genuine and sufficiently serious threat is posed to one of the fundamental interests of society.

298. We see no basis to conclude that the Panel failed to assess whether the standard set out in footnote 5 had been satisfied. As Antigua acknowledges¹³⁷, the Panel expressly referred to footnote 5 in a way that demonstrated that it understood the requirement therein to be part of the meaning given to the term "public order". Although "no further mention" was made in the Panel Report of footnote 5 or of its text, this alone does not establish that the Panel failed to assess whether the interests served by the three federal statutes satisfy the footnote's criteria. Having defined "public order" to include the standard in footnote 5, and then applied that definition to the facts before it to conclude that the measures "are designed to 'protect public morals' and/or 'to maintain public order" he Panel was not required, in addition, to make a separate, explicit determination that the standard of footnote 5 had been met.

299. We therefore *uphold* the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.487 of the Panel Report, that "the concerns which the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act seek to address fall within the scope of 'public morals' and/or 'public order' under Article XIV(a)."

¹³³*Ibid.*, para. 6.465.

¹³⁴*Ibid.*, para. 6.467.

¹³⁵*Ibid.*, para. 6.486.

¹³⁶*Ibid.*, para. 6.487.

¹³⁷Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 89.

¹³⁸Panel Report, para. 6.467.

¹³⁹Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 90. (original emphasis)

¹⁴⁰Panel Report, para. 6.487.

(b) The Requirement that a Measure be "Necessary" Under Article XIV(a)

- 300. In the second part of its analysis under Article XIV(a), the Panel considered whether the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are "necessary" within the meaning of that provision. The Panel found that the United States had not demonstrated the "necessity" of those measures. ¹⁴¹
- 301. This finding rested on the Panel's determinations that: (i) "the interests and values protected by [the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA] serve very important societal interests that can be characterized as 'vital and important in the highest degree"; (ii) the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA "must contribute, at least to some extent", to addressing the United States' concerns "pertaining to money laundering, organized crime, fraud, underage gambling and pathological gambling" (iii) the measures in question "have a significant restrictive trade impact" and (iv) "[i]n rejecting Antigua's invitation to engage in bilateral or multilateral consultations and/or negotiations, the United States failed to pursue in good faith a course of action that could have been used by it to explore the possibility of finding a reasonably available WTO-consistent alternative."
- 302. Each of the participants appeals different aspects of the analysis undertaken by the Panel in determining whether the "necessity" requirement in Article XIV(a) was satisfied. According to Antigua, the Panel failed to establish a sufficient "nexus" between gambling and the concerns raised by the United States. In addition, Antigua claims that the Panel erroneously limited its discussion of "reasonably available alternatives". In its appeal, the United States argues that the Panel departed from the way in which "reasonably available alternative" measures have been examined in previous disputes and erroneously imposed "a procedural requirement on the United States to consult or negotiate with Antigua before the United States may take measures to protect public morals [or] protect public order". 146
- 303. We begin our analysis of this issue by examining the legal standard of "necessity" in Article XIV(a) of the GATS. We then turn to the participants' appeals regarding the Panel's interpretation and application of this requirement.
 - (i) Determining "necessity" under Article XIV(a)
- 304. We note, at the outset, that the standard of "necessity" provided for in the general exceptions provision is an *objective* standard. To be sure, a Member's characterization of a measure's objectives and of the effectiveness of its regulatory approach—as evidenced, for example, by texts of statutes, legislative history, and pronouncements of government agencies or officials—will be relevant in determining whether the measure is, objectively, "necessary". A panel is not bound by these characterizations¹⁴⁷, however, and may also find guidance in the structure and operation of the measure and in contrary evidence proffered by the complaining party. In any event, a panel must, on the basis of the evidence in the record, independently and objectively assess the "necessity" of the measure before it.

¹⁴¹*Ibid*.

¹⁴²*Ibid.*, para. 6.494.

¹⁴³*Ibid.*, para. 6.495.

¹⁴⁴*Ibid.*, para. 6.531.

¹⁴⁵Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 97.

¹⁴⁶United States' appellant's submission, para. 139.

¹⁴⁷Appellate Body Report, *India – Patents (US)*, para. 66.

305. In *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, the Appellate Body stated, in the context of Article XX(d) of the GATT 1994, that whether a measure is "necessary" should be determined through "a process of weighing and balancing a series of factors". ¹⁴⁸ The Appellate Body characterized this process as one:

... comprehended in the determination of whether a WTO-consistent alternative measure which the Member concerned could "reasonably be expected to employ" is available, or whether a less WTO-inconsistent measure is "reasonably available". 149

306. The process begins with an assessment of the "relative importance" of the interests or values furthered by the challenged measure. Having ascertained the importance of the particular interests at stake, a panel should then turn to the other factors that are to be "weighed and balanced". The Appellate Body has pointed to two factors that, in most cases, will be relevant to a panel's determination of the "necessity" of a measure, although not necessarily exhaustive of factors that might be considered. One factor is the contribution of the measure to the realization of the ends pursued by it; the other factor is the restrictive impact of the measure on international commerce.

307. A comparison between the challenged measure and possible alternatives should then be undertaken, and the results of such comparison should be considered in the light of the importance of the interests at issue. It is on the basis of this "weighing and balancing" and comparison of measures, taking into account the interests or values at stake, that a panel determines whether a measure is "necessary" or, alternatively, whether another, WTO-consistent measure is "reasonably available". 152

308. The requirement, under Article XIV(a), that a measure be "necessary"—that is, that there be no "reasonably available", WTO-consistent alternative—reflects the shared understanding of Members that substantive GATS obligations should not be deviated from lightly. An alternative measure may be found not to be "reasonably available", however, where it is merely theoretical in nature, for instance, where the responding Member is not capable of taking it, or where the measure imposes an undue burden on that Member, such as prohibitive costs or substantial technical difficulties. Moreover, a "reasonably available" alternative measure must be a measure that would preserve for the responding Member its right to achieve its desired level of protection with respect to the objective pursued under paragraph (a) of Article XIV.¹⁵³

309. It is well-established that a responding party invoking an affirmative defence bears the burden of demonstrating that its measure, found to be WTO-inconsistent, satisfies the requirements of the invoked defence. In the context of Article XIV(a), this means that the responding party must show that its measure is "necessary" to achieve objectives relating to public morals or public order. In our view, however, it is not the responding party's burden to show, in the first instance, that there are *no* reasonably

¹⁴⁸Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 164.

¹⁴⁹Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 166.

¹⁵⁰*Ibid.*, para. 162. See also Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, para. 172.

¹⁵¹Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 164.

¹⁵²*Ibid.*, para. 166.

¹⁵³Appellate Body Report, *EC – Asbestos*, paras. 172-174. See also Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 180.

¹⁵⁴Appellate Body Report, *US – Gasoline*, pp. 22-23, DSR 1996:I, 3, at 21; Appellate Body Report, *US – Wool Shirts and Blouses*, pp. 15-16, DSR 1997:I, 323, at 337; Appellate Body Report, *US – FSC (Article 21.5 – EC)*, para. 133.

available alternatives to achieve its objectives. In particular, a responding party need not identify the universe of less trade-restrictive alternative measures and then show that none of those measures achieves the desired objective. The WTO agreements do not contemplate such an impracticable and, indeed, often impossible burden.

- 310. Rather, it is for a responding party to make a *prima facie* case that its measure is "necessary" by putting forward evidence and arguments that enable a panel to assess the challenged measure in the light of the relevant factors to be "weighed and balanced" in a given case. The responding party may, in so doing, point out why alternative measures would not achieve the same objectives as the challenged measure, but it is under no obligation to do so in order to establish, in the first instance, that its measure is "necessary". If the panel concludes that the respondent has made a *prima facie* case that the challenged measure is "necessary"—that is, "significantly closer to the pole of 'indispensable' than to the opposite pole of simply 'making a contribution to'" then a panel should find that challenged measure "necessary" within the terms of Article XIV(a) of the GATS.
- 311. If, however, the complaining party raises a WTO-consistent alternative measure that, in its view, the responding party should have taken, the responding party will be required to demonstrate why its challenged measure nevertheless remains "necessary" in the light of that alternative or, in other words, why the proposed alternative is not, in fact, "reasonably available". If a responding party demonstrates that the alternative is not "reasonably available", in the light of the interests or values being pursued and the party's desired level of protection, it follows that the challenged measure must be "necessary" within the terms of Article XIV(a) of the GATS.
 - (ii) Did the Panel err in its analysis of the "necessity" of the measures at issue?
- 312. In considering whether the United States' measures are "necessary" under Article XIV(a) of the GATS, the Panel began by considering the factors set out by the Appellate Body in *Korea Various Measures on Beef* as they apply to the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. Antigua claims that the Panel erred in concluding, in the course of its analysis of these factors, that the three federal statutes contribute to protecting the interests raised by the United States.
- 313. The Panel set out, in some detail, how the United States' evidence established a specific connection between the remote supply of gambling services and each of the interests identified by the United States¹⁵⁶, except for organized crime.¹⁵⁷ In particular, the Panel found such a link in relation to money laundering¹⁵⁸, fraud¹⁵⁹, compulsive gambling¹⁶⁰, and underage gambling.¹⁶¹ Considering that the three federal statutes embody an outright prohibition on the remote supply of gambling services¹⁶², we see

¹⁵⁵Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 161.

¹⁵⁶Panel Report, paras. 6.498-6.520.

¹⁵⁷The Panel found that the United States had not submitted "concrete evidence" showing the *particular* vulnerability of the remote supply of gambling services to involvement by organized crime. Therefore, the Panel concluded, the United States had not demonstrated why the means used to regulate *non*-remote supply of gambling services could not sufficiently guard against the risk of organized crime. (Panel Report, para. 6.520)

¹⁵⁸Panel Report, paras. 6.500-6.504.

¹⁵⁹*Ibid.*, paras. 6.507 and 6.508.

¹⁶⁰*Ibid.*, paras. 6.511-6.513.

¹⁶¹*Ibid.*, paras. 6.516-6.518.

¹⁶²Supra, paras. 0-0.

no error in the Panel's approach, nor in its finding, in paragraph 6.494 of the Panel Report, that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA "must contribute" to addressing those concerns. 163

- 314. In addition, the United States and Antigua each appeals different aspects of the Panel's selection of alternative measures to compare with the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. The United States argues that the Panel erred in examining the one alternative measure that it did consider, and Antigua contends that the Panel erred in failing to consider additional alternative measures.
- 315. In its "necessity" analysis under Article XIV(a), the Panel appeared to understand that, in order for a measure to be accepted as "necessary" under Article XIV(a), the responding Member must have first "explored and exhausted" all reasonably available WTO-compatible alternatives before adopting its WTO-inconsistent measure. This understanding led the Panel to conclude that, in this case, the United States had "an obligation to consult with Antigua before and while imposing its prohibition on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services". Because the Panel found that the United States had not engaged in such consultations with Antigua, the Panel also found that the United States had not established that its measures are "necessary" and, therefore, provisionally justified under Article XIV(a). 166
- 316. In its appeal of this finding, the United States argues that "[t]he Panel relied on the 'necessity' test in Article XIV as the basis for imposing a procedural requirement on the United States to consult or negotiate with Antigua before the United States may take measures to protect public morals [or] protect public order". The United States submits that the requirement in Article XIV(a) that a measure be "necessary" indicates that "necessity is a property of the measure itself" and, as such, "necessity" cannot be determined by reference to the efforts undertaken by a Member to negotiate an alternative measure. The United States further argues that in previous disputes, the availability of alternative measures that were "merely theoretical" did not preclude the challenged measures from being deemed to be "necessary". Similarly, the United States argues, the fact that measures might theoretically be available after engaging in consultations with Antigua does not preclude the "necessity" of the three federal statutes.
- 317. In our view, the Panel's "necessity" analysis was flawed because it did not focus on an alternative measure that was reasonably available to the United States to achieve the stated objectives regarding the protection of public morals or the maintenance of public order. Engaging in consultations with Antigua, with a view to arriving at a negotiated settlement that achieves the same objectives as the challenged United States' measures, was not an appropriate alternative for the Panel to consider because consultations are by definition a process, the results of which are uncertain and therefore not capable of comparison with the measures at issue in this case.

 $^{^{163}}$ The Appellate Body employed similar reasoning with respect to a prohibition on the import of products containing asbestos. See Appellate Body Report, EC-Asbestos, para. 168:

By prohibiting all forms of amphibole asbestos, and by severely restricting the use of chrysotile asbestos, the measure at issue is clearly designed and apt to achieve that level of health protection.

¹⁶⁴Panel Report, para. 6.528. (emphasis added) See also paras. 6.496, 6.522, and 6.534.

¹⁶⁵*Ibid.*, para. 6.531. See also para. 6.534.

¹⁶⁶Panel Report, paras. 6.533-6.535.

¹⁶⁷United States' appellant's submission, para. 139.

¹⁶⁸*Ibid.*, para. 142.

¹⁶⁹*Ibid.*, para. 152.

- 318. We note, in addition, that the Panel based its requirement of consultations, in part, on "the existence of [a] specific market access commitment [in the United States' GATS Schedule] with respect to cross-border trade of gambling and betting services". We do not see how the existence of a specific commitment in a Member's Schedule affects the "necessity" of a measure in terms of the protection of public morals or the maintenance of public order. For this reason as well, the Panel erred in relying on consultations as an alternative measure reasonably available to the United States.
- 319. We turn now to Antigua's allegation that the Panel improperly limited its examination of possible alternative measures against which to compare the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. Antigua claims that the Panel "erred in limiting" its search for alternatives to the universe of *existing* United States regulatory measures. Antigua also alleges that the Panel erred by examining only those measures that had been explicitly identified by Antigua even though "Antigua was never given the opportunity to properly rebut the Article XIV defence." 172
- 320. We observe, first, that the Panel did not state that it was limiting its search for alternatives in the manner alleged by Antigua. Secondly, although the Panel *began* its analysis of alternative measures by considering whether the United States already employs measures less restrictive than a prohibition to achieve the same objectives as the three federal statutes¹⁷³, its inquiry did not end there. The Panel obviously did consider alternatives *not* currently in place in the United States, as evidenced by its (ultimately erroneous) emphasis on the United States' alleged failure to pursue consultations with Antigua.¹⁷⁴ Finally, we do not see why the Panel should have been expected to continue its analysis into additional alternative measures, which Antigua itself failed to identify. As we said above¹⁷⁵, it is not for the responding party to identify the universe of alternative measures against which its own measure should be compared. It is only if such an alternative is raised that this comparison is required. We therefore dismiss this aspect of Antigua's appeal.
- 321. In our analysis above, we found that the Panel erred in assessing the necessity of the three United States statutes against the possibility of consultations with Antigua because such consultations, in our view, cannot qualify as a reasonably available alternative measure with which a challenged measure

The application by a Member of WTO-compatible enforcement measures to the same kind of illegal behaviour – the passing off of one product for another – for like or at least similar products, provides a suggestive indication that an alternative measure which could "reasonably be expected" to be employed may well be available. The application of such measures for the control of the same illegal behaviour for like, or at least similar, products raises doubts with respect to the objective *necessity* of a different, much stricter, and WTO-inconsistent enforcement measure. (original emphasis)

¹⁷⁰Panel Report, para. 6.531.

¹⁷¹Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 103.

¹⁷²*Ibid.*, para. 104.

¹⁷³See Panel Report, paras. 6.497-6.498. This type of approach was expressly encouraged by the Appellate Body in *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 172:

¹⁷⁴*Supra*, paras. 0-0.

¹⁷⁵*Supra*, para. 0.

¹⁷⁶Supra, paras. 310-0.

should be compared.¹⁷⁷ For this reason, we *reverse* the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.535 of the Panel Report, that, because the United States did not enter into consultations with Antigua:

... the United States has not been able to provisionally justify, under Article XIV(a) of the GATS, that the Wire Act, the Travel Act (when read together with the relevant state laws) and the Illegal Gambling Business Act (when read together with the relevant state laws) are necessary to protect public morals and/or public order within the meaning of Article XIV(a).

- 322. Having reversed this finding, we must consider whether, as the United States contends¹⁷⁸, the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are properly characterized as "necessary" to achieve the objectives identified by the United States and accepted by the Panel. The Panel's analysis, as well as the factual findings contained therein, are useful for our assessment of whether these measures satisfy the requirements of paragraph (a) of Article XIV.
- As we stated above, a responding party must make a prima facie case that its challenged measure is "necessary". A Panel determines whether this case is made through the identification, and weighing and balancing, of relevant factors, such as those in Korea - Various Measures on Beef, with respect to the measure challenged. In this regard, we note that the Panel: (i) found that the three federal statutes protect "very important societal interests" (ii) observed that "strict controls may be needed to protect [such] interests" and (iii) found that the three federal statutes contribute to the realization of the ends that they pursue. 181 Although the Panel recognized the "significant restrictive trade impact" 182 of the three federal statutes, it expressly tempered this recognition with a detailed explanation of certain characteristics of, and concerns specific to, the remote supply of gambling and betting services. These included: (i) "the volume, speed and international reach of remote gambling transactions" 183; (ii) the "virtual anonymity of such transactions" (iii) "low barriers to entry in the context of the remote supply of gambling and betting services" and the (iv) "isolated and anonymous environment in which such gambling takes place". 186 Thus, this analysis reveals that the Panel did not place much weight, in the circumstances of this case, on the restrictive trade impact of the three federal statutes. On the contrary, the Panel appears to have accepted virtually all of the elements upon which the United States based its assertion that the three federal statutes are "indispensable". 187
- 324. The Panel further, and in our view, tellingly, stated that

¹⁷⁷Supra, para. 0.

¹⁷⁸United States' appellant's submission, para. 176.

¹⁷⁹Panel Report, paras. 6.492 and 6.533.

¹⁸⁰*Ibid.*, para. 6.493.

¹⁸¹*Ibid.*, para. 6.494.

¹⁸²*Ibid.*, para para. 6.495.

¹⁸³*Ibid.*, para. 6.505.

¹⁸⁴*Ibid*.

¹⁸⁵*Ibid.*, para. 6.507.

¹⁸⁶*Ibid.*, para. 6.514.

¹⁸⁷Panel Report, para. 6.534.

... the United States has legitimate specific concerns with respect to money laundering, fraud, health and underage gambling that are specific to the remote supply of gambling and betting services, which suggests that the measures in question are "necessary" within the meaning of Article XIV(a). ¹⁸⁸ (emphasis added)

- 325. From all of the above, and in particular from the summary of its analysis made in paragraphs 6.533 and 6.534 of the Panel Report, we understand the Panel to have acknowledged that, *but for* the United States' alleged refusal to accept Antigua's invitation to negotiate, the Panel would have found that the United States had made its *prima facie* case that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are "necessary", within the meaning of Article XIV(a). We thus agree with the United States that the "sole basis" for the Panel's conclusion to the contrary was its finding relating to the requirement of consultations with Antigua.¹⁸⁹
- 326. Turning to the Panel's analysis of alternative measures, we observe that the Panel dismissed, as irrelevant to its analysis, measures that did not take account of the specific concerns associated with *remote* gambling.¹⁹⁰ We found above that the Panel erred in finding that consultations with Antigua constitutes a measure reasonably available to the United States.¹⁹¹ Antigua raised no other measure that, in the view of the Panel, could be considered an alternative to the prohibitions on remote gambling contained in the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. In our opinion, therefore, the record before us reveals no reasonably available alternative measure proposed by Antigua or examined by the Panel that would establish that the three federal statutes are not "necessary" within the meaning of Article XIV(a). Because the United States made its *prima facie* case of "necessity", and Antigua failed to identify a reasonably available alternative measure, we conclude that the United States demonstrated that its statutes are "necessary", and therefore justified, under paragraph (a) of Article XIV.
- 327. For all these reasons, we *find* that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are "measures ... necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order", within the meaning of paragraph (a) of Article XIV of the GATS. ¹⁹²

(...)

3. The Chapeau of Article XIV

338. Notwithstanding its finding that the measures at issue are *not* provisionally justified, the Panel examined whether those measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV "so as to assist the parties in resolving the underlying dispute in this case." This examination is the subject of appeals by both participants. Unlike the Panel, we have found the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA to fall within the scope of Article XIV(a). Therefore, we must now review the Panel's examination under the chapeau.

¹⁸⁸*Ibid.*, para. 6.533.

¹⁸⁹United States' appellant's submission, para. 137.

¹⁹⁰Panel Report, paras. 6.497-6.498.

¹⁹¹*Supra*, para. 0.

¹⁹²We address in the next sub-section of this Report the appeals raised by Antigua and the United States under Article 11 of the DSU, with respect to the Panel's analysis under Article XIV(a) of the GATS, and find them to be either without merit or not necessary to rule on in order to resolve this dispute.

¹⁹³Panel Report, para. 6.566.

339. The chapeau of Article XIV provides:

Subject to the requirement that such measures are not applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail, or a disguised restriction on trade in services, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent the adoption or enforcement by any Member of measures [of the type specified in the subsequent paragraphs of Article XIV]....

The focus of the chapeau, by its express terms, is on the *application* of a measure already found by the Panel to be inconsistent with one of the obligations under the GATS but falling within one of the paragraphs of Article XIV.¹⁹⁴ By requiring that the measure be *applied* in a manner that does not to constitute "arbitrary" or "unjustifiable" discrimination, or a "disguised restriction on trade in services", the chapeau serves to ensure that Members' rights to avail themselves of exceptions are exercised reasonably, so as not to frustrate the rights accorded other Members by the substantive rules of the GATS.¹⁹⁵

340. The Panel found that:

... the United States has not demonstrated that it does not apply its prohibition on the remote supply of wagering services for horse racing in a manner that does not constitute "arbitrary and unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail" and/or a "disguised restriction on trade" in accordance with the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV. 196

341. In reviewing the Panel's treatment of the chapeau to Article XIV, we begin with Antigua's allegations of error, and then turn to those raised by the United States, proceeding as follows: (a) first, we examine Antigua's claim that the Panel should not have analyzed the United States' defence under the chapeau; (b) secondly, we analyze Antigua's allegation that the Panel erred by focusing its discussion under the chapeau on the *remote supply* of gambling services rather than on the entire gambling industry; (c) thirdly, we address the United States' argument that the Panel articulated and applied a standard under the chapeau that is inconsistent with its terms; (d) fourthly, we review the Panel's finding on the alleged non-enforcement of certain laws against United States remote suppliers of gambling services; and (e) finally, we examine whether, in its analysis under the chapeau of Article XIV, the Panel fulfilled its obligations under Article 11 of the DSU.

(a) Did the Panel Err in Making Findings Under the Chapeau of Article XIV?

342. In deciding to assess whether the measures satisfied the requirements of the chapeau, the Panel explained that, even though such an examination was "not necessary", it wanted "to assist the parties in resolving the underlying dispute in this case." ¹⁹⁷ Antigua alleges that the Panel acted inconsistently with the Appellate Body's decision in *Korea – Various Measures on Beef* in determining whether the Wire

¹⁹⁴Appellate Body Report, *US – Gasoline*, p. 22, DSR 1996:I, 3, at 20.

¹⁹⁵*Ibid.*, p. 22, DSR 1996:I, 3, at 20-21.

¹⁹⁶Panel Report, para. 6.608.

¹⁹⁷Panel Report, para. 6.566.

Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA meet the requirements of the chapeau after having found that they are were not provisionally justified.

343. In *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, the Appellate Body stated, with respect to Article XX of the GATT 1994, that:

Having found that the dual retail system did not fulfil the requirements of paragraph (d), the Panel correctly considered that it did not need to proceed to the second-tier analysis, that is, to examine the application in this case of the requirements of the introductory clause of Article XX. ¹⁹⁸

Contrary to Antigua's submission¹⁹⁹, this statement does not impose a *requirement* on panels to stop evaluating a responding party's defence once they have determined that a challenged measure is not provisionally justified under one of the paragraphs of the general exception provision.

- 344. Provided that it complies with its duty to assess a matter objectively, a panel enjoys the freedom to decide *which legal issues* it must address in order to resolve a dispute.²⁰⁰ Moreover, in some instances, a panel's decision to continue its legal analysis and to make factual findings beyond those that are strictly necessary to resolve the dispute may assist the Appellate Body should it later be called upon to complete the analysis²⁰¹, as, for example, in this case.
- 345. Therefore, the Panel did not err in examining whether the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA meet the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV, even though the Panel had found these measures not to fall within the scope of Article XIV(a) or XIV(c).
 - (b) Did the Panel Improperly "Segment" the Gambling and Betting Industry in its Analysis?
- 346. In examining whether discrimination exists in the United States' application of the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA, the Panel found that "some of the concerns the United States has identified are specific only to the remote supply of gambling and betting services." As a result, the Panel determined that it would have been "inappropriate", in the context of determining whether WTO-consistent alternative measures are reasonably available, to compare the United States' treatment of concerns relating to the *remote* supply of gambling services, with its treatment of concerns relating to the *non*-remote supply of such services. Antigua characterizes this approach as an improper "segment[ation]" of the gambling industry, the result of which was to "exclude[] a substantial portion of gambling and betting services from any analysis at all."
- 347. We have already observed that the Panel found, on the basis of evidence adduced by the United States, that the *remote* supply of gambling services gives rise to particular concerns.²⁰⁴ We see no error

¹⁹⁸Appellate Body Report, *Korea – Various Measures on Beef*, para. 156.

¹⁹⁹Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 141.

²⁰⁰Appellate Body Report, *India – Patents (US)*, para. 87; Appellate Body Report, *US – Wool Shirts and Blouses*, p. 19, DSR 1997:I, 323, at 340; Appellate Body Report, *Canada – Autos*, para. 114.

²⁰¹Appellate Body Report, US – Softwood Lumber IV, para. 118.

²⁰²Panel Report, para. 6.498.

²⁰³Antigua's other appellant's submission, para. 142.

²⁰⁴*Supra*, para. 0.

in the Panel's maintaining such a distinction for purposes of analyzing any discrimination in the application of the three federal statutes. Such an approach merely reflects the view that the distinctive characteristics of the remote supply of gambling services may call for distinctive regulatory methods, and that this could render a comparison between the treatment of remote and non-remote supply of gambling services inappropriate.

(c) Did the Panel Fail to Take Account of the "Arbitrary" or "Unjustifiable" Nature of the Discrimination Referred to in the Chapeau?

348. We consider next whether, contrary to the United States' allegations, the Panel accurately described and applied the correct interpretation of the chapeau of Article XIV. On the basis of the arguments advanced by Antigua, the Panel examined certain instances of alleged discrimination in the application of the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. In the course of this analysis, the Panel found that the United States had not prosecuted certain domestic remote suppliers of gambling services and that a United States statute (the Interstate Horseracing Act) could be understood, on its face, to permit certain types of remote betting on horseracing within the United States. On the basis of these two findings, the Panel concluded that:

... the United States has not demonstrated that it applies its prohibition on the remote supply of these services in a *consistent manner* as between those supplied domestically and those that are supplied from other Members. Accordingly, we believe that the United States has not demonstrated that it does not apply its prohibition on the remote supply of wagering services for horse racing in a manner that does not constitute "arbitrary and unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail" and/or a "disguised restriction on trade" in accordance with the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV. ²⁰⁸ (emphasis added)

349. The United States contends that the Panel's reasoning, in particular its standard of "consistency", reveals that the Panel, in fact, assessed only whether the United States treats domestic service suppliers differently from foreign service suppliers. Such an assessment is inadequate, the United States argues, because the chapeau also requires a determination of whether differential treatment, or discrimination, is "arbitrary" or "unjustifiable".

350. The United States based its defence under the chapeau of Article XIV on the assertion that the measures at issue prohibit the remote supply of gambling and betting services by *any supplier*, whether domestic or foreign. In other words, the United States sought to justify the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA on the basis that there is *no discrimination* in the manner in which the three federal statutes

²⁰⁵Panel Report, para. 6.584.

²⁰⁶*Ibid.*, para. 6.588.

²⁰⁷Panel Report, para. 6.599:

^{...} the text of the revised statute does appear, on its face, to permit interstate parimutuel wagering over the telephone or other modes of electronic communication, which presumably would include the Internet, as long as such wagering is legal in both states.

²⁰⁸*Ibid.*, para. 6.607.

are applied to the remote supply of gambling and betting services.²⁰⁹ The United States could have, but did not, put forward an additional argument that *even if* such discrimination exists, it does not rise to the level of "arbitrary" or "unjustifiable" discrimination.

- 351. In the light of the arguments before it, we do not read the Panel to have ignored the requirement of "arbitrary" or "unjustifiable" discrimination by articulating the standard under the chapeau of Article XIV as one of "consistency". Rather, the Panel determined that Antigua had rebutted the United States' claim of no discrimination *at all* by showing that domestic service suppliers are permitted to provide remote gambling services in situations where foreign service suppliers are not so permitted. We see no error in the Panel's approach.
 - (d) Did the Panel Err in its Examination of the Alleged Non-Enforcement of the Measures at Issue Against Domestic Service Suppliers?
- 352. In the course of examining whether the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are applied consistently with the chapeau of Article XIV, the Panel considered whether these laws are enforced in a manner that discriminates between domestic and foreign service suppliers. Antigua identified four United States firms that it claimed engage in the remote supply of gambling services but have not been prosecuted under any of the three federal statutes: Youbet.com, TVG, Capital OTB, and Xpressbet.com. Antigua contrasted this lack of enforcement with the case of an Antiguan service supplier that "had modelled [its] business on that of Capital OTB" but was nevertheless prosecuted and convicted under the Wire Act. In support of its argument that it applies these statutes equally to domestic and foreign service suppliers, the United States submitted statistical evidence to show that most cases prosecuted under these statutes involved gambling and betting services solely within the United States. States.
- 353. The Panel also "note[d] indications by the United States" that prosecution proceedings were pending against one domestic remote supplier of gambling services (Youbet.com), but stated that it had no evidence as to whether any enforcement action was being taken against the other three domestic remote suppliers of gambling services identified by Antigua. As to foreign service suppliers, the Panel observed that it had evidence of the prosecution of one Antiguan operator for violations of the Wire Act. The Panel found this evidence "inconclusive" and concluded that the United States had not shown

[under the chapeau, first,] the application of the measure must result in *discrimination*. As we stated in *United States – Gasoline*, the nature and quality of this discrimination is different from the discrimination in the treatment of products which was already found to be inconsistent with one of the substantive obligations of the GATT 1994, such as Articles I, III or XI. Second, the discrimination must be *arbitrary* or *unjustifiable* in character. (original emphasis; footnote omitted)

(Panel Report, para. 6.578 (quoting Appellate Body Report, US – Shrimp, para. 150))

²⁰⁹ *Supra*, para. 0.

 $^{^{210}}$ See Panel Report, paras. 6.578-6.581, where the Panel discusses Appellate Body decisions relating to the chapeau of Article XX of the GATT 1994. In particular, we note the Panel's quotation of the relevant portion of paragraph 150 of the Appellate Body decision in US-Shrimp, which states:

²¹¹*Ibid.*, para. 6.585.

²¹²*Ibid.*, para. 6.585.

²¹³*Ibid.*, para. 6.586.

²¹⁴*Ibid.*, para. 6.588.

²¹⁵Panel Report, para. 6.588.

that it enforces its prohibition against the remote supply of gambling services on the three domestic service suppliers in a manner consistent with the chapeau of Article XIV.²¹⁶

- 354. We observe, first, that none of the three federal statutes distinguishes, on its face, between domestic and foreign service suppliers.²¹⁷ We agree with the Panel that, in the context of facially neutral measures, there may nevertheless be situations where the selective prosecution of persons rises to the level of discrimination. In our view, however, the evidence before the Panel could not justify finding that, notwithstanding the neutral language of the statute, the facts are "inconclusive" to establish "non-discrimination" in the United States' enforcement of the Wire Act. The Panel's conclusion rests, not only on an inadequate evidentiary foundation, but also on an incorrect understanding of the type of conduct that can, as a matter of law, be characterized as discrimination in the enforcement of measures.
- 355. In this case, the Panel came to its conclusion—that the United States failed to establish non-discrimination in the enforcement of its laws—on the basis of only five cases: one case of prosecution against a foreign service supplier; one case of "pending" prosecution against a domestic service supplier²¹⁸; and three cases with no evidence of prosecution against domestic service suppliers. From these five cases, the Panel in effect concluded that the United States' defence had been sufficiently rebutted to warrant a finding of "inconclusiveness".
- 356. In our view, the proper significance to be attached to isolated instances of enforcement, or lack thereof, cannot be determined in the absence of evidence allowing such instances to be placed in their proper context. Such evidence might include evidence on the *overall* number of suppliers, and on *patterns* of enforcement, and on the reasons for particular instances of non-enforcement. Indeed, enforcement agencies may refrain from prosecution in many instances for reasons unrelated to discriminatory intent and without discriminatory effect.
- 357. Faced with the limited evidence the parties put before it with respect to enforcement, the Panel should rather have focused, as a matter of law, on the wording of the measures at issue. These measures, on their face, do *not* discriminate between United States and foreign suppliers of remote gambling services.²¹⁹ We therefore *reverse* the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.589 of the Panel Report, that
 - ... the United States has failed to demonstrate that the manner in which it enforced its prohibition on the remote supply of gambling and betting services against TVG, Capital OTB and Xpressbet.com is consistent with the requirements of the chapeau.
 - (e) Did the Panel Fail to Comply with Article 11 of the DSU in its Analysis of Video Lottery Terminals, Nevada Bookmakers, and the Interstate Horseracing Act?
- 358. The United States and Antigua each alleges that the Panel did not comply with its obligations under Article 11 of the DSU in its analysis under the chapeau of Article XIV. We examine first Antigua's appeal relating to video lottery terminals and Nevada bookmakers, and then consider the United States' appeal concerning the Interstate Horseracing Act.

²¹⁶*Ibid.*, para. 6.589.

²¹⁷*Supra*, paras. 0-0.

²¹⁸Panel Report, para. 6.588.

²¹⁹Supra, paras. 0-0.

- 359. The Panel examined Antigua's allegations that several states in the United States permit video lottery terminals²²⁰, and that Nevada permits bookmakers to offer their services over the internet and telephone.²²¹ The Panel rejected both of these allegations. Antigua contends that the Panel made these findings notwithstanding that Antigua had submitted evidence and the United States had submitted none, and that, by so finding, the Panel effectively "reversed" the burden of proof.²²²
- 360. Antigua is correct that the burden of proof is on the United States, as the responding party invoking the Article XIV defence. Once the United States established its defence with sufficient evidence and arguments, however, it was for Antigua to rebut the United States' defence.²²³ In rejecting Antigua's allegations relating to video lottery terminals and Nevada bookmakers, we understand the Panel to have determined that Antigua failed to rebut the United States' asserted defence under the chapeau, namely that its measures do not discriminate at all. Consequently, we do not read the Panel to have reversed the burden of proof in these two instances, and we dismiss this ground of Antigua's appeal.
- 361. We now turn to the United States' Article 11 claim relating to the chapeau. The Panel examined the scope of application of the Interstate Horseracing Act ("IHA"). Before the Panel, Antigua relied on the text of the IHA, which provides that "[a]n interstate off-track wager *may be accepted* by an off-track betting system" where consent is obtained from certain organizations. Antigua referred the Panel in particular to the definition given in the statute of "interstate off-track wager":

[T]he term ... 'interstate off-track wager' means a legal wager placed or accepted in one State with respect to the outcome of a horserace taking place in another State and includes pari-mutuel wagers, where lawful in each State involved, placed or transmitted by an individual in one State via telephone or other electronic media and accepted by an off-track betting system in the same or another State, as well as the combination of any pari-mutuel wagering pools.²²⁶ (emphasis added)

Thus, according to Antigua, the IHA, on its face, authorizes *domestic* service suppliers, but not *foreign* service suppliers, to offer remote betting services in relation to certain horse races.²²⁷ To this extent, in

²²⁰Panel Report, paras. 6.590-6.594.

²²¹*Ibid.*, paras. 6.601-6.603.

²²²Antigua's other appellant's submission, paras. 144-145.

²²³See *supra*, para. 0.

²²⁴We understand the Panel to have predicated its examination of the IHA on its view that the services under the IHA include services subject to the specific commitment undertaken by the United States in subsector 10.D of its Schedule.

²²⁵Section 3004 of Title 15 of the United States Code, Exhibit AB-82 submitted by Antigua to the Panel. (emphasis added)

²²⁶Section 3002 of Title 15 of the United States Code, Exhibit AB-82 submitted by Antigua to the Panel.

²²⁷Antigua submitted additional evidence in support of its reading of the IHA. See, for example, Panel Report, footnote 1061 to para. 6.599 and footnote 1062 to para. 6.600 (citing, *inter alia*, Congressional Record, House of Representatives Proceedings and Debates of the 106th Congress, Second Session (26 October 2000) 146 Cong. Rec. H 11230, 106th Cong. 2nd Sess. (2000), Exhibit AB-124 submitted by Antigua to the Panel); and United States General Accounting Office, *Internet Gambling: An Overview of the Issues* (December 2002), Appendix II, Exhibit AB-17 submitted by Antigua to the Panel.

Antigua's view, the IHA "exempts" domestic service suppliers from the prohibitions of the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. 229

- 362. The United States disagreed, claiming that the IHA—a civil statute—cannot "repeal"²³⁰ the Wire Act, the Travel Act, or the IGBA—which are criminal statutes—by implication, that is, merely by virtue of the IHA's adoption subsequent to that of the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA.²³¹ Rather, under principles of statutory interpretation in the United States, such a repeal could be effective only if done explicitly, which was not the case with the IHA.²³²
- 363. Thus, the Panel had before it conflicting evidence as to the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the measures at issue, on the other. We have already referred to the discretion accorded to panels, as fact-finders, in the assessment of the evidence.²³³ As the Appellate Body has observed on previous occasions, "not every error in the appreciation of the evidence (although it may give rise to a question of law) may be characterized as a failure to make an objective assessment of the facts."²³⁴
- 364. In our view, this aspect of the United States' appeal essentially challenges the Panel's failure to accord sufficient weight to the evidence submitted by the United States with respect to the relationship under United States law between the IHA and the measures at issue. The Panel had limited evidence before it, as submitted by the parties, on which to base its conclusion. This limitation, however, could not absolve the Panel of its responsibility to arrive at a conclusion as to the relationship between the IHA and the prohibitions in the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. The Panel found that the evidence provided by the United States was not sufficiently persuasive to conclude that, as regards wagering on horseracing, the remote supply of such services by *domestic* firms continues to be prohibited notwithstanding the plain language of the IHA. In this light, we are not persuaded that the Panel failed to make an objective assessment of the facts.
- 365. With respect to the Panel's analysis under the chapeau of Article XIV, the United States also contends that the Panel failed to satisfy its obligations under Article 11 of the DSU in finding that "the United States has failed to demonstrate that the manner in which it enforced its prohibition on the remote supply of gambling and betting services against TVG, Capital OTB and Xpressbet.com is consistent with the requirements of the chapeau." Having reversed this finding under the chapeau of Article XIV²³⁶,

²²⁸Panel Report, para. 6.595 (quoting Antigua's statement at the first substantive panel meeting, para. 92).

²²⁹The Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA prohibit a broad range of gambling and betting activities when they involve foreign or interstate commerce. (Panel Report, paras. 6.362, 6.367, and 6.375)

²³⁰Panel Report, para. 6.597 (quoting United States' response to Question 21 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, p. C-50).

²³¹Panel Report, para. 6.595 (citing, *inter alia*, United States' first written submission to the Panel, paras. 33-35); United States' second written submission to the Panel, para. 63; and United States' response to Question 21 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, p. C-50. See also Panel Report, para. 6.597 (citing, *inter alia*, United States' response to Question 21 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, p. C-50); and Presidential Statement on Signing the Departments of Commerce, Justice, State, the Judiciary, and Related Agencies Appropriation Act, 21 December 2000, Exhibit US-17 submitted by the United States to the Panel, pp. 3155-3156.

²³²United States' response to Question 21 posed by the Panel, Panel Report, p. C-50; United States' second written submission to the Panel, paras. 63-64.

²³³Supra, para. Error! Reference source not found..

 $^{^{234}}$ Appellate Body Report, EC-Hormones, para. 133. See also Appellate Body Report, Japan-Apples, para. 222.

²³⁵Panel Report, para. 6.589.

²³⁶*Supra*, para. 0.

we *need not rule* on the United States' additional ground of appeal, namely that, in arriving at this finding, the Panel acted inconsistently with its duty under Article 11 of the DSU.

366. In sum, we *find* that none of the challenges under Article 11 of the DSU relating to the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS has succeeded.

(f) Conclusion under the Chapeau

367. In paragraph 6.607 of the Panel Report, the Panel expressed its overall conclusion under the chapeau of Article XIV as follows:

... the United States has not demonstrated that it does not apply its prohibition on the remote supply of wagering services for horse racing in a manner that does not constitute "arbitrary and unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail" and/or a "disguised restriction on trade" in accordance with the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV.

368. This conclusion rested on the Panel's findings relating to two instances allegedly revealing that the measures at issue discriminate between domestic and foreign service suppliers, contrary to the defence asserted by the United States under the chapeau. The first instance found by the Panel was based on "inconclusive" evidence of the alleged non-enforcement of the three federal statutes.²³⁷ We have reversed this finding.²³⁸ The second instance found by the Panel was based on "the ambiguity relating to" the scope of application of the IHA and its relationship to the measures at issue.²³⁹ We have upheld this finding.²⁴⁰

369. Thus, *our* conclusion—that the Panel did not err in finding that the United States has not shown that its measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau—relates solely to the possibility that the IHA exempts only *domestic* suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing from the prohibitions in the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA. In contrast, the *Panel's* overall conclusion under the chapeau was broader in scope. As a result of our reversal of one of the two findings on which the Panel relied for its conclusion in paragraph 6.607 of the Panel Report, we must *modify* that conclusion. We *find*, rather, that the United States has not demonstrated that—in the light of the existence of the IHA—the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA are applied consistently with the requirements of the chapeau. Put another way, we uphold the Panel, but only in part.

4. Overall Conclusion on Article XIV

370. Our findings under Article XIV lead us to modify the overall conclusions of the Panel in paragraph 7.2(d) of the Panel Report.²⁴¹ The Panel found that the United States failed to justify its measures as "necessary" under paragraph (a) of Article XIV, and that it also failed to establish that those measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau.

²³⁷Panel Report, paras. 6.589 and 6.607.

²³⁸*Supra*, para. 0.

²³⁹Panel Report, para. 6.607.

²⁴⁰Supra, paras. 0 and 0.

²⁴¹See also Panel Report, para. 6.608.

- 371. We have found instead that those measures satisfy the "necessity" requirement. We have also upheld, but only in part, the Panel's finding under the chapeau. We explained that the only inconsistency that the Panel could have found with the requirements of the chapeau stems from the fact that the United States did not demonstrate that the prohibition embodied in the measures at issue applies to both foreign and domestic suppliers of remote gambling services, notwithstanding the IHA—which, according to the Panel, "does appear, on its face, to permit" domestic service suppliers to supply remote betting services for horse racing. In other words, the United States did not establish that the IHA does not alter the scope of application of the challenged measures, particularly vis-à-vis domestic suppliers of a specific type of remote gambling services. In this respect, we wish to clarify that the Panel did not, and we do not, make a finding as to whether the IHA does, in fact, permit domestic suppliers to provide certain remote betting services that would otherwise be prohibited by the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and/or the IGBA.
- 372. Therefore, we *modify* the Panel's conclusion in paragraph 7.2(d) of the Panel Report. We *find*, instead, that the United States has demonstrated that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA fall within the scope of paragraph (a) of Article XIV, but that it has not shown, in the light of the IHA, that the prohibitions embodied in these measures are applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing. For this reason alone, we *find* that the United States has not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau. Here, too, we uphold the Panel, but only in part.

VIII. Findings and Conclusions

- 373. For the reasons set out in this Report, the Appellate Body:
 - (A) with respect to the measures at issue,
 - (i) upholds the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.175 of the Panel Report, that "the alleged 'total prohibition' on the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services ... cannot constitute a single and autonomous 'measure' that can be challenged in and of itself";
 - (ii) finds that the Panel did not err in examining whether the following three federal laws are consistent with the United States' obligations under Article XVI of the GATS:
 - (a) Section 1084 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Wire Act");
 - (b) Section 1952 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Travel Act"); and
 - (c) Section 1955 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Illegal Gambling Business Act");
 - (iii) *finds* that the Panel *erred* in examining whether eight state laws, namely, those of Colorado, Louisiana, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, South Dakota and Utah, are consistent with the United States' obligations under Article XVI of the GATS;
 - (B) with respect to the United States' GATS Schedule,

²⁴²*Ibid.*, para. 6.599.

(i) *upholds*, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding that subsector 10.D of the United States' Schedule to the GATS includes specific commitments on gambling and betting services;

(C) with respect to Article XVI of the GATS,

- (i) upholds the Panel's findings that a prohibition on the remote supply of gambling and betting services is a "limitation on the number of service suppliers" within the meaning of Article XVI:2(a), and that such a prohibition is also a "limitation on the total number of service operations or on the total quantity of service output" within the meaning of Article XVI:2(c);
- (ii) upholds the Panel's finding, in paragraph 7.2(b)(i) of the Panel Report, that, by maintaining the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act, the United States acts inconsistently with its obligations under Article XVI:1 and sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2;

 (\ldots)

(D) with respect to Article XIV of the GATS,

- (i) *finds* that the Panel *did not fail* to satisfy its obligations under Article 11 of the DSU by deciding to examine the United States' defence under Article XIV;
- (ii) as regards the burden of proof,
 - (a) finds that the Panel did not improperly assume either the burden of establishing the defence under Article XIV(a) on behalf of the United States or the burden of rebutting the United States' defence on behalf of Antigua;

(...)

- (iii) as regards paragraph (a) of Article XIV,
 - (a) upholds the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.487 of the Panel Report, that "the concerns which the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act seek to address fall within the scope of 'public morals' and/or 'public order'";
 - (b) reverses the Panel's finding that, because the United States did not enter into consultations with Antigua, the United States was not able to justify the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act as "necessary" to protect public morals or to maintain public order;
 - (c) *finds* that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act are "measures ... necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order"; and

(...)

- (v) as regards the chapeau of Article XIV,
 - (a) reverses the Panel's finding, in paragraph 6.589 of the Panel Report, that "the United States has failed to demonstrate that the manner in which it enforced its prohibition on the remote supply of gambling and betting services against TVG, Capital OTB and Xpressbet.com is consistent with the requirements of the chapeau";
 - (b) finds that the Panel did not fail to "make an objective assessment of the facts of the case", as required by Article 11 of the DSU; and
 - (c) modifies the Panel's conclusion in paragraph 6.607 of the Panel Report and finds, rather, that the United States has not demonstrated that—in the light of the existence of the Interstate Horseracing Act—the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act are applied consistently with the requirements of the chapeau;
- (vi) as regards Article XIV in its entirety,
 - (a) *modifies* the Panel's conclusion in paragraph 7.2(d) of the Panel Report and *finds*, instead, that the United States has demonstrated that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act are measures "necessary to protect public morals or maintain public order", in accordance with paragraph (a) of Article XIV, but that the United States has not shown, in the light of the Interstate Horseracing Act, that the prohibitions embodied in those measures are applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing and, therefore, has not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau; and

(...)

The Appellate Body *recommends* that the Dispute Settlement Body request the United States to bring its measures, found in this Report and in the Panel Report as modified by this Report to be inconsistent with the *General Agreement on Trade in Services*, into conformity with its obligations under that Agreement.

2-3-B. Meeting of the Dispute Settlement Body on April 20, 2005

Minutes of the Meeting, WT/DSB/M/188

- 4. United States Measures affecting the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services
- (a) Report of the Appellate Body (WT/DS285/AB/R) and Report of the Panel (WT/DS285/R)
- 66. The <u>Chairman</u> drew attention to the communication from the Appellate Body contained in document WT/DS285/9 transmitting the Appellate Body Report on: "United States Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services", which was circulated on 7 April 2005 in document WT/DS285/AB/R, in accordance with Article 17.5 of the DSU. He reminded delegations that in accordance with the Decision on Procedures for the Circulation and Derestriction of WTO Documents contained in document WT/L/452, the Appellate Body Report and the Panel Report pertaining to this case had been circulated as unrestricted documents. As Members were aware, Article 17.14 of the DSU required that: "An Appellate Body report shall be adopted by the DSB and unconditionally accepted by the parties to the dispute unless the DSB decides by consensus not to adopt the Appellate Body report within 30 days following its circulation to Members. This adoption procedure was without prejudice to the right of Members to express their views on an Appellate Body report".
- 67. The representative of Antigua and Barbuda said that his country wished to thank the Panel and the Appellate Body, as well as the WTO Secretariat for their work on this very important and difficult issue. Antigua and Barbuda recognized that this particular dispute was unique in many ways and presented the WTO with particularly difficult issues. While his country had some concerns about some of the statements and conclusions reached by the Appellate Body in its Report, it was generally satisfied with the result. Antigua and Barbuda looked forward to prompt adherence by the United States with the recommendations and would be monitoring the progress very closely.
- 68. The representative of the <u>United States</u> said that his delegation wished to begin by thanking the members of the Appellate Body, the Panel, and the Secretariat for their hard work throughout the course of this dispute. As discussed in the US submissions to the Appellate Body in this dispute, the Panel Report in this dispute was very flawed. The United States was, therefore, pleased that the Appellate Body had seen fit to reverse or modify key findings of the Panel, and to identify and correct numerous flaws in the Panel's legal reasoning. The United States was pleased with the Appellate Body's finding that the US federal statutes at issue in this dispute were "measures ... necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order" within the meaning of Article XIV(a) of the GATS. This finding rested on several important subsidiary findings. Significant among them was the Appellate Body's reversal of the Panel's erroneous finding that the United States was required to enter into consultations with Antigua and Barbuda before it could justify these measures as being "necessary".
- 69. Further, in applying the Article XIV chapeau, the Appellate Body had correctly clarified that it was an error for the Panel to rely on a very small number of unrepresentative cases to make a general finding concerning whether enforcement of US laws was non-discriminatory. The United States noted that the Appellate Body had raised the possibility of discrimination under one US statute that related to horse racing. However, the Appellate Body explicitly had not found that this statute was in fact discriminatory. His authorities were exploring possible avenues for addressing this narrow issue. The Appellate Body had also provided other important clarifications relating to GATS Article XIV. For example, it had clarified that under GATS Article XIV, which was similar to Article XX(d) of the GATT 1994, Members were not required to "identify the universe of less trade-restrictive alternative measures." Rather, the issue was whether the complaining party had identified a reasonably available WTO-consistent alternative. The United States welcomed that clarification.

- 70. The United States further welcomed the Appellate Body's finding that the Panel had erred in examining whether certain US state laws were consistent with US GATS obligations. This finding was important because it reconfirmed the burden that a complaining party must meet in order to present a prima facie case. The Appellate Body emphasized that "[a] prima facie case must be based on 'evidence and legal argument' put forward by the complaining party in relation to each of the elements of the claim." The United States appreciated the Appellate Body's rigor in analyzing whether Antigua and Barbuda as the complaining party presented sufficient evidence and legal arguments concerning US state laws to sustain its burden of establishing a prima facie case.
- 71. The United States regretted the Appellate Body's affirmation, on different grounds, of the Panel's findings with respect to sector 10.D of the US Schedule of specific commitments. However, the United States noted that, in contrast to the Panel, the Appellate Body had had recourse to the W/120 document and the UN CPC only as preparatory work, and not as context, in interpreting the US Schedule. The Appellate Body had also corrected some of the more egregious errors in the Panel's analysis of the US Schedule, such as the Panel's reliance on the purported meaning of terms in non-authentic languages. The United States was disappointed by the Appellate Body's analysis of Article XVI, and in particular its failure to give effect to the explicit terms "in the form of", which was repeated in each of the first four sub-paragraphs of Article XVI:2. The Appellate Body's reasoning appeared to rely upon the preparatory work while de-emphasizing the precise terms actually used in the text agreed to by all Members. In the US view, this was not a model of proper textual analysis. Indeed, the Report itself acknowledged some of the many questions left open or even created by the Appellate Body's interpretation. These included the proper legal analysis of "limitations on market access in respect of part of a committed sector" or "limitations on one or more means of cross-border delivery," and the proper meaning of what the Appellate Body called "quantitative measures" – a phrase that appeared in some of the negotiating history, but was ultimately omitted from the text of the GATS.
- 72. In sum, the United States welcomed the central conclusion of the Appellate Body that the relevant US measures were necessary to protect public morals or maintain public order in relation to gambling. While the United States was disappointed with some aspects of the Report, it appreciated the reversal of various disturbing aspects of the Panel's analysis. The United States thanked the members of the Appellate Body again for their hard work.

(...)

75. The DSB <u>took note</u> of the statements, and <u>adopted</u> the Appellate Body Report contained in WT/DS285/AB/R and the Panel Report contained in WT/DS285/R, as modified by the Appellate Body Report.

2-4. Arbitration under Article 21.3(c) DSU

United States – Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services

Arbitration under Article 21.3(c) of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, WT/DS/285/13, 19 August 2005

Arbitrator: Claus-Dieter Ehlermann

I. Introduction

- 1. On 20 April 2005, the Dispute Settlement Body (the "DSB") adopted the Appellate Body Report²⁴³ and the Panel Report²⁴⁴, as modified by the Appellate Body Report, in *United States Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services*.²⁴⁵ At the DSB meeting of 19 May 2005, the United States indicated its intention to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute and stated that it would require a reasonable period of time in which to do so.²⁴⁶
- 2. On 6 June 2005, Antigua and Barbuda ("Antigua") informed the DSB that consultations with the United States had not resulted in an agreement on the reasonable period of time for implementation. Antigua therefore requested that such period be determined by binding arbitration, pursuant to Article 21.3(c) of the *Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes* (the "DSU").²⁴⁷
- 3. Antigua and the United States were unable to agree on an arbitrator within 10 days of the matter being referred to arbitration. Therefore, by letter dated 17 June 2005²⁴⁸, Antigua requested that the Director-General appoint an arbitrator pursuant to footnote 12 to Article 21.3(c) of the DSU. The Director-General appointed me as arbitrator on 30 June 2005, after consulting the parties. Informed the parties of my acceptance of the appointment by letter dated 30 June 2005.
- 4. Antigua and the United States have agreed that this award will be deemed to be an arbitration award under Article 21.3(c) of the DSU, notwithstanding the expiry of the 90 day period stipulated in Article 21.3(c).²⁵⁰
- 5. Antigua and the United States provided their written submissions to me on 12 July 2005. On 20 July 2005 I requested the United States, by letter, to provide me with a copy of the 2006 schedules for the House of Representatives and the Senate. An oral hearing was held on 21 July 2005. At the outset of that hearing, the United States informed me that the 2006 schedules for the United States Congress are not yet

²⁴³Appellate Body Report, WT/DS285/AB/R.

²⁴⁴Panel Report, WT/DS285/R.

²⁴⁵WT/DS285/10.

²⁴⁶WT/DSB/M/189, para. 47.

²⁴⁷WT/DS285/11.

²⁴⁸Antigua's letter was received on 20 June 2005.

²⁴⁹WT/DS285/12.

²⁵⁰The 90 day period following adoption of the Panel and Appellate Body Reports expired on 19 July 2005.

available, but that the recess periods in 2006 were likely to be similar to those in the 2005 schedules.²⁵¹ On 22 July 2005, in response to a question posed at the oral hearing, the United States informed me by letter that there is currently one bill under consideration by the United States Congress related to the subject of internet gambling.²⁵²

[...]

III. Reasonable Period of Time

A. Preliminary Matters

1. Mandate

- 27. The Panel and Appellate Body Reports in this dispute were adopted by the DSB on 20 April 2005 and, pursuant to Article 21.3 of the DSU, the United States informed the DSB of its intentions with respect to implementation shortly thereafter. Article 21.3 of the DSU establishes that, when it is "impracticable" for a Member to comply "immediately" with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB, then that Member "shall have a reasonable period of time in which to do so." The United States informed the DSB that it would require such a reasonable period of time in this dispute.
- 28. My task as arbitrator in this proceeding is to determine such reasonable period of time, taking due account of the relevant provisions of the DSU, and, specifically, of the following directions set forth in Article 21.3:
 - ... The reasonable period of time shall be:

•••

- (c) a period of time determined through binding arbitration ... In such arbitration, a guideline for the arbitrator should be that the reasonable period of time to implement panel or Appellate Body recommendations should not exceed 15 months from the date of adoption of a panel or Appellate Body report. However, that time may be shorter or longer, depending upon the particular circumstances. (footnotes omitted)
- 2. The Measures to be Brought into Conformity
- 29. Both the Panel and Appellate Body Reports in this dispute contained findings that the United States had acted inconsistently with its obligations under the covered agreements. More specifically, the Appellate Body upheld the Panel's finding that, by maintaining the following three measures, the United States acts inconsistently with its obligations under Article XVI:1 and sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2 of the GATS:

²⁵¹The United States included the 2005 schedules of both chambers of Congress as Exhibit US-9 to its submission.

²⁵²The United States referred to H.R. 1422, the Student Athlete Protection Act. The United States also conveyed its understanding that a Senator is in the process of preparing an internet gambling bill to strengthen penalties for illegal gambling and limit the use of financial instruments in connection with internet gambling.

²⁵³Minutes of the DSB meeting held on 19 May 2005, WT/DSB/M/189, para. 47.

Section 1084 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Wire Act");

Section 1952 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Travel Act"); and

Section 1955 of Title 18 of the United States Code (the "Illegal Gambling Business Act", or the "IGBA"). 254

- 30. The Appellate Body also upheld, albeit for different reasons, the Panel's finding that the United States had not demonstrated that its measures, found to be inconsistent with Article XVI of the GATS, satisfy the requirements of Article XIV of the GATS. Accordingly, the Appellate Body recommended that the DSB request the United States to bring its inconsistent measures into conformity with its obligations under the GATS.
 - B. Factors Affecting the Determination of the Reasonable Period of Time under Article 21.3(c)

1. <u>Burden of Proof</u>

31. Both of the parties to this dispute agree that the United States, as the implementing Member, bears the burden of establishing that its proposed implementation period is a "reasonable period of time". I do not disagree with the principle that when an implementing Member seeks a reasonable period of time for implementation, then it is appropriate for that Member to carry the burden of demonstrating the reasonableness of its proposal. Proposal.

2. Choice of Method of Implementation

32. Both the Appellate Body and the Panel found that, due to ambiguity in the relationship between the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the IGBA, on the one hand, and a federal civil statute known as the Interstate Horseracing Act (the "IHA") on the other hand, the United States had not satisfied its burden of justifying the measures at issue under the chapeau to Article XIV of the GATS.²⁵⁸ Referring to these findings, the United States indicates that it will seek to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB by further clarifying the relationship between these statutes. Antigua, on the other hand, believes that broader action is necessary. Antigua submits that the United States can properly implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB only if, consistently with the requirements of the chapeau to Article XIV of the GATS, it removes any discrimination in the treatment of Antiguan suppliers of "remote" gambling and betting services, on the one hand, and the treatment of domestic suppliers of the same services, on the other.²⁵⁹ To do so, argues Antigua, the United States will have to either grant

²⁵⁴Appellate Body Report, para. 373(C)(ii); Panel Report, para. 7.2(b)(i).

²⁵⁵Appellate Body Report, para. 373(D)(vi); Panel Report, para. 7.2(d).

²⁵⁶Antigua's submission, para. 30; United States' response to questioning at the oral hearing.

 $^{^{257}}$ Award of the Arbitrator, US-1916 Act, para. 33. A similar sentiment was also expressed by the Arbitrator in EC-Tariff Preferences, at paragraph 27 of his award.

²⁵⁸Appellate Body Report, para. 373(D)(v)(c); Panel Report, paras. 6.599-6.600.

²⁵⁹In this dispute, the Panel used the term "remote" supply to refer to:

market access to Antiguan service providers or prohibit the supply of all domestic remote gambling services.

33. It is not the role of an arbitrator under Article 21.3(c) to identify a particular method of implementation and to determine the "reasonable period of time" on the basis of that method. Rather, the implementing Member retains the discretion to choose its preferred method of implementation. Nevertheless, it will be necessary for me to consider certain aspects of the means of implementation proposed by each of the parties, as explained in more detail below.

3. Particular Circumstances

- 34. Article 21.3(c) requires that I determine the "reasonable period of time for implementation", establishes a guideline that this period "should not exceed 15 months", and directs that in fixing the relevant period I should have regard to "the particular circumstances" of this case.
- 35. It is by now well established that a key determinant of the reasonable period of time for implementation is the nature of the implementing action that is to be taken. Legislative action will, as a general rule, require more time than regulatory rule-making, which in turn will normally need more time than implementation that can be achieved by means of an administrative decision.²⁶¹
- 36. In this arbitration, Antigua contends that the United States can implement, in part, through executive action, and in part through legislative action. With respect to what Antigua characterizes as the supply of "non-sports related and horseracing" gambling and betting services, Antigua argues that the United States can, and should, implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB through the issuance of an executive order by the United States President that would clarify that the supply of such services from Antigua is not prohibited under the Wire Act, the Travel Act or the IGBA. As regards

"any situation where the supplier, whether domestic or foreign, and the consumer of gambling and betting services are not physically together". In other words, in situations of remote supply, the consumer of a service does not have to go to any type of outlet where the supply is supervised, be it a retail facility, a casino, a vending machine, etc. Instead, the remote supplier offers the service directly to the consumer through some means of distance communication. Hence, crossborder supply is necessarily remote, but remote supply amounts to "cross-border" supply only when the service supplier and the consumer are located in territories of different Members.

(Panel Report, para. 6.32; original emphasis, footnote omitted)

²⁶⁰See, for example, Award of the Arbitrator, *EC – Hormones*, para. 38; Award of the Arbitrator, *Australia – Salmon*, para. 35; Award of the Arbitrator, *Korea – Alcoholic Beverages*, para. 45; Award of the Arbitrator, *Chile – Price Band System*, para. 32; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment)*, para. 48; Award of the Arbitrator, *EC – Tariff Preferences*, para. 30; and Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, para. 26.

²⁶¹See, for example, Award of the Arbitrator, *Australia – Salmon*, para. 38; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act*, para. 34; Award of the Arbitrator, *Canada – Pharmaceutical Patents*, para. 49; Award of the Arbitrator, *Canada – Patent Term*, para. 41; Award of the Arbitrator, *Chile – Price Band System*, para. 38; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment)*, para. 57; and Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, para. 26.

²⁶²Specifically, Antigua argues that:

the supply of "other sports-related" gambling and betting services, Antigua accepts that legislative change will be necessary in order to clarify whether and how the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the IGBA apply to these activities.

- 37. The United States maintains that I need not address Antigua's arguments concerning implementation by executive order for at least three reasons. First, and foremost, it is my role under Article 21.3(c) to determine a single reasonable period of time for implementation. Since both parties agree that implementation by legislative means is required in this case, Antigua's argument that partial implementation could be achieved in a shorter period of time is irrelevant. For the United States, the only reasonable period of time that I am to determine is the reasonable period of time for legislative implementation. The United States points, in this respect, to two previous arbitrations in which a single reasonable period of time for implementation was determined, notwithstanding that the parties agreed that two different methods of implementation were required.²⁶³ Secondly, the United States rejects Antigua's distinction between the supply of "non-sports related and horseracing" gambling and betting services, on the one hand, and the supply of "other sports-related" gambling and betting services, on the other. In the view of the United States, the three federal statutes at issue apply equally to, and prohibit, the supply of all forms of remote gambling and betting services. Thirdly, the United States contends that it is neither appropriate nor possible to achieve implementation in this dispute by means of a presidential executive order. The order that Antigua contends the United States President should issue could not properly form the subject of an executive order. Furthermore, the United States points out that it argued before the Panel that a presidential statement that accompanied the passage of the amendments to the IHA made clear that nothing in that Act, as amended, overrides the previously enacted criminal laws relating to gambling. Nevertheless, neither the Panel nor the Appellate Body considered that this presidential statement was sufficient to resolve the ambiguity in the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA, on the other. Given that the presidential statement was not considered by the Panel or the Appellate Body to provide sufficient clarity regarding this relationship, the United States submits that an executive order issued by the President would not do so either. For this reason, the United States emphasizes that the only means of implementation that will achieve the necessary clarification is legislative means.
- 38. As I understand it, although there is no express provision creating the power to issue executive orders, it is commonly accepted that the United States President has the authority to issue such orders, and that such authority derives from the general executive powers vested in the President by Article II of the United States Constitution. In practice, United States presidents do issue executive orders. Nevertheless, the scope of the authority to issue such orders, and the types of matters that may be dealt with by executive order, appear to be matters of some debate. At the oral hearing, both parties agreed that the United States President may not issue an executive order that contradicts an existing statute. The parties disagree, however, on the issue of whether the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the IGBA, as they

... it is well within the power of the president to issue an executive order to the agencies of the United States government to the effect that (i) these services may be lawfully offered by Antiguan operators to consumers in the United States and (ii) all enforcement and related action to the contrary, including (A) asset forfeitures, (B) restrictions on money transfers and use of financial instruments, (C) threats of federal prosecution by the DOJ against service providers to these industries, including advertisers, banks and credit card companies and processors, and (D) current pending prosecutions against persons operating these businesses, should in each instance immediately cease and desist.

(Antigua's submission, para. 22; footnote omitted)

 $^{^{263}}$ Award of the Arbitrator, US-Hot-Rolled Steel; and Award of the Arbitrator, US-Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews.

²⁶⁴Antigua's submission, para. 17.

stand, prohibit the supply of "non-sports related and horseracing" gambling and betting services from Antigua to consumers in the United States.

- 39. Neither the Panel nor the Appellate Body referred to the distinction that Antigua now draws, namely between the United States' regulation of the supply of "non-sports related and horseracing" gambling and betting services, on the one hand, and its regulation of the supply of "other sports-related" gambling and betting services, on the other. In response to a question at the oral hearing, Antigua acknowledged that neither report distinguishes between types of gambling. Moreover, it seems to me that the findings of both the Panel and the Appellate Body are based on the premise that each of the three statutes in question prohibits a broad category of gambling activities.²⁶⁵
- 40. In asking me to draw this distinction, therefore, Antigua is effectively asking me to make a ruling concerning the meaning and scope of application of United States municipal law. I do not consider that it forms part of my mandate to do so, given that the findings of the Panel and the Appellate Body make no such distinction.
- 41. Because I do not rule on whether the distinction asserted by Antigua exists, I need not, in this proceeding, resolve the issue of whether it is permissible for an arbitrator under Article 21.3(c) of the DSU to determine more than one reasonable period of time for implementation. I am not persuaded that the mere use of the indefinite article "a" in the phrase "a reasonable period of time" suffices, as the United States suggests, to establish definitively that an arbitrator is authorized only to determine a *single* reasonable period of time for implementation in a dispute. At the same time, conceptually, I have difficulty accepting that it may be possible to determine, as Antigua seems to request me to do, two separate reasonable periods of time in respect of the *same* measure. I would not, however, want to exclude *a priori*, and without having carried out a thorough interpretative analysis of the relevant provisions of the DSU, the possibility that an arbitrator might be able to fix separate reasonable periods of

(Panel Report, para. 6.370. See also Appellate Body Report, para. 261)

Lastly, the Panel explained that the IGBA prohibits:

... gambling activity that entails the conduct, finance, management, supervision, direction or ownership of all or part of such a business to the extent that such supply is undertaken by a "gambling business" that is prohibited under state law and provided that the other requirements in sub-paragraph (b)(1) of the Illegal Gambling Business Act have been met.

(Panel Report, para. 6.377. See also Appellate Body Report, para. 263)

²⁶⁵The Panel's explanation of the three federal laws is set out in paragraphs 6.360 to 6.380 of the Panel Report, and the Appellate Body's treatment of the three statutes is found in paragraphs 257-265 of the Appellate Body Report. With respect to the Wire Act, the Panel observed that it prohibits "the use of a wire communication facility for, *inter alia*, the transmission in interstate or foreign commerce of bets or wagers". (Panel Report, para. 6.362. See also Appellate Body Report, para. 259) As for the Travel Act, the Panel stated that it prohibits:

^{...} gambling activity that entails the supply of gambling and betting services by 'mail or any facility' to the extent that such supply is undertaken by a "business enterprise involving gambling" that is prohibited under state law and provided that the other requirements in subparagraph (a) of the Travel Act have been met.

²⁶⁶Essentially, Antigua is asking me to determine two separate reasonable periods of time for the United States to implement the DSB's recommendations and rulings regarding the Wire Act, two separate reasonable periods of time for the United States to implement the DSB's recommendations and rulings regarding the Travel Act, and two separate reasonable periods of time for the United States to implement the DSB's recommendations and rulings regarding the IGBA.

time for separate measures. It is true that, to date, no arbitrator has done so.²⁶⁷ Yet it is also true that, to date, no arbitrator has been asked to do so.

- 42. Having declined to rule on the distinction on which Antigua bases its assertion that the United States could undertake two separate methods of implementation, I need not consider the reasonable period of time that would be necessary for implementation by means of an executive order. I turn, instead, to the question of the reasonable period of time needed for the United States to implement by legislative means.
- 43. In response to a question at the oral hearing, Antigua suggested that even if I were to consider that the United States enjoys the discretion to decide to implement by legislative means, rather than by means of an executive order, then the United States should be required to "pay the price" for having chosen a "complicated, more lengthy way" of implementing rather than another available method that would be shorter. Thus, submits Antigua, I should reduce the reasonable period of time for legislative implementation. Given that I do not rule on the distinction on which Antigua bases its assertion that two separate means of implementation are possible in this case, I need not decide whether a Member's decision to opt for one means of implementation (legislative) notwithstanding that another, more rapid means of implementation has been demonstrated to be available, could affect the determination of the reasonable period of time for implementation under Article 21.3(c) of the DSU.
- 44. Antigua and the United States agree that, as previous arbitrators have stated, the "reasonable period of time" under Article 21.3(c) should be "the shortest period possible within the legal system of the Member to implement the relevant recommendations and rulings of the DSB", in the light of the "particular circumstances" of the dispute. 268 Yet, it is useful to recall that the DSU does not refer to the "shortest period possible for implementation within the legal system" of the implementing Member. Rather, this is a convenient phrase that has been used by previous arbitrators to describe their task. I do not, however, view this standard as one that stands in isolation from the text of the DSU. In my view, the determination of the "shortest period possible for implementation" can, and must, also take due account of the two principles that are expressly mentioned in Article 21 of the DSU, namely reasonableness and the need for prompt compliance. Moreover, as differences in previous awards involving legislative implementation by the United States have shown, and as the text of Article 21.3(c) prescribes, each arbitrator must take account of "particular circumstances" relevant to the case at hand. Strict insistence on the "shortest period possible for implementation within the legal system" of the implementing Member would, in my view, tie an arbitrator's hands and prevent him or her from properly identifying and weighing the particular circumstances that are determinative of "reasonableness" in each individual case.²⁶⁹

²⁶⁷In Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Hot-Rolled Steel*, the Arbitrator determined a single reasonable period of time of 15 months (para. 40); and in Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, the Arbitrator determined a single reasonable period of time for implementation of 12 months (para. 53).

²⁶⁸Award of the Arbitrator, *Chile – Price Band System*, para. 34 (quoting Award of the Arbitrator, *US – 1916 Act*, para. 32). See also Award of the Arbitrator, *EC – Hormones*, para. 26; Award of the Arbitrator, *Canada – Pharmaceutical Patents*, para. 47; Award of the Arbitrator, *EC – Tariff Preferences*, para. 26; and Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Oil Country Tubular Goods Sunset Reviews*, para. 25.

 $^{^{269}}$ With respect to the overriding principle of "reasonableness" I find it useful, like the Arbitrator in US-Hot-Rolled Steel (para. 25), to refer to the Appellate Body's elaboration of the meaning of the word "reasonable", albeit in another context. In its Report in US-Hot-Rolled Steel, the Appellate Body stated that the word "reasonable":

^{...} implies a degree of flexibility that involves consideration of all of the circumstances of a particular case. What is "reasonable" in one set of circumstances may prove to be less than "reasonable" in different circumstances. This suggests that what constitutes a reasonable period or a reasonable time under

- 45. The United States raises, as a "particular circumstance" relevant to my determination, the complexity of the legislation that will be necessary in order to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this case. The United States contrasts the complexity of the task of eliminating discrimination in this case with the relative simplicity involved in amending the statutory term of patent protection in *Canada Patent Term.*²⁷⁰
- 46. I agree with the United States that the legislative task faced by its Congress in this dispute is more complex than the one confronted by the Canadian Parliament in *Canada Patent Term*. I attach some significance to the fact that, as the United States explained at the oral hearing, the field of internet gambling is one that is highly regulated in the United States. A myriad of interconnected and overlapping laws apply to these activities, including state and federal laws, and criminal and civil statutes. For this reason, a careful examination of how proposed legislation will impact the existing regulatory regime will be a necessary part of the process of adopting implementing legislation in this dispute.
- 47. I am also conscious of the fact that any legislation adopted by the United States will inevitably, as the Appellate Body Report demonstrates, bear on questions of public morals and public order. ²⁷¹ It seems to me that, within the field of public morals and public order, only prohibitions are simple. In other words, to the extent that the United States may consider authorizing any form of internet gambling or wagering, this will increase the complexity of any legislative solution. The more such activities are authorized, the greater lengths the legislator will have to go to in order to ensure that sufficient safeguards are in place to make the system consistent with, and acceptable under, prevailing standards of public morals and public order. This is, in my view, separate from the question of contentiousness. However, the United States has not, in this proceeding, explained in any precise manner how it intends to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. The few indications that it has given suggest that it is leaning more in the direction of "confirming" or "clarifying" the prohibitions on the remote supply of gambling and betting services, rather than in the direction of authorizing, even in part, the supply of such services. In the absence of any more specific information from the United States on this issue, I do not consider the fact that the legislative activity called for in this case will inevitably touch on questions of

Article 6.8 and Annex II of the *Anti-Dumping Agreement*, should be defined on a case-by-case basis, in the light of the specific circumstances of each investigation.

In sum, a "reasonable period" must be interpreted consistently with the notions of flexibility and balance that are inherent in the concept of "reasonableness", and in a manner that allows for account to be taken of the particular circumstances of each case.

(Appellate Body Report, paras. 84-85)

²⁷⁰In paragraph 12 of its submission, the United States quotes the following statement from paragraphs 55 and 56 of my award in *Canada – Patent Term*:

In prescribing a precise result, that is, the duration of the minimum period of patent protection, Article 33 of the TRIPS Agreement is quite different from provisions which limit only marginally the discretion of the legislator, *such as prohibitions of discrimination between imported and domestic goods or services*. Such discrimination can, of course, be eliminated in several ways, while a violation of Article 33 of the TRIPS Agreement can only be remedied through one action, that is, by providing for the required minimum period of patent protection.

Thus, with respect to the minimum period of patent protection, Article 33 of the TRIPS Agreement *leaves no room for any legislative discretion or legislative choices*. (emphasis added by the United States)

²⁷¹Appellate Body Report, para. 373(D)(iii)(c).

public morals and public order to be a "particular circumstance" affecting my determination of the reasonable period of time.

- 48. The United States also submits that I should take account of the fact that several previous Congresses have considered bills related to internet gambling, but that none of these bills has passed. The United States did not, however, provide me with any explanation as to the reasons why such bills have not been enacted into law. I am, therefore, unable to determine whether Congress' inability to pass previous bills was related to their complexity—a relevant particular circumstance—or to their contentiousness—something that would not constitute a relevant particular circumstance for purposes of my determination.²⁷²
- 49. As regards the specific details of the United States legislative process, the United States and Antigua agree on the basic steps involved.²⁷³ They also agree that the only steps that are required by law are the approval of a bill by both chambers of Congress as well as presidential signature. Furthermore, both parties accept that there is no fixed time frame attached to any one of the steps involved in the United States legislative process. Finally, both parties accept that, as previous arbitrators have observed, there is a considerable degree of flexibility inherent in the United States legislative system.²⁷⁴
- 50. In my view, the need for prompt compliance means that it is incumbent upon the United States to use the flexibility available in its legislative process to ensure rapid implementation. The United States is not, however, obliged to have recourse to extraordinary legislative procedures.²⁷⁵
- 51. The United States suggests that another "particular circumstance" that has a strong influence on the passage of legislation within the United States and that should, therefore, influence my determination in this proceeding, is the Congressional schedule. The United States points out that the vast majority of legislation is passed near the end of a Congress. Each Congress lasts for two years and consists of two sessions, each of which runs over one calendar year. The United States Congress is currently in the first session of the 109th Congress. Although the United States submits that it would be impossible to pass the necessary implementing legislation by the end of the first session of the 109th Congress, currently scheduled to end on 30 September 2005, the United States does not request that I fix the reasonable period of time to coincide with the end of the second session of the 109th Congress, at the end of 2006. Rather, the United States argues that, "much as the end of a Congressional session spurs legislative activity, the opportunity to pass legislation may be greater prior to a Congressional recess." Thus, reasons the United States, it would be appropriate for the reasonable period of time for implementation to expire just before Congress begins its August 2006 recess, as this would provide a concrete impetus for passage of the necessary legislation.
- 52. I do not take the view that a legislature's schedule is totally irrelevant to the determination of the reasonable period of time for implementation of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. Rather, it

²⁷²Award of the Arbitrator, *Canada – Pharmaceutical Patents*, para. 60; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act*, paras. 41-42; Award of the Arbitrator, *Canada – Patent Term*, para. 58; and Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment)*, para. 61.

²⁷³At the oral hearing Antigua indicated that it accepts the description of the process provided by the United States, which is summarized *supra*, para. 13.

²⁷⁴Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act*, para. 45; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – 1916 Act*, para. 39; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Offset Act* (*Byrd Amendment*), paras. 63-64 and 74.

²⁷⁵Award of the Arbitrator, *Korea – Alcoholic Beverages*, para. 42; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act*, paras. 32 and 45; Award of the Arbitrator, *US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment)*, para. 43; and Award of the Arbitrator, *EC – Tariff Preferences*, para. 42.

²⁷⁶United States' submission, para. 35.

seems to me that this is a circumstance that may or may not be relevant depending on the particular case.²⁷⁷ Thus, for example, in *Canada – Patent Term* I did not consider Canada's parliamentary schedule to be determinative of the reasonable period of time in the circumstances of that case. ²⁷⁸ In this case, I do not attach much weight to this "particular circumstance", for the reasons that follow. The United States has taken the position that it would be appropriate for the reasonable period of time to expire just before Congress begins its August 2006 recess. In response to a written request that I addressed to the United States prior to the oral hearing, the United States informed me that the tentative 2006 Congressional Schedule is not yet available. The United States nonetheless indicated that in all likelihood the recesses taken by Congress in 2006 will closely resemble those in the 2005 Schedule, which the United States has provided.²⁷⁹ I note, in this respect, that in addition to its August recess (the "Summer District Work Period"), Congress takes a number of recesses of a week or more throughout the year. In 2005, these include: a "Presidents Day District Work Period" in February; a "Spring District Work Period" in March/April around the time of Easter; a "Memorial Day District Work Period" at the end of May/early June; and an "Independence Day District Work Period" around the time of the 4th of July. In my view, the United States' argument that a recess period spurs legislative action must apply in the same way to these recesses as it does to Congress' August recess and to the end of a session of Congress. Thus, Congress has, throughout the year, a number of breaks that could serve to push forward the legislative process.

- 53. Antigua emphasizes the speed with which the 109th Congress has passed legislation to date, pointing out that this Congress adopted 15 measures through 19 June 2005. In Antigua's view, this illustrates why the United States needs no more than six months in order to achieve legislative implementation in this case. The United States, however, argues that the rapidity with which these measures were passed in the first half of the 109th session of Congress is not at all representative of the ordinary workings of the United States legislative process. According to the United States, these 15 measures represent only a tiny fraction of all the laws that will be passed in the 109th Congress. Moreover, of these 15 measures, four dealt with disaster relief or emergencies, three were legislative packages that had been thoroughly considered in a previous Congress or Congresses, four dealt with the renewal of measures previously enacted but due to expire, and four involved the naming of buildings and museum regents. 281
- 54. I find the rebuttal arguments of the United States concerning the work of the 109th Congress to be persuasive. Given that the 109th Congress has only been in session for half a year, it follows that any law that it has adopted during that time must have been adopted in less than half a year. Taken in isolation, however, that fact is not probative of the average length of time that it takes to pass legislation, nor of the relationship between the content of specific legislation and the length of time that is required for it to be passed. In the absence of any additional context that would allow me to evaluate the significance of the time taken to pass the 15 measures cited by Antigua, I do not consider this to be a particular circumstance relevant to my determination.
- 55. Antigua also points to the fact that the United States Congress took just five months to pass the 2000 amendments to the IHA. I take note of this fact. Given that these amendments relate to the

²⁷⁷Award of the Arbitrator, **US** – *Offset Act (Byrd Amendment)*, paras. 69-70.

²⁷⁸Award of the Arbitrator, Canada – Patent Term, paras. 65-66.

²⁷⁹Exhibit US-9 to the United States' submission.

²⁸⁰According to Antigua, of these 15 measures: "two became law within a day of introduction, the longest period from introduction to adoption was 91 days, and the average number of days from introduction to adoption was 43.27 days." (Antigua's submission, para. 54; footnotes omitted)

²⁸¹United States' statement at the oral hearing.

same field as the one in which the United States intends to implement in this case, I consider it relevant that Congress was able to act so expeditiously on a prior occasion.

4. Article 21.2 of the DSU

- 56. Antigua requests that, in making my determination, I apply Article 21.2 of the DSU and pay particular attention to Antigua's interests as a developing country Member of the WTO. Antigua underlines the importance of the cross-border gambling and betting service industry to the economic health and growth of Antigua, as well as the strain that this dispute has placed on Antigua's limited resources. Antigua suggests that I should rely upon Article 21.2 of the DSU in two ways. First, I should use Article 21.2 to examine the consistency of the United States' proposed means of implementation with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB and with the covered agreements generally. Secondly, Antigua submits that I should rely on Article 21.2 to require the United States to use the considerable flexibility that exists within its legislative system to achieve implementation in a shorter period of time than I might otherwise do.
- 57. The United States argues that Article 21.2 is not relevant to my determination in this proceeding. For the United States, Article 21.2 can be relevant in an arbitration to determine the reasonable period of time for implementation only when it is the *implementing* Member that is a developing country. This is because the task of an Article 21.3(c) arbitrator is to determine the shortest possible period of time for implementation within the legal system of the implementing Member. The fact that the *complaining* Member may be a developing country cannot, in the view of the United States, have any impact on such a determination.

58. Article 21.2 provides:

Particular attention should be paid to matters affecting the interests of developing country Members with respect to measures which have been subject to dispute settlement.

- 59. On its face, this provision does not contain any limitation of the type suggested by the United States. In other words, the text of Article 21.2 does not expressly limit its scope of application to developing country Members as *implementing*, rather than as complaining, parties to a dispute. Any such limitation, if it exists, must therefore be found in the context and/or object and purpose of this provision.²⁸²
- 60. Before considering relevant context for the interpretation of Article 21.2 of the DSU, however, I consider it useful to examine in further detail the words that are used in this provision. The provision requires that "particular attention" be paid to: (i) matters; (ii) affecting the interests of developing country Members; (iii) with respect to the measures at issue. At first blush, it is not clear whether the word "matters" in Article 21.2 has the same meaning as elsewhere in the DSU²⁸³, or whether it refers simply to the subject matter covered by Article 21. In any event, it seems to me that Article 21.2 contemplates a clear nexus between the interests of the developing country invoking the provision and the

 $^{^{282}}$ I note that the Arbitrator in EC-Tariff Preferences identified, but did not decide, the issue of whether Article 21.2 might apply to developing country Members whose interests are affected by measures at issue in the dispute but which are not parties to the arbitration. (Award of the Arbitrator, para. 59) No such issue arises in this arbitration.

²⁸³The Appellate Body has held, for example, that the "matter" referred to in Article 7 of the DSU "consists of two elements: the specific *measures* at issue and the *legal basis of the complaint* (or the *claims*)." (Appellate Body Report, *Guatemala – Cement I*, para. 72; original emphasis)

measures at issue in the dispute, as well as a demonstration of the adverse affects of such measures on the interests of the developing country Member(s) concerned.

- 61. Turning briefly to the context in the light of which Article 21.2 must be interpreted, I note that the provision is located within Article 21, which is entitled "Surveillance of Implementation of Recommendations and Rulings". The second paragraph of Article 21, like the first²⁸⁴, sets out a broad principle that guides and informs the more specific paragraphs that follow, including Article 21.3. Given that Article 21 contains a number of additional paragraphs dealing with different aspects of surveillance and implementation, it seems likely that Article 21.2 informs each of the subsequent paragraphs in a different manner. Arguably, for example, Article 21.2 could constitute a legislative expression of a factor that is to constitute a "particular circumstance" to be taken into account under Article 21.3(c). The last two paragraphs of Article 21 are also, as Antigua pointed out at the oral hearing, of potential use in interpreting the scope and role of Article 21.2. Each of those provisions also deals with developing country Members of the WTO at the stage of surveillance and implementation of DSB recommendations and rulings. Yet, contrary to Article 21.2, both Article 21.7 and Article 21.8 expressly apply to the developing country Members that brought the case, that is, to developing countries as complaining parties.
- 62. The significance to be attached to this context, and the precise nature of the relationship between Article 21.2 and Article 21.3(c), are not issues that need be resolved in this arbitration. This is because, in my view, Antigua has not satisfied the criteria expressly mentioned in Article 21.2. In its submission, Antigua pointed out that its population, as well as its gross domestic product per capita, are tiny fractions of those of the United States. Antigua also asserted that the "continuation and responsible further development of the well-regulated cross-border gambling and betting service industry in Antigua is critical to the economic health and growth of the country" and that the "prosecution of the Dispute has put considerable stress on the very limited resources available to Antigua." In response to questioning at the oral hearing, Antigua explained that, prior to 1998, the cross-border gambling and betting industry employed a significant percentage of the Antiguan work force, but that the number of active firms and employees now involved in the sector has shrunk significantly. Antigua did not, however, provide specific data in support of these arguments. Nor did Antigua seek to demonstrate any clear relationship between the decline of its industry and the measures which were subject to this dispute, that is, the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA.
- 63. In the absence of any more specific evidence or elaboration of the affected interests of Antigua and their relationship with the measures at issue, I am not persuaded that the criteria referred to in Article 21.2 have been satisfied. For this reason, I need not consider further the issue of the precise relationship between paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 21, nor how I might apply Article 21.2 so as to pay "particular

²⁸⁴Article 21.1 stipulates that "[p]rompt compliance with recommendations or rulings of the DSB is essential in order to ensure effective resolution of disputes to the benefit of all Members."

²⁸⁵Paragraphs 7 and 8 of Article 21 provide as follows:

^{7.} If the matter is one which has been raised by a developing country Member, the DSB shall consider what further action it might take which would be appropriate to the circumstances.

^{8.} If the case is one brought by a developing country Member, in considering what appropriate action might be taken, the DSB shall take into account not only the trade coverage of measures complained of, but also their impact on the economy of developing country Members concerned.

²⁸⁶Antigua's submission, para. 58.

²⁸⁷Antigua's submission, para. 59.

attention" to the interests of Antigua in fixing the reasonable period of time for implementation by the United States in this dispute.

5. Summary

- 64. The United States, as the implementing Member, bears the burden of persuading me that the 15 month period that it proposes would constitute a "reasonable period of time" within the meaning of Article 21.3(c). I accept as relevant "particular circumstances" the following considerations raised by the United States: (i) implementation will occur by legislative means; (ii) the task of implementing by legislation is complicated both by the objective of eliminating, or clarifying the absence of, discrimination in the treatment of Antiguan and domestic service suppliers, and by the highly regulated nature of the field of internet gambling and betting in which this objective must be achieved. I take note of, but attach little significance to, Congress' likely 2006 schedule. Taken together, these factors do not, in my view, suffice to discharge the United States' burden of persuading me that 15 months would be a reasonable period of time for implementation in this dispute, particularly given the acknowledged flexibility in the United States legislative process.
- 65. I also accept as a relevant "particular circumstance" the fact that, as Antigua points out, the United States Congress passed the 2000 amendments to the IHA in only five months.
- 66. I am not persuaded that several other factors invoked by the United States (to date, Congress has not been able to pass any of the bills relating to internet gambling that have been proposed) or Antigua (the asserted availability of partial implementation through a presidential executive order, the fact that the 109th Congress has already passed 15 laws in approximately 6 months of work, or Antigua's status as a developing country Member) are properly characterized as particular circumstances relevant to my determination in this case.
- 67. Lastly, I wish to observe that, in the four previous Arbitrations in which the issue of the reasonable period of time for implementation by *legislative* means within the United States system arose, each arbitrator determined a different reasonable period of time, ranging from 10 to 15 months.²⁸⁸

IV. The Award

68. In the light of what has been stated above, I determine that the "reasonable period of time" for the United States to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute is 11 months and 2 weeks from 20 April 2005, which was the date on which the DSB adopted the Panel and Appellate Body Reports. The reasonable period of time will therefore expire on 3 April 2006.

²⁸⁸In *US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act*, the Arbitrator determined that 12 months would be a reasonable period of time (para. 47); in *US – 1916 Act*, the Arbitrator determined that 10 months would be a reasonable period of time (para. 45); in *US – Hot-Rolled Steel*, the Arbitrator determined that 15 months would be a reasonable period of time (para. 40); and in *US – Offset Act (Byrd Amendment)*, the Arbitrator determined that 11 months would be a reasonable period of time for the United States to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in that dispute (para. 83).

United States - Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services

Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Antigua and Barbuda, Panel Report, WT/DS285/RW, 30 March 2007

I. PROCEDURAL BACKGOUND

- 1.1 On 20 April 2005, the Dispute Settlement Body ("DSB") adopted the Appellate Body Report (WT/DS285/AB/R) and the Panel Report (WT/DS285/R) as modified by the Appellate Body Report in the dispute on *United States Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services*.²⁸⁹ In its recommendations and rulings, the DSB requested the United States to bring its measures, that were found, in the Appellate Body Report and in the Panel Report as modified by that Report, to be inconsistent with its obligations under the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS), into conformity with its obligations under that Agreement.
- 1.2 On 19 May 2005, the United States informed the DSB that it intended to implement the DSB's recommendations and rulings in this dispute in a manner that respected the United States' WTO obligations, and that it had begun to evaluate options for doing so. The United States indicated that it would need a reasonable period of time in which to do this and that it stood ready to discuss this matter with the Government of Antigua and Barbuda ("Antigua"), in accordance with Article 21.3(b) of the DSU.²⁹⁰
- 1.3 On 6 June 2005, Antigua informed the DSB that Antigua and the United States had been unable to agree on a reasonable period of time. Consequently, Antigua requested that the reasonable period of time be determined through binding arbitration pursuant to Article 21.3(c) of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes ("DSU").²⁹¹ On 30 June 2005, the Director-General appointed Dr. Claus-Dieter Ehlermann to act as Arbitrator under Article 21.3(c).²⁹²
- 1.4 In the Arbitration Award, which was circulated on 19 August 2005, the Arbitrator determined that the "reasonable period of time" for the United States to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB was 11 months and 2 weeks from 20 April 2005, which was the date on which the DSB adopted the Panel and Appellate Body Reports. The reasonable period of time was therefore to expire on 3 April 2006.²⁹³
- 1.5 In a first Status Report dated 6 March 2006, the United States informed the DSB that the "US Administration, in consultation with the US Congress, has been working on appropriate steps to resolve

²⁸⁹ Appellate Body Report and Panel Report – Action by the Dispute Settlement Body, WT/DS285/10; Dispute Settlement Body, Minutes of Meeting, WT/DSB/M/188, para. 75.

²⁹⁰ Dispute Settlement Body, *Minutes of Meeting*, WT/DSB/M/189, para. 47.

 $^{^{291}}$ Request from Antigua and Barbuda for Arbitration under Article 21.3(c) of the DSU, WT/DS285/11, 9 June 2005.

²⁹² Appointment of Arbitrator by the Director-General under Article 21.3(c) of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, Note by the Secretariat, WT/DS285/12, 5 July 2005.

²⁹³ Arbitration under Article 21.3(c) of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, Award of the Arbitrator Claus-Dieter Ehlermann, WT/DS285/13, 19 August 2005; provided to the Chairman of the DSB, WT/DS285/14, 23 August 2005.

this matter".²⁹⁴ In its second Status Report, dated 10 April 2006, the United States informed the DSB that:

"On 5 April 2006, the US Department of Justice confirmed the position of the US Government regarding remote gambling on horse racing in testimony before a subcommittee of the US House of Representatives. The Department of Justice stated that:

The Department of Justice views the existing criminal statutes as prohibiting the interstate transmission of bets or wagers, including wagers on horse races. The Department is currently undertaking a civil investigation relating to a potential violation of law regarding this activity. We have previously stated that we do not believe that the Interstate Horse Racing Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 3001-3007, amended the existing criminal statutes.

In view of these circumstances, the United States is in compliance with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute."²⁹⁵

- 1.6 At the DSB meeting of 21 April 2006, the United States, referring, *inter alia*, to the aforementioned DOJ statement, informed Members that it "was now able to show that relevant US law did not discriminate against foreign suppliers of remote gambling on horse racing" and concluded that it "was in compliance with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute". At the same meeting, Antigua disagreed with that interpretation. ²⁹⁷
- 1.7 On 24 May 2006, Antigua and the United States notified an Agreement Regarding Procedures under Articles 21 and 22 of the DSU (the "Agreed Procedures") to the DSB.²⁹⁸ In a communication dated 8 June 2006, Antigua requested consultations with the United States pursuant to paragraph 1 of the Agreed Procedures.²⁹⁹ Consultations between the parties were held on 26 June 2006 in Washington D.C., but did not result in a settlement of the dispute. In a communication dated 6 July 2006, Antigua requested the DSB to establish a panel pursuant to Article 21.5 of the DSU.³⁰⁰
- 1.8 At its meeting on 19 July 2006, following the request made by Antigua, the DSB agreed to refer to the original Panel, if possible, the matter raised by Antigua in document WT/DS285/18 and decided that the Panel would have standard terms of reference. The terms of reference are, therefore, the following:

²⁹⁴ Status Report by the United States, WT/D285/15, 7 March 2006.

²⁹⁵ Status Report by the United States, Addendum, WT/D285/15/Add.1, 11 April 2006.

²⁹⁶ Dispute Settlement Body, *Minutes of Meeting*, WT/DSB/M/210, 30 May 2006, paras. 33-35.

²⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, paras. 36-39.

²⁹⁸ Agreement between Antigua and Barbuda and the United States Regarding Procedures under Articles 21 and 22 of the DSU, WT/DS285/16, 26 May 2006.

²⁹⁹ Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Antigua and Barbuda, Request for Consultations, WT/DS285/17, 12 June 2006. Paragraph 1 of the Agreed Procedures stipulates: "If Antigua and Barbuda deems it appropriate to invoke Article 21.5 of the DSU, Antigua and Barbuda will request consultations, which the Parties agree to hold within 15 days from the date of circulation of the request".

³⁰⁰ Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Antigua and Barbuda, Request for the Establishment of a Panel, WT/DS285/18, 7 July 2006.

"To examine, in the light of the relevant provisions of the covered agreements cited by Antigua and Barbuda in document WT/DS285/18, the matter referred to the DSB by Antigua and Barbuda in that document, and to make such findings as will assist the DSB in making the recommendations or in giving the rulings provided for in those agreements." 301

1.9 Article 21.5 of the DSU provides that a dispute under that provision shall be decided through recourse to the DSU, including, "wherever possible, resort to the original panel". In this case, the Chairperson of the original panel and one of the panellists were unavailable to serve. The parties agreed on their replacements, and as a result the Panel was composed as follows:

Chairperson: Mr Lars Anell

Members: Mr Mathias Francke

Mr Virachai Plasai³⁰²

- 1.10 The representatives of China, the European Communities and Japan reserved their third-party rights to participate in the Panel's proceedings.³⁰³
- 1.11 The Panel established its Working Procedures and Timetable on, respectively, 4 and 14 September 2006, and communicated these to the parties and third parties.
- 1.12 After receiving the parties' written submissions, the Panel noted that there appeared to be disagreement as to what had been submitted to the Arbitrator appointed pursuant to Article 21.3(c) of the DSU, and was hence of the view that the record of the Arbitrator might assist the Panel in carrying out its work. After consulting with the parties, the Panel requested access, in a letter dated 21 November 2006 addressed to the Director of the Appellate Body Secretariat, to the Arbitrator's record in the Article 21.3(c) proceeding. This record was transmitted to the Panel the same day. It contained the parties' respective submissions and oral statements, as well as a transcript of the Arbitrator's oral hearing. The third parties received copies of the parties' submissions and oral statements directly from the parties.
- 1.13 The Panel met with the parties on 27 and 28 November 2006. It met with the third parties on 28 November 2006.

II. FINDINGS REQUESTED BY THE PARTIES

2.1 **Antigua** requests that the Panel:

- (a) find that the United States has not taken measures to comply with the DSB rulings;
- (b) find that the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the IGBA remain in violation of the United States' obligations to Antigua under, *inter alia*, Article XVI of the GATS without meeting the requirements of Article XIV of the GATS; and

³⁰¹ Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Antigua and Barbuda, Constitution of the Panel, Note by the Secretariat, WT/DS285/19, 16 August 2006; Dispute Settlement Body, Minutes of Meeting, WT/DSB/M/217, 12 September 2006, para. 71.

³⁰² Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Antigua and Barbuda, Constitution of the Panel, Note by the Secretariat, WT/DS285/19, 16 August 2006.

³⁰³ Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Antigua and Barbuda, Constitution of the Panel, Note by the Secretariat, WT/DS285/19, 16 August 2006; Dispute Settlement Body, Minutes of Meeting, WT/DSB/M/217, 12 September 2006, para. 72.

- (c) recommend that the DSB request the United States to bring the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the IGBA into conformity with the obligations of the United States under the GATS.
- 2.2 The **United States** requests that the Panel reject Antigua's claims in their entirety, and find that the US measures taken to comply are not inconsistent with the GATS.

(...)

V. INTERIM REVIEW

- 5.1 On 25 January 2007, the Panel submitted its interim report to the parties. On 1 February 2007, the parties submitted written requests for review of precise aspects of the interim report. On 8 February 2007, the parties submitted written comments on each other's requests for interim review. In accordance with Article 15.3 of the DSU, this section of the Panel's report sets out a discussion of the arguments made at the interim review stage.
- (i) Public comment on the confidential interim report
- 5.2 When transmitting the interim report to the parties, the Panel explicitly indicated that the interim report was <u>strictly confidential</u>. The Panel also explicitly emphasized at its meeting with the parties that the Panel's proceedings were confidential, as provided for in Article 18 of the DSU. This was accepted by the parties, as well as reflected in the Panel's Working Procedures and in all relevant correspondence with the parties.
- 5.3 Therefore, the Panel notes with concern that the confidentiality requirement was breached on the occasion of the transmission of the interim report to the parties. The Panel is all the more concerned given that breaches of confidentiality had occurred in the original proceeding and were deplored by the original Panel.³⁰⁴
- 5.4 Within hours of the transmission of the interim report to the parties, the press reported on the result of the "confidential" interim report.³⁰⁵ Press reports referred in particular by name to a spokesperson from the USTR "confirm[ing] reports that the ruling went against the United States" and commenting on the content of the interim report.
- 5.5 On 26 January 2007, Antigua referred the Panel to the press report and noted, in particular, that Antigua had "strictly observed the confidentiality obligation".
- 5.6 On 29 January 2007, the Panel communicated to the parties as follows:

"The Panel notes with concern that the confidentiality of the Interim Report has been breached, in spite of the fact that the confidentiality requirement was accepted by the Parties (as reflected in the Working Procedures). The Panel wishes to remind the Parties that the Interim Report is strictly confidential, and that breaches of the confidentiality requirement are unacceptable because they affect the credibility and integrity of the WTO dispute settlement process."

5.7 Antigua, in its comments on interim review, expressed its deep disappointment with the decision of the United States to publicly comment on the interim report despite its express agreement not to do so. Antigua informed the Panel that it had scrupulously maintained the confidentiality of the interim report,

³⁰⁴ See the original Panel report, paras. 5.3 to 5.13.

³⁰⁵ See, for instance, US confirms loss in Internet Gambling trade case, Reuters, 25 January 2007.

and commented that the statements of the USTR were not only contrary to the agreements and obligations of the United States but materially misleading.

- 5.8 The United States informed the Panel, when submitting its comments on the interim review, that it shared the Panel's concerns regarding the breach of confidentiality of the interim report and assured the Panel that "the United States was not the source of the leaked results". The United States asserted that it had "received several press inquiries regarding these results that indicated that the source was in Geneva. The U.S. comments came only in response to the reports of the leak."
- 5.9 First, the Panel notes that the insinuations by the United States are serious since they may imply that the Panel or the WTO Secretariat breached the confidentiality requirement with respect to the interim report. The Panel wishes to assert forcefully that neither the Panel nor the Secretariat has done so. Third parties cannot be blamed since they do not receive a copy of the interim report. Second, with respect to the United States' assertion that its comments came "only in response to the reports of the leak", the Panel notes that, even in such circumstances, the comments would still be inappropriate in light of the confidentiality requirement concerning the interim report.
- 5.10 The Panel wishes to reiterate its concerns and stress again that disregard for the confidentiality requirement affects the credibility and integrity of the WTO dispute settlement process, of the WTO and of WTO Members and is, therefore, unacceptable.

(...)

(v) Intrastate commerce

(...)

- 5.23 The United States suggested that the Panel not include the section on intrastate commerce in its final report as this aspect of the interim report was not within the scope of this proceeding. In its view, the DSB recommendation and rulings in this dispute relate only to the issue of discrimination under the GATS Article XIV chapeau with respect to remote gambling on horse racing, due to the Appellate Body's conclusion on the chapeau of Article XIV in its entirety. Given that the measures at issue in this dispute are unchanged, the United States was not obliged by the DSB recommendation and rulings to bring into compliance any aspect of the measure that was not addressed by the DSB recommendation and rulings. In accordance with $EC Bed\ Linen\ (Article\ 21.5 India)$, Antigua may not re-argue a failed claim in a compliance proceeding. The United States argues that the discussion of intrastate commerce is *dicta* that does not belong in the final report.
- 5.24 Antigua disagreed in the strongest possible terms with the United States' request. The scope of review under Article 21.5 is broad in order to assess compliance with DSB recommendations and rulings and in light of the overriding objective of the DSU to achieve the "prompt settlement" of disputes. In the original proceeding, the United States bore the burden of proof of its defence under Article XIV of the GATS. As its defence under the chapeau was constructed around the assertion that it prohibited *all* remote gambling, that assertion should be the benchmark for assessing its compliance. The discussion of intrastate commerce provides important context for the extensive domestic remote gambling industry operating in the United States today.
- 5.25 The Panel observes that the primary issue in this proceeding is whether any "measures taken to comply" exist. The Panel has found that none exist. Accordingly, the assessment of the conformity of the measures at issue with US obligations under the GATS is included only for the reasons set out in Section VI:C.1 of this report. This applies not only to the assessment of intrastate commerce, but also to the

assessment of the other matters in Section VI:C, which the United States does *not* request the Panel to remove.

(...)

VI. FINDINGS

A. ORDER OF ANALYSIS

- 6.1 The DSB referred to this Panel, pursuant to Article 21.5 of the DSU, the matter raised by Antigua in document WT/DS285/18, with standard terms of reference.³⁰⁶ Article 21.5 of the DSU applies "[w]here there is disagreement as to the existence or consistency with a covered agreement of measures taken to comply with the recommendations and rulings [of the DSB]".
- 6.2 The matter raised by Antigua in document WT/DS285/18 comprises two disagreements. Firstly, there is a disagreement as to the *existence* of measures taken to comply. Secondly, there is a disagreement as to the *consistency* of the measures at issue with the United States' obligations under the GATS which, depending on the resolution of the first disagreement, may be a disagreement as to the consistency with a covered agreement of "measures taken to comply" with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. The Panel will consider these two disagreements in the above order.
- B. DISAGREEMENT AS TO THE EXISTENCE OF MEASURES TAKEN TO COMPLY

1. Recommendation of the DSB in the original proceeding

- (a) Main arguments of the parties
- 6.3 Antigua submits that the United States has not taken measures to comply with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute.³⁰⁷ Antigua argues that the United States has taken no action towards compliance because the measures at issue in the original proceeding have not been amended, supplemented or otherwise changed.³⁰⁸
- 6.4 The United States submits that the "measures taken to comply" in this dispute are the same measures that were at issue in the original proceeding because those measures are consistent with its WTO obligations, only the United States did not meet its burden of showing that they satisfied the requirements of an affirmative defence in the original proceeding. The United States submits that it has complied with the DSB recommendations and rulings by presenting new evidence and arguments during this compliance proceeding that do meet the burden of showing that the measures at issue satisfy the criteria of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS. The same of the complex complex complex complex consistent with its way of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS.

(...)

³⁰⁶ See para. 0 above.

³⁰⁷ Request for Establishment of a Panel, WT/DS285/18, page 5.

³⁰⁸ Antigua first written submission, para. 44; second written submission, para. 17.

³⁰⁹ United States first written submission, para. 43; second written submission, para. 25.

³¹⁰ United States reply to Panel question No. 1.

- (c) Assessment by the Panel
- 6.8 The parties agree that the United States has not taken any new measures. Nevertheless, the parties disagree as to the existence of "measures taken to comply" with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute. Antigua submits that there are *no* measures taken to comply because the United States has done nothing. The United States responds that there *are* "measures taken to comply" because the same measures that were at issue in the original proceeding can also be "measures taken to comply".
- 6.9 The Panel will examine whether the same measures at issue in the original proceeding can be "measures taken to comply" for the purpose of this compliance proceeding under Article 21.5 of the DSU.
- 6.10 The text of Article 21.5 provides that the "measures taken to comply" within the scope of this compliance Panel's jurisdiction are those taken to comply "with the recommendations and rulings" [of the DSB]. The recommendation adopted by the DSB in this dispute was as follows:

"The Appellate Body recommends that the Dispute Settlement Body request the United States to bring its measures, found in this Report and in the Panel Report as modified by this Report to be inconsistent with the *General Agreement on Trade in Services*, into conformity with its obligations under that Agreement." ³¹²

- 6.11 This recommendation, made in accordance with Article 19.1 of the DSU, applies to the measures at issue in the original proceeding that were "found ... to be inconsistent" with the GATS. It appears to follow that, where those measures are unchanged (and where the United States' obligations under the GATS are unchanged) the measures remain inconsistent with that agreement.
- 6.12 The operative part of the recommendation is that the United States "bring its measures ... into conformity with its obligations" under the GATS.³¹³ The ordinary meaning of the word "conformity" may be defined as:
 - "1. Correspondence in form or manner (to, with); agreement in character; likeness; congruity. 2. Action in accordance with some standard; compliance (with, to); acquiescence; an instance of this."³¹⁴
- 6.13 On the other hand, at the risk of stating the obvious, the ordinary meaning of "inconsistent" may be defined as "[n]ot in keeping, discordant, at variance. Foll. by with."³¹⁵ In other words, a measure "inconsistent with" a covered agreement is not in "conformity with" that agreement. The same is true of the terms used in the French and Spanish versions of the DSU, that are equally authentic, and that use the terms "conforme" and "incompatible", and "en conformidad" and "incompatible", respectively.

 $^{^{311}}$ See also on the "express link" between the measures taken to comply and the recommendations and rulings of the DSB: Appellate Body reports on US - FSC (Article 21.5 – EC II), at para. 61, and in US - Softwood Lumber IV (Article 21.5 – Canada), at para. 68.

 $^{^{312}}$ Recommendation as set out in para. 374 of the Appellate Body report on this dispute (WT/DS285/AB/R) adopted by the DSB on 20 April 2005; see note 289 above.

³¹³ The wording of the recommendation under Article 19.1 of the DSU is cross-referenced in Articles 22.1, 22.2 and 22.8, although it can be noted that the text of Article 22.2 uses the word "compliance" rather than "conformity".

³¹⁴ New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, (5th edition, 2002) Oxford University Press.

³¹⁵ *Ibid*.

- 6.14 These two terms, in context, indicate that, in order to bring a measure that has been found "inconsistent" with an agreement into "conformity with" the same agreement, some change must come about.
- 6.15 The original Panel has already made an objective assessment of the matter before it, including the measures at issue and the facts of the case as at the time of the original proceeding. It has also made an assessment of the applicability of the GATS and the conformity of the measures at issue with the United States' obligations under that agreement. The recommendation of the DSB was that the United States bring its *measures* into conformity, not to bring the *assessment* of the conformity of those measures into conformity. Therefore, the recommendation requires a change that eliminates the inconsistency of those *measures* with the covered agreements.
- 6.16 The context within Article 21 of the DSU confirms this interpretation. As part of Article 21, a proceeding under Article 21.5 is a procedure for surveillance of the implementation of recommendations and rulings. It is not an opportunity to reassess claims and defences that led to those recommendations and rulings. Article 21 as a whole deals with events *subsequent* to the DSB's adoption of recommendations and rulings in a particular dispute.³¹⁷ The Panel considers this is true not just of the timing of the proceeding under Article 21, but also of the matter that an Article 21.5 panel is mandated to assess.
- 6.17 The wider context in the DSU confirms this interpretation. Article 3.7 of the DSU provides that if measures are found to be inconsistent with the provisions of any of the covered agreements, in the absence of a mutually agreed solution, the first objective of the dispute settlement mechanism is usually to secure "the withdrawal of the measures" concerned. In a similar vein, Article 22.8 of the DSU provides that the suspension of concessions or other obligations shall be temporary and shall only be applied until such time as the measure found to be inconsistent with a covered agreement "has been removed". Both of these provisions contemplate that compliance with the standard recommendation applicable in a so-called "violation" case will require a change regarding the measure found inconsistent with a covered agreement.³¹⁸
- 6.18 This reading is also consistent with the object and purpose of the DSU insofar as it includes the "prompt settlement" of disputes, as set out in Article 3.3 of the DSU. The DSU expressly provides an opportunity for review of a panel report at the appellate review stage under Article 17, *prior* to the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. Thereafter, Article 21.1 requires prompt compliance with those recommendations or rulings. A reassessment of the same claims or defences with respect to a measure that had already been found inconsistent in the original proceeding, without a change relevant to that measure in the intervening period, would run counter to the prompt settlement of disputes.
- 6.19 Turning to the *form* of "measures taken to comply", the Panel recalls the view of the Appellate Body in *Canada Aircraft (Article 21.5 Brazil)* where it envisaged that "measures taken to comply" would, in principle, be new measures:

"In our view, the phrase 'measures taken to comply' refers to measures which have been, or which should be, adopted by a Member to bring about compliance with the

³¹⁶ Appellate Body report on *US – Shrimp (Article 21.5 – Malaysia)*, para. 97.

³¹⁷ Appellate Body report on US – Softwood Lumber IV (Article 21.5 – Canada), para. 70.

³¹⁸ This can be contrasted with a recommendation that the Member concerned make a "mutually satisfactory adjustment", applicable in so-called "non-violation" cases under Article 26.1(b) of the DSU. In such cases, there is no obligation to make any change to bring the measure at issue into conformity with the Member's obligations because the measure is *already* in conformity, or consistent, with those obligations.

recommendations and rulings of the DSB. In principle, a measure which has been 'taken to comply with the recommendations and rulings' of the DSB will *not* be the same measure as the measure which was the subject of the original dispute, so that, in principle, there would be two separate and distinct measures³⁴: the original measure which *gave rise* to the recommendations and rulings of the DSB, and the 'measures taken to comply' which are – or should be – adopted to *implement* those recommendations and rulings.³¹⁹

"Original footnote: ³⁴ We recognize that, where it is alleged that there exist *no* 'measures taken to comply', a panel may find that there is *no* new measure."

- 6.20 New measures, including amended measures, are certainly the most common form of measures taken to comply with a recommendation of the DSB. Nevertheless, in accordance with Article 19.1 of the DSU, the recommendation made in this dispute was not to adopt "new" legislation, nor was it to "amend" the existing legislation, although those are both possible means of implementation. Rather, the recommendation was to "bring [the] measures into conformity".
- 6.21 The possible form of measures taken to comply with a recommendation under Article 19.1 of the DSU will depend on the rulings of the DSB in a particular dispute. For example, if a measure has been found inconsistent with a covered agreement, or unjustified under an otherwise available exception, due to the way in which the measure is *applied*, compliance with the recommendation could presumably be achieved by a change in the application of the measure, without necessarily a change to the text of the measure itself or that of any written implementing measures. The present dispute illustrates this point.
- 6.22 Moreover, compliance with a recommendation under Article 19.1 of the DSU could conceivably be achieved through changes to the factual or legal background to a measure at issue, without a change to the text of the measure itself. For example, a measure may lapse, or satisfy a requirement in a covered agreement, due to the subsequent occurrence of a relevant circumstance. If changes to the measure's factual or legal background modified the *effects* of that measure sufficiently to bring about a situation in which it complied with the relevant covered agreement, there seems to be no reason why this should not fulfil the aim of the recommendation of the DSB, which is to achieve a satisfactory settlement of the matter in accordance with the rights and obligations under the DSU and the covered agreements, as provided in Article 3.4 of the DSU.³²⁰ The essential point is that there needs to be compliance. However, even in these cases, compliance would entail a change relevant to the measure since the original proceeding.³²¹ This dispute does not present any such changes.
- 6.23 In view of the circumstances of this case, it is not necessary for this Panel to determine what exactly would constitute the "measures taken to comply" in such a situation and whether they could be the

³¹⁹ Appellate Body report on *Canada – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Brazil)*, para. 36, cited in *US – Shrimp (Article 21.5 – Malaysia)*, para. 86; and *EC – Bed Linen (Article 21.5 – India)*, para. 81.

 $^{^{320}}$ The Panel also sees support for this view in the Appellate Body report on US – $Softwood\ Lumber\ IV$ (Article 21.5 – Canada):

[&]quot;[The word 'existence'] also suggests that, as part of its assessment of whether a measure taken to comply *exists*, a panel may need to take account of facts and circumstances that impact or affect such existence." (at para. 67. See also para. 69)

³²¹ The United States provides examples of circumstances where a measure could be brought into compliance with another covered agreement without any change to the measure itself, including a change in the underlying basis for the measure or the adoption of a relevant international standard: see United States reply to Panel question No. 2. The Panel observes that in all these examples, there is a change in the factual or legal context and not simply an improvement in the parties' submissions based on the same available facts.

same measures at issue in the original proceeding. The Panel only emphasizes that it does not exclude any potential "measures taken to comply" due to their form.

6.24 Nor does the Panel exclude any potential "measures taken to comply" due to the *purpose* for which they may have been taken. In this regard, the Panel recalls the following view of the Appellate Body in *US – Softwood Lumber IV (Article 21.5 – Canada)*:

"The fact that Article 21.5 mandates a panel to assess 'existence' and 'consistency' tends to weigh against an interpretation of Article 21.5 that would confine the scope of a panel's jurisdiction to measures that *move in the direction of*, or *have the objective of achieving*, compliance."³²² (emphasis in original)

- 6.25 Turning to the facts at hand, the United States alleges that the "measures taken to comply" are three US federal criminal statutes, known as the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act.³²³ The first two were enacted in 1961 and the third in 1970. All three were measures at issue in the original proceeding and were the subject of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute.
- 6.26 The original Panel found that, by maintaining these three measures, the United States was acting inconsistently with its obligations under Article XVI:1 and sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2 of the GATS. The Appellate Body upheld this finding.³²⁴ Neither the original Panel nor the Appellate Body found that the United States was entitled to maintain these measures under Article XIV of the GATS or any other article in the covered agreements.
- 6.27 There has been no change to any of these three measures since the original proceeding. There has been no change in the application of these three measures, or even their interpretation, since the original proceeding. There is no evidence of any changes in the factual or legal background bearing on these measures or their effects since the original proceeding that might have brought them into compliance. This indicates that they remain inconsistent with the United States' obligations under the GATS.
- 6.28 The novel element on which the United States seeks to rely to demonstrate its compliance are its submissions to this compliance Panel. The United States' position depends on the view that all along, both during and since the original proceeding, its measures have been consistent with its obligations under the GATS by virtue of the general exception provision in Article XIV, and that it is entitled to another opportunity to demonstrate before this compliance Panel that the measures in fact *do* meet the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV. However, there was no finding in the original proceeding that the measures at issue in this dispute were consistent with the United States' obligations under the GATS, notwithstanding an invocation of Article XIV. Instead, there was a finding that maintaining these measures was <u>inc</u>onsistent with the United States' obligations, which was the basis for the recommendation of the DSB.
- 6.29 It is true that the Appellate Body found that the United States had demonstrated that the measures at issue were "justified" under paragraph (a) of Article XIV of the GATS. However, this was *not* a finding on Article XIV in its entirety. The Appellate Body expressly confirmed that Article XIV

³²² Appellate Body report on *US – Softwood Lumber IV (Article 21.5 – Canada)*, para. 67.

³²³ United States first written submission, para. 43; second written submission, para. 25.

³²⁴ Original Panel report, paras. 6.421 and 7.2(b)(i); Appellate Body report, para. 373(C)(ii).

³²⁵ United States first written submission, paras. 49-50; second written submission, paras. 25, 40; opening oral statement, paras. 27, 42; replies to Panel questions Nos. 1, 8, 10 and 17.

³²⁶ Appellate Body report, para. 326.

contemplates a "two-tier analysis" – first, under one of the paragraphs of Article XIV, and then under the chapeau. There was no finding that the measures were consistent with the chapeau or with Article XIV in its entirety nor, hence, with the United States' obligations under the GATS, and there is no concept recognized under the DSU of provisional or transitional consistency with a recommendation of the DSB.

- 6.30 Therefore, the Panel rejects the United States' submission that the same measures at issue in the original proceeding in this dispute constitute "measures taken to comply".
- 6.31 The United States' position in this compliance proceeding is also at odds with its earlier decision to seek a reasonable period of time in which to comply with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. Article 21.3 of the DSU provides that a Member shall have a reasonable period of time in which to comply "[i]f it is impracticable to comply immediately with the recommendations and rulings". Had the measures the subject of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB already been in compliance, it would not have been impracticable to comply immediately.³²⁸

(...)

2. Specific findings and conclusions in the original proceeding

(...)

(c) Assessment by the Panel

6.44 The Panel has examined the specific findings and conclusions in the original Panel Report and Appellate Body Report on this dispute that related to the United States' affirmative defence under Article XIV of the GATS. The Appellate Body found and concluded, as regards the chapeau of Article XIV:

"that the United States has not demonstrated that—in the light of the existence of the Interstate Horseracing Act—the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act are applied consistently with the requirements of the chapeau";³²⁹

and, as regards Article XIV in its entirety:

"that the United States has demonstrated that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act are measures "necessary to protect public morals or maintain public order", in accordance with paragraph (a) of Article XIV, but that the United States has not shown, in the light of the Interstate Horseracing Act, that the prohibitions embodied in those measures are applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing and, therefore, has not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau"³³⁰

6.45 The parties disagree on the effect of these findings and conclusions. For Antigua, these findings mean that the measures at issue in the original proceeding are not justified by Article XIV of the GATS.

³²⁷ Appellate Body report, paras. 291-292.

 $^{^{328}}$ As to statements made during the arbitration pursuant to Article 21.3(c) of the DSU, see further paras. 0 to 0 below.

³²⁹ Appellate Body report, para. 373(D)(v)(c).

³³⁰ Appellate Body report, para. 373(D)(vi).

For the United States, these findings simply mean that it has not established its defence under Article XIV of the GATS on the basis of the facts and arguments presented in the original proceeding. Therefore, in the United States' view, there is no finding that prevents it from attempting to establish that same defence in the compliance proceeding.

6.46 The Panel recalls that Article 17.14 of the DSU provides as follows:

"An Appellate Body report shall be adopted by the DSB and unconditionally accepted by the parties to the dispute unless the DSB decides by consensus not to adopt the Appellate Body report within 30 days following its circulation to the Members. This adoption procedure is without prejudice to the right of Members to express their views on an Appellate Body report." (footnote omitted)

- 6.47 Neither party disputes that, in accordance with Article 17.14 of the DSU, the Appellate Body report is final and must be unconditionally accepted by them.³³¹ However, they disagree on what unconditional acceptance entails.
- 6.48 The text of Article 17.14 uses the words "be ... accepted" which is the passive form of the verb "accept". There are several ordinary meanings of this verb, including the following:
 - "1. Take or receive with consenting mind; receive with favour or approval. 2. Receive as adequate or valid; admit; believe; tolerate; submit to."³³²
- 6.49 Article 17.14 expressly provides that Members retain the right to express their views on an Appellate Body report. "Members" include the parties to the dispute, which indicates that the parties are *not* required to receive an adopted Appellate Body report with favour or approval but may state that they disagree with it. Therefore, the second of these two meanings is apposite (other than the denotation "believe"), rather than the first, indicating that the parties to the dispute receive the adopted Appellate Body report as adequate or valid, and submit to it. This is confirmed by the French and Spanish versions of the DSU, that are equally authentic, and that use the terms "sera accepté" and "serán aceptados", respectively.
- 6.50 The verb "accept" is used with the modal verb "shall" which indicates that, in this context, acceptance is an obligation. The phrase "shall accept" is used in the same sense in Article 22.7 of the DSU. The phrase "shall be accepted" is also used in Article XII:5(e) of the GATS, as is "shall accept" in Article XV:2 of GATT 1994, in the same sense, although in a different context. This phrase can be contrasted with the words "mutually acceptable" in Articles 3.7 and 22.2 of the DSU, where parties do *not* have an obligation to accept a particular solution or compensation. This obligation can also be contrasted with the prior GATT practice according to which Members were able to block adoption of panel reports. 333

³³¹ Antigua first written submission, para. 32; oral statement, para. 11; reply to Panel question No. 6; United States reply to Panel question No. 6; comment on Antigua's reply to Panel question No. 20.

³³² New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, (5th edition, 2002) Oxford University Press.

³³³ The previous GATT practice was to adopt panel reports by consensus, without prejudice to the GATT provisions on decision-making: see the Decision of 12 April 1989 on improvements to the GATT dispute settlement rules and procedures, para. G.3 (BISD 36S/61-67). This practice remains applicable to so-called "situation complaints" under Article 26.2 of the DSU.

- 6.51 However, unlike all these other provisions, Article 17.14 qualifies the phrase "shall be accepted" with the adverb "unconditionally". This indicates that Members are not simply obliged to receive an Appellate Body report as adequate or valid and submit to it, but that they must do so "unconditionally". The word "unconditionally" is formed from the adjective "unconditional", the ordinary meaning of which may be defined as "[n]ot limited by or subject to conditions; absolute, complete". This is consistent with the French and Spanish versions, that use the terms "sans condition" and "sin condiciones" respectively. The phrase "shall be ... unconditionally accepted" includes the notion of finality but it does not simply indicate that a report is final in the sense that there is no opportunity to appeal further, nor that a report is the final step at the appellate review stage of a proceeding. Rather, it indicates that the parties may not place any conditions on their acceptance of an adopted Appellate Body report.
- 6.52 There are specific limits on the scope of this obligation. The text of Article 17.14 specifies that the obligation only applies to the "parties to the dispute". Moreover, the parties only owe the obligation with respect to the *report*, which by its own terms is limited to the measures in dispute and the claims, defences and issues ruled upon therein. The text of Article 17.14 also establishes a procedural limit, in that it makes the parties' unconditional acceptance contingent upon adoption of the Appellate Body report by the DSB and expressly acknowledges that the DSB may decide not to adopt it. Therefore, Appellate Body reports are not final until they are adopted, and an Appellate Body report that the DSB decides by consensus not to adopt is not final, or binding, at all.³³⁶ However, an Appellate Body report that has been adopted by the DSB shall be unconditionally accepted by the parties to the dispute which indicates that, from that point on, the report *is* a final resolution, within the context of that dispute, of the claims, defences and issues ruled upon therein. Whether or not the report resolves matters in dispute between those parties in any other context is an issue on which the Panel need not, and does not, rule. Article 19.2 of the DSU also confirms a substantive limit on the effect of panel and Appellate Body cannot add to or diminish the rights and obligations provided in the covered agreements".
- 6.53 This reading of Article 17.14 is consistent with the object and purpose of the DSU insofar as it includes the "prompt settlement" of disputes, as set out in Article 3.3 of the DSU. As the Panel noted at paragraph 6.18 above, the DSU expressly provides an opportunity for review of a panel report at the appellate review stage under Article 17, *prior* to the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. Thereafter, Article 21.1 requires prompt compliance with those recommendations or rulings. A reassessment in a compliance proceeding of an issue that had already been ruled upon in an original proceeding in an adopted report, even with better arguments by the respondent but without a change relevant to the underlying facts in the intervening period, would run counter to the prompt settlement of disputes.
- 6.54 This reading is also confirmed by the drafting history of the DSU. During the Uruguay Round, consideration of the concept of appellate review generally proceeded on the understanding that the parties to a dispute would agree in advance that they would accept the results of an appellate review unconditionally.³³⁷ All drafting options for the precursor of Article 17.14 provided that appellate decisions

³³⁴ The word "unconditionally" is only used in the covered agreements in relation to adopted Appellate Body reports (see Article 17.14 of the DSU and Articles 4.9 and 7.7 of the SCM Agreement), and in the MFN obligations (see Article I:1 of GATT 1994, Article II:1 of the GATS and Article 4 of the TRIPS Agreement).

³³⁵ New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, (5th edition, 2002) Oxford University Press.

³³⁶ Contrast Article 22.7 of the DSU that *does* use the word "final" where it provides that "[t]he parties shall accept an arbitrator's decision as final and the parties concerned shall not seek a second arbitration". However, Arbitrator's decisions are final immediately, without the possibility of an appeal or the requirement of adoption by the DSB.

 $^{^{337}}$ See "Profile on the Status of the Work in the Group – Report by the Chairman", dated 18 July 1990, GATT document MTN.GNG/NG13/W/43, para. 5.

would be "the final disposition of the case" or "final and unconditionally accepted". The Chairman of the Negotiating Group on Dispute Settlement, Ambassador Lacarte-Muró, drafted a single text for the precursor of Article 17.14 based on the latter option but replacing the word "final" with the provision that reports shall be "adopted by the Council" and adding the proviso "unless the Council decides not to adopt the appellate report ..." This was negotiated further and circulated in the so-called "Brussels Draft" substantially in the form of Article 17.14 today. This was negotiated further and circulated in the so-called "Brussels Draft" substantially in the form of Article 17.14 today.

6.55 This reading is further confirmed by the Appellate Body report on *US – Shrimp (Article 21.5 – Malaysia)*, followed in *EC – Bed Linen (Article 21.5 – India)*, which stated as follows:

"Thus, Appellate Body Reports that are adopted by the DSB are, as Article 17.14 provides, '... unconditionally accepted by the parties to the dispute', and, therefore, must be treated by the parties to a particular dispute as *a final resolution to that dispute*. In this regard, we recall, too, that Article 3.3 of the DSU states that the 'prompt settlement' of disputes 'is essential to the effective functioning of the WTO'."³⁴¹ (emphasis added)

6.56 The Panel agrees, subject to a suitable definition of "dispute" that is limited to the claims, defences and issues ruled upon in a report.³⁴² As a "final resolution" of a dispute, the adopted Appellate Body report entails more than a final ruling on the evidence presented. It entails a final decision on the claims and defences ruled upon with respect to the measures at issue as they existed at the time of the original proceeding. A compliance panel does not make a reassessment of that same matter but rather assesses the consistency with a covered agreement of "measures taken to comply" (unless it assesses only the *existence* of "measures taken to comply"). This constitutes a separate enquiry and, accordingly, is consistent with the finality of the Appellate Body report adopted at the conclusion of the original proceeding.

6.57 In the present compliance proceeding, the United States seeks an assessment of the consistency of its measures with its obligations under the GATS in relation to an issue on which the Appellate Body ruled in its report on the same dispute in relation to the same measure in the same factual and legal context. The express purpose of such a reassessment would be to reach a new conclusion – that the United States *has* established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS – without any "measures taken to comply" but only the presentation of new and allegedly better arguments. Such a conclusion would mean that the original conclusion, quoted at paragraph 6.44 above, was not final. Yet, in the Panel's view, Article 17.14 of the DSU applies to *all* conclusions in an Appellate Body report. The United States' position can be characterized as an acceptance of the original ruling on condition that it retains the right to seek a more favourable conclusion in a further proceeding. That type of acceptance is not unconditional. Therefore, in the circumstances, in accordance with Article 17.14, the Panel cannot accede to the United States' request to reach a conclusion different from that reached by the original Panel as upheld by the Appellate Body and adopted by the DSB, without any change relevant to the measures at issue.

³³⁸ See "Draft Text on Dispute Settlement", dated 21 September 1990, GATT document MTN.GNG/NG13/W/45.

^{339 &}quot;Chairman's Text on Dispute Settlement", dated 19 October 1990.

³⁴⁰ "Draft Final Act embodying the results of the Uruguay Round of Multilateral Trade Negotiations – Revision", dated 3 December 1990, GATT document MTN.TNC/W/35/Rev.1.

 $^{^{341}}$ Appellate Body report on US-Shrimp (Article 21.5-Malaysia), para. 97, quoted in EC-Bed Linen (Article 21.5-India), para. 90.

³⁴² See further para. 0 below.

- 6.58 The United States agrees that a complainant who fails to discharge its burden of proof may not reargue a claim in a compliance proceeding, but it does not consider that the same applies to a respondent. It argues that a respondent has a "special status", as complaining and responding parties are in fundamentally different positions under Articles 21 and 22 of the DSU.³⁴³
- 6.59 The Panel agrees that the respondent is in a unique position under Article 21 of the DSU because it is the only Member to whom the DSB recommendation is addressed and, as such, it is the only Member that must comply with the recommendation. Nevertheless, the respondent, as a party to the dispute, is obliged by Article 17.14 of the DSU unconditionally to accept an adopted Appellate Body report. For the reasons given above, the Panel considers that that obligation precludes re-argument of the same defence in relation to the same measure without any change relevant to the measure.
- 6.60 The United States also refers to Canada Dairy (Article 21.5 New Zealand and US II) as an illustration that a Member can present new evidence when it has previously failed to establish a claim due to a lack of evidence. It asserts that there is no general bar in the DSU that prevents a party from meeting its burden of proof in a second proceeding.³⁴⁴
- 6.61 The Panel notes that the example to which the United States refers consisted of two recourses under Article 21.5 of the DSU, both of which assessed the consistency of measures actually adopted by the respondent to comply with a DSB recommendation, unlike the present dispute. In the first recourse, the Appellate Body concluded that the Panel's findings were vitiated by error of law and did not rule on the relevant claim. There was no finding or conclusion that the complainant failed to make a prima facie case. Accordingly, the second recourse by the complainants under Article 21.5 did not imply a rejection or conditional acceptance of the findings or conclusions in the Appellate Body report adopted in the first recourse under Article 21.5.
- 6.62 The United States argues that the Panel and Appellate Body reports in the present dispute cannot be said to result in a "final settlement" because, as the Appellate Body noted, it was not able to determine whether or not the measures met the requirements of the Article XIV chapeau. The Appellate Body did not state that the measures at issue were inconsistent with the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS but rather, variously, that the United States "has not demonstrated", "has not shown" and "has not established", essentially, that the measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau.
- 6.63 The Panel recalls that, as the party asserting an affirmative defence under Article XIV of the GATS, the United States bore the initial burden of proof that its measures did satisfy the requirements of Article XIV, including the chapeau. A burden of proof is a responsibility to put forward evidence and arguments that show or demonstrate certain matters of fact and law sufficient to establish a particular claim or defence.³⁴⁷ The Panel notes that it is standard practice for the Appellate Body and panels to use a phrase such as "has not demonstrated" in order to indicate that a party fails to discharge the burden of proof of an affirmative defence.³⁴⁸ The Panel also notes that the terms "show", "demonstrate" and

³⁴³ United States second written submission, paras. 28-31.

³⁴⁴ United States reply to Panel question No. 12; comment on Antigua's reply to Panel question No. 7.

 $^{^{345}}$ Appellate Body reports on Canada – Dairy (Article 21.5 – New Zealand and US), paras. 103-104; Canada – Dairy (Article 21.5 – New Zealand and US II), para. 6.

³⁴⁶ United States reply to Panel question No. 12.

³⁴⁷ As explained, for example, in the Appellate Body report on this dispute at para. 282.

³⁴⁸ See, for example, the Panel reports on *EC – Tariff Preferences*, paras. 7.235, 7.236 and 8.1(d); and *Dominican Republic – Import and Sale of Cigarettes*, para. 7.155; and the Appellate Body reports on *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 186; *Brazil – Aircraft (Article 21.5 – Canada)* para. 80; and *Turkey – Textiles*, para. 63.

"establish" are used throughout the Appellate Body report in this dispute, including in contexts that explicitly address the burden of proof.³⁴⁹

- 6.64 The Appellate Body's findings in this dispute, which use the terms "show", "demonstrate" and "establish", indicate that the United States failed to discharge its burden of proof. This was a ruling on the defence in relation to the measures at issue. It was not equivalent to a statement that the Appellate Body "does not rule" or an exercise of judicial economy. Instead, it indicates that the United States' affirmative defence failed. The Appellate Body then made the recommendation required under Article 19.1 of the DSU with respect to the measures found inconsistent with the United States' obligations under the GATS.³⁵⁰
- 6.65 For the same reason, the original Panel used the terms "has not demonstrated", "has not been able to demonstrate" or "has failed to demonstrate" in its conclusions, not only with respect to the US affirmative defence under Article XIV³⁵¹ but also with respect to Antigua's claims under Article VI of the GATS.³⁵² In each instance the term simply indicated that a particular defence or claim failed due to failure to discharge the relevant burden of proof. This is abundantly clear in relation to the findings on the Interstate Horseracing Act ("IHA") in particular, as the original Panel expressly used the word "demonstrate[d]" twice in the final sentence of this section to link the allocation of the burden of proof to its conclusion.³⁵³
- 6.66 The Panel can detect no suggestion in the Appellate Body's use of these terms that the United States could bring its measures into compliance simply through further submissions or presentation of additional evidence to show or demonstrate what it did not show or demonstrate in the original proceeding.
- 6.67 The United States also draws attention to the following clarification in the Appellate Body's overall conclusion on Article XIV:

"In this respect, we wish to clarify that the Panel did not, and we do not, make a finding as to whether the IHA does, in fact, permit domestic suppliers to provide certain remote betting services that would otherwise be prohibited by the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and/or the IGBA."

6.68 The United States interprets this clarification, read in the context of the findings that the United States had "not shown", had "not demonstrated" and "did not establish" certain matters, as amounting to

³⁴⁹ Appellate Body Report, paras. 4, 9, 10, 35, 44, 55, 57, 103, 104, 114D(iii), 114(D)(iv), 114(D)(v), 116, 133, 139, 151, 153, 183, 226, 253, 254, 279, 298, 300, 302, 309, 311, 313, 315, 326, 329, 336, 351, 352, 353, 355, 365, 360, 369, 371, 372, 373(D)(v)(a) and 373(D)(vi)(a).

³⁵⁰ Appellate Body report, para. 374.

³⁵¹ Original Panel report, paras. 6.600, 6.607, 6.608 and 7.2(d). The original Panel also used the term "has demonstrated" to indicate where the United States did succeed in discharging its burden of proof: see original Panel report, paras. 6.594 and 6.603.

³⁵² Original Panel report, paras. 6.437 and 7.2(c).

³⁵³ Original Panel report, para. 6.600. The burden of proof was also recalled in para. 6.596.

³⁵⁴ Appellate Body report, para. 371.

an invitation to the United States to demonstrate to a compliance panel that its measures do in fact meet the requirements of the Article XIV exception of the GATS. 355

6.69 In the Panel's view, the Appellate Body's clarification was due to the unusual, but not unprecedented, circumstance of the Appellate Body declining to accept a Member's interpretation of its own domestic law.³⁵⁶ The clarification provided greater certainty that, whilst the original Panel and the Appellate Body had not accepted the US interpretation that the IHA does *not* permit activities prohibited by the measures at issue, this did not mean that the original Panel and the Appellate Body had found that the IHA *did* permit such activities. The Panel notes that it is not uncommon for the Appellate Body to clarify what it has *not* decided in a report.³⁵⁷ The Panel also notes that none of the third parties in this proceeding, nor Antigua, considered that this clarification was open to the interpretation which the United States places upon it.³⁵⁸

6.70 In any case, the Appellate Body did not simply clarify what it had *not* decided, and find that the United States had "not shown", had "not demonstrated" and "did not establish" certain matters. In reaching its conclusions, the Appellate Body reviewed and upheld a specific finding by the original Panel on the interpretation of the US measures. Specifically, the Appellate Body was not persuaded that the original Panel had failed to make an objective assessment of the facts as regards the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the measures at issue, on the other, and upheld the original Panel's finding. It later summarized that finding in the following terms:

"The second instance found by the Panel was based on "the ambiguity relating to" the scope of application of the IHA and its relationship to the measures at issue. We have upheld this finding." (footnotes omitted)³⁵⁹

6.71 Here, the Appellate Body cross-referenced the following finding of the original Panel:

"In summary, on the basis of evidence provided to the Panel relating to the domestic enforcement of the US prohibition on the remote supply of wagering services for horse racing against TVG, Capital OTB and Xpressbet.com and in light of the ambiguity relating to the Interstate Horseracing Act, which pertains to wagering services for horse racing, we believe that the United States has not demonstrated that it applies its prohibition on the remote supply of these services in a consistent manner as between those supplied domestically and those that are supplied from other Members.

³⁵⁵ United States first written submission, para. 44. While the United States originally submitted that it had received an "explicit invitation" to do so from the Appellate Body, it later clarified that it used the term "invitation" as shorthand for the type of reasoning commonly found in Article 21.5 proceedings, that is where the Appellate Body (or a panel) finds a particular aspect of a measure to be inconsistent with a covered agreement, the other side of such a finding may provide specific guidance on how the responding Member may bring its measure into compliance. The United States referred to the Appellate Body report on *US – Shrimp (Article 21.5 – Malaysia)* as an "instructive example", but it appeared to acknowledge that in that dispute compliance depended on some change, at least to the facts, since the original proceeding: see United States reply to Panel question No. 16.

³⁵⁶ See the Appellate Body report on *India – Patents (US)*, para. 70. See also the Panel reports on *EC – Trademarks and Geographical Indications (US)*, para. 7.96, and *(Australia)*, para. 7.146.

³⁵⁷ See the Appellate Body reports on *US – Shrimp*, para. 185; *Brazil – Aircraft*, para. 187; *US – FSC*, para. 179; *Canada – Autos*, para. 183; *Canada – Patent Term*, paras. 100-101; *Canada – Dairy (Article 21.5 – New Zealand and US)*, para. 103; *US – Section 211 Appropriations Act*, para. 362; and *US – Softwood Lumber V*, para. 181.

³⁵⁸ China, European Communities and Japan respective replies to Panel third party question No. 10; Antigua second written submission, para. 14; reply to Panel question No. 16.

³⁵⁹ Appellate Body report, para. 368.

Accordingly, we believe that the United States has not demonstrated that it does not apply its prohibition on the remote supply of wagering services for horse racing in a manner that does not constitute 'arbitrary and unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail' and/or a 'disguised restriction on trade' in accordance with the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV." (emphasis added)

6.72 The ambiguity relating to the IHA to which the original Panel referred is discussed in a previous section of the original Panel report.³⁶¹ That section includes the following finding:

"In our view, even if the IHA did not repeal the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act as has been submitted by the United States, there is ambiguity as to the relationship between, on the one hand, the amendment to the IHA and, on the other, the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act. We consider this relationship to be critical in determining whether, in fact, the amendment to the IHA permits wagering on horse racing by means of electronic communication." (emphasis added)

- 6.73 Clearly, this is a finding on the interpretation of US domestic law. However, it is not a finding on the proper interpretation of US law for US citizens. It is an interpretation solely for the purpose of assessing the United States' compliance with its international obligations under the GATS.³⁶³
- 6.74 The finding is that the relationship between the IHA and the measures at issue is ambiguous. This was the key to the conclusion that the United States did not establish that the measures at issue satisfied the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS as set out in the original Panel report, upheld in the Appellate Body report, and adopted by the DSB. Therefore, in accordance with Article 17.14 of the DSU, this finding on the relationship between the IHA and the measures at issue "shall be ... unconditionally accepted by the parties to the dispute".
- 6.75 The United States argues that it did not have the opportunity to present complete evidence on the interaction among these statutes in the original proceeding. It asks this compliance Panel to consider evidence allegedly not presented to the original Panel and to reach the conclusion that the IHA does not provide an exemption from the measures at issue.³⁶⁴ Antigua replies that the failure of the United States to meet its burden of proof in the original proceeding rests squarely on its own shoulders.³⁶⁵
- 6.76 The Panel recalls the Appellate Body's observation that, on this issue, "[t]he [original] Panel had limited evidence before it, as submitted by the parties, on which to base its conclusion."³⁶⁶ However, this reference to the limitations of the evidence does not alter the effect of the finding. The Appellate Body did not consider the evidence *inadequate* for the original Panel to reach its finding. On the contrary, the Appellate Body upheld the finding. As the Panel pointed out at paragraph 6.57 above, the United States' position can be characterized as an acceptance of the original finding on condition that it retains the right to seek a more favourable finding in a further proceeding. That type of acceptance is not unconditional. Therefore, in these circumstances, in accordance with Article 17.14, the Panel cannot accede to the

³⁶⁰ Original Panel report, para. 6.607.

³⁶¹ Original Panel report, paras. 6.595 to 6.600.

³⁶² Original Panel report, para. 6.599.

³⁶³ This is consistent with the approach of the Appellate Body report on *India – Patents (US)*, para. 65.

³⁶⁴ United States first written submission, paras. 3, 52-53.

³⁶⁵ Antigua second written submission, para. 23.

³⁶⁶ Appellate Body report, para. 364.

United States' request to make a different finding, that the IHA in no way limits the application of federal criminal statutes³⁶⁷, without any change relevant to the measures.

In any event, the record of the original Panel proceeding indicates that the United States indeed had the opportunity to present complete evidence on the interaction among these statutes.³⁶⁸ Whilst the United States did not raise its affirmative defence under Article XIV of the GATS until its second written submission in the original proceeding, it addressed the effect of the IHA amendment and its relationship with the measures now at issue in its *first* written submission in that proceeding. It provided the view of the Department of Justice on the specific issue, as expressed in a Presidential statement on signing of the IHA amendment, a view which the Department of Justice had "repeatedly affirmed". Antigua also addressed this issue in its submissions to the original Panel.³⁷⁰ In response to questions from the original Panel after the first substantive meeting, the United States referred again to the Department of Justice view expressed in the Presidential signing statement, as well as information on the US principle of statutory construction that repeals by implication are not favoured, with a citation to a US Supreme Court opinion of 1939.³⁷¹ The United States returned to the issue to reiterate its view in its original second written submission³⁷² and also addressed the prosecution of illegal wagering on horse racing in its opening oral statement at the original Panel's second substantive meeting.³⁷³ The US evidence showed that the Department of Justice was fully aware from the time of the IHA amendment in 2000 of the state of US domestic law on the precise issue under consideration, and a representative of the Department of Justice was part of the US delegation at both of the original Panel's substantive meetings with the parties. In its detailed comments on the original interim review, the United States simply restated the arguments that it had already made.³⁷⁴

6.78 The United States argues that a respondent Member should not be precluded from presenting facts in a compliance proceeding in order to show that WTO-consistent measures are, in fact, WTO-consistent. The United States emphasizes that a finding that means that a measure *may or may not* fall within Article XIV of the GATS cannot require a Member to abolish or amend a measure, in view of Article 19.2 of the DSU,³⁷⁵ which reads as follows:

"In accordance with paragraph 2 of Article 3, in their findings and recommendations, the panel and Appellate Body cannot add to or diminish the rights and obligations provided in the covered agreements."

6.79 The Panel notes once again that this argument depends on the view that the measures at issue have been consistent with the United States' obligations under the GATS all along, both during and since the original proceeding (see para. 0 above). As a matter of principle, the Panel does not consider that a

³⁶⁷ United States first written submission, para. 3.

³⁶⁸ The Panel does not have access to the record of the appellate review stage of the original proceeding.

³⁶⁹ United States original first written submission, paras. 34-35 and original Exhibit US-17. and referred to in original Exhibit AB-39, as pointed out in United States original first written submission, para. 35 fn 54. See the summary of arguments of the parties in the original Panel report, paras. 3.22-3.23 and 3.228.

³⁷⁰ Antigua original first written submission, para. 116; original opening second oral statement, para. 94; original second written submission, para. 21; original replies to Panel questions 19 and 32; original Exhibits AB-17, AB-39, AB-54, AB-81 and AB-122.

³⁷¹ United States replies to original Panel questions Nos. 21 and 22.

³⁷² United States original second written submission, para. 63.

³⁷³ United States original second opening oral statement, paras. 66-67.

³⁷⁴ United States comments on original interim review, paras. 38-40.

³⁷⁵ United States second written submission, para. 26; reply to Panel question No. 2(b).

recommendation that a Member bring its measures into conformity with a covered agreement could possibly add to or diminish the rights or obligations of any Member provided in the covered agreements. The recommendation, by its own terms, does not require the Member concerned to take measures to comply with any obligations beyond those set out in the relevant covered agreement.

- 6.80 The United States' argument also depends on the view that the finding in the original proceeding was due to poor briefing on its own part as if, in allegedly confused circumstances in the original proceeding, it had failed to gather and present otherwise available information that would have been sufficient for the original Panel or the Appellate Body to conclude that the measures at issue were actually consistent with the United States' obligations. However, the Panel notes that the source of the ambiguity between the IHA, on the one hand, and the Wire Act, on the other, lies in "the text of the revised statute ... on its face" or, in other words, "the plain language of the IHA". Aware of the view of the Department of Justice, included in a Presidential signing statement, and aware of the US principle of statutory construction that repeals by implication are not favoured, the original Panel made an objective assessment that, when interpreting US domestic law, it could not ignore the plain language of a statute enacted by the United States Congress. The statute of the view of the US principle of the United States Congress.
- 6.81 Perhaps the original Panel could have reached a different conclusion had the parties submitted a US Supreme Court opinion or other authoritative judicial opinion on the relationship between the amended IHA and the measures at issue. The Department of Justice would not have been unaware of the existence of any such authoritative opinion. Whilst the United States *did* submit examples of reported court cases in which the Department of Justice had used federal gambling laws challenged by Antigua to prosecute illegal wagering on horse racing, all those examples pre-dated the amendment of the IHA and all but one pre-dated the IHA itself.³⁷⁹
- 6.82 The absence of US judicial opinion on point was further exacerbated by a lack of prosecutions under the measures at issue of persons who complied only with the provisions of the IHA but not with the measures at issue; this could have indicated how the civil provisions of the IHA were to be construed in cases of conduct considered criminal under the measures at issue. Instead, the United States was only able to assert that its law enforcement officials did not agree with wagering suppliers in the United States who cited the amendment to the IHA as the statutory basis for Internet gambling on horse racing, notwithstanding the fact that such officials had never prosecuted any of these wagering suppliers. The United States *did* point to a disclosure in the annual report of one supplier that referred to unspecified action by the Department of Justice for unspecified companies that the Department of Justice deemed to be operating without proper licensing and regulatory approval. The United States agreed that this supplier

³⁷⁶ Original Panel report, para. 6.599.

³⁷⁷ Appellate Body report, para. 364.

³⁷⁸ Original Panel report, para. 6.599. The original Panel also had a copy of a December 2002 report prepared by the United States General Accounting Office for Congressional requesters titled "Internet Gambling – An Overview of the Issues" which found that "[t]he language of the [IHA] appears to allow the electronic transmission of interstate bets as long as the appropriate consent is obtained", see original Exhibit AB-17, p. 16. The United States considered that characterization as incorrect: original first written submission, para. 33.

³⁷⁹ United States original second opening oral statement, para. 45.

³⁸⁰ The Panel here refers to prosecutions to the extent they could shed light on the relationship of the IHA to the measures at issue and not to enforcement of the measures at issue more generally as addressed in the Appellate Body report, paras. 352-357.

³⁸¹ United States original second opening oral statement, para. 46.

"face[d] the risk" of criminal proceedings and penalties brought by the government. The United States also provided statistics on caseload data extracted from the United States Attorneys' Case Management System that included data on any and all criminal cases/defendants where the Wire Act or the Travel Act was brought as any charge against a defendant for the fiscal years 1992-2003. Yet there was no clear evidence of a single actual criminal prosecution under the Wire Act or the Travel Act of a person who operated in accordance with the IHA, which would have shown whether the application of those measures was affected by the existence of the IHA.

- 6.83 In sum, the original Panel had "limited evidence" before it on the relationship between the IHA and the Wire Act because the underlying facts that might otherwise have given risen to more substantial factual submissions were limited. The ambiguity of this relationship was not a matter of poor briefing; rather, it was merely a reflection of the ambiguous state of US domestic law. This ambiguity in US domestic law prevented the United States from demonstrating in the original proceeding that its measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS. Whilst there may be a right and a wrong interpretation of this point in US domestic law, it is currently a matter open to disagreement. As long as this ambiguity remains, the measures at issue are not in compliance with the United States' obligations under the GATS.
- 6.84 Therefore, the Panel concludes that, both as a matter of principle and also in the specific circumstances of this dispute, its interpretation of the recommendation that the United States bring its measures into conformity with its obligations under the GATS does not diminish the United States' rights or increase its obligations inconsistently with Article 19.2 of the DSU.
- 6.85 For the reasons set out above, the Panel sees nothing in the specific findings and conclusions in the original proceeding that would disturb its preliminary conclusion at paragraph 6.38. Therefore, the Panel concludes that the United States has not complied with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB.

3. Statements made during the arbitration pursuant to Article 21.3(c) of the DSU

6.86 Both parties and the European Communities referred to statements made by the United States on the means of implementation of the DSB recommendation and rulings during the course of the arbitration to determine a reasonable period of time pursuant to Article 21.3(c) of the DSU in this dispute.³⁸⁶ Essentially, they disagreed as to whether the United States itself had, during the arbitration, submitted that legislation was the only possible means to bring its measures into compliance with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB.

³⁸² United States original second opening oral statement, para. 47, see original Panel report, para. 6.587. Earlier, the United States had provided a careful legal explanation as to why certain services supplied by such suppliers would not be liable to prosecution, if they fell within the "safe harbor" provision of the Wire Act: United States reply to original Panel question No. 22.

³⁸³ United States original second opening oral statement, para. 42-44; original Exhibit US-41, see original Panel report, para. 3.236.

³⁸⁴ The Panel reiterates that this interpretation of US domestic law is solely for the purpose of assessing the United States' compliance with its international obligations under the GATS.

³⁸⁵ See the additional clarification with respect to the IGBA, set out at note 392 below. The Panel's findings are without prejudice to any other possible inconsistencies between the measures at issue and the United States' obligations under the GATS.

³⁸⁶ Antigua first written submission, paras. 17-18; United States first written submission, para. 55; European Communities third party submission, para. 58.

6.87 The Panel considers that parties' statements made in the course of an arbitration pursuant to Article 21.3(c) can be helpful in addressing the existence of measures taken to comply in an Article 21.5 proceeding because, as a practical matter, they will address the specific recommendation and rulings of the DSB in the dispute at hand and also what is required in order for the respondent to comply.³⁸⁷ In this way, they may confirm a compliance panel's own objective assessment of whether the respondent has complied, based on the specific recommendations and rulings of the DSB in the dispute.

6.88 The Panel notes that the United States, in its written submission and oral statement to the Arbitrator, sought a period of time to adopt legislation *without* stating that legislation was the only option to ensure compliance. Nevertheless, the Panel observes that the Award of the Arbitrator stated that:

"For this reason, the United States emphasizes that the only means of implementation that will achieve the necessary clarification is legislative means." 388

- 6.89 The United States respectfully disagrees with the Arbitrator's characterization of its views, including after its perusal of the unverified transcript of the Arbitrator's oral hearing. Antigua considers the Arbitrator's conclusion to be a correct interpretation of the US argument put before him.
- 6.90 The Panel can see that the United States submitted to the Arbitrator that it intended to seek legislation and, in this context, stated orally that it needed legislation or that legislation was required. However, the Panel cannot conclude with certainty that the United States *emphasized* that legislation was the *only* means of implementation, especially since a question on that point was never posed to the United States. The Panel, for its part, does not consider that legislation is the only possible means of implementation in this dispute. Even though the key finding on the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS in the original proceeding concerned the relationship between different statutes, the chapeau relates to the *application* of the measures at issue, which does not simply relate to their wording. The original Panel was not persuaded by the Department of Justice's view of that relationship but that does not exclude other forms of administrative action, or judicial action, to bring the measures into conformity. For this reason, the Panel does *not* consider that the lack of new legislation amending the measures at issue or amending the IHA is determinative of the existence of any "measures taken to comply" in this dispute.
- C. DISAGREEMENT AS TO THE CONSISTENCY WITH A COVERED AGREEMENT OF MEASURES TAKEN TO COMPLY

1. Nature of the Panel's assessment

(...)

(b) Assessment by the Panel

6.93 The Panel has already concluded at paragraph 6.85 that the United States has not complied with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. Having reached that conclusion, the Panel need not continue its assessment of the matter before it. Indeed, the Panel cannot assess a disagreement as to the

 $^{^{387}}$ See also the following statement in the Appellate Body report on US – $Softwood\ Lumber\ IV$ (Article 21.5 – Canada):

[&]quot;Thus, within Article 21 as a whole, the declarations of the implementing Member form an integral part of the surveillance of implementation, but they do not stand alone. Rather, they are complemented by, and subject to, multilateral review within the World Trade Organization (the 'WTO')." (at para. 70).

³⁸⁸ Award of the Arbitrator (WT/DS285/13), at para. 37.

consistency with a covered agreement of "measures taken to comply" with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB because it has found that no such measures exist.

- 6.94 Nevertheless, it is quite clear what the United States alleged to be the "measures taken to comply". These are the same measures the subject of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute, namely, the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the IGBA. As the sole trier of fact in this compliance proceeding, the Panel considers it appropriate to make certain factual findings beyond those that are strictly necessary to resolve the dispute, which may assist the Appellate Body should it later be called upon to complete the analysis. Indeed, the original Panel made such a decision, which was upheld on appeal.³⁸⁹
- 6.95 The United States submits that it can demonstrate in this compliance proceeding what it failed to demonstrate in the original proceeding. This submission depends on the premise that the facts and arguments that it has presented in this compliance proceeding are different from, and more persuasive than, those it submitted in the original proceeding. Therefore, in the circumstances, and in accordance with the function of panels under Article 11 of the DSU, the Panel considers it useful and appropriate to make a factual assessment of that premise. In so doing, the Panel will also make an assessment of facts and arguments presented by Antigua in this compliance proceeding.
- 6.96 Further, the original Panel's assessment of the matter before it, as reviewed by the Appellate Body, was based on the facts as they existed at the time of the original proceeding. The Panel will also make a factual assessment of certain new developments that have arisen since the time of the original proceeding.
- 6.97 The Panel sees no reason to limit its factual assessment to the single issue of the legal interpretation of the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the measures at issue, on the other, on which the original Panel ruled, as upheld by the Appellate Body. The language used by the Appellate Body in its report with respect to that issue did not amount to an invitation to the United States to make a demonstration to a compliance panel of this one specific point, for the reasons given at paragraphs 6.62 to 6.69 above. Instead, to the extent that the Panel revisits the United States' defence that the measures at issue satisfy the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS, the Panel considers it equally appropriate to assess an issue that was raised in the original proceeding but upon which the original Panel did *not* rule, namely whether the measures at issue are discriminatory "on their face". This was an issue to which *both* parties referred in their submissions to this Panel. The Panel assesses this issue in terms of the treatment of intrastate commerce. However, the Panel emphasizes that it makes this assessment solely for the purposes set out at paragraph 6.94 above and without prejudice to its finding that the Appellate Body's conclusion regarding the United States' defence under Article XIV of the GATS must be unconditionally accepted by the parties in accordance with Article 17.14 of the DSU.
- 6.98 The chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS sets out the following requirement:
 - "Subject to the requirement that such measures are not applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable discrimination between countries where like conditions prevail, or a disguised restriction on trade in services".
- 6.99 The Panel recalls the Appellate Body's interpretation of this provision in this dispute:
 - "The focus of the chapeau, by its express terms, is on the *application* of a measure already found by the Panel to be inconsistent with one of the obligations under the GATS but falling within one of the paragraphs of Article XIV. By requiring that the measure be

³⁸⁹ Appellate Body report, para. 344.

applied in a manner that does not to [sic] constitute 'arbitrary' or 'unjustifiable' discrimination, or a 'disguised restriction on trade in services', the chapeau serves to ensure that Members' rights to avail themselves of exceptions are exercised reasonably, so as not to frustrate the rights accorded other Members by the substantive rules of the GATS."³⁹⁰ (footnotes omitted)

2. United States' submissions

- (a) Interstate Horseracing Act, as amended
- 6.100 In this compliance proceeding, as in the original proceeding, the United States asserts that its measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV because they do not discriminate *at all*. The United States has not put forward an additional argument that *even if* such discrimination exists, it does not rise to the level of "arbitrary" or "unjustifiable" discrimination.
- 6.101 The United States submits that the prohibition embodied in the three measures at issue is applied consistently with the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS because the measures do not discriminate between countries on their face, and because the IHA does not provide an exemption from those measures. The United States refers to the plain text of the IHA, legislative history and the US principle of statutory construction which disfavours repeals of earlier statutes by implication.³⁹¹
- 6.102 The Panel observes that there is repetition in key respects between the evidence submitted by the United States in this compliance proceeding with the evidence submitted in the original proceeding, notably with that mentioned at paragraph 6.77 of this report with regard to:
 - (a) the text of the measures at issue;
 - (b) an assertion that the measures at issue "on their face" meet the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS because their text allegedly does not discriminate between countries;
 - (c) a description of the "safe harbor" provision in the Wire Act which applies to information assisting in the placing of bets and wagers, but not to bets and wagers themselves;
 - (d) the legislative history of the Wire Act;
 - (e) the text of the IHA and assertions that it does not expressly state that it provides an exemption to the criminal statutes, or is otherwise consistent with those statutes;
 - (f) the view of the Department of Justice on the relationship between the IHA amendment and the measures at issue; and
 - (g) statements that, under the US principles of statutory construction, repeals by implication are not favoured.
- 6.103 It is indisputable that this evidence, presented in the original proceeding (and re-presented in this compliance proceeding), failed to demonstrate that the measures at issue satisfy the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS. The original Panel's finding on this point was upheld in the

³⁹⁰ Appellate Body report, para. 339.

³⁹¹ United States first written submission, paras. 10-40.

Appellate Body report, which was adopted by the DSB. Neither party disputes that that finding still stands as regards that evidence.

6.104 Without prejudice to the Panel's findings regarding Article 17.14 of the DSU at paragraphs 0 to 0 above, the Panel will now proceed to make a factual assessment of the other evidence in the United States' submissions, for the reasons set out at paragraphs 0 and 0. The Panel will refer to this other evidence as "supplementary" evidence.³⁹²

(...)

6.109 The original Panel, which did not have the supplementary evidence before it, made an objective assessment that, when interpreting US domestic law, it could not ignore the plain language of a statute enacted by the US Congress. None of the supplementary evidence alters or addresses the essential point that, on its face, the text of Section 5 of the IHA, read in conjunction with the definition of "interstate off-track wager" as amended in 2000, appears to authorize something that the Wire Act prohibits. The supplementary evidence actually *confirms* that, under US domestic law, whilst repeals by implication are not favoured, they are possible where there is a positive repugnancy between two Acts. Whilst the US court opinions submitted for the first time in this compliance proceeding confirm that two statutes can independently prohibit the same conduct, none of them indicate or even imply that a US court would ignore an authorization in the plain language of a US statute in light of an older statute that addresses the same conduct in less specific terms.³⁹³

6.110 Therefore, the United States' submissions in this compliance proceeding do not provide any facts and arguments concerning the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the Wire Act, on the other, that would justify a different finding from that made by the original Panel on this issue.

2. Antigua's submissions

(a) Interstate Horseracing Act, as amended

6.111 Antigua argues that the measures at issue in the original proceeding remain out of compliance with Article XIV of the GATS.³⁹⁴ Although it considers that the issue was resolved in the original proceeding, it submits that the IHA authorizes remote pari-mutuel account wagering in the United States and that this is not prohibited by the Wire Act. It refers *inter alia* to the IHA on its face, US domestic law

The Panel sought, and obtained, one clarification from the parties that could be useful in the implementation of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB with respect to one of the measures at issue, namely the IGBA. Both parties had initially understood that the focus of Antigua's allegation of discrimination under the IHA was on the Wire Act (United States first written submission, para. 19; confirmed by Antigua in its second written submission, fn. 9). However, in response to a question from the Panel, both parties agreed that offences under the IGBA are not predicated on a violation of federal laws, such as the Wire Act, but on a violation of State laws, whereas the IHA applies to activity that is lawful in each State where it takes place. The United States added that, for this reason, in its view, the original Panel's findings with respect to the Wire Act and the Travel Act, as upheld by the Appellate Body, cannot apply to the IGBA (Antigua reply to Panel question No. 23 and the United States' comment thereon). The Panel notes that this argument, raised very late indeed, appears to be at odds with the United States' position in the original proceeding, as reflected in the view of the Department of Justice expressed in the December 2000 Presidential signing statement. Nevertheless, in view of the wording of the IHA, which is not entirely clear on this point, and of the IGBA, it may be possible for the Department of Justice to clarify the specific issue of the applicability of the IGBA to interstate wagering on horseracing, where legal in the various States involved.

³⁹³ The measures at issue were enacted at an earlier time than the IHA and the United States has not argued that they are more specific than the IHA.

³⁹⁴ Antigua first written submission, para. 46; second written submission, para. 5.

including principles of statutory construction, State account wagering laws, the activities of suppliers of remote gambling and betting services operating in the United States, and the UIGEA.³⁹⁵ Much of this evidence was presented for the first time in the compliance proceeding but some of it only provides more detail on information presented in the original proceeding.

6.112 First, Antigua relies on the text of the IHA on its face, which is actually quoted in the original Panel and Appellate Body reports.³⁹⁶ Antigua does not take a position on whether there is a direct conflict between the IHA and the Wire Act but submits opinions of the US Supreme Court and the US Court of Appeals that were not presented in the original proceeding to explain principles of statutory construction. Like the United States' own evidence, these opinions confirm that, under US domestic law, repeals by implication are not favoured but are possible where there is a positive repugnancy between two Acts.³⁹⁷ This principle had already been presented in the original proceeding, in less detail, by the United States. One supplementary element provided by Antigua consists of the US court opinions in the *Burrillville* case dating from 1992 and 1993, which is apparently the only reported court case that refers to both the Wire Act and the IHA.³⁹⁸ However, that case relates to the old version of the IHA before the 2000 amendment and does not discuss the activity engaged in by the defendant in a way that would clearly address the issue that the Panel is assessing. The lack of clarity on this point is highlighted by the fact that both parties to this dispute see in it support for their opposing respective views of the relationship between the two Acts.³⁹⁹

6.113 Second, Antigua has submitted laws and regulations of California, Connecticut, Idaho, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, North Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Virginia, Washington and Wyoming that authorize "account wagering". These laws and regulations were not presented in the original proceeding. Most of these State laws refer expressly to the IHA. Almost all these State laws expressly refer to account wagering by telephone, Internet and/or other electronic means (referred to below as "remote account wagering"). Some of these State laws purportedly authorize remote account wagering on an interstate basis. The United States does not contest what the State laws provide on their face but explains that State laws cannot override the Wire Act or other US federal law. The Panel notes that some of the State laws, on their face, regulate the acceptance of legal interstate off-track wagers on horse races in accordance with the IHA. However, some do not refer to the IHA and others do not refer to the IHA in relation to the

³⁹⁵ Antigua first written submission, paras. 46-129; second written submission, paras. 29-60.

³⁹⁶ Antigua first written submission, para. 50; second written submission, para. 29. Antigua draws attention to the fact that the definition covers remote wagering on an intra- and interstate basis. Indeed, the definition includes wagers placed or transmitted in one State and accepted by an off-track betting system in the *same* or another State: see original Panel report, para. 6.598; Appellate Body report, para. 361; Exhibit AB-4.

³⁹⁷ Antigua first written submission, paras. 58-59, second written submission, paras. 36-39, and Exhibits AB-23 to AB-27.

³⁹⁸ Exhibits AB-30 and AB-117.

³⁹⁹ Antigua first written submission, para. 61; second written submission, paras. 40-45; United States first written submission, fn. 15; second written submission, paras. 20-23; oral statement, para. 15.

 $^{^{400}}$ Antigua only mentioned account wagering permitted by States: original first written submission, para. 118.

⁴⁰¹ New Hampshire's law does not (Exhibit AB-42).

⁴⁰² The Panel uses the word "remote" as defined by the original Panel at paras. 6.32-6.33 of its report.

⁴⁰³ California, Idaho, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland (allows telephone betting from account holders with a principal residence outside the State), Nevada, Oregon, Virginia, Washington and Wyoming.

⁴⁰⁴ United States reply to Panel question No. 32(c).

acceptance of wagers. ⁴⁰⁵ Further, whilst all the State laws refer to wagering on horse races, some apply to wagering on other sports ⁴⁰⁶ and four purport to allow wagers placed from foreign jurisdictions ⁴⁰⁷, which are matters outside the scope of the IHA. All allow remote wagers wholly within the State in question which, to the extent that it does not involve the transmission of bets or wagers in interstate or foreign commerce, is a matter outside the scope of the Wire Act ⁴⁰⁸ (discussed at paragraphs 0 to 0 below). In any event, even to the extent that these State laws are contemplated by the IHA, they do not remove the ambiguity in the relationship between the IHA itself and the Wire Act.

6.114 Third, Antigua has submitted evidence relating to wagering suppliers operating in the United States, many of whom expressly indicate on their websites that they provide telephone or Internet (i.e. remote) wagering services on horse racing. Less detailed information on four of these operators was submitted in the original proceeding and addressed in the original Panel report in relation to an allegation of non-enforcement of the measures at issue against local suppliers in general. The Panel addresses them now, in this section, in relation to the specific, and distinct, question of what the IHA authorizes.

6.115 The suppliers in relation to which Antigua submits evidence in the compliance proceeding hold licences granted by State governments under the State laws and regulations referred to in paragraph 6.113 above to conduct remote account wagering, or are public benefit corporations established for this purpose. Some of these licences are expressly limited to remote wagering in the State "that is permissible under the Interstate Horseracing Act". Some of the suppliers and industry associations also confirm that they operate under the IHA. Most of these suppliers state that they accept wagers placed in other States. These suppliers are substantial and even prominent businesses with, collectively, thousands of employees and apparently tens of thousands of clients, paying taxes or generating revenue for government owners, having traded openly for up to 30 years and in some cases even operating television channels. Three are publicly listed corporations making filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or subsidiaries of such corporations.

6.116 The evidence regarding these suppliers demonstrates the existence of a flourishing remote account wagering industry on horse racing in the United States operating in ostensible legality. However, it is not clear whether these suppliers actually transmit bets and wagers in interstate or foreign commerce in violation of the Wire Act or only information in relation to the formation of a wagering pool or other

⁴⁰⁵ See note **Error! Bookmark not defined.** above.

 $^{^{406}}$ Connecticut, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Oregon and Wyoming laws also apply to wagering on greyhound racing, dog racing and/or jai alai.

 $^{^{407}}$ Idaho, Kentucky, Nevada and Washington. Oregon, Virginia and Wyoming also refer to "other jurisdictions".

⁴⁰⁸ United States reply to Panel question No. 32(d).

⁴⁰⁹ Antigua first written submission, paras. 71-88, and Exhibits AB-65 to AB-73. The United States chose not to address the substance of Antigua's evidence on these matters in its submissions. It considers that there is no basis for allowing Antigua to bring up in a compliance proceeding claims that were not reflected in the DSB's recommendation and rulings: United States second written submission, para. 9.

Antigua original first written submission, para. 118; original Exhibits AB-42, AB-43 and AB-44; response to original Panel question No. 19. A page from the website of another supplier was also provided in original Exhibit AB-123. See original Panel report, paras. 6.585-6.589, 6.607; Appellate Body report, paras. 352-357 and 373(D)(v)(a).

⁴¹¹ See the licence renewals ordered by the Virginia Racing Commission (Exhibit AB-98).

⁴¹² Exhibits AB-65, AB-66, AB-118, AB-119 and AB-120.

⁴¹³ One supplier, in New Jersey, states that it does not (Exhibit AB-73).

information that may fall within the "safe harbor" provision of that Act. Therefore, the Panel is unable to determine to what extent the evidence of these suppliers' operations sheds light on the operation of the IHA in a way that would demonstrate that the IHA authorizes pari-mutuel account wagering that would otherwise violate the Wire Act.

6.117 Therefore, whilst the Panel notes the differences between Antigua's submissions in this compliance proceeding and those it made in the original proceeding, they do not provide any facts and arguments concerning the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the Wire Act, on the other, that would justify a different finding from that made by the original Panel on this issue.

(b) Intrastate commerce

6.118 Antigua's submissions in this compliance proceeding have provided facts and arguments concerning another aspect of the measures at issue on which the original Panel did not rule.

6.119 In the original proceeding, Antigua explained that the measures at issue did not prohibit all remote supply of gambling services within the domestic market of the United States because the measures did not apply to intrastate commerce. The text of the Wire Act and the Travel Act, on their face, showed that their scope was limited to "interstate or foreign" commerce (not "domestic or foreign" commerce) so that they did not include intrastate commerce. Antigua did not clarify to the original Panel how this limitation on scope was discriminatory in practice because, apart from one example Antigua did not provide evidence that remote gambling was permitted in intrastate commerce. Instead, Antigua chose to focus on differential treatment between *non-remote* gambling within the domestic market of the United States and remote gambling from outside the United States rather than on the existence of an authorization to supply remote gambling and wagering services within the United States. Consequently, the original Panel refrained from making a finding on this aspect of the Wire Act and the Travel Act. Act.

6.120 In this compliance proceeding, the United States asserts that the measures at issue "on their face" meet the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS because their text does not discriminate between countries. Antigua disputes this assertion, referring to the operative language of the Wire Act, that prohibits only bets or wagers in "interstate or foreign commerce", but not intrastate commerce. In response to questions from the Panel, the United States indicated that this was a jurisdictional requirement imposed by the United States Constitution. The United States did not dispute that the Wire Act, which is a federal statute, does not prohibit intrastate remote wagering where it has no

⁴¹⁴ Antigua original first opening oral statement, para. 92; original second written submission, paras. 33-34; and see original Panel report at paras. 3.105-3.106, 3.110-3.111, 3.135, 3.224, 3.227 and 3.232.

⁴¹⁵ This was a special exemption in Nevada law: Antigua reply to original Panel question No. 19, fn 117; see also the United States' reply to original Panel question No. 36. Antigua also mentioned the existence of State horse racing laws and account wagering, and quoted an IHA definition in a footnote in its original first written submission, paras. 116 and 118, but in its original second written submission, paras. 33-34, it set out the limitation on the scope of federal laws without pursuing the State authorizations that existed beyond that limitation.

⁴¹⁶ The original Panel expressly noted that both the Wire Act and the Travel Act applied only to "interstate or foreign commerce": see original Panel report, paras. 6.362 and 6.367, cross-referenced in the Appellate Body report, fn 424. The original Panel also discussed the fact that the measures *prohibit* remote gambling and betting services and other activities in the context of the "necessity" test but it did not find that the measures prohibit all remote supply within the United States or that they were non-discriminatory on their face, which was raised extensively in the arguments of the parties section of the report: see note 414 above.

⁴¹⁷ See para. 0(b) above. The United States adds that the limitation to "interstate or foreign commerce" does not discriminate in terms of nationality either: see its reply to Panel question No. 38(c).

⁴¹⁸ Antigua second written submission, para. 9. See also its first written submission, para. 116.

effect on interstate or foreign commerce but cautioned that this does not indicate that State gambling statutes are discriminatory.⁴¹⁹

- 6.121 It is not disputed that the Wire Act prohibits remote wagering from jurisdictions outside the United States, such as Antigua. It is also undisputed that the Wire Act does not prohibit remote wagering within the United States to the extent that it is not in interstate or foreign commerce. Antigua's submissions in this compliance proceeding show that there are at least 18 State laws (laws outside the Panel's terms of reference) that expressly authorize wagering by wire within the United States, including on a wholly intrastate basis. Most of these State laws authorize remote wagering on horse racing, some of them expressly in accordance with the IHA. The simultaneous prohibition of cross-border supply of remote wagering services, on the one hand, and the lack of a prohibition of some domestic supply of remote wagering services, on the other hand, afford different treatment. The simultaneous prohibition of some domestic supply of remote wagering services, on the other hand, afford different treatment.
- 6.122 The text of the Wire Act, together with the State laws presented in the compliance proceeding, provide the Panel with a factual record that was not available in the original proceeding concerning the treatment of intrastate commerce, including with respect to remote wagering on horse racing. This factual record would enable the Panel to make findings as to whether the United States has demonstrated that the Wire Act meets the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS on grounds *in addition to* those regarding the ambiguity in the relationship between the IHA and the Wire Act.
- 6.123 A finding that the Wire Act "on its face" meets the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV because its text does not discriminate between countries would overlook the fact that the prohibition in the Wire Act does not apply to remote wagering within the United States to the extent that it is not in interstate or foreign commerce. A finding that the text of the Wire Act does not discriminate between United States and foreign suppliers in terms of nationality would require some explanation of the relevance of nationality to the chapeau of Article XIV. However, in view of the Panel's interpretation of Article 17.14 of the DSU at paragraphs 0 to 0 above, the Panel considers that it is not entitled to make any further findings on this issue as the United States' defence has been finally resolved with respect to the measures at issue in this dispute.

4. Developments since the original proceeding

⁴¹⁹ United States replies to Panel questions Nos. 32(c) and 38(c). The United States did not otherwise explain how the discrimination might not be "arbitrary or unjustifiable" or not inconsistent with the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS. The United States considers that there is no basis for allowing Antigua to bring up in a compliance proceeding claims that were not reflected in the DSB's recommendation and rulings: United States second written submission, para. 9.

⁴²⁰ This includes the State laws and regulations that authorize remote wagering on horseracing and, in some cases, other sports, referred to at para. 0, as well as Nevada laws and regulations that authorize interactive gaming, and lotteries in other States that allow the sale of tickets by telephone: see Antigua first written submission, paras. 116-129; comment on US reply to Panel question No. 38(c).

⁴²¹ The Panel notes that this issue is unrelated to the United States' argument that the Wire Act "safe harbor" provision, by virtue of the additional requirements of the IHA, discriminates in favour of suppliers from outside the United States, raised in United States original second written submission, para. 64.

⁴²² The Panel has taken due account of the Appellate Body's findings that "[t]he statutes at issue make no distinction on their face as to gambling services from different origins", that the language of the Wire Act is "neutral" and that "[t]hese measures, on their face, do *not* discriminate between United States and foreign suppliers of remote gambling services" (emphasis in original): see Appellate Body report at paras. 332, 354 and 357; as well as the Appellate Body's findings regarding the IHA, an Act that does not discriminate on its face between United States and foreign suppliers in terms of nationality either: see Exhibit AB-4; United States reply to Panel question No. 33; and Antigua's comment on the US reply.

(a) April 2006 DOJ Statement and prosecutions

- 6.124 Since the original proceeding, in April 2006, an official of the Department of Justice stated in testimony before a Committee of the US House of Representatives the Department of Justice's view of the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and federal criminal statutes, on the other. That view reiterated the view expressed in the Presidential statement on the signing of the amendment of the IHA in 2000, which the United States had presented to the original Panel. It is notable that in that testimony, as in the Presidential signing statement, the Department of Justice lacked an authoritative court opinion to support its view.
- 6.125 In its statement, the Department of Justice official referred to a "civil investigation" relating to a potential violation of an unspecified law, which the Panel understands is not one of the measures at issue. The United States informed the Panel that that investigation is "still pending" and no further details are publicly available. 424
- 6.126 It is striking that the Department of Justice has not, apparently, ever initiated a criminal prosecution under the measures at issue of a pari-mutuel wagering supplier in the United States who transmits bets and wagers in violation of the Wire Act but who, at the same time, has obtained consent from the horse racing associations and shares its revenue with the racetracks in accordance with the IHA. Such a prosecution could lead to a court opinion that would prove or disprove the Department of Justice's view, as a court could decide whether the IHA authorized such activity despite the terms of the Wire Act.
- 6.127 Since the original proceeding, the United States has, under various measures at issue, prosecuted gambling business operators trading as WorldWide Telesports, based in Antigua, and BETONSPORTS PLC, also based outside the United States, and prosecuted US-based operators, named Gianelli, Meyers and others, who employed the services of foreign gambling businesses. During that time the United States has also prosecuted US bookmakers who transmitted illegal wagers on horse races interstate without "conforming their conduct to the provisions of the IHA", i.e. without obtaining consent from the horse racing associations and sharing their revenue with the racetracks.⁴²⁶
- 6.128 However, the Department of Justice is not aware of any public pending prosecution of the suppliers in the United States of online pari-mutuel wagering on horse racing who were referred to in the original Panel report⁴²⁷, including the supplier whom the United States advised the original Panel "face[d] the risk" of criminal proceedings and penalties brought by the government.⁴²⁸ The evidence referred to at paragraph 6.114 above shows that these and other suppliers confirm that they operate in accordance with

⁴²³ Status Report by the United States, Addendum, WT/D285/15/Add.1, 11 April 2006; also set out in Exhibit AB-32, discussed in Antigua first written submission, paras. 34-35; second written submission, para. 67; and United States first written submission, paras. 48-50.

⁴²⁴ United States reply to Panel question No. 37(b) and (c).

⁴²⁵ United States replies to Panel questions Nos. 34, 35, 36 and 37(d).

⁴²⁶ Antigua first written submission, paras. 106-107, Exhibit AB-75 (indictment before the original Panel circulated its report), Exhibits AB-76 and AB-77; United States reply to Panel question No. 36.

⁴²⁷ Antigua original first written submission, para. 118; United States reply to original Panel question No. 22; United States comments on original interim review, para. 35.

⁴²⁸ United States reply to Panel question No. 35(e), referring to the mention of action against suppliers set out in para. 0 above.

the IHA. Whilst it is not clear whether these suppliers actually violate the Wire Act, it is clear that none of them are being prosecuted. 429

6.129 The Panel accepts that there are many factors that affect decisions to prosecute, including the availability of resources and prosecutorial priorities. However, the evidence set out above is at least consistent with the view that remote wagering services supplied in accordance with the IHA are tolerated, even if not authorized under federal law. Criminal prosecutions of appropriate cases under the measures at issue could change their application from that which prevailed at the time of the original proceeding and also resolve the ambiguity in the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the Wire Act, on the other, for the purpose of assessing the United States' compliance with its international obligations under the GATS.

(b) Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act

- 6.130 Since the original proceeding, in October 2006, during the course of this compliance proceeding, the United States enacted the UIGEA.⁴³¹ The Panel agrees with Antigua that the UIGEA is particularly relevant to the question of the relationship between the IHA, on the one hand, and the measures at issue, on the other, because (i) it specifically refers to that issue; and (ii) as a statute enacted by the United States Congress, it is authoritative on matters of US domestic law.
- 6.131 The UIGEA does not amend or alter any statutes at issue nor affect which activities are unlawful under those statutes.⁴³² The UIGEA applies to activities falling within its definition of "unlawful Internet gambling". That definition excludes certain activities, among them certain intrastate transactions⁴³³, certain intratribal transactions⁴³⁴, and also the following regarding interstate horse racing:

"The term 'unlawful Internet gambling' shall not include any activity that is allowed under the Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq.)."⁴³⁵

6.132 The definition of "unlawful Internet gambling" applies to the UIGEA only. It does not define or alter what type of Internet gambling is unlawful under US domestic law, including under the measures at

See also the original Panel report at paras. 6.515-6.518.

⁴²⁹ Antigua first written submission, para. 104; United States replies to Panel questions Nos. 34 and 37(d). See paras. 0 and 0 above.

⁴³⁰ United States reply to Panel question No. 34; comment on reply to Panel question No. 35(d).

⁴³¹ Exhibit AB-113, discussed in Antigua second written submission, paras. 46-60.

⁴³² 31 U.S.C. §5363 prohibits acceptance of any financial instrument for 'unlawful Internet gambling'; §5364 provides for policies and procedures to identify and prevent restricted transactions; §§5365 and 5366 provide for civil and criminal remedies, respectively; and §5367 prohibits circumvention.

⁴³³ The exclusion of intrastate transactions is subject to conditions, among them that the State laws or regulations include age and location verification requirements reasonably designed to block access to minors and persons located out of a State jurisdiction and appropriate data security standards to prevent unauthorized access. This represents a change since the United States submitted to the original Panel, with respect to identity verification and prevention of online gambling by children, as follows:

[&]quot;In fact, such regulation is infeasible. Children have ready access to payment instruments, and no technology has yet been developed to enable constraints on Internet gambling even approaching those that are possible in other settings where gambling can be confined and access to it strictly controlled." (United States original first written submission, para. 39)

⁴³⁴ The exclusion for intratribal transactions is subject to conditions that include those set out at note 433 above.

⁴³⁵ 31 U.S.C. 5362(10)(D)(i).

issue.⁴³⁶ At the same time, in enacting this exclusion from that definition, the United States Congress appears to have contemplated that some activity may be "allowed" under the IHA that might otherwise be considered "unlawful Internet gambling".⁴³⁷ However, the Panel does not leap to the conclusion that this provision means that the IHA allows activities prohibited by the Wire Act, in light of another provision in its immediate context within the UIGEA that expresses the sense of Congress as follows:

"(iii) Sense of Congress

"It is the sense of Congress that this subchapter shall not change which activities related to horse racing may or may not be allowed under Federal law. This subparagraph is intended to address concerns that this sub-chapter could have the effect of changing the existing relationship between the Interstate Horseracing Act and other Federal statutes in effect on the date of the enactment of this subchapter. This subchapter is not intended to change that relationship. This subchapter is not intended to resolve any existing disagreements over how to interpret the relationship between the IHA and other Federal statutes."

6.133 The United States confirmed to the Panel that the disagreement referred to concerns whether the IHA repealed by implication pre-existing criminal statutes, thereby allowing the interstate transmission of bets on horse races. This is the precise factual issue that the United States delegation, throughout its submissions, asked the Panel to assess. However, the United States points out that in the "Sense of Congress" provision of the UIGEA "[t]he language simply notes the disagreement [but the language] does not take a position as to how a court would in fact construe the relationship between federal criminal laws and the IHA."

6.134 The Panel agrees. In this way, the United States Congress has provided confirmation that, under US domestic law, the original Panel's finding was correct, that is:

"[T]here is ambiguity as to the relationship between, on the one hand, the amendment to the IHA and, on the other, the Wire Act, the Travel Act and the Illegal Gambling Business Act."442

⁴³⁶ The definitions in §5362 apply "[i]n this subchapter". See also the rule of construction in §5361 (b).

⁴³⁷ The Department of Justice expressed a similar view on a provision in Bill H.R. 4777: see Exhibit AB-32, p.4. A statement which forms part of the legislative history of the UIGEA explains that this provision "addresses transactions complying with the IHA which will not be considered unlawful because the IHA only regulates legal transactions that are lawful in each State involved": see Statement of Representative Leach, Congressional Record, pages H8029-H8030 in Exhibit US-15, submitted with United States reply to Panel question No. 31(b). This statement does not indicate whether transactions under the IHA comply with pre-existing federal criminal statutes. The US National Thoroughbred Racing Association considers that "[t]he legislation contained language that recognizes the ability of the horse racing industry to offer account wagering under the Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 as amended" and "[t]his is a very significant landmark recognition by the U.S. government of our industry's legal right to conduct wagering under the IHA and of our industry's important position as an agribusiness that supports 500,000 jobs": see Exhibit AB-118. The United States does not agree with this view: see United States reply to Panel question No. 31(e).

⁴³⁸ 31 U.S.C. 5362(10)(D)(iii).

⁴³⁹ United States reply to Panel question No. 31(c).

 $^{^{440}}$ See, for example, "the IHA in no way limits the application of federal criminal statutes" in the United States first written submission, para. 3.

⁴⁴¹ United States reply to Panel question No. 31(c).

⁴⁴² Original Panel report, para. 6.599, dated 10 November 2004, quoted above at para. 0.

6.135 This provision also shows that since the original proceeding the United States had an opportunity to remove the ambiguity and thereby comply with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. 443 Instead, rather than take that opportunity, the United States enacted legislation that confirmed that the ambiguity at the heart of this dispute remains and, therefore, that the United States has not complied.

VII. CONCLUSION

7.1 For the reasons set out in this Report, the Panel concludes that the United States has failed to comply with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute.

Nevertheless, the parties do not dispute that no legislation was ever pending in the United States Congress that would have complied with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute.

2-6. Arbitration under Article 22.6 DSU

United States – Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services

Arbitration under Article 22.6 of the Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, WT/DS/285/ARB, 21 December 2007

I. INTRODUCTION

A. INITIAL PROCEEDINGS

- 1.1 On 20 April 2005, the Dispute Settlement Body (DSB) adopted the report of the Panel in this dispute, as modified by the report of the Appellate Body. 444
- 1.2 The Appellate Body *inter alia* upheld the original panel's finding that the United States' Schedule includes a commitment to grant full market access in gambling and betting services and upheld the Panel's finding that the United States acts inconsistently with Article XVI:1 and sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2 by maintaining certain limitations on market access not specified in its Schedule. The Appellate Body reversed the Panel's finding that the United States had not shown that the three federal statutes are "necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order", within the meaning of Article XIV(a). The Appellate Body modified the conclusion of the panel with respect to Article XIV as a whole and found, instead, "that the United States has demonstrated that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act are measures 'necessary to protect public morals or maintain public order', in accordance with paragraph (a) of Article XIV, but that the United States has not shown, in the light of the Interstate Horseracing Act, that the prohibitions embodied in those measures are applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing and, therefore, has not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau".
- 1.3 On 19 August 2005, an arbitrator established under Article 21.3(c) of the DSU determined that the "reasonable period of time" for the United States to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute was 11 months and 2 weeks from the date of adoption of the Panel and Appellate Body Reports by the DSB. The United States was consequently awarded until 3 April 2006 to bring its measures into conformity with its obligations under the GATS.⁴⁴⁶
- 1.4 On 8 June 2006, Antigua and Barbuda (hereafter "Antigua") requested consultations with the United States under Article 21.5 of the DSU.⁴⁴⁷ On 6 July 2006, Antigua requested the establishment of a panel under Article 21.5 of the DSU.⁴⁴⁸ At its meeting on 19 July 2006, the DSB referred the matter to the original panel, if possible. The report of the Article 21.5 compliance panel was adopted on 25 May 2007. The compliance panel found that the United States had failed to comply with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this dispute.

Report of the Appellate Body on *United States – Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services* (WT/DS285/AB/R), (hereafter the "Appellate Body Report") and Report of the Panel on *United States – Measures Affecting the Cross-Border Supply of Gambling and Betting Services* (WT/DS285/R) (hereafter the "Panel Report").

⁴⁴⁵ Report of the Appellate Body, para. 373.

⁴⁴⁶ WT/DS285/13.

⁴⁴⁷ WT/DS285/17.

⁴⁴⁸ WT/DS285/18.

1.5 On 21 June 2007, Antigua requested authorization from the DSB⁴⁴⁹, under Article 22.2 of the DSU, to suspend the application to the United States of concessions and related obligations of Antigua under the *General Agreement on Trade in Services* (the "GATS" and the *Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights* (the "TRIPS Agreement") amounting to an annual value of US\$3.443 billion.

B. REQUEST FOR ARBITRATION AND PROCEEDINGS

- 1.6 On 23 July 2007, the United States objected to the level of suspension proposed by Antigua and Barbuda pursuant to Article 22.6 of the DSU and claimed that Antigua had not followed the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU in its request. At its meeting of 24 July 2007, the DSB agreed that the matter raised by the United States had been referred to arbitration.
- 1.7 The arbitration was undertaken by the original panelists of the Article 21.5 compliance panel as follows:

Chairperson: Mr Lars Anell

Members: Mr Mathias Francke

Mr Virachai Plasai

- 1.8 An organizational meeting was held on 7 August 2007 to discuss proposed working procedures and the timetable for the proceedings. At that meeting, both parties requested, *inter alia*, additional time for the preparation of their communications to the Arbitrator. The final timetable and working procedures adopted by the Arbitrator were transmitted to the parties on 22 August 2007 (see the text of the Working Procedures in Annex 1).
- 1.9 In accordance with the timetable adopted by the Arbitrator, Antigua presented a communication concerning the methodology for calculating the proposed level of suspension ("Methodology Paper") on 31 August 2007, and the United States and Antigua submitted written submissions to the Arbitrator on 19 September and 4 October 2007 respectively. The Arbitrator met with the parties on 18 October 2007. After the meeting, the Arbitrator posed questions to the parties, to which the parties provided written responses on 2 November 2007. Both parties were further provided with an opportunity to comment in writing on the responses of the other party to the questions of the Arbitrator. The decision of the Arbitrator was circulated on 21 December 2007.

II. PRELIMINARY ISSUES

- A. MANDATE OF THE ARBITRATOR
- 2.1 Article 22.7 of the DSU provides that:

"The arbitrator¹ acting pursuant to paragraph 6 shall not examine the nature of the concessions or other obligations to be suspended but shall determine whether the level of such suspension is equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment. The arbitrator may also determine if the proposed suspension of concessions or other obligations is allowed under the covered agreement. However, if the matter referred to arbitration includes a claim that the principles and procedures set forth in paragraph 3 have not been followed, the arbitrator shall examine that claim. In the event the arbitrator determines

⁴⁴⁹ WT/DS285/22.

⁴⁵⁰ WT/DS285/23.

that those principles and procedures have not been followed, the complaining party shall apply them consistent with paragraph 3."

2.2 In this proceeding, the United States challenges two distinct aspects of the request by Antigua for the suspension of certain obligations under the covered agreements. First, it challenges the level of suspension that Antigua seeks an authorization for (i.e. the figure of US\$3.443 billion as the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua). Secondly, the United States also challenges the choice of the sectors and agreement in which Antigua is proposing to carry out the suspension (i.e. certain obligations under the GATS and under the TRIPS Agreement). The Arbitrator therefore has two distinct determinations to make in these proceedings.

1. Mandate in relation to the proposed level of suspension

- 2.3 Antigua has requested an authorization to suspend the application to the United States of concessions and related obligations of Antigua under the GATS and the TRIPS Agreement, in an amount of an "annual value of US\$3.443 billion", which it considers to "match the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua and Barbuda". The United States, however, has objected to the level of suspension of concessions and other obligations proposed.
- 2.4 Article 22.4 of the DSU provides that "[t]he level of the suspension of concessions or other obligations authorized by the DSB shall be equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment". Article 22.6 further provides that "if the Member concerned objects to the level of suspension proposed ..., the matter shall be referred to arbitration".
- 2.5 As noted above, Article 22.7 provides that "[t]he arbitrator acting pursuant to paragraph 6 (...) shall determine whether the level of such suspension is equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment (...)". The DSU provides no further detail how exactly such equivalence might be established. Some guidance is provided, however, by previous arbitral decisions in which such assessments were carried out further to a recourse to arbitration under Article 22.6 of the DSU.
- 2.6 As a general matter, as was observed by the arbitrator in US 1916 Act (EC)(Article 22.6 US),
 - the mandate of the arbitrators is to determine whether the level of suspension of concessions or other obligations sought by the complaining party is equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment sustained by the complaining party as a result of the failure of the responding party to bring its WTO-inconsistent measures into compliance. 452
- 2.7 In approaching this task, we note, as other arbitrators have, that, while the purpose of suspension of concessions or other obligations under the covered agreements as foreseen in Article 22.1 of the DSU is to "induce compliance" by the Member concerned with its obligations under the covered agreements, this does not mean that such suspension may be authorized beyond what is "equivalent" to the level of nullification of impairment. Rather, in setting out the requirement that suspension be "equivalent" to the level of nullification or impairment, Article 22.4 of the DSU requires a degree of "correspondence or

¹ The expression "arbitrator" shall be interpreted as referring either to an individual or a group or to the members of the original panel when serving in the capacity of arbitrator.

⁴⁵¹ See WT/DS27/ARB, para. 4.1 and WT/DS26/ARB para. 3.

⁴⁵² US – 1916 Act (EC) (Article 22.6 – US), Decision by the arbitrators, para. 4.5.

⁴⁵³ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Bananas III (US) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 6.3.

identity"454 between the level of the suspension to be authorized and the level of the nullification or impairment of benefits.

- 2.8 This means that it is necessary to determine what this level of nullification or impairment of benefits is, in order to compare it to the requested level of suspension. Further, past arbitrators have also considered that, if they determined that the proposed level is not equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment as required by the DSU, then it was also their duty to estimate the level of suspension that they considered to be equivalent to the impairment suffered, with a view to contributing to the objective of prompt and positive settlement of disputes embodied in the DSU. This is also what the United States is asking the Arbitrator to do in this dispute.
- 2.9 In light of these elements, we understand our mandate in relation to Antigua's proposed level of suspension to require us to determine whether the annual amount of US\$3.443 billion proposed by Antigua is equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua under the GATS as a result of the failure of the United States to bring its GATS-inconsistent measures into conformity with its obligations. If we find that it is not, then we will need to determine what the level of such nullification or impairment is.
- 2.10 We are also mindful that Article 22.7 of the DSU provides that the Arbitrator "shall not examine the nature of the concessions or other obligations to be suspended". Our analysis will, accordingly, be limited to an examination of the level of the proposed suspension, and will not extend to a consideration of the nature of the concessions or other obligations proposed for suspension.
- 2.11 We note that the United States has also requested us to require Antigua to indicate how it will ensure that any suspension of concessions does not exceed the level of nullification and impairment found by the Arbitrator. In the view of the United States, without this information it would be impossible for the Arbitrator to determine the equivalence of the level of suspension of concessions with the level of nullification and impairment, as is required by DSU Article 22.7⁴⁵⁷ and the Arbitrator should thus not find that Antigua is allowed to suspend TRIPS concessions.⁴⁵⁸ In Antigua's view, however, the imposition of a requirement for it to specify how it will ensure that the level of suspension of concessions does not exceed the level of nullification determined by the Arbitrators would not be within the terms of reference of the Arbitrators under Article 22.7 of the DSU.
- 2.12 Without prejudice to our views as to whether our mandate under Article 22.7 of the DSU allows us to impose such a requirement on Antigua, we find it more appropriate to consider this matter once we have made the relevant determinations on the level of suspension and the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU, especially in light of the fact that the United States concern appears to relate primarily to the suspension of obligations under the TRIPS Agreement, a matter which will only become pertinent if and when we determine that Antigua may seek suspension of obligations under that Agreement. We therefore leave the discussion of our mandate in relation to this question for a later stage of our award.⁴⁵⁹

⁴⁵⁴ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Bananas III (US) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 4.3.

⁴⁵⁵ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Bananas III (US) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 4.2.

 $^{^{456}}$ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Hormones, para. 12. See also decision by the arbitrators, EC – $Bananas\ III\ (Ecuador)\ (Article\ 22.6 - EC)$, (request by Ecuador), paras. 171 – 173 and US – $1916\ Act\ (EC)\ (Article\ 22.6 - US)$, paras. 4.6 – 4.8, which cites the relevant passages of earlier decisions.

⁴⁵⁷ US response to question 55.

⁴⁵⁸ Para. 28 of US comments on Antigua's answers.

⁴⁵⁹ See below section 0 for a complete analysis of this issue.

2. Mandate in relation to the sector(s) and agreement(s) in which suspension is sought

- 2.13 Antigua's request for authorization to suspend concessions or other obligations refers to both subparagraph (b) and subparagraph (c) of Article 22.3, and it explains that "[b]ecause the withdrawal of concessions solely under the GATS is at present not practicable or effective, and the circumstances are sufficiently serious to justify Antigua and Barbuda exercising its rights under Article 22, Antigua and Barbuda requests authorization to suspend concessions and other obligations under the TRIPS". The United States, in its request for arbitration under Article 22.6, claimed that Antigua's proposal "does not follow the principles and procedures set forth in paragraph 3 of Article 22 of the DSU".
- 2.14 Article 22.3 sets out, in subparagraphs (a) to (c), certain principles and procedures to be followed by a complaining party seeking to suspend concessions or other obligations, as to the sector(s) and/or covered agreement in which the suspension can be sought. Subsequent subparagraphs of Article 22.3 further elaborate on the factors that must be taken into account in applying these principles and procedures as well as the definition of "sectors" for the purposes of this provision and the procedural requirements to be followed in requesting authorization to suspend concessions or other obligations in another sector or under another covered agreement.
- 2.15 Article 22.7, as noted above, provides that "if the matter referred to arbitration includes a claim that the principles and procedures set forth in paragraph 3 have not been followed, the arbitrator shall examine that claim" and that "[i]n the event the arbitrator determines that those principles and procedures have not been followed, the complaining party shall apply them consistent with paragraph 3".
- 2.16 There has only been one dispute to date in which claims relating to the observance of the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU have been considered (*EC Bananas III*). In that dispute, in determining the scope of their authority to review the principles and procedures of subparagraphs (b) and/or (c) of Article 22.3, the arbitrators considered that "the fact that the powers of Arbitrators under subparagraphs (b)-(c) are explicitly provided for in Article 22.6 implies *a fortiori* that the authority of Arbitrators includes the power to review whether the principles and procedures set forth in these subparagraphs have been followed by the Member seeking authorization for suspension".
- 2.17 In this instance, Antigua's request, as noted above, refers both to subparagraph (b) and to subparagraph (c) of Article 22.3. Antigua requested an authorization to suspend obligations both under the GATS and under the TRIPS Agreement. To the extent that it sought to retaliate under the GATS, it sought to do so in a different sector from that in which the violation was found. In addition, Antigua sought an authorization to suspend certain obligations under the TRIPS Agreement. In a subsequent communication, Antigua clarified that it was now seeking an authorization to suspend obligations only under the TRIPS Agreement. 464
- 2.18 Our mandate with respect to Antigua's request to suspend concessions or other obligations under the TRIPS Agreement is therefore to review whether the principles and procedures set forth in the various subparagraphs of Article 22.3 of the DSU have been followed by Antigua, as the Member seeking authorization for suspension in this dispute.

⁴⁶⁰ Recourse by Antigua and Barbuda to Article 22.2 of the DSU, WT/DS285/22, p. 4.

⁴⁶¹ Recourse to Article 22.6 of the DSU by the United States, WT/DS285/23.

 $^{^{462}}$ Decision of the Arbitrators EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), EC – Bananas III (US) (Article 22.6 – EC)

⁴⁶³ Decision of the Arbitrator EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 50.

⁴⁶⁴ See Antigua's response to question No. 46 of the Arbitrator.

3. Order of analysis

- 2.19 As noted above, the DSU provides for specific mandates in respect of the two aspects of the matter before us. To the extent, however, that our determinations in respect of one aspect may have a bearing in our determinations in respect of the other, we consider it appropriate to examine these two aspects in an order that will allow us to fully take into consideration the relevant elements for each determination, and to then make overall conclusions. Specifically, we consider it appropriate, in the circumstances of this dispute, to examine the issues before us in the following order:
 - (a) first, the level of nullification or impairment;
 - (b) second, the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU, taking into account to the extent relevant the level of nullification or impairment as previously determined;
 - (c) third, the US request in relation to equivalence, taking in to account our determination, in the preceding section, as to the sectors and/or covered agreements under which Antigua may seek to suspend obligations;
 - (d) finally, our conclusions.

B. BURDEN OF PROOF AND PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE

- 2.20 Antigua has argued that the burden of proof in Article 22.6 arbitrations is well settled, and that it is not for the complaining party to demonstrate that its request for suspension of concessions or other obligations conforms to the requirements of Article 22, rather that it is for the responding party to establish a prima facie case that the complaining party has not done so. If the responding party is able to establish a prima facie case that the complaining party has not conformed to the requirements of Article 22, then, Antigua argues, the burden shifts to the complaining party to rebut that presumption. 465
- 2.21 In response to a question by the Arbitrator, the United States indicated that it agreed that the party referring the matter to arbitration has the initial burden of showing that the proposed level of suspension is not equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment. At the same time, the United States considers that this burden does not mean that the allegations and factual assertions of Antigua enjoy any presumption of correctness or any special weight simply because Antigua has put them forward.
- 2.22 We note that, although the DSU provides no specific guidance on the allocation of burden of proof in arbitral proceedings under Article 22.6 (or indeed, in other proceedings), previous arbitrators acting pursuant to Article 22.6 of the DSU have addressed this matter and have consistently determined that, as noted by both parties, the burden of proving that the requirements of the DSU have not been met rests on the party challenging the proposed level of suspension. This was first expressed as follows by the arbitrators in EC Hormones:

⁴⁶⁵ Written submission of Antigua, paras. 13 and 14.

⁴⁶⁶ US response to question No. 1 of the Arbitrator, para. 1.

⁴⁶⁷ US response to question No. 1 of the Arbitrator, para. 2.

 $^{^{468}}$ Decision of the Arbitrators US-1916 Act (EC) $(Article\ 22.6-US)$, decision of the Arbitrators para. 3.3; Canada-Aircraft Credits and Guarantees $(Article\ 22.6-Canada)$, paras. 2.5-8; decision of the Arbitrators US-FSC $(Article\ 22.6-US)$, paras. 2.8-11; decision of the Arbitrators Brazil-Aircraft $(Article\ 22.6-Brazil)$, para. 2.8; $EC-Bananas\ III$ (ECU) $(Article\ 22.6-EC)$, paras. 37-41; decision of the arbitrators, EC-Hormones (Canada) $(Article\ 22.6-EC)$, EC-Hormones (US) $(Article\ 22.6-EC)$, para. 9.

"WTO Members, as sovereign entities, can be *presumed* to act in conformity with their WTO obligations. A party claiming that a Member has acted *inconsistently* with WTO rules bears the burden of proving that inconsistency. The act at issue here is the Canadian proposal to suspend concessions. The WTO rule in question is Article 22.4 prescribing that the level of suspension be equivalent to the level of nullification and impairment. The EC challenges the conformity of the Canadian proposal with the said WTO rule. It is thus for the EC to prove that the Canadian proposal is inconsistent with Article 22.4. Following well-established WTO jurisprudence, this means that it is for the EC to submit arguments and evidence sufficient to establish a *prima facie* case or presumption that the level of suspension proposed by Canada is *not* equivalent to the level of nullification and impairment caused by the EC hormone ban. Once the EC has done so, however, it is for the Canada to submit arguments and evidence sufficient to rebut that presumption. Should all arguments and evidence remain in equipoise, the EC, as the party bearing the original burden of proof, would lose."

- 2.23 This means that it is for the United States, in this dispute, to demonstrate in the first instance that the amount in which Antigua seeks to suspend concessions or other obligations is not equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to it.
- 2.24 At the same time, however, we note that the rules on allocation of burden of proof do not relieve the parties from their duty to provide information to the Arbitrator in these proceedings. It has been generally acknowledged in panel proceedings that it is for each party to bring forward the elements to sustain the factual assertions it makes, and that each party has a duty to collaborate in the establishment of the facts. These principles have been applied *mutatis mutandis* in arbitral proceedings under Article 22.6. In particular, it has been acknowledged that information relating to the calculation of the proposed level of suspension is in the hands of the party that has presented the proposal.⁴⁷⁰
- 2.25 We agree with these observations and consider, accordingly, that both parties, including Antigua, have a duty to collaborate in the establishment of the relevant facts. It is in consideration of these elements that we requested Antigua to provide a Methodology Paper explaining how it arrived at its proposed level of suspension at the beginning of these proceedings.
- 2.26 With respect to the US claims that Antigua has not followed the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU, as noted above, only one relevant precedent exists (EC Bananas III). In that dispute, the arbitrator found that the same rules applied for the allocation of burden of proof, namely that it was for the Member challenging the proposal to demonstrate that the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 had not been followed. Specifically, the Arbitrator in that dispute considered that it was "for the European Communities to challenge Ecuador's considerations of the principles and procedures set

⁴⁶⁹ EC – Hormones (Canada) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 9.

 $^{^{470}}$ Decision of the Arbitrators EC – Hormones (Canada) (Article 22.6 – EC), EC – Hormones (US) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 11:

[&]quot;The duty that rests on *all* parties to produce evidence and to collaborate in presenting evidence to the arbitrators – an issue to be distinguished from the question of who bears the burden of proof -- is crucial in Article 22 arbitration proceedings. The EC is required to submit evidence showing that the proposal is *not* equivalent. However, at the same time and as soon as it can, Canada is required to come forward with evidence explaining how it arrived at its proposal and showing why its proposal *is* equivalent to the trade impairment it has suffered. Some of the evidence - such as data on trade with third countries, export capabilities and affected exporters - may, indeed, be in the sole possession of Canada, being the party that suffered the trade impairment. This explains why we requested Canada to submit a so-called methodology paper." (original footnote omitted).

forth in Articles 22.3 (b)-(d)" and that "[o]nce the European Communities has shown prima facie that these principles and procedures have not been followed, and that the factors listed in subparagraph (d) were not taken into account, however, it [was] for Ecuador to rebut such a presumption".

- 2.27 We agree with this approach and thus find that it is for the United States to demonstrate in the first instance that Antigua has not followed the principles of Article 22.3 of the DSU and not taken due account of the factors in subparagraph (d). At the same time, here again, by the very nature of the situation, it is likely that some of the key information relating to the factors to be taken into account and how Antigua has considered these factors, is primarily in the hands of Antigua itself. Indeed, as the Member requesting suspension under another sector or agreement than that in which a violation was found, it was for Antigua to "state the reasons therefore" under Article 22.3 subparagraph (e). 472
- 2.28 We also note that the Working Procedures adopted by the Arbitrator in these proceedings provide that "each party shall submit all factual evidence to the Arbitrator no later than in its written submission to the Arbitrator, except with respect to evidence necessary for the purposes of rebuttal or for answers to questions".
- C. REQUEST BY THE UNITED STATES FOR AN OPEN HEARING
- 2.29 At the organizational meeting, the United States requested the Arbitrator to open to the public its meeting with the parties. The Arbitrator sought and received the views of Antigua on this request. In a written communication addressed to the parties on 21 August 2007, the Arbitrator addressed this request as follows:

"The Arbitrator has considered the US request to open its meeting with the parties to the public. The Arbitrator first notes the absence of a specific provision in the DSU addressing this issue in relation to arbitral proceedings under Article 22.6. The Arbitrator considers that it has a margin of discretion to deal, in accordance with due process, with specific situations, such as this one, that may arise in a particular case and that are not expressly regulated in the DSU. At the same time, it considers that it should, in exercising this discretion, take due account of the views of the parties. In this instance, Antigua opposes the opening of the meeting to the public. In light of this, and bearing in mind the object of the proceedings, the Arbitrator has decided not to allow for the opening of its meeting to the public."

(...)

III. ASSESSMENT OF THE PROPOSED LEVEL OF SUSPENSION

3.1 As noted above in paragraph 1.5, Antigua has requested an authorization to suspend the application to the United States of "concessions and related obligations" of Antigua under the GATS and the TRIPS Agreement, in an amount of an "annual value of US\$3.443 billion", which it considers to

⁴⁷¹ Decision of the Arbitrators EC – Bananas III (Ecuador), (Article 22.6 – EC) para. 59.

⁴⁷² The arbitrators in EC – Bananas III (Ecuador), (Article 22.6 – EC) also recognized this and considered that Ecuador:

[&]quot;[H]ad to come forward and submit information giving reasons and plausible explanations for its initial consideration of the principles and procedures set forth in Article 22.3 that caused it to request authorization under another sector and Agreement than those where violations were found" (decision of the arbitrators, para. 60).

"match the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua and Barbuda". The United States, however, has objected to this proposed level of suspension, pursuant to Article 22.6 of the DSU.

(...)

B. APPROACH OF THE ARBITRATOR

- 3.10 As noted above, Article 22.7 provides that "[t]he arbitrator acting pursuant to paragraph 6 (...) shall determine whether the level of such suspension is equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment (..)". 473
- 3.11 In this instance, we are therefore required to determine whether the amount of US\$3.443 billion proposed by Antigua is equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua. As has been noted by previous arbitrators, for that purpose, we must first determine what the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua is.⁴⁷⁴
- 3.12 Antigua's proposed level of suspension is based on an assessment of the annual amount of trade that it considers that it has lost, as a result of the maintenance of the inconsistent US measures beyond the end of the reasonable period of time for implementation. To calculate the level of such lost trade, Antigua relies on a counterfactual scenario intended to reflect what the situation would have been, if the United States had complied with the DSB [recommendations] and rulings.
- 3.13 The United States does not disagree with the basic approach adopted by Antigua in determining its level of nullification or impairment of benefits. Specifically, the United States agrees that the level of nullification and impairment may be calculated based on a "counterfactual", under which the Member concerned is assumed to have adopted measures in compliance with the DSB recommendations and rulings". 475
- 3.14 We note that this approach has been applied in prior proceedings under Article 22.6 of the DSU.⁴⁷⁶ We agree that the use of a counterfactual to assess the level of exports that would have accrued to Antigua, had the United States complied with the rulings, constitutes an appropriate basis for assessing the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua in this dispute and, in light of the parties' common view in this respect, we accept it as the basis for our determination.
- 3.15 Although the parties are in agreement on the suitability of this general approach, the United States disagrees both with the counterfactual upon which Antigua has based its calculations and with the data used by Antigua to then estimate the level of its lost exports under that counterfactual. The threshold issue of the choice of counterfactual has a crucial bearing on subsequent steps in the determination of the level of nullification or impairment of benefits, as it effectively determines the basis on which subsequent calculations are to be made. We will therefore consider this issue first, before turning to the actual calculation of the level of nullification.

C. CHOICE OF COUNTERFACTUAL

⁴⁷³ See WT/DS27/ARB, para. 4.1 and WT/DS26/ARB para. 3.

⁴⁷⁴ See for example EC – Hormones (Canada), Decision by the arbitrators, para. 35.

⁴⁷⁵ US written submission, para. 14.

 $^{^{476}}$ See in particular EC-Hormones (Canada), Decision by the Arbitrators, para. 37 and EC-Bananas III (United States), para. 7.1.

- 3.16 As described above, Antigua has based its calculation of the level of nullification or impairment it has suffered on a counterfactual under which the United States would open to Antiguan operators the United States market for remote gambling without restriction. Antigua considers that, based on the "full" nature of the commitment made by the United States in its GATS schedule, as well as the findings by the original panel and the Appellate Body that this commitment requires the United States to provide market access to all services within the applicable sector, Antigua has a legitimate right to expect that the United States will comply with that commitment. Antigua further considers that it is completely reasonable for it to assume that the United States will observe its obligations under the "express language of the GATS that requires it to provide Antiguan service providers with full market access to consumers in the United States".
- 3.17 The United States disagrees with the key assumption underlying Antigua's counterfactual, namely that the United States would be assumed to have complied with its obligations by allowing Antiguan operators to provide unrestricted access to cross-border remote gambling and betting services to United States consumers. The United States considers that this scenario is "extraordinarily unrealistic and thus does not form the basis for a useful counterfactual in this arbitration". The United States considers this assumption to have no factual or legal basis and argues that Antigua's proposed scenario entirely ignores the context of this dispute, including the fact that the United States severely restricts, rather than promotes, internet gambling.
- 3.18 The United States considers that the single most important consideration in the Arbitrator's determination with respect to the choice of counterfactual must be the factual context of the dispute, as reflected in the prior proceedings and the DSB recommendations and rulings. The United States notes that in this dispute, it has established its strong public policy and morality rationales for restricting remote gambling, and the Appellate Body indeed agreed that the United States had met its burden of showing that the US measures were provisionally justified under GATS Article XIV. The United States considers that in these circumstances, the only reasonable scenarios for compliance are either a complete ban on remote gambling, or the adoption of measures that allow foreign and domestic operators to engage in remote gambling on horseracing.⁴⁸¹ Specifically, the United States considers that the appropriate counterfactual for the Arbitrator's consideration in these proceedings would be to assume a measure that would open, without discrimination, access to remote gambling services in respect of horseracing only.
- 3.19 We therefore now first examine whether, as the United States asserts, the counterfactual upon which Antigua's determination of the level of nullification or impairment of its benefits is based cannot form the basis for such determination. If we find that the counterfactual proposed by Antigua is not appropriate, we will then need to determine what an appropriate alternative counterfactual could be.

1. Assessment of Antigua's proposed counterfactual

3.20 The US challenge to Antigua's counterfactual arises from the fact that it assumes a means of achieving compliance with the DSB rulings that is, in the view of the United States, "extraordinarily unrealistic" in this dispute. In the view of the United States, there is no factual or legal basis for Antigua to assume that the United States would comply with the DSB's recommendations and rulings in this dispute by providing unrestricted access to its remote gambling sector to Antiguan operators.

⁴⁷⁷ Antigua's response to question No. 2 by the Arbitrator.

⁴⁷⁸ Antigua's Methodology Paper, para. 3.

⁴⁷⁹ US response to questions Nos.3 and 3*bis* of the Arbitrator.

⁴⁸⁰ US response to question No. 5 by the Arbitrator, para. 13.

⁴⁸¹ US response to question No. 5 of the Arbitrator, para. 12.

- 3.21 Antigua's counterfactual is based on an assumption that the United States, by virtue of its specific commitments under the GATS, is required to provide unrestricted access to its remote gambling market to Antiguan operators. Antigua has explained that it is entitled to assume that the United States would comply with its obligations by allowing such access to the United States remote gambling market for Antiguan operators. Antigua finds support for this assumption in particular in the nature of the rulings (a violation of a market access commitment under Article XVI of GATS), as well as in the terms of Article 3.7 of the DSU, which provide that the first objective of the dispute settlement system is usually to secure the withdrawal of the measures concerned if these are found to be inconsistent with the provisions of any of the covered agreements.
- 3.22 The United States acknowledges that the scenario proposed by Antigua would constitute a means of compliance with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. However, it argues that this scenario is "extremely unrealistic". The United States considers that only benefits that can reasonably be expected to accrue to the complaining party can form the basis for the calculation of nullification or impairment of benefits. The United States further considers that the Arbitrator's enquiry "is simply what counterfactual based on the specific facts or circumstances in the dispute and the specific DSB recommendations and rulings would be the most likely form of compliance".
- 3.23 In considering this issue, we first recall that the burden rests upon the United States to demonstrate that the level of suspension proposed by Antigua is not equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment of benefits it has suffered as a result of the continued application of the inconsistent US measures. For that purpose, it would not be sufficient, in our view, for the United States to simply identify the existence of alternative possible means of compliance, other than that envisaged by Antigua in its counterfactual. Rather, for the United States to succeed in its challenge, it must persuade us that the particular scenario identified by Antigua as the basis for its counterfactual is not such as to accurately reflect the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua under the GATS as a result of the continued application by the United States of inconsistent measures.
- 3.24 We do not disagree with the United States that a WTO Member generally has the discretion to determine the means through which it will comply with adverse DSB rulings, provided that such means are consistent with the WTO covered agreements. However, this does not, in our view, imply that the Member concerned has the freedom to decide, for the purposes of a determination under Article 22.7 of the DSU, among a range of potential measures that it might have taken in order to comply with such rulings, which one should form the basis of the arbitrator's assessment. Our mandate under Article 22.7 of the DSU is to determine whether the level of suspension proposed by Antigua is "equivalent" to the level of nullification or impairment of its benefits. Our starting point, in this determination, must be Antigua's proposed level of suspension. In determining whether this proposed level is "equivalent", we must take care to ensure that the level of suspension is neither reduced to a level lower than the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to the complaining party, such as to adversely affect that party's rights, nor exceeds the level of nullification or impairment of benefits, such that it would become punitive. This is the key consideration that must, in our view, guide our assessment of the US challenge to Antigua's choice of counterfactual.

⁴⁸² US response to questions 3 and 3*bis* of the Arbitrator.

⁴⁸³ US answer to question 3 quater of he Arbitrator, para. 10.

⁴⁸⁴ This issue has been addressed in arbitrations under Article 21.3(c) for the determination of the RPT. See for example *Australia – Salmon*, Article 21.3(c) arbitration, para. 30. See also *Korea – Alcoholic Beverages*, Recourse to Article 21.3(c), Decision of the arbitrator, para. 45: "Choosing the means of implementation is, and should be, the prerogative of the implementing Member, as long as the means chosen are consistent with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB and the provisions of the covered agreements".

- 3.25 Specifically, under the methodology proposed here by both parties for the estimation of "lost exports", the counterfactual (and the assumptions that it entails as to what would have constituted compliance) forms the basis for the calculation of the benefits accruing to the complaining party that have been nullified or impaired. It is thus important for the counterfactual to reflect the nature and scope of such benefits accurately, so that the trade flows that will be assumed to occur under the counterfactual can, in turn, provide a reliable basis for an estimation of the level of nullification or impairment of such benefits.
- 3.26 We do not consider that the proposed counterfactual must necessarily reflect the "most likely" scenario of compliance by the Member concerned. By nature, a counterfactual represents a hypothetical scenario and thus there may be, in any given case, a degree of uncertainty as to what exact form compliance might have taken, had it occurred. The Member concerned may have had a range of WTO-consistent options at its disposal to choose from to ensure compliance. It is not for us to speculate on what might have been the "most likely" such scenario.
- 3.27 Nonetheless, the counterfactual should, in our view, reflect at least a plausible or "reasonable" compliance scenario. A counterfactual that would assume a compliance scenario that leads to an implausibly high level of nullification or impairment of benefits would lead to a suspension in excess of the level of nullification or impairment actually suffered. Conversely, a counterfactual that would underestimate the level of benefits accruing to the complaining party would risk leading to an unwarranted reduction of the level of suspension below the level that that complaining party is entitled to seek, namely "equivalence".
- 3.28 We find support for our position in past determinations. We thus note that the arbitrator in *US Bananas III* case selected what it determined to be a "reasonable counterfactual" for the purposes of its calculation, taking into account the circumstances of the case. We also note that in the *US Section 110(5) Copyright Act (Article 25)* dispute⁴⁸⁵, the arbitrator based its determination of the level of nullification or impairment on historical figures on royalty income prior to the introduction of the TRIPS-incompatible limitation to copyright, rather than on a counterfactual that would have assumed no limitations in respect of the right in question. We further note the finding that "the level of royalty income which the European Communities could reasonably expect EC right holders to receive is, in the view of the Arbitrators, limited to licensing revenue from the numbers of users that *would* be licensed" (rather than the entirety of fees that could by law have been collected). We further note the Arbitrator's observation in that dispute that:

It should be recalled, in this context, that the inquiry into the level of benefits which the European Communities could expect to accrue to it if Section 110(5)(B) were brought into conformity with the TRIPS Agreement is hypothetical in nature. The Arbitrators consider that, in such a situation, it is necessary to proceed with caution, such that only those benefits which the European Communities could, in good faith and taking into

⁴⁸⁵ We are aware that the determination of the arbitrator in that case was made pursuant to Article 25 of the DSU, rather than pursuant to Article 22.6 of the DSU. Nonetheless, the nature of the determination entrusted by the parties to the arbitrator in that case was comparable to the determination that we are conducting now, namely a determination of the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to a complaining party as a result of measures that had been found to be inconsistent with a covered agreement (in that case, the TRIPS Agreement).

⁴⁸⁶ US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act (Article 25), Award of the Arbitrators (Article 25 arbitration), paras. 4.7-4.14.

⁴⁸⁷ US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act (Article 25), Award of the Arbitrators (Article 25 arbitration),, para. 3.33.

account all relevant circumstances, expect to derive from Articles 11bis(1)(iii) and 11(1)(ii) are found to be nullified or impaired". 488

- 3.29 In response to a question by the Arbitrator, Antigua commented that, in that case, the parties were not in disagreement over the nature of the benefits that should accrue to the European Communities, but rather over the level of nullification or impairment, and that the "reasonable expectations" at issue did not refer to what was expected of the United States government but to what the European Communities could reasonably expect of non-governmental third-party participants in extracting the full value out of the impaired rights. 489
- 3.30 We agree with Antigua that the circumstances of US Section 110(5) Copyright Act and EC Bananas III differ somewhat from those of the present dispute. Nonetheless, we find that the determinations of the arbitrators in those disputes provide useful guidance as to the nature of our task in these proceedings. Specifically, these determinations confirm us in our view that, to the extent that the estimation of the level of nullification or impairment requires certain assumptions to be made as to what benefits would have accrued, in a situation where compliance would have taken place, such assumptions should be reasonable, taking into account the circumstances of the dispute, in order for the proposed level of suspension to accurately reflect the benefits accruing to the complaining party that have actually been nullified or impaired.
- 3.31 With these considerations in mind, we now turn to an examination of whether the specific counterfactual upon which Antigua bases its calculations accurately reflects the benefits accruing to it in this dispute. As noted above, it is for the United States to demonstrate to us that it does not.
- 3.32 Antigua considers that the nature of the benefits accruing to Antigua is reflected in Article XVI of the GATS and in the US schedule, and that for the purposes of this arbitration, it means that the United States is under an obligation to provide unrestricted market access for Antiguan providers of all cross-border remote gambling and betting services to consumers in the United States. In Antigua's view, whether it should "reasonably" expect such benefit is not an issue, since it has a legal right to enjoy it. 490 Antigua also considers that it is "entitled to ignore the failed Article XIV defences of the United States in making Antigua's assumptions in this proceeding". 491 The United States, however, notes that, in this dispute, the DSB found that the US measures restricting remote gambling were provisionally justified under the public morals exception set out in Article XIV(a) of the GATS, so that Antigua is wrong in asserting that the United States has an unconditional obligation to allow access to each and every type of service covered by the service sectors included in the Member's schedule of GATS commitments. 492 In the US view, the specific problem found with the US measures at issue was with respect to the limited issue of the regulation of remote gambling on horseracing. 493
- 3.33 As we understand it, the question before us therefore essentially turns around whether and how we should take into account, in assessing the proposed counterfactual, the fact that the Appellate Body found that the US measures at issue were "necessary to protect public morals or maintain public order" in

⁴⁸⁸ US – Section 110(5) Copyright Act (Article 25), Award of the Arbitrators, (Article 25 arbitration), para. 3.24, footnote 43.

⁴⁸⁹ Antigua's response to question No. 6*bis* of the Arbitrator, p. 12.

⁴⁹⁰ Antigua's response to question No. 6 by the Arbitrator, p. 9.

⁴⁹¹ Antigua's response to question No. 2 of the Arbitrator, p. 4.

⁴⁹² US written submission, para. 20.

⁴⁹³ US written submission, para. 21.

accordance with paragraph (a) of Article XIV, even though it ultimately found these measures not to be justified under Article XIV.

- Both parties have presented extensive arguments relating to the rulings in the underlying dispute to explain their proposed counterfactuals and justify opposing views on this question. We find it useful, in these circumstances, to consider first the terms of the Appellate Body's rulings in this dispute.
- 3.35 The Appellate Body made, *inter alia*, the following findings:
 - first, with respect to Article XVI of the GATS, the Appellate Body upheld the Panel's finding that:

"by maintaining the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act, the United States acts inconsistently with its obligations under Article XVI:1 and subparagraphs (a) and (c) of Article XVI:2";494

further, with respect to Article XIV of the GATS, the Appellate Body found that:

"the United States has demonstrated that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the Illegal Gambling Business Act are measures 'necessary to protect public morals or maintain public order', in accordance with paragraph (a) of Article XIV, but that the United States has not shown, in the light of the Interstate Horseracing Act, that the prohibitions embodied in those measures are applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing and, therefore, has not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau."⁴⁹⁵

- 3.36 We note that the findings of the Appellate Body contain an initial finding that the measures at issue (three federal laws) are inconsistent with Article XVI of the GATS, followed by findings that these same measures are "necessary to protect public morals or maintain public order" within the meaning of paragraph (a) of Article XIV, but that the United States ultimately "has not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau" of that provision.
- We make no determination in these proceedings as to what exactly the United States might have 3.37 been required to do to implement these specific rulings. Indeed, it would not be within the terms of our mandate to conduct such an assessment. Rather, we assume that the United States may have had various WTO-consistent means at its disposal in order to come into compliance with its obligations in this dispute. Indeed, the parties have presented to us a range of scenarios with vastly divergent impacts on the calculation of the level of nullification or impairment of benefits.⁴⁹⁶ We limit our consideration of these rulings to the extent relevant to our assessment of whether Antigua's counterfactual accurately reflects the

⁴⁹⁴ Appellate Body Report, para. 373(C)(ii).

⁴⁹⁵ Appellate Body Report, para.. 373(D)(vi)(a). In its overall conclusion on Article XIV, the Appellate Body, when noting that the United States had not shown that, in the light of the Interstate Horseracing Act, the prohibitions were applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing, emphasized that "[f]or this reason alone" it found that the United States had not established that these measures satisfied the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV. See Appellate Body Report, para. 372.

⁴⁹⁶ We note, in this respect, that the scenarios identified by the parties in these proceedings as possible means of compliance range from a complete opening to a complete closing of the US remote gambling and betting services market. We also note that, while the parties are in disagreement as to the potential consistency of a scenario of partial opening of the market, they both appear to acknowledge that scenarios involving either a complete opening or a complete closing of the market could constitute a form of compliance with the recommendations and rulings in this case.

benefits accruing to it in this dispute. In other words, as observed above, we consider this matter only to the extent required in order to determine whether Antigua's assumption that the United States would allow unrestricted access to Antiguan remote gambling and betting operators on the US market was reasonable, in the circumstances of the case.

- 3.38 The Appellate Body's finding of a violation of Article XVI of the GATS in the underlying proceedings was based on a finding that the United States had a commitment, under sub-sector 10.D of the GATS, to provide unrestricted access to the cross-border supply of remote gambling and betting services. In light of this, we agree that the nature of the benefits accruing to Antigua in this dispute is reflected in Article XVI of the GATS and in the US Schedule, and that these benefits relate to Antigua's access to the supply of cross-border gambling and betting services in the United States.
- 3.39 The question we must consider, however, is whether Antigua's assumption that such access would come in the form of unrestricted access to the US market with respect to all forms of remote gambling and betting services was reasonable, in the circumstances of this dispute.
- 3.40 Antigua's proposed counterfactual assumes that, as of 3 April 2006 (the end of the reasonable period of time for implementation), the United States would have granted it unrestricted access to its remote gambling market. As Antigua itself notes, it is based on an assumption, by Antigua, that it was entitled to "ignore" the United States invocation of Article XIV of the GATS in the underlying proceedings. The United States objects that this is an "extraordinarily unrealistic" scenario, in view in particular of the fact that the United States bans remote gambling for strong policy reasons of protecting public morality and public order, and that it is entitled under the GATS to maintain such a ban as long as it is not applied in a manner that arbitrarily or unjustifiably discriminates between operators in different jurisdictions 1947. The United States also argues that the specific problem found with the US measures at issue was the "limited issue of the regulation of remote gambling on horse racing".
- 3.41 In considering this question, we find it appropriate to take account of the specific circumstances of this case. We note in this respect that the United States has consistently asserted a public morals and public order policy both in the original proceedings and again in the compliance proceedings as a basis for maintaining restrictions on access to the United States remote gambling market. The United States has thus asserted this policy objective before and beyond the end of the reasonable period of time, which is the date at which the counterfactual situation is assumed to start.
- 3.42 We further note that the Appellate Body found that US measures restricting access to the remote gambling market were "necessary" within the meaning of Article XIV of the GATS for the protection of public morals and public order, and found that the United States had not shown, "in the light of the Interstate Horseracing Act, that the prohibitions embodied in those measures are applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services *for horse racing* and, therefore, had not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau".⁴⁹⁹
- 3.43 In light of these elements, we consider that Antigua's assumption that it could simply "ignore" the failed US defence under Article XIV of the GATS, and that the United States would comply with the rulings by providing unrestricted access to all sectors of its remote gambling market for Antiguan operators, was not reasonable, taking into account the particular circumstances of this dispute.

⁴⁹⁷ US response to question No. 3bis by the Arbitrator, para. 5.

⁴⁹⁸ US written submission, para. 20.

⁴⁹⁹ Appellate Body Report, para. 373 (emphasis added).

- 3.44 In making this determination, we have considered carefully Antigua's arguments that it was entitled by right to expect unrestricted market access, because the United States was obligated to provide such treatment in accordance with Article XVI of the GATS and its specific commitments, and that Antigua was also entitled to expect "withdrawal" of the inconsistent measure (i.e. in this dispute, in Antigua's view, the withdrawal of the US restrictions on access to the remote gambling market), in accordance with Article 3.7 of the DSU.
- 3.45 We agree with Antigua that the United States has an obligation, under Article XVI of the GATS and the US schedule, to provide market access on the cross-border supply of remote gambling services. At the same time, however, the GATS also recognizes the right of Member to regulate in order to meet their national policy objectives⁵⁰⁰ and Article XIV specifically recognizes the possibility of adopting measures necessary to protect public order and public morals. In this dispute, such legitimate policy objectives were consistently invoked by the United States in order to restrict access to its remote gambling market despite the existence of a specific commitment, and the Appellate Body has found that the three federal laws at issue in the proceedings were "measures ... necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order".⁵⁰¹ In these circumstances, a reasonable counterfactual must take into account these US policy objectives.
- 3.46 We also note that while Article 3.7 of the DSU does provide that the objective of dispute settlement proceedings is *usually* the withdrawal of the inconsistent measures, we do not read this provision to mean that this is in all cases the only possible outcome in disputes where a violation of one of the covered agreements has been found. The recommendations of the DSB to the United States in this dispute require it to bring its measures into compliance with the GATS. This did not necessarily require it to "withdraw" the measures by removing entirely the restrictions it maintained on remote gambling and betting services. We note in this respect that the "concept of compliance or implementation prescribed in the DSU" has been described by arbitrators mandated under Article 21.3(c) of the DSU to determine the reasonable period of time for implementation as "the withdrawal *or modification* of a measure, the establishment or application of which by a Member of the WTO constituted the violation of a provision of a covered agreement" (emphasis added). Indeed, we note that Antigua itself appears to agree that a total prohibition on remote gambling and betting services (that is, no market access at all) would in fact also constitute a form of compliance by the United States in this dispute.
- 3.47 In this respect, we note the observations of the compliance panel in this dispute:

"The possible form of measures taken to comply with a recommendation under Article 19.1 of the DSU will depend on the rulings of the DSB in a particular dispute. For example, if a measure has been found inconsistent with a covered agreement, or unjustified under an otherwise available exception, due to the way in which the measure is *applied*, compliance with the recommendation could presumably be achieved by a change in the application of the measure, without necessarily a change to the text of the

⁵⁰⁰ Preamble of the GATS, fourth paragraph.

⁵⁰¹ Para. 373(D)(iii)(c)

⁵⁰² Argentina – Hides and leather, Article 21.3(c), Award of the arbitrator, para. 41.

⁵⁰³ Antigua's response to Question 2ter of the Arbitrator, p. 6 ("Although the total prohibition by the United States of all remote gambling and betting services would not be *expressly* compliant with the DSB rulings, Antigua believes that it may well constitute *de facto* compliance, consistent with the approach of the compliance panel in the *US – Shrimp* dispute.")

measure itself or that of any written implementing measures. The present dispute illustrates this point." ⁵⁰⁴

- 3.48 We also note the observation made by the arbitrator appointed under Article 21.3(c) to determine the reasonable period of time for implementation in this dispute that "I am ... conscious of the fact that any legislation adopted by the United States will inevitably, as the Appellate Body Report demonstrates, bear on questions of public moral and public order". 505
- 3.49 In sum, our conclusion that Antigua's counterfactual is not reasonable, taking into account the circumstances of this dispute, is not modified by our consideration of Antigua's arguments in respect of the nature of its rights under Article XVI of the GATS and of Article 3.7 of the DSU. Rather, our analysis of these elements confirms to us that, as a matter of law, the United States may have had a range of WTO-consistent means at its disposal in order to implement the recommendations and rulings in this dispute, not limited to a complete opening of its remote gambling and betting services market.

2. Alternative counterfactual

- 3.50 Having determined that the counterfactual used by Antigua to estimate the benefits accruing to it in this dispute did not accurately reflect such benefits, we must now determine what would constitute a reasonable counterfactual, in the circumstances of this dispute.
- 3.51 We first recall our determination above that a reasonable counterfactual for the purposes of this dispute would have to take into account the US public policy objective of protecting public morals and public order.
- 3.52 The United States identified, as a potential means of implementation of the DSB's recommendations and rulings in this dispute, a complete prohibition on the provision of remote gambling services in the United States. Antigua appears to agree that this could constitute a form of compliance. However, neither party has suggested that this scenario should form the basis of the calculation of the level of nullification or impairment of Antigua's benefits for the purposes of these proceedings. We therefore do not consider it further.
- 3.53 The other alternative scenario that has been presented to us is that identified by the United States, which assumes that the United States would provide unrestricted market access for remote gambling and betting services only in respect of horseracing gambling and betting.
- 3.54 The United States describes this scenario as the "most likely", and explains that the specific problem found with the US measure at issue was with respect to the limited issue of the regulation of remote gambling on horseracing, and in particular on the United States inability to demonstrate an absence of discrimination under the chapeau of GATS Article XIV with respect to remote gambling services on horseracing. In the view of the United States, nothing in the DSB recommendations required it to clarify or change its measures with respect to other forms of remote gambling. Moreover, according to the United States, nothing in the DSB recommendations and rulings, nor in the chapeau of GATS Article XIV, would require it to treat all types of remote gambling identically, and a counterfactual

⁵⁰⁴ US – Gambling, compliance panel report, para. 6.21.

⁵⁰⁵ Award of the Arbitrator under Article 21.3(c), paras. 46-47.

⁵⁰⁶ US written submission, para. 15.

⁵⁰⁷ See footnote 503.

⁵⁰⁸ US written submission, para. 21.

that allowed remote gambling on horseracing, but disallowed other types of remote gambling, is entirely plausible.⁵⁰⁹

- 3.55 Antigua, however, considers that such a scenario would not bring the United States into compliance. Antigua argues in particular that in the underlying proceedings, the United States alleged that it was entitled to maintain the offending measures by application of Article XIV of the GATS and that it prohibited all remote gambling because, by its very nature, remote gambling presented risks and other pernicious features that were not subject to amelioration through regulation or any other means. In Antigua's view, the United States can therefore not now assert that it is "necessary" to prohibit all remote gambling to protect its citizens if it expressly allows remote gambling in *any* context. Antigua also notes that the United States never argued that remote gambling on horseracing was somehow "safer" than other types of remote gambling, or that Antiguan service providers should be allowed to do only what domestic providers can lawfully do. Antigua further considers that it is not for the Arbitrator in this proceeding to assess whether such hypothetical measures can bring the United States in compliance with its obligations under the GATS.
- 3.56 In approaching this part of our determination, we are mindful that our mandate in these proceedings is not to determine the consistency with the WTO covered agreements of hypothetical compliance measures. We also note that, as we have stated above, whether the scenario at issue is the "most likely", as described by the united States, is not pertinent as such in our determination. Rather, as determined above, we must assess whether the proposed scenario could constitute a "plausible" or "reasonable" compliance scenario, in the circumstances of the dispute, for the purposes of calculating the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua in the dispute.
- 3.57 We first observe, in this respect, that, as the United States noted, the specific aspect of the United States' measures that was found to lead to an arbitrary discrimination within the meaning of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS was the treatment of remote gambling and betting in respect of horseracing. This was the sole basis upon which the Appellate Body determined that the US measures were not justified under Article XIV of the GATS. Specifically, the Appellate Body found that:

"We *find*, instead, that the United States has demonstrated that the Wire Act, the Travel Act, and the IGBA fall within the scope of paragraph (a) of Article XIV, but that it has not shown, in the light of the IHA, that the prohibitions embodied in these measures are applied to both foreign and domestic service suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing. For this reason alone, we *find* that the United States has not established that these measures satisfy the requirements of the chapeau." ⁵¹² (underlined emphasis added)

3.58 In these circumstances, in particular in light of the nature of the findings in the underlying proceedings, we do not find it unreasonable to assume that compliance might have been achieved through the removal of this specific source of discrimination identified by the Appellate Body, that ultimately led the measures to be found not to be justified under Article XIV of the GATS. We also do not find it unreasonable to assume, in the circumstances of the dispute, that it may have been possible for the United States to remove such discrimination by opening access to remote gambling on horseracing for foreign providers. We also note that this is the only segment of the market that is currently already open to

⁵⁰⁹ US written submission, para. 23.

⁵¹⁰ Antigua's response to question No. 2ter of the Arbitrator, p. 6.

⁵¹¹ Antigua's response to question No. 2ter of the Arbitrator, p. 6.

⁵¹² Report of the Appellate Body, para. 372.

domestic providers, so that an extension of this access to foreign providers would seem to require only limited adjustments to the current situation.

- 3.59 In making this determination, we do not make any specific finding or determination as to the exact circumstances under which such opening might take place and what specific conditions might be required for the United States to justify, under the terms of Article XIV of the GATS, such a distinction between the treatment of remote gambling on horseracing and other forms of remote gambling. Rather, we are assuming that a range of implementation options might exist for the United States, not necessarily limited to total prohibition or total opening of its market to remote gambling services.
- 3.60 We also note that the arbitrator appointed under Article 21.3(c) to determine the reasonable period of time for implementation in this dispute made comparable assumptions:
 - "I am ... conscious of the fact that any legislation adopted by the United States will inevitably, as the Appellate Body Report demonstrates, bear on questions of public moral and public order. It seems to me that, within the field of public morals and public order, only prohibitions are simple. In other words, to the extent that the United States may consider authorizing any form of internet gambling or wagering, this will increase the complexity of any legislative solution. The more such activities are authorized, the greater lengths the legislator will have to go to in order to ensure that sufficient safeguards are in place to make the system consistent with, and acceptable under, prevailing standards of public morals and public order. (...) However, the United States has not, in this proceeding, explained in any precise manner how it intends to implement the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. The few indications that it has given suggest that it is leaning more in the direction of 'confirming' or 'clarifying' the prohibitions on the remote supply of gambling and betting services, rather than in the direction of authorizing, even in part, the supply of such services." (emphases added) 513
- 3.61 Having determined that the alternative counterfactual proposed by the United States reflects a reasonable assumption as to a situation in which the United States would have complied with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in the circumstances of this dispute, and thus can be considered to accurately reflect the benefits accruing to Antigua that have been nullified or impaired, we now proceed with the calculation of the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua under this counterfactual.

3. Separate opinion

- 3.62 One of the arbitrators is unable to agree with the analysis and conclusions reflected in paragraphs 0 to 0 above. In the view of this arbitrator, it was not unreasonable for Antigua to assume, in the circumstances of this case, a counterfactual scenario under which the United States would provide unrestricted access to its remote gambling and betting market.
- 3.63 In the view of this arbitrator, it is appropriate to refer, as a starting point, to the findings and conclusions of the panel and the Appellate Body in this case. Specifically, the Appellate Body has determined that, although the three federal laws at issue are measures "necessary to protect public morals or public order", the United States had not demonstrated that they were applied in accordance with the requirements of the chapeau of Article XIV of the GATS.
- 3.64 The Appellate Body made this determination "in light of" only one specific discrimination that it identified in the application of the measures. However, this does not necessarily imply, as the United

⁵¹³ Award of the Arbitrator under Article 21.3(c), paras. 46-47.

States suggests, that the specific problem found with the US measure at issue was restricted to the "limited issue of the regulation of remote gambling on horse racing"⁵¹⁴. Rather, the overall conclusion of the Appellate Body was that *the measures at issue* (rather than simply the discriminatory treatment provided in respect of horseracing) were, as a result, not justified under Article XIV of the GATS. As the compliance panel in this case noted:

"It is true that the Appellate Body found that the United States had demonstrated that the measures at issue were 'justified' under paragraph (a) of Article XIV of the GATS. However, this was *not* a finding on Article XIV in its entirety. The Appellate Body expressly confirmed that Article XIV contemplates a 'two-tier analysis' – first, under one of the paragraphs of Article XIV, and then under the chapeau. There was no finding that the measures were consistent with the chapeau or with Article XIV in its entirety nor, hence, with the United States' obligations under the GATS, and there is no concept recognized under the DSU of provisional or transitional consistency with a recommendation of the DSB."

- 3.65 Article XIV of the GATS allows Members to maintain certain trade-restrictive measures that would otherwise be inconsistent with their obligations under this Agreement, in order to fulfil certain legitimate objectives. However, these measures are required to be applied in such a manner that they do not result in unjustifiable discrimination or disguised restrictions to trade. In other words, the protection afforded by the exceptions under the various paragraphs of Article XIV of GATS is conditional upon an application of the measures at issue that does not turn them into instruments of undue discrimination or protection. In this case, the United States was not able to justify that it applied the measures consistently with these requirements. Furthermore, the compliance panel report also identified further aspects in the application of the measures that could reflect a discriminatory application of the measures at issue, although it made no findings in respect of such aspects.⁵¹⁶
- 3.66 This arbitrator agrees with the determination in paragraph 3.41 above that it is appropriate to take into account the specific circumstances of the case in order to assess whether the counterfactual proposed by Antigua accurately reflects the benefits accruing to Antigua under the GATS that have been nullified or impaired in this case. However, this arbitrator considers that, in the circumstances of this case, it was not unreasonable for Antigua to base its counterfactual on an assumption that the United States would open its market to the cross-border provision of remote gambling services. Such an assumption is fully compatible with the nature of the Appellate Body's findings in this case, as analysed above. In fact, as noted above, the United States itself acknowledges that this scenario would constitute compliance with the DSB recommendations and rulings in this case.
- 3.67 By contrast, it is not clear that the alternative counterfactual scenario envisaged by the United States, which involves a partial opening of a limited segment of the market, constitutes a more reasonable assumption in the circumstances of the case. In particular, assuming, for the sake of argument, that such a scenario would constitute compliance with the recommendations and rulings of the DSB in this case (something that is not within our mandate to determine), it is not clear how the United States proposes to reconcile the protection of public morals or public order with the opening of one segment of the market (horseracing).
- 3.68 In light of the above, this arbitrator is not persuaded that the United States has demonstrated that Antigua's proposed counterfactual was unreasonable in the circumstances of the case.

⁵¹⁵ US – Gambling, compliance panel report, para. 6.29 (original footnotes omitted).

⁵¹⁴ US written submission, para. 20.

⁵¹⁶ See the developments on intrastate commerce, Compliance Panel Report, at paras. 6.118 to 6.123.

- 3.69 This does not imply, however, that this scenario would constitute the only way in which the United States could have complied with these recommendations and rulings. As noted above, Members are free to choose the WTO-consistent means by which they will comply with DSB rulings, and there may be a number of ways in which the United States could have complied, and still could comply, with the rulings in this case. Nor does this determination imply that US policy objectives should not be taken into account. On the contrary, this arbitrator agrees with the determination of the majority that a reasonable counterfactual must take into account the US policy objectives, as stated in para. 3.45 above. In that sense, nothing would require the US to abandon its objective of protecting public morals or public order, under Article XIV(a) of the GATS, in implementing, in the future, the recommendations and rulings of the DSB. Indeed, it is quite conceivable that the United States could have found ways in which to address these concerns while protecting such interests. Other WTO Members have chosen to open their market to remote gambling, and it would not be reasonable to assume that such Members do not also have similar policy objectives.
- 3.70 This arbitrator also notes Antigua's argument that the objective of inducing compliance with the rulings of the DSB is to be taken into account in the Arbitrator's assessment of Antigua's counterfactual. In the view of this arbitrator, the objective of inducing compliance cannot lead to suspension being authorized in excess of equivalence with the level of nullification or impairment of benefits, as foreseen in Article 22.6 of the DSU, and this must remain the benchmark against which the proposed level of suspension is assessed. At the same time, however, in a situation where different means of compliance might form the basis of a counterfactual in order to determine the level of nullification or impairment of benefits, the complaining party would not be prevented from selecting a counterfactual that may lead to a higher level of nullification or impairment than others, provided that such counterfactual is reasonable.
- 3.71 In should be borne in mind, in this respect, that the Member concerned has had the opportunity to comply with the rulings at issue, and that the very reason for the existence of countermeasures under the DSU is to induce compliance with the covered agreement that has not taken place within the period foreseen in the DSU. In these circumstances, the complainant is by necessity obliged to make certain assumptions as to how compliance might have taken place. This has no implications, however, as to the means through which the Member concerned might actually choose to comply in the future, possibly including, in this case, through the adoption of measures that involve a restriction to trade fully consistent with the provisions of Article XIV of GATS.
- 3.72 Finally, although this arbitrator disagrees with the conclusions reached by the majority of the Arbitrator in respect of the choice of counterfactual, it nonetheless sees no added value in pursuing the calculations on the basis of Antigua's counterfactual, which the majority of the Arbitrator does not consider to be reasonable. Accordingly, the assessments and calculations in the following section reflect the common view of the Arbitrator as to the calculation of the level of nullification or impairment, on the basis of the counterfactual proposed by the United States.
- 3.73 This arbitrator also wishes to highlight that, even if calculations had been pursued on the basis of Antigua's proposed counterfactual, a number of parameters would have had to be taken into account. In particular, due account would have had to be taken of the fact that, in a scenario under which the United States would open the entirety of its remote gambling market, Antigua would face competition not only from other foreign operators but also from domestic US operators that currently also have no access to the market.
- D. CALCULATION OF THE LEVEL OF NULLIFICATION

(...)

3. Approach of the Arbitrator

- 3.172 At the outset, we note that the approaches by both parties are radically different in terms of both the underlying data and the methodology used to determine Antigua's counterfactual levels of exports of remote gambling services to the United States. Both parties have made a number of valid arguments criticizing key aspects of the approach proposed by the other party. We feel unable to rely on the approach used by Antigua, as laid out in its methodology paper, in calculating the requested amount of countermeasures. At the same time, the approach put forward by the United States does not represent a convincing alternative either.
- 3.173 We, therefore, have no choice but to adopt our own approach. In so doing, we feel we are on shaky grounds solidly laid by the parties. The data is surrounded by a degree of uncertainty. For most variables, the data consists of proxies for what needs to be measured, and observations are too few to allow for a proper econometric analysis. Certain data that we have requested and that, to some extent, could have remedied this situation has not been provided. On methodological questions, parties, in a number of respects, have retained their extreme positions and have failed to propose alternative solutions that would have taken into account the exchange of arguments.
- 3.174 Hence, we are left with preciously little information and guidance. Nevertheless, we will attempt to stay as closely to the approaches proposed by parties as possible and to make a maximum use of the limited information base we were given, in particular to carry out some sensitivity analysis in support of our main approach. We will broadly follow the spirit of Antigua's original approach, while making the necessary adjustments in light of our analysis above. We will proceed in four steps. First, we will seek to establish a workable assumption about Antigua's revenues from remote gambling services exports to the United States. Second, we will adjust this time series for the apparent impact of competing suppliers. Third, we will determine a plausible share of betting services on horseracing in Antigua's total revenues from remote gambling. Finally, we will take account of developments in US demand for gambling services on horseracing.
- (a) Antigua's exports of remote gambling services to the United States
- 3.175 In view of the non-reporting of remote gambling services data by Antigua and the consequent non-inclusion of such information in the relevant categories of the services trade statistics compiled by the ECCB/IMF/WTO, we are left with no real alternative to the GBGC ["Global Betting and Gaming Consultants", a private gambling consultant group that issues the Qarterly eGaming Statistics Report] data for a time series of Antigua's revenues from remote gambling. We have to assume that such revenues indeed constitute exports, i.e. that the domestic market in Antigua is negligible and that the allocation of revenues to various jurisdiction has been done according to the actual location of operations. On the basis of some of the additional information provided, we can check whether the order of magnitude of the GBGC data is not out of line with other statistics. Notably, we will calculate an average of revenues per employee using the public company data provided by Antigua. Another interesting point of comparison would have been an estimation of total revenues on the basis of the 2001 wage bill in Antigua's remote gambling sector, but, unfortunately, we were not provided with any evidence as to the average share of wages in total revenues.

(i) GBGC data

3.176 We note that the GBGC data on Antigua's annual remote gambling revenues for the years 1999-2006 from the October 2007 release of the Quarterly eGaming Statistics Report has been significantly revised downwards, especially for the years before 2002, compared to the data of the May release, which was used by Antigua in its methodology paper. Given GBGC's own corrections, we feel, of course, compelled to use the most recent update of the data. We also recall that these figures constitute Antigua's

⁵¹⁷ Antigua responses to questions by the Arbitrator, Exhibits AB-14(1) and AB-14(2).

global revenues and that no information on bilateral exports of gambling services from Antigua to the United States has been provided. However, Antigua provides some anecdotal evidence that the US share in Antigua's total revenues from remote gambling should be around 80 per cent. In the absence of better information and of any indication about how this share has developed over time, we feel that the most we can do is to reduce the GBGC time series of Antiguan remote gambling revenues by 20 per cent to obtain an estimate of its revenues from the United States and to do at least some justice to our impression that the United States indeed represents the dominant market for Antigua.

3.177 Like Antigua (in two of its three models) and the United States, we take the 2001-2002 period as the turning point when the US measures began to affect Antiguan exports of remote gambling services to the United States. Following the basic idea of Antigua's constant revenue methodology, we calculate the difference between Antigua's 2001 revenues and its actual revenues in each year 2002 to 2006. From these numbers, we determine the average annual revenue loss in the US market for Antigua to be about \$304 million, according to the GBGC data. 518

3.178 However, only part of this loss is due to the US measures. By the same token, the assumption that Antigua's revenues would have remained constant represents a conservative starting point, since Antigua may well have benefited from an increase in US demand (that may have increased Antigua's revenues or cushioned its loss to competitors compared to the 2001 level). To take account of market developments, Antigua, in its methodology paper, proposes to use either a constant market share or constant growth methodology. We think that the constant market share methodology is not appropriate for a number of reasons. As was said before, Antigua's market share may be influenced by a number of events totally unrelated to the question at hand. Also, it is unlikely that an early mover advantage in a market with seemingly low barriers to entry guarantees a constant market share; to the contrary, as long as "supernormal" profits can be earned in a particular market, one would expect new entry and declining market shares of early entrants, even if revenues continue to grow. Most importantly, the GBGC data itself shows signs of increased competition that do not justify such an assumption. Concerning Antigua's constant growth assumption, we think that its 2001 revenues are the product of extraordinary growth in the early years and, if anything, would grow at a decelerating rather than linear rate, more in line with an S-curve pattern commonly observed in competitive markets. Despite the very limited number of observations, a logistic curve can be fit to the pre-2002 Antiguan revenue data, using the Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm. Its saturation point κ converges to US\$1,411 million. Taking this value as a benchmark, the average annual loss would have been US\$411 million. Yet, we are not going to pursue this approach further preferring instead to model the impact of competition as well as possible increases in United States demand directly.

(ii) Revenues per employee

3.179 As stated above, we use the information on revenues per employee from public listed companies as well as the data on employment in the remote gambling sector provided by Antigua to conduct a rough test of the order of magnitude of Antigua's remote gambling revenues.⁵¹⁹ The data for seven publicly listed companies (three of which are licensed in Antigua) was taken from annual reports and is available for the years 2001 (for some companies 2002, 2003 or 2004) to 2006. Taking the average over those years gives an annual value of about \$446,000/employee, and \$447,000/employee if extreme values are removed.⁵²⁰ Multiplying the former value by the difference between the number of employees in 2001 and the number of employees in each year 2002 to 2006 (adjusted for the assumed 80 per cent US market

⁵¹⁸ See Annex E, Annex Table 1.

⁵¹⁹ Antigua response to question No. 21 by the Arbitrator, pages 18-19 and Exhibit AB-17.

⁵²⁰ See Annex E, Annex Table 2.

share) and taking the average over those years results in an average annual revenue loss of about \$196 million. 521

3.180 In the following, we will make further adjustments to both of these numbers.

(b) Competing suppliers

- 3.181 Analysing the arguments by parties and the available evidence, we have found that we cannot agree with either extreme position taken by parties that either none or all of Antigua's loss in market share experienced since 2002 is due to its loss of competitiveness vis-à-vis providers from other locations. Using the October release of the GBGC data provided by Antigua, we find it particularly revealing that world revenues increase for both individual countries/territories in the region, namely Costa Rica, Curaçao and the Khanawake Territory, as well as for the South/Central America and Caribbean region as a whole, while the opposite is true for Antigua. As discussed above, it seems reasonable to us to assume that countries in the region compete with Antigua for the US market and *a priori* should be affected similarly by the US measures than Antigua. While these countries also lose global market share between 2002 and 2006, this decline is less pronounced than that for Antigua. In order to operationalize the notion of competition, we interpret the underperformance of Antigua since 2002 in terms of its contribution to the regional share in global remote gambling revenues as a loss in competitiveness by Antigua compared to its main competitors that it would have suffered even in the absence of the US measures. If this is so, only part of the revenue loss calculated in 0 and 0 above should be attributed to the US measures.
- 3.182 To make the necessary adjustments, we proceed as follows: Assuming that Antigua would have continued to do as well as its Central/South American and Caribbean competitors, its contribution to the region's global market share would have remained constant at the 2001 value. However, its contribution declined each year to reach about half of its 2001 value in 2006.⁵²² Hence, the revenue loss by Antigua should be corrected for by the decline in its relative contribution to the region's global market share for each year 2002 to 2006. If this is done the average annual revenue loss calculated in 0 and 0 above is reduced to \$164 million and \$128 million respectively.⁵²³
- 3.183 If, in addition, we include the Khanawake Territory in the group of regional competitors, the average annual revenue loss calculated in 0 and 0 above would only amount to \$118 million and \$108 million respectively. However, while inclusion of the Khanawake Territory makes sense conceptually, we prefer to avoid the use of country-specific information, besides Antigua, as far as possible, since we have more confidence in GBGC's global and regional estimates. Specifically, for the Khanawake Territory, we note some small inconsistencies in certain years with the North America total of revenues by operator location that, unlike for Antigua, have not been corrected between the May and October 2007 releases of the GBGC database.

(c) Gambling on horseracing

3.184 In light of the chosen counterfactual and our analysis above in III.D.2(b)(ii), we have identified two strategies concerning an approximation of the unknown share of gambling on horseracing in Antigua's exports of remote gambling services to the US, which seem preferable over the other possible options identified by parties. The first option is to use the GBGC data combining remote and non-remote revenues from gambling on horseracing in various regions of the world. It is not clear whether the regional numbers refer to player or operator location. Since the main markets are separated out, it may

⁵²¹ See Annex E, Annex Table 3.

⁵²² See Annex E. Annex Table 4.

⁵²³ See Annex E, Annex Table 5.

refer to the former; however, the figure for sportsbetting in North America is rather small. Hence, it is probably more prudent to take the world total. Globally, the share of horseracing in all gambling activities declines from 13 per cent in 2001 to 9 per cent in 2006, while the total amount stays about constant. Applying the average share of 11 per cent to the figures in boldface calculated in 0 above, one obtains an estimated annual revenue loss by Antigua from gambling on horseracing of about \$18 million and \$14 million respectively.

3.185 If the 7 per cent share of gambling on horseracing in the United States non-remote market is used (based on the average for the years 2003 to 2006), the amounts calculated 0 above would be reduced to about \$11 million and \$9 million respectively.

(d) Growth in US demand

- 3.186 As we said above in III.D.3(a)(i), we need to take account of the possible growth in the US remote gambling market, in this case in the horseracing segment of the market, that Antigua may have been able to take advantage of in the absence of the US measures. Parties have provided alternative datasets in that regard. Antigua has provided data showing that revenues from the gambling market on horseracing in North America have practically stagnated between 2001 and 2006. Fitting a linear time trend through the data, the world market has barely done better growing at an average of 0.5 per cent annually. This would only marginally affect the estimated annual revenue losses by Antigua from gambling on horseracing calculated in III.D.3(c) (in boldface), which remain at about US\$18 million and US\$14 million.
- 3.187 However, the remote gambling statistics for the North American market may be biased by the effects of the US measures. This is why we prefer to work with the data provided by the United States on pari-mutuel net receipts in the non-remote gambling market from BEA statistics on consumption expenditures, although these figures may still be influenced by a degree of substitution from remote to non-remote gambling on horseracing due the impact of the US measures on foreign suppliers. The United States provides data for the non-remote gambling market from 1995 to 2006, which includes a breakdown of pari-mutuel net receipts, 90 per cent of which are believed to be accounted for by betting on horseracing. Over the 2001-2006 time period, expenditures in that segment grew by 5 per cent annually on average (the same is true if the whole time period is used to calculate a linear trend). Applying the resulting compound growth rate to the amounts (in boldface) calculated in III.D.3(c) results in an average annual revenue loss for Antigua of about \$23 million or \$18 million respectively.

4. Conclusion

- 3.188 Taking account of the data uncertainties we have discussed earlier, we have decided to take the average of the two figures we calculated in paragraph 3.187 above in making our final award. Averaging and rounding to the next full million results in an amount of **US\$21 million**.
- 3.189 We therefore find that the annual level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua is US \$21 million.

IV. PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES OF ARTICLE 22.3 OF THE DSU

4.1 As noted in Section I.B, Antigua requested to be authorized to suspend concessions and other obligations under the GATS and the TRIPS Agreement, in accordance with the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU.

(...)

B. OVERALL APPROACH BY THE ARBITRATOR

- 4.10 Article 22.3 sets out certain principles and procedures to be followed by a complaining party seeking to suspend concessions, as to the sector(s) and/or covered agreement in which the suspension can take place, which the United States claims that Antigua did not follow in its request.
- 4.11 Article 22.7 of the DSU provides that "if the matter referred to arbitration includes a claim that the principles and procedures set forth in paragraph 3 have not been followed, the arbitrator shall examine that claim" and that "[i]n the event the arbitrator determines that those principles and procedures have not been followed, the complaining party shall apply them consistent with paragraph 3". We are therefore required to examine the US claim that Antigua has not followed the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU.
- 4.12 As a general principle, Article 22.3(a) of the DSU provides that suspension of concessions or other obligations should first be sought in the same sector as that in which a violation was found. Article 22.3 provides in relevant part that:

"In considering what concessions or other obligations to suspend, the complaining party shall apply the following principles and procedures:

- (a) the general principle is that the complaining party should first seek to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector(s) as that in which the panel or Appellate Body has found a violation or other nullification or impairment."
- 4.13 Subparagraphs (b), (c) and (d) of Article 22.3 further specify the principles and procedures to be followed by a complaining party wishing to seek suspension in another sector, or another agreement, than that in which a violation was found:
 - "(b) if that party considers that it is not practicable or effective for it to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector(s), it may seek to suspend concessions or other obligations in other sectors under the same agreement;
 - (c) if that party considers that it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to other sectors under the same agreement, and that the circumstances are serious enough, it may seek to suspend concessions or other obligations under another covered agreement."
- 4.14 In addition, subparagraph (d) provides that:
 - "(d) in applying the above principles, that party shall take into account:
 - (i) the trade in the sector or under the agreement under which the panel or the Appellate Body has found a violation or other nullification or impairment, and the importance of such trade to that party;
 - (ii) the broader economic elements related to the nullification or impairment and the broader economic

consequences of the suspension of concessions or other obligations."

- 4.15 In considering our mandate with respect to the principles and procedures set forth in Article 22.3 of the DSU, we find it useful to refer to the analysis of the arbitrators in the EC Bananas III (Ecuador) case. As noted in Section I.A above, in determining the scope of their authority to review the principles and procedures relating to requests for suspension of concessions or other obligations under subparagraphs (b) and/or (c), the arbitrators in that case considered that "the fact that the powers of arbitrators under subparagraphs (b)-(c) are explicitly provided for in Article 22.6 implies a fortiori that the authority of Arbitrators includes the power to review whether the principles and procedures set forth in these subparagraphs have been followed by the Member seeking authorization for suspension". 524
- 4.16 The arbitrators then considered the terms of Article 22.3, including the fact that a certain margin of appreciation is left to the complaining party in arriving at conclusions in respect of certain factual elements (i.e. "if that party considers" in subparagraphs (b) and (c)) as well as the fact that the party concerned is required to apply the principles of Article 22.3 (i.e. "shall apply the following principles and procedures" in the introductory clause of Article 22.3). On the basis of that textual analysis, the arbitrators determined that:

"[T]he margin of review by the Arbitrators implies the authority to broadly judge whether the complaining party in question has considered the necessary facts objectively and whether, on the basis of these facts, it could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective to seek suspension within the same sector under the same agreements, or only under another agreement provided that the circumstances were serious enough." ⁵²⁵

- 4.17 The arbitrators in the EC Bananas III (Ecuador) case also considered more broadly the terms of Article 22.3 and noted that "these provisions imply a sequence of steps towards WTO-consistent suspension of concessions or other obligations which respects both a margin of appreciation for the complaining party as well as a margin of review by Arbitrators, if a request for suspension under Article 22.2 is challenged under Article 22.6". 526
- 4.18 We agree with these determinations. Specifically, we agree that the principles and procedures set forth in Article 22.3 of the DSU, which require the complaining party to make certain determinations, imply "a margin of appreciation" for the complaining party in making these determinations. At the same time, Article 22.3 sets out specific principles and procedures, that the complaining party must follow, and we understand the role of the arbitrator acting pursuant to Article 22.7 of the DSU to involve a review of whether those principles and procedures have been followed. We agree with the arbitrators in *EC Bananas III (Ecuador)* that this includes a determination "whether the complaining party in question has considered the necessary facts objectively" and also "whether, on the basis of these facts, it could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective to seek suspension within the same sector under the same agreements, or only under another agreement provided that the circumstances were serious enough".
- 4.19 Turning now to the specific principles and procedures set forth in Article 22.3 of the DSU, we first note that, as observed by the arbitrators in EC Bananas III (Ecuador), "these provisions imply a

⁵²⁴ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Bananas III, (request by Ecuador), para. 50.

⁵²⁵ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Bananas III, (request by Ecuador), para. 52.

⁵²⁶ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Bananas III, (request by Ecuador), para. 55.

sequence of steps towards WTO-consistent suspension of concessions or other obligations".⁵²⁷ In other words, as Antigua has expressed it, Article 22.3 of the DSU provides a "hierarchy" of remedies that a complaining party must follow in determining in which sectors or under which agreements suspension of concessions or other obligations can be sought, namely (1) seek to suspend in the same sector in the same agreement, (2) seek to suspend under another agreement.⁵²⁸

- 4.20 In this instance, Antigua first indicated in its request that it "may" suspend "horizontal and/or sectoral concessions and obligations for the following sector contained in the Antigua schedule: 2. Communication services", as well as under the TRIPS Agreement. However, it now considers that suspension of concessions or other obligations under the GATS, whether in the sector in which a violation was found or in other sectors, is not practicable or effective, and that the circumstances were serious enough, so that it may seek to suspend concessions or other obligations under the TRIPS Agreement (under which no violation was found). 529
- 4.21 Since Antigua seeks to suspend obligations under another covered agreement than that in which a violation was found (i.e. the TRIPS Agreement rather than the GATS), this implies that it made two successive determinations, under the "sequence of steps" foreseen in Article 22.3 of the DSU: first, a determination that it was not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations in the sector in which a violation was found, in accordance with Article 22.3 (b), and secondly, a determination that it was also not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations under another sector within the agreement in which a violation was found, and that the circumstances were serious enough, so that it was entitled to seek suspension of concessions or other obligations under another agreement as foreseen in subparagraph (c). We will consider these two aspects in turn.

C. Preliminary observations

- 4.22 Before we start our assessment of Antigua's determinations, we find it useful to make some preliminary observations to take into account the fact that we have found, in Section III above, that the annual level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua is in the amount of US\$ 21 million, rather than US\$3.443 million as estimated by Antigua.
- 4.23 Antigua's arguments in relation to the availability of suspension of concessions or other obligations under the GATS rely in part on assumptions concerning the amount of suspension that it is entitled to. Specifically, Antigua has explained that the "first and most fundamental reason" for which it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations under the GATS is that the volume of its imports from the United States in services is nowhere near sufficient to absorb the level of suspension of concessions that it is entitled to. The United States, for its part, considers that Antigua's argument is flawed because the amount of the request is out of line with any economic reality. Once the level is recalculated, the United States argues, it is in line with Antigua's services imports and suspension of services concessions is possible (and required).

⁵²⁷ Decision by the arbitrators, EC – Bananas III, (request by Ecuador), para. 55.

⁵²⁸ Antigua's written submission, paras. 16 to 21.

⁵²⁹We take note of the fact that Antigua has modified its assessment of the practicability or effectiveness of suspending concessions or other obligations under the GATS in the course of its proceedings, in that it no longer considers, as it had suggested in its request for authorization to suspend, that it "may" suspend concessions or other obligations in telecommunications services. For the purposes of our assessment, we consider Antigua's determinations as clarified in the course of the proceeding, that is, its determination that it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations in any sector under the GATS.

⁵³⁰ Antigua's written submission, para. 48.

- 4.24 We agree that, to the extent that the annual level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua exceeds the total annual level of imports of services by Antigua from the United States, it would not be possible for Antigua to suspend obligations only in the services sector to cover the entire level of nullification or impairment. However, we have determined in paragraph 3.188 above that the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua is significantly lower than Antigua had estimated, at US\$21 million. We will therefore take this finding into account, in reviewing Antigua's determinations.
- 4.25 With these preliminary considerations in mind, we now turn to Antigua's determination that suspension of concessions or other obligations is not practicable or effective, in the same sector as that in which a violation was found, or in any other sector under the GATS.

D. REVIEW OF ANTIGUA'S DETERMINATION IN RESPECT OF "SAME-SECTOR" SUSPENSION

- 4.26 As noted above, it is only if the complaining party considers that it is "not practicable or effective" to suspend obligations with respect to the same sector that it may seek to suspend obligations in other sectors (or, ultimately, under another agreement). In addition, Article 22.3 subparagraph (d) requires the complaining party to take into account two specific aspects in applying the principles of paragraphs (a) to (c).
- 4.27 We have determined in the previous section that our task is to examine whether, in making a determination in this case, Antigua, as the complaining party, has considered the necessary facts objectively and whether, on the basis of these facts, it could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective to seek suspension with respect to the same sector within the same agreement.
- 4.28 In order to conduct this assessment, we must clarify the elements that are relevant to such determination, and specifically the meaning of the terms "not practicable or effective" within the terms of Article 22.3(b), as well as the role of the elements identified in subparagraph (d) in this assessment, before turning to Antigua's determination in this case.

1. The principles and procedures of Article 22.3(b)

- 4.29 In the EC Bananas III (Ecuador) case, the arbitrators analyzed the meaning of the criteria of "practicability" and "effectiveness" in subparagraphs (b) and (c) of Article 22.3 of the DSU in some detail, as well as the role of the elements referred to in subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3 of the DSU. The arbitrators in that case determined *inter alia* that:
 - an examination of the "practicability" of an alternative suspension concerns the question whether such an alternative is available for application in practice, as well as suited for being used in a particular case;⁵³¹
 - in contrast, the thrust of the "effectiveness" criterion empowers the party seeking suspension to ensure that the impact of that suspension is strong and has the desired result, namely to induce compliance by the Member which fails to bring WTO-inconsistent measures into compliance with DSB rulings within a reasonable period of time;⁵³²
 - a consideration by the complaining party of the practicability and the effectiveness of an alternative suspension within the same sector or under the same agreement does not need to

⁵³¹ EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), para.70.

⁵³² EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 72.

lead to the conclusion that such an alternative suspension is both not practicable and not effective in order to meet the requirements of Article 22.3;⁵³³

- these criteria have to be read in combination especially with the factors set out in subparagraphs (i) and (ii) of Article 22.3(d) which, as the introductory clause of subparagraph (d) stipulates, the complaining party seeking authorization for suspension shall take into account in applying the above principles, i.e. those provided for in subparagraphs (a)-(c).⁵³⁴
- 4.30 We consider that these interpretations provide a useful starting point for our assessment of Antigua's determination that it was not practicable or effective for it to suspend obligations with respect to the same sector under the GATS.
- 4.31 With respect to the elements referred to in subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3, which the complaining party is required to "take into account" in making its determination, we also find it useful to refer to the interpretations of the arbitrators in EC Bananas III (Ecuador).
- 4.32 With respect to the reference in subparagraph (d)(i) to "the trade in the sector or under the agreement under which the panel or Appellate Body has found a violation" and the "importance of such trade" to the complaining party, that arbitrators did not "exclude the possibility" that trade in the entirety of the relevant sector or agreement may be pertinent, but considered that these criteria related primarily to trade nullified or impaired by the WTO-inconsistent measure at issue.
- 4.33 In our view, the ordinary meaning of the terms of subparagraph (d)(i) suggests that a consideration of the entirety of "trade in the sector" under which a violation was found is pertinent, rather than, as the EC Bananas III (Ecuador) arbitration suggests, primarily the "trade nullified or impaired by the WTO-inconsistent measure at issue". This appears to us also to be consistent with the context of this provision as well as with its object and purpose.
- 4.34 First, the term "sector" is also referred to in subparagraph (b), where it defines the scope of the examination to be conducted. The term "sector" is also specifically defined for the purposes of Article 22.3 in subparagraph (f). We therefore find it appropriate to give the term "sector" in subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3 of the DSU the meaning that has been ascribed to it in subparagraph (f) of the same provision, and to assume, reading the terms "trade in the sector" in their context, that there should be parallelism between the sector in which the practicability and effectiveness of suspension is being considered and the trade to be taken into account in making this determination. In other words, in order to determine whether suspension is practicable or effective in a certain sector, it is appropriate to take into account all the trade in that sector and its importance to the complaining party. This also appears to us consistent with the purpose of this provision, which is to provide certain objective parameters to guide the conduct of such determinations.
- 4.35 In addition, subparagraph (ii) of Article 22.3(d) requires the complaining party to take into account "the broader economic elements related to the nullification or impairment" as well as "the broader economic consequences" of the suspension of concessions or other obligations. In respect of these factors, the arbitrators in the EC Bananas III (Ecuador) case determined that:

"The fact that the former criterion relates to 'nullification or impairment' indicates in our view that this factor primarily concerns 'broader economic elements' relating to the Member suffering such nullification or impairment, i.e. in this case Ecuador.

⁵³³ EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 74.

⁵³⁴ EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 79.

We believe, however, that the fact that the latter criterion relates to the suspension of concessions or other obligations is not necessarily an indication that 'broader economic consequences' relate exclusively to the party which was found not to be in compliance with WTO law, i.e. in this case the European Communities. As noted above, the suspension of concessions may not only affect the party retaliated against, it may also entail, at least to some extent, adverse effects for the complaining party seeking suspension, especially where a great imbalance in terms of trade volumes and economic power exists between the two parties such as in this case where the differences between Ecuador and the European Communities in regard to the size of their economies and the level of socio-economic development are substantial."

- 4.36 We agree with these determinations.
- 4.37 In conclusion, we understand subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3 to require a consideration, by the complaining party, of the following elements:
 - (a) the trade in the relevant sector (as defined in subparagraph (f)) and the importance of such trade to the complaining party (in this case Antigua), including considerations relating to the relative importance of that trade to the complaining party and to the Member to which the requested suspension would apply (the United States);
 - (b) "broader economic elements" relating to the Member suffering the nullification or impairment (in this case Antigua);
 - (c) "broader economic consequences" of the suspension of concessions or other obligations, both for the party which was found not to be in compliance with WTO law (the United States) and for the complaining party (Antigua).
- 4.38 With these general considerations in mind, we now review Antigua's determination that it was not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector as that in which a violation was found under the GATS in this case.

2. Review of Antigua's determination that is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations in the "same sector"

- 4.39 In order to review Antigua's determination, we find it useful to first clarify what the relevant "sector" is, as well as the scope of the "concessions or other obligations" to be considered. We will then turn to Antigua's determination on the practicability and effectiveness of suspension of these obligations, including its consideration of the factors identified in subparagraph (d).
- (a) Identification of the relevant sector and scope of obligations to be considered
- 4.40 Subparagraph (a) of Article 22.3 provides that :

"[T]the general principle is that the complaining party should first seek to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector(s) as that in which the panel or Appellate Body has found a violation or other nullification or impairment" (emphasis added).

⁵³⁵ EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), paras. 85-86.

4.41 Article 22.3 (f) of the DSU further defines the term "sector" for the purposes of Article 22.3. Specifically, it defines the term "sector" as meaning:

"[W]ith respect to trade in services, a principal sector as identified in the current "Services Sectoral Classification List" which identifies such sectors".

- 4.42 As is clarified in footnote 14 of the DSU, this list is contained in document MTN.GNS/W/120, which identifies 11 principal sectors.
- 4.43 In this case, a violation was found in sub-sector "10.D" (Sporting and Other recreational services). The "principal sector" in which the violation was found, as defined in Article 22.3(f), is therefore Sector 10 ("Recreational, Cultural and Sporting Services"). Antigua has confirmed, in response to a question from the Arbitrator, that it agrees that the entirety of Sector 10 is relevant for the purposes of this determination.⁵³⁶
- 4.44 Article 22.3 refers to "concessions or other obligations" (emphasis added) with respect to the relevant sector. This indicates, in our view, that the entire range of obligations incurred under the relevant agreement with respect to the sector concerned is relevant in considering whether suspension is practicable or effective in that sector. This would include, as expressly noted in the text, scheduled concessions, as well as, as is also expressly stated in the text, any "other obligations" incurred with respect to the sector at issue.
- 4.45 In this case, this means that the relevant range of obligations that should be considered for the purposes of assessing whether suspension is practicable or effective with respect to the same sector includes not only any specific commitments made by Antigua with respect to Sector 10 (Recreational, Cultural and Sporting Services), but also other obligations under the GATS that apply to this sector, such as the MFN obligation contained in Article II of the GATS.
- (b) Antigua's determination that it is "not practicable or effective" to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector

(...)

- (ii) Assessment by the Arbitrator
- 4.52 As noted above, Antigua considers that it was only required to take into consideration, for the purposes of determining whether suspension is practicable or effective, trade in sectors where it has made a commitment. ⁵³⁷ It notes that the only trade within Sector 10 under the GATS with respect to which it has made commitments in its GATS Schedule is sub-sector 10.A ("Entertainment services"). It states that it has been unable to "locate any statistical sources" on trade in that sub-sector and believes that such

⁵³⁶ Antigua's response to question No. 47 of the Arbitrator.

case, where the arbitrators considered it "obvious" that "suspension of commitments in service sub-sectors or in respect of modes of service supply which a particular complaining party has not bound in its GATS Schedule is not available for application in practice and thus cannot be considered as practicable EC – Bananas III (Ecuador), Decision by the Arbitrators, para. 71". The arbitrator in that case further considered that it was "evident" for it "that Ecuador cannot suspend commitments or other obligations in sub-sectors of the distribution service sector in respect of which it has not entered into specific commitments in the first place EC – Bananas III (Ecuador), Decision by the Arbitrators, para. 103 in fine. However, as we have observed above, the text of Article 22.3 of the DSU refers to "concessions and other obligations" (emphasis added) within the relevant sector, rather than simply "concessions". Therefore, the scope of the relevant obligations is not limited, in our view, to specific commitments bound in Antigua's GATS schedule.

trade is negligible in its overall volume. Antigua further considers that suspension of concessions or other obligations in this sector "would most likely impair the already limited entertainment options available to Antiguan citizens while having virtually no impact on the United States at all" ⁵³⁸.

- 4.53 The United States also appears to have considered, at least initially, that the only trade that was relevant in this determination was that in respect of which Antigua has made a specific commitment, namely sub-sector 10.A.⁵³⁹ The United States did not, however, specifically respond to any of the arguments provided by Antigua in its written submission in respect of the volumes of trade concerned and the potential adverse impact of a suspension under this sub-sector.
- 4.54 As we have explained above, we believe that the range of obligations to be considered for the purposes of a determination of whether suspension is practicable or effective in the same sector is not limited to those sub-sectors in which specific commitments have been made. Nonetheless, we consider first Antigua's determination in respect of sub-sector 10.A ("Entertainment Services"), where it has made such commitments.⁵⁴⁰
- 4.55 Antigua first notes that it has been unable to locate statistical sources in relation to trade in entertainment services and thus concludes that the volume of such trade must be negligible. We note that the United States does not dispute this assertion. Nor has it suggested, in fact, that there exists any amount of imports from the United States falling under sub-sector 10.A, in respect of which Antigua could suspend concessions or other obligations. We also note that the IMF Balance of Payments Statistics country tables submitted by the United States provide a breakdown of Antigua's services imports by category, including a category for "personal, cultural and recreational services" under which no amount is reported for the years 1998 to 2005.
- 4.56 In these circumstances, we consider that Antigua could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective for it to suspend concessions or other obligations under the GATS in respect of sub-sector 10.A, under which it has made a specific commitment.
- 4.57 However, as observed above, we consider that, in addition to market access and national treatment specific commitments, other obligations under the GATS, including general GATS obligations, should also have been taken into account by Antigua in making its determination as to whether suspension was practicable or effective in Sector 10. In this respect, we note that Antigua has only made a very general observation, in response to a question from the arbitrator, that "even if this enquiry were carried out to its farthest extent to where Antigua had no obligations to the United States under the GATS at all", "[t]he trade disparity is so great that United States service providers would suffer little harm at all, if any, while Antiguan consumers would be forced to scramble for replacement services at uncertain cost". Antigua also observes that the United States has not argued that Antigua has a practical and effective remedy in respect of "other obligations" under the GATS. 542

⁵³⁸ Antigua's written submission, para. 51.

⁵³⁹ US written submission, para. 59: "the issue is not whether Antigua has made any commitments in subsector 10.D, but rather whether Antigua has made any commitments in all of sector 10".

⁵⁴⁰ We also note that Antigua's request for authorization to suspend concessions actually referred only to Sector 10.D and appeared to assume that this was the "sector" to be considered. Antigua subsequently acknowledged the relevance of the entirety of Sector 10 (although it then limited its enquiry, within Sector 10, to sub-sector 10.A, where it has made a commitment).

⁵⁴¹ Antigua's response to question No. 48 by the Arbitrator.

⁵⁴² Antigua's response to question No. 49 by the Arbitrator.

- 4.58 In considering this matter, we first note that there is only a limited number of such "other obligations" under the GATS, that Antigua would be able to suspend under the whole of Sector 10, i.e. including sub-sector "10.B, News agency services"; "10.C, Libraries, archives, museums and other cultural services"; "10.D, Sporting and other recreational services"; and "10.E, Other". In our view, the main relevant obligation in this respect is the MFN obligation, contained GATS Article II, which obliges Antigua to accord immediately and unconditionally to US services and service suppliers treatment no less favourable than that it accords to like services and service suppliers of any other country.
- 4.59 We recall our observation above that the IMF Balance of Payments statistics do not reflect any volumes of imports by Antigua in relation to "Personal, Cultural and Recreational Services" between 1998 and 2005. This would tend to suggest that no significant volumes of imports of such services takes place. We also note that the United States has not in fact suggested that any amount of imports takes place with respect to Sector 10 from the United States, that could form the basis for suspension of obligations under the GATS. We also note Antigua's argument that "[t]he trade disparity is so great that United States service providers would suffer little harm at all, if any, while Antiguan consumers would be forced to scramble for replacement services at uncertain cost"⁵⁴³, and the fact that the United States has not given any specific indication that Antigua's assessment in respect of the practicability or effectiveness of suspension of other obligations under Sector 10 is incorrect.
- 4.60 In light of these elements, we find that Antigua could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective for it to suspend concessions or other obligations under the GATS in respect of Sector 10.
- (c) Whether Antigua has taken into account the factors identified in subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3
- 4.61 We must now consider whether Antigua has taken due account, in making its determination, of the factors identified in subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3.
- 4.62 Antigua's arguments to explain that same-sector suspension is not practicable or effective, as examined above, relate to the volume of trade in the relevant sector and to the potential impact of suspending concessions or other obligations in that sector both for Antigua (which it considers would be negative) and for the United States (which it considers would be virtually non-existent).
- 4.63 These elements fall squarely within the range of factors that are pertinent for the purposes of paragraphs (i) and (ii) of subparagraph (d). Specifically, we find that these considerations relate to "the trade in the sector ... under which the panel or the Appellate Body has found a violation" within the meaning of subparagraph (d)(i), as well as to the "broader economic elements" and "broader economic consequences" within the meaning of subparagraph (d)(ii).
- 4.64 We find, therefore, that Antigua has taken into account the relevant elements in subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3, in determining that it was not practicable or effective for it to seek suspension in the GATS sector in which the violation was found in accordance with subparagraph (b) of Article 22.3.

(d) Conclusion

4.65 In light of our determinations in sections (b) and (c) above, we find that Antigua could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations under the GATS in respect of Sector 10, and determine that suspension of concessions or other obligations is not practicable or effective, with respect to the same sector as that in which a violation was

⁵⁴³ Antigua's response to question 48 by the Arbitrator.

found. We also find that the United States has not demonstrated that Antigua had not followed the principles and procedures of Article 22.3(b), in making this determination.

- E. REVIEW OF ANTIGUA'S DETERMINATION IN RESPECT OF "OTHER SECTORS" UNDER THE GATS
- 4.66 As noted above, Antigua sought an authorization to retaliate both under the GATS and the TRIPS Agreement, but then indicated in the course of the proceedings that it considered that it had no effective remedy under the GATS and was now seeking to suspend obligations under the TRIPS Agreement only.
- 4.67 The United States considers that Antigua has not provided an adequate explanation of why it cannot seek to suspend concessions under the GATS, as opposed to under the GATS and the TRIPS Agreement, and that Antigua's trade figures indicate that Antigua would have the option of suspending concessions or other obligations in the services area.
- 4.68 The relevant provision, Article 22.3 (c), provides that:
 - "[I]f [the complaining] party considers that it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to other sectors under the same agreement, and that the circumstances are serious enough, it may seek to suspend concessions or other obligations under another agreement."
- 4.69 Two cumulative conditions therefore have to be met for a complaining party to be able to seek suspension under another agreement:
 - (a) that complaining party considers that it is not practicable or effective for it to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to other sectors within the same agreement; and
 - (b) that party considers that the circumstances are "serious enough".
- 4.70 In addition, subparagraph (d) requires, in the application of the principles of subparagraph (c), that the two factors considered above in the context of paragraph (b) suspension also be taken into account.
- 4.71 We consider these elements in turn.
- 1. Whether suspension of concessions or other obligations is practicable or effective in "other sectors" under the GATS
- 4.72 The first condition under Article 22.3(c) of the DSU for the suspension of concessions to be sought in another agreement than that in which a violation was found, is that the complaining party has determined that it is "not practicable or effective" to suspend concessions or other obligations in other sectors within that agreement.
- 4.73 In determining whether suspension is practicable or effective, the complaining party is also required to take into account the two factors identified in subparagraph (d), namely, in the case of an application of subparagraph (c):
 - (a) the trade under the agreement under which a violation has been found and the importance of such trade to the complaining party (i.e., in this case, trade under the GATS and the importance of such trade to Antigua); and

- (b) the broader economic elements related to the nullification or impairment and the broader economic consequences of the suspension of concessions or other obligations (which as noted above, could include a consideration of the impact of the retaliation both on the party seeking to retaliate and on the party against whom retaliation is being sought).
- 4.74 In approaching this part of our determination, we are guided, *mutatis mutandis*, by the interpretations that we have developed in Section IV.C.1 above in relation to the same principles and procedures, as they relate to "same-sector" suspension in the context of Article 22.3(b).
- 4.75 We must therefore determine whether Antigua has considered the relevant facts objectively and whether, on the basis of these facts, it could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective to seek suspension of concessions or other obligations with respect to other sectors under the GATS.
- 4.76 In this part of our assessment, the relevant sectors to be considered are all principal sectors, within the meaning of MTN.GNS/W/120, other than Sector 10, under the GATS. In respect of such sectors, the relevant "concessions or other obligations" under the GATS include, as determined above in relation to Article 22.3(b), not only any specific commitments made by Antigua with respect to those sectors, but also other obligations under the GATS that apply to this sector, such as the MFN obligation contained in Article II of the GATS. 544
- 4.77 We first address Antigua's general argument that its volume of imports is insufficient to support suspension of obligations under the GATS alone at the level it is entitled to, before turning to the detail of Antigua's consideration of the practicability and feasibility of such suspension.
- (a) Level of suspension and availability of suspension under the GATS
- 4.78 As noted above, Antigua has explained that the "first and most fundamental reason" for which it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations under the GATS is that the volume of its imports from the United States in services is nowhere near sufficient to absorb the level of suspension of concessions that it is entitled to.⁵⁴⁵ The United States, for its part, considers that Antigua's argument is flawed and that once the level is recalculated, it is in line with Antigua's services imports and suspension of services concessions is possible (and, in the US view, required).⁵⁴⁶
- 4.79 As we noted in our preliminary observations, we will take into account, in assessing Antigua's arguments, our own earlier determination that the annual level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua is in the amount of US\$21 million, significantly lower than Antigua's estimation. We will compare this amount to the annual level of Antigua's services imports from the United States in order to determine the extent to which suspension of concessions or other obligations entirely under the GATS is at least conceivable.
- 4.80 Antigua indicates that its total imports of services amount to US\$208.11 million for 2005.⁵⁴⁷ In response to a question by the Arbitrator, the United States observes that the figures presented by Antigua on its services imports appear to be consistent with the IMF Balance of Payment statistics that the United

⁵⁴⁴ See above our determinations in paras. 4.41-4.45.

⁵⁴⁵ Antigua's written submission, para. 48.

⁵⁴⁶ US written submission, para. 61.

⁵⁴⁷ Antigua's written submission, para. 48.

States has itself presented to the Arbitrator as evidence.⁵⁴⁸ These statistics indicate a total value of US\$204.85 for imports of services by Antigua.⁵⁴⁹

- 4.81 Antigua indicates that it has not been able to allocate these services imports among its trading partners, and cites the US CIA's World Factbook in support of the proposition that the United States accounts for 21.1 per cent of Antigua's services imports. The notes and definitions of this Factbook suggest, however, that these figures relate to merchandise imports, rather than services imports. In its request for authorization to suspend obligations, Antigua indicated that "[o]n an annual basis, approximately 48.9 per cent of these imported goods and services come from single source providers located in the United States". The United States does not dispute this figure and refers to it in order to estimate the total value of Antigua's imports of services for the United States. In the absence of any reliable alternative estimation provided by either party, we rely on Antigua's initial statement that the United States share in Antigua's imports of services is "approximately 48.9 percent".
- 4.82 Combining the amount of US\$204.85 million with this percentage, we arrive at a total annual value of services imports from the United States to Antigua of US\$101.77 million. This thus represents the maximum value of services trade in respect of which Antigua could potentially seek to suspend concessions or other obligations. In light of our earlier determination that the annual level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua in this case is in the amount of US\$21 million, this means that it would in principle be possible for Antigua to seek suspension of concessions or other obligations entirely within the GATS.
- 4.83 With this initial determination in mind, we turn to a consideration of whether such suspension is, nonetheless, not practicable or effective within the meaning of Article 22.3(c).
- (b) Practicability and effectiveness of suspension in other sectors
- 4.84 In considering this question, we first recall our determinations in paragraph 4.29 above on the nature of the assessment to be conducted in applying the principles of Article 22.3. Specifically, we recall our determinations that an examination of the "practicability" of an alternative suspension concerns the question whether such an alternative is available for application in practice as well as suited for being used in a particular case. We also recall our determination that in contrast, the thrust of the "effectiveness" criterion empowers the party seeking suspension to ensure that the impact of that suspension is strong and has the desired result, namely to induce compliance by the Member which fails to bring WTO-inconsistent measures into compliance with DSB recommendations and rulings within a reasonable period of time.
- 4.85 We also bear in mind our related determination that a consideration of the practicability and the effectiveness of an alternative suspension within the same sector or under the same agreement does not need to lead to the conclusion that such an alternative suspension is both not practicable and not effective in order to meet the requirements of Article 22.3. This implies that it would be sufficient for Antigua to have determined that suspension under the GATS in respect of other sectors is not effective, even if it is practicable.

⁵⁴⁸ US response to question 51 of the Arbitrator, para. 67.

⁵⁴⁹ See US Exhibit US-2. IMF Balance of Payments country table, Antigua and Barbuda.

 $^{^{550}}$ See US CIA, The World Factbook 2007, at https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/docs/notesanddefs.html $\!\#\!2087.$

⁵⁵¹ Recourse by Antigua to Article 22.6 of the DSU, WT/DS285/22. No source is cited for this assertion.

⁵⁵² See US written submission, para. 60, footnote 39.

- 4.86 Antigua has provided some general arguments relating to the size of its economy and the relative sizes of the economies of the United States and Antigua, as well as some more specific indications why it would not be practicable or effective to suspend concessions in specific services sectors. We consider these in turn.
- 4.87 Antigua has first stressed the fact that, as a small economy with limited natural resources, it is heavily dependant on imports of goods and services, including from the United States, so that the imposition of additional duties on products imported from the United States or on the provision of services from the United States would have "a disproportionate adverse impact on Antigua and Barbuda by making these products and services materially more expensive to the citizens of the country". ⁵⁵³ Antigua also notes that with respect to most services other than "Sector 10.D", covered by Antigua's GATS schedule, suspension of concessions in the form of higher duties, tariff, fees or other restrictions would have a disproportionate impact on the economy of Antigua and virtually no impact of the United States.
- 4.88 As a preliminary matter, we note that Antigua's arguments include references to the potential impact of a suspension in respect of trade in goods. Our assessment is however limited to a consideration of suspension of obligations under the GATS. We therefore make no determination in relation to the potential impact of a possible suspension of obligations in relation to trade in goods.
- 4.89 To the extent that it relates to the suspension of obligations under the GATS, Antigua's concern that, as a small import-dependent economy, it could suffer an adverse impact from such suspension, is in our view pertinent to an assessment of whether suspension is practicable or effective. Specifically, we consider that these circumstances have the potential to affect significantly the effectiveness of the proposed suspension.
- 4.90 We note in this respect the determination of the arbitrators in *EC Bananas III (Ecuador)*, that, in a situation "where a great imbalance in terms of trade volume and economic power exists between the complaining party seeking suspension and the other party which has failed to bring WTO-inconsistent measures into compliance with WTO law" "and in situations where the complaining party is highly dependent on imports from the other party, it may happen that the suspension of certain concessions or certain other obligations entails more harmful effects for the party seeking suspension than for the other party". In the view of that arbitrator, "in these circumstances, a consideration by the complaining party in which sector or under which agreement suspension may be expected to be least harmful to itself would seem sufficient for us to find a consideration by the complaining party of the effectiveness criterion to be consistent with the requirement to follow the principles and procedures set forth in Article 22.3". 555
- 4.91 At the same time, we agree with the United States that general statements relating to the size of the complaining party's economy or the relative size of the economies of both parties do not justify a departure from the requirements of Article 22.3 of the DSU. Rather, the complaining party is required, in all cases, to follow the specific sequence of steps provided in this provision and to make a determination in respect of each of its elements as relevant. In this context, an explanation of how such circumstances affect the practicability or effectiveness of the proposed suspension would in our view be required, in order for these considerations to validly support a determination that it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations in other sectors under the same agreement within the meaning of Article 22.3.

⁵⁵³ Recourse to Article 22.2 by Antigua, WT/DS285/22.

⁵⁵⁴ EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 73.

⁵⁵⁵ EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 73.

- 4.92 In this case, Antigua has not limited itself to general assertions as to the size of its economy, in itself or relative to the US economy. It has also provided arguments to explain how the potential adverse impact of suspension of obligations would manifest itself in various specific sectors under the GATS in respect of which suspension might be considered.
- 4.93 Antigua thus explained that it initially envisaged the suspension of concessions or other obligations in telecommunication services, but that, upon more detailed review of the import and use of telecommunications services in Antigua, it had determined not only that the volume of the trade was low (US\$5.03 million) but that disruptions in changing services and suppliers and increased cost to Antiguan consumers would result in a heavier burden on Antiguan citizens as the result of suspending concessions in this area while having no perceptible impact on the United States.⁵⁵⁶
- 4.94 Antigua has also explained that the arguments it made in respect of Sector 10 ("Entertainment services") also hold true for other sectors of the GATS in which Antigua has made specific commitments in its Schedule. Antigua explains that, of the total value of services imports to Antigua in 2005, the main services imported were transportation (US\$ 70.7 million), travel (US\$ 40.1 million) and insurance services (US\$35.5 million). Antigua argues that if it were to suspend concessions with respect to these services, given the low level of these imports, it is clear that the suspension would have virtually no impact upon the United States, while having to replace these services from other service providers, if reasonably practicable at all, would most likely prove to be more expensive to Antiguan consumers.⁵⁵⁷
- 4.95 The United States considers that WTO statistics indicate that Antigua's "other services imports" (services other than travel and transport) are in fact larger than its "other services exports", and thus are "an obvious candidate" for a request for suspension of concessions.⁵⁵⁸ It is not clear to us why the United States considers that the fact that Antigua's exports of services other than travel and transport are larger than its imports of services in the same category makes such imports "an obvious candidate" for suspension of concessions. To the extent that the United States assumes that, in these circumstances, the provision of the imported services could be replaced with the provision of the same services by local suppliers, this assumption would seem to be unverifiable, in the absence of any specific indication on the composition and distribution of such imports and exports.
- 4.96 The United States further notes that Antigua has even higher levels of services imports for travel and transport services. The United States argues that although Antigua's economy does depend to a substantial extent on tourism, it does not necessarily follow that suspension of concessions in the areas of travel and transport would adversely affect Antigua's tourism industry.⁵⁵⁹ The United States also notes, however, that, in light of the reliance of the Antiguan economy on tourism, it has not contested Antigua's assertion that it would not be practicable or effective for Antigua to suspend concessions in a manner that

⁵⁵⁶ Antigua's written submission, para. 53.

⁵⁵⁷ Antigua's written submission, para. 52.

⁵⁵⁸ US written submission, para. 60.

⁵⁵⁹ US written submission, para. 60.

might discourage US tourists.⁵⁶⁰ Thus, the United States notes, it has not argued, for example, that Antigua should suspend concessions with regard to US travel services.⁵⁶¹

- 4.97 The United States therefore seems to accept that the suspension of concessions or other obligations in respect of tourism services, or of other services that may have an impact on the tourism industry, may be such as to adversely affect Antigua, and that this may render such suspension not practicable or effective within the meaning of Article 22.3(c). We agree that suspension of obligations in respect of such services would have the potential to adversely affect Antigua's economy, while not necessarily having any perceptible impact on inducing compliance by the United States.
- 4.98 We also note that, by their very nature, services transactions are closely woven into a country's domestic economic fabric, with many cross-sectoral linkages. This is typically the case for so-called infrastructural services, such as large segments of the transport, telecommunications and financial services sectors. In our view, it is plausible that suspension of obligations against US firms established in Antigua in such sectors could entail a negative impact for the Antiguan local economy. The risk of economic disruption in case of forced divestiture, or similar measures, is not negligible, in particular for small economies. For instance, it is not clear to what extent Antiguan services suppliers would be able or willing to step in for US services suppliers obliged to suspend their operation or even leave the country. Moreover, legislative and other measures protecting foreign investors may make it difficult in practice to take and enforce action against them.
- 4.99 Overall, in light of all these elements, we consider that Antigua has provided sufficient elements in support of its determination, to satisfy us that it has considered objectively the relevant elements and that it could plausibly, on the basis of these elements, reach the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to "other sectors" under the GATS. By contrast, the United States has not demonstrated to us that Antigua has not met the requirements of Article 22.3(c) of the DSU. In fact, even if it considers Antigua's explanations to be overall insufficient, the United States apparently recognizes the legitimacy of Antigua's concerns, and their relevance to this determination, with respect to at least some sectors. The United States has not, on the other hand, persuaded us that there are services sectors in which Antigua could suspend concessions or other obligations practicably or effectively.
- 4.100 In making this determination, we recognize that the elements provided by Antigua in explaining how it arrived at its determination are somewhat limited. Specifically, we have been provided with only limited information on the exact composition of Antigua's services imports, including the share of US imports in various sectors. However, we are not persuaded that it would be reasonable to expect Antigua to be in a position to produce, in the context of these proceedings, such detailed sector-specific statistics and data relating to its bilateral services trade. In this respect, we find it appropriate to take into account, in reviewing Antigua's determination, that it may not maintain such data on a regular basis, in the same way as some developed countries or larger developing countries may do. Indeed, the United States itself has also not provided us with any more detailed information on the volume and distribution of its services trade with Antigua.

(c) Antigua's consideration of the elements in subparagraph (d)

⁵⁶⁰ See Antigua's oral statement, para. 37: "the United States apparently suggests that we prohibit American entertainers from offering services to consumers in Antigua, that we ban American tourists from visiting our resorts and that we prohibit American vessels and aircraft from bringing goods and holiday-makers to our tiny island. It should not require any deep economic analysis to see the futility of these suggestions". The Arbitrator notes that "ban[ning] American tourists from visiting [Antigua's] resorts" would not constitute a relevant form of retaliation under the GATS for Antigua.

⁵⁶¹ US response to question 69 of the Arbitrator.

- 4.101 We must now consider whether Antigua has taken due account, in making its determination, of the factors identified in subparagraph (d) of Article 22.3.
- 4.102 As determined in paragraph 4.73 above, we consider that the relevant trade to be considered for the purposes of subparagraph (d)(i) is the trade under the relevant agreement, namely, in this case, trade in services (with the exception of trade in respect of Sector 10). Antigua's arguments as discussed in the preceding section sufficiently establish, in our view, that Antigua considered the relevant trade, as well as the importance of such trade to Antigua's economy, in making its determination.
- 4.103 Subparagraph (d)(ii) requires that the "broader economic elements" relating to the Member suffering the nullification or impairment, as well as the "broader economic consequences" of the suspension also be taken into account. As we have determined in paragraph 4.37 above, we consider that the latter element relates to the consequences both on the complaining party and on the party that was found not to be in compliance with its obligations under the covered agreements. As observed in the preceding section, Antigua's consideration of the effectiveness or practicability of suspension of obligations in "other sectors" under the GATS turned importantly on a consideration of the general economic circumstances of Antigua as a small import-dependent economy, in other words, the "broader economic elements" relating to Antigua. Antigua's determination also importantly involved a consideration of the potential adverse impact of such suspension on Antigua's economy, contrasted with the limited impact that such suspension could be expected to have on the United States, in other words, the "broader economic consequences" of such suspension for both parties.
- 4.104 We are therefore satisfied that Antigua has taken into account the relevant factors identified in Article 22.3(d) in its determination of whether suspension of concessions or other obligations with respect to "other sectors" under the GATS is practicable or effective.

(d) Conclusion

4.105 In light of our determinations in sections (b) and (c) above, we find that Antigua could plausibly arrive at the conclusion that it was not practicable or effective for it to suspend concessions or other obligations in respect of other sectors under the GATS, and determine that suspension of concessions or other obligations is not practicable or effective, with respect to other sectors than that in which a violation was found, under the same agreement. We also find that the United States has not demonstrated that Antigua has not followed the principles and procedures of Article 22.3(c), in making this determination.

2. Whether the circumstances are serious enough

- 4.106 Finally, we must review Antigua's determination that the "circumstances are serious enough", so that suspension of obligations can be sought under another agreement, in accordance with Article 22.3(c).
- 4.107 The text of Article 22.3(c) provides no express guidance how this aspect of the determination is to be understood. Like the arbitrators in the EC Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 EC) case, we note that the factors to be taken into account under subparagraph (d) may provide some contextual guidance. We therefore consider that the trade at issue and its importance to the complaining party, as well as the broader economic elements relating to the Member suffering the nullification or impairment and the broader economic consequences of the proposed suspension on the parties may be relevant in the context of a determination that the circumstances are "serious enough".
- 4.108 We also consider, more generally, that this aspect of the determination, which relates to "circumstances", is of necessity an assessment to be made on a case-by-case basis, and that the circumstances that are relevant may vary from case to case. We note however, that these circumstances

should be "serious enough", which suggests that it is only when the circumstances reach a certain degree or level of importance, that they can be considered to be "serious enough" within the meaning of Article 22.3(c).

- 4.109 In order to demonstrate the seriousness of the circumstances in this case, Antigua first presents some basic figures comparing the population, size, GDP, exports and imports of the United States and Antigua, which illustrate a considerable disparity in all of these areas.⁵⁶²
- 4.110 Antigua also highlights that it has extremely limited natural resources and very limited arable land, such that it cannot produce sufficient agricultural products to satisfy domestic needs, let alone for export. Antigua further notes that its economy has become highly dependent on tourism and associated services, including hotels and restaurants, retail trade, construction, real estate and housing and transportation. Antigua also highlights the vulnerability of the tourism sector to external factors (such as weather conditions, security threats or economic downturn in source markets) and the fact that it tends to employ unskilled workers and generate low-paying jobs.
- 4.111 Third, Antigua highlights the need to diversify its economy, and that in order to do this it has tried to develop trade in services, including trade in remote gambling, with the active involvement of the Antiguan Government. Antigua suggests that prior to 1998, the United States Government even supported Antigua in its efforts to develop and supervise the remote gaming industry.⁵⁶⁴
- 4.112 The United States disagrees with Antigua's understanding of the US Government support provided to Antigua in developing trade in remote gambling⁵⁶⁵, but it does not otherwise dispute Antigua's statements in respect of the elements described above.
- 4.113 In our view, it was reasonable for Antigua to determine, in light of the elements it highlights, that the circumstances are "serious enough" within the meaning of Article 22.3(c). Specifically, in our view, the various considerations highlighted by Antigua are such as to exacerbate the difficulties in finding a way to suspend concessions or other obligations in a practicable or effective manner under the GATS.
- 4.114 We note in this respect that the extremely unbalanced nature of the trading relations between the parties makes it all the more difficult for Antigua to find a way of ensuring the effectiveness of a suspension of concessions or other obligations against the United States under the same agreement. We also note that the heavy reliance of Antigua's economy on the very sectors that would be candidates for retaliation under the GATS increases the likelihood that an adverse impact would arise for Antigua itself, including for low-wage workers.
- 4.115 These circumstances can be directly related to the practicability and effectiveness of suspension under the GATS, i.e. the first condition in order for Antigua to seek suspension outside that agreement.
- 4.116 In light of these elements, we find that Antigua could plausibly make a determination that "the circumstances are serious enough", within the meaning of Article 22.3(c).

F. OVERALL CONCLUSION

⁵⁶² Antigua's written submission, para. 55.

⁵⁶³ Antigua's written submission, para. 58.

⁵⁶⁴ Antigua's written submission, para. 64.

⁵⁶⁵ US declaration in response to oral question by the Arbitrator at the meeting with the parties.

- 4.117 In light of our determinations above, we conclude that Antigua has applied the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU consistently with the terms of that provision.
- 4.118 Specifically, we find that Antigua's determination that it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to the same sector as that in which a violation was found is consistent with the requirements of Article 22.3.(b), and that its determination that it is also not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations with respect to other sectors under the same agreement and that the circumstances are serious enough is consistent with the requirements of Article 22.3(c) of the DSU.
- 4.119 Accordingly, we find that Antigua may seek to suspend obligations under the TRIPS Agreement.

V. EQUIVALENCE AND IMPLEMENTATION OF SUSPENSION OF OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE TRIPS AGREEMENT

5.1 The United [S]tates has requested the Arbitrator to require Antigua to specify how it will ensure that any suspension of concessions or other obligations does not exceed the level of nullification and impairment found by the Arbitrator. We now address this matter.

(...)

B. ANALYSIS BY THE ARBRITRATOR

5.6 In its request for authorization to suspend concessions or other obligations, Antigua identified certain obligations under the TRIPS Agreement, that it proposed to suspend. Specifically, Antigua indicated that it intends to take countermeasures in the form of suspension of concessions and obligations under the following sections of Part II of the TRIPS:

Section 1: Copyright and related rights

Section 2: Trademarks

Section 4: Industrial designs

Section 5: Patents

Section 7: Protection of undisclosed information.

- 5.7 As we have determined above, Antigua may seek to suspend obligations under the TRIPS Agreement. In order for such suspension to be equivalent to the level of nullification or impairment of benefits accruing to Antigua, it must not exceed US\$21 million.
- 5.8 It is incumbent on Antigua to ensure that, in applying such suspension, it does not exceed this level. Antigua has declined to provide any explanation on how it proposes to apply such suspension and how it will ensure that the level of the proposed suspension does not exceed the level to be authorized by the DSB. We regret that Antigua did not find it useful to provide such explanations.
- 5.9 We note that our mandate does not allow us, in reviewing the equivalence of the proposed suspension with the level of nullification or impairment, to consider the "nature" of the obligations to be suspended. We understand this to mean that we may not question the complaining party's choice of specific obligations to be suspended (other than in the context of considering a claim that the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 have not been followed) and that we must assess the level of the proposed suspension, rather than its form, against the level of nullification or impairment.

⁵⁶⁶ See Article 22.7 of the DSU ("The arbitrator acting pursuant to paragraph 6 shall not review the nature of the concessions or other obligations to be suspended...").

- 5.10 At the same time, it is important that the form that is chosen in order to enact the suspension is such as to ensure that equivalence can and will be respected in the application of the suspension, once authorized. The form should also be transparent, so as to allow an assessment of whether the level of suspension does not exceed the level of nullification. We also note that the suspension of obligations under the TRIPS Agreement may involve more complex means of implementation than, for example, the imposition of higher import duties on goods, and that the exact assessment of the value of the rights affected by the suspension is also likely to be more complex.⁵⁶⁷
- 5.11 In the light of these considerations, we note the remarks made by the arbitrators in EC Bananas III (Ecuador), on the suspension of TRIPS obligations in that case. We consider these remarks to also be relevant to this case, in that the same considerations will be pertinent to the manner in which Antigua might implement a suspension of its obligations under the TRIPS Agreement.
- 5.12 Like the arbitrators in EC Hormones (US) (Article 22.6 EC)⁵⁶⁹, US 1916 Act (EC) (Article 22.6 US)⁵⁷⁰, and US Byrd Amendment (Article 22.6 EC)⁵⁷¹, we also note that the United States may have recourse to the appropriate dispute settlement procedures in the event that it considers that the level of concessions or other obligations suspended by Antigua exceeds the level of nullification or impairment we have determined for purposes of the award.
- 5.13 Finally, we note that Article 22.8 of the DSU provides that:

"The suspension of concessions or other obligations shall be temporary and shall only be applied until such time as the measure found to be inconsistent with a covered agreement has been removed, or the Member that must implement recommendations or ruling provides a solution to the nullification or impairment of benefits, or a mutually satisfactory solution is reached. ..."

VI. AWARD

6.1 For the reasons set out above, the Arbitrator determines that the annual level of nullification or impairment of benefits [accruing] to Antigua in this case is US\$21 million and that Antigua has followed the principles and procedures of Article 22.3 of the DSU in determining that it is not practicable or effective to suspend concessions or other obligations under the GATS and that the circumstances were serious enough. Accordingly, the Arbitrator determines that Antigua may request authorization from the DSB, to suspend the obligations under the TRIPS Agreement mentioned in paragraph 5.6 above, at a level not exceeding US\$21 million annually.

 $^{^{567}}$ This is illustrated well by the explanations provided by Ecuador in the EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC) case as to how it proposed to implement the proposed suspension of TRIPS obligations, including through the setting up of specific government-run schemes.

⁵⁶⁸ EC – Bananas III (Ecuador) (Article 22.6 – EC), section V (paras. 139 to 165).

⁵⁶⁹ EC – Hormones (US) (Article 22.6 – EC), para. 82.

⁵⁷⁰ US – 1916 Act (EC) (Article 22.6 – US), para.9.2.

⁵⁷¹ *US - Byrd Amendment (Article 22.6 – EC)*, para. 4.27.

2-7. MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF CONCESSIONS – ARTICLE XXI GATS

2-7-A. Procedures for the implementation of Article XXI of the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) (Modification of Schedules)

Adopted by the Council for Trade in Services on 19 July 1999

Notification of Modification or Withdrawal

- 1. A Member intending to modify or withdraw a scheduled commitment in accordance with Article XXI (the "modifying Member") shall transmit a notification to that effect, no later than three months before the intended date of implementation of such modification or withdrawal, to the Secretariat which will distribute the notification to all other Members in a secret document. The intention by a Member to modify or withdraw scheduled commitments shall be included in the agenda of the next meeting of the Council for Trade in Services.
- 2. The notification shall include a list of the commitments which it is intended to modify or withdraw. For each such commitment the notification shall indicate whether the intention is to modify or to withdraw it, in whole or in part; the proposed date for implementing such modification or withdrawal; and the exact nature of any proposed modification.

Negotiations on Compensation

- 3. Any Member which considers that its interests under the Agreement may be affected by the proposed modification or withdrawal ("affected Member") shall communicate its claim in writing to the modifying Member and at the same time notify it to all other Members through the Secretariat. Such claims of interest must be made no later than 45 days after the date of circulation by the Secretariat of the notification referred to in paragraph 1 above. If by that date no Member has submitted a claim that it is an affected Member, the modifying Member shall be free to implement the proposed modification or withdrawal, after completing the certification procedure under paragraphs 20 to 22 and shall submit a notification of the date of such implementation to the Secretariat, for circulation to the Members of the WTO.
- 4. The modifying Member and any affected Member which has identified itself under paragraph 3 above shall negotiate with a view to reaching agreement within three months following the last date on which such a claim of interest may be made. This period of negotiation may be extended by mutual agreement and the terms of such an agreement, including the period of extension, shall be notified to all other Members through the Secretariat.
- 5. Upon completion of each negotiation conducted under paragraph 2(a) of Article XXI, the modifying Member shall send to the Secretariat a joint letter signed by the Members concerned, together with a report concerning the results of the negotiations which shall be initialled by the Members concerned. The Secretariat will distribute the letter and the report to all Members in a secret document.
- 6. A modifying Member which has reached agreement with all Members that had identified themselves under paragraph 3 above shall, no later than fifteen days after the conclusion of the negotiations, send to the Secretariat a final report on negotiations under Article XXI, which will be distributed to all Members in a secret document. After completing the certification procedure under paragraphs 20 to 22, such a modifying Member will be free to implement the changes agreed upon in the negotiations and specified in the report, and it shall notify the date of implementation to the Secretariat, for circulation to the Members of the WTO. Such changes shall not exceed the modification or

withdrawal initially notified and shall include any compensatory adjustment agreed upon in the negotiations.

<u>Arbitration</u>

- 7. If the modifying Member and a Member that had identified itself under paragraph 3 above do not reach agreement by the end of the period of negotiations referred to in paragraph 4, such an affected Member may request arbitration. Such a request shall be made in writing to the modifying Member and the Secretariat no later than 45 days after the end of that period.
- 8. If no Member that had identified itself under paragraph 3 above submits a timely arbitration request under paragraph 7, the modifying Member shall be free to implement the proposed modification or withdrawal, after completing the certification procedure under paragraphs 20 to 22. In cases where agreement has been reached with some but not all affected Members and no request for arbitration has been made, the modifying Member shall be free to implement in accordance with the procedures of paragraph 6 above, after completing the certification procedure under paragraphs 20 to 22, the proposed modification or withdrawal with the compensatory adjustments agreed upon in the negotiations, but not exceeding the proposed modification or withdrawal initially notified. The modifying Member shall notify the date of implementation to the Secretariat, for circulation to the Members of the WTO.
- 9. If an affected Member submits a timely arbitration request under paragraph 7, the modifying Member shall not implement any modification or withdrawal until it has received the arbitration body's findings and is in conformity with those findings.
- 10. The appointment of the arbitration body shall be subject to mutual agreement of the parties concerned. If the parties to the arbitration cannot agree on the arbitration body within twenty days from the date of request for the arbitration, the arbitration body shall be appointed at the request of any party by the Director-General of the WTO, after consulting the parties, within ten days thereafter. The arbitration body shall consist of three arbitrators, unless the parties agree to a different uneven number. The arbitration body shall be chosen from among persons with relevant legal, economic, financial or technical expertise, including expertise in the agreement, with respect to the matter referred to the arbitration body. Except as the parties otherwise agree, the arbitration body shall not consist of citizens of any of the parties to the arbitration. Where a party to an arbitration is a developing country Member, the arbitration body shall, if the developing country Member so requests, include at least one arbitrator from a developing country Member.
- 11. The "Rules of conduct for the understanding on rules and procedures governing the settlement of disputes" shall apply. The arbitration body may seek information from any relevant source and may consult experts to obtain their opinion on certain aspects of the matter. The arbitration body shall inform the parties to the arbitration of any consultations with experts. There shall be no *ex parte* communications with the arbitration body concerning matters under consideration by the arbitration body.
- 12. Any affected Member that wishes to enforce a right that it may have to compensation must participate in the arbitration. However, if an affected Member having reached an agreement with the modifying Member under paragraph 4 above were to decide not to participate in the arbitration, it shall nonetheless be deemed to have participated in the arbitration with respect to the modification or withdrawal in question.
- 13. The arbitration body shall have the following terms of reference unless the parties to the arbitration agree otherwise within ten days from the request for arbitration:

"To examine the compensatory adjustments offered by (name of modifying Member) or requested by (affected Member requesting the arbitration) and to find a resulting balance of rights and obligations which maintains a general level of mutually advantageous commitments not less favourable to trade than that provided for in Schedules of specific commitments prior to the negotiations. In such examination, the Arbitration body shall take into account any agreement reached, in negotiations under paragraph 4. above, between the modifying Member and any affected Member".

- 14. The arbitration body's findings shall be communicated to the parties to the arbitration through the Secretariat within three months of the appointment of the arbitration body.
- 15. When an arbitration has been conducted in accordance with paragraphs 7 through 14 above, the modifying Member shall be free to implement a modification or withdrawal which is in conformity with the findings of the arbitration body after completing the certification procedure under paragraphs 20 to 22, and shall notify the date of implementation to the Secretariat for circulation to the Members of the WTO together with the findings of the arbitration.
- 16. If the modifying Member implements its proposed modification or withdrawal and does not comply with the findings of the arbitration, any affected Member that participated in the arbitration may modify or withdraw substantially equivalent benefits in conformity with those findings. Notwithstanding Article II, such a modification or withdrawal may be implemented solely with respect to the modifying Member.
- 17. The affected Member shall notify the Council for Trade in Services of the measures it intends to take in accordance with paragraph 16, one month before exercising its right to take these measures.
- 18. Modifications or withdrawals implemented in accordance with paragraph 16 shall be terminated if the modifying Member complies with the findings of the arbitration body under paragraph 14.
- 19. The modifying Member may withdraw at any time its notification under Article XXI:1 of the Agreement and paragraph 1 above, by notice to the Secretariat. Upon receipt of such a withdrawal, Article XXI and these procedures shall cease to apply and the modifying Member shall be obligated to maintain the commitment in question in conformity with its Schedule and Part III of the Agreement.

Formal aspects of the procedures for modification of schedules of commitments

- 20. Modifications in the authentic texts of Schedules annexed to the GATS which result from action under Article XXI, shall take effect by means of Certification. The draft schedule clearly indicating the details of the modifications shall be communicated to the Secretariat for circulation to all Members. The modifications shall enter into force upon the conclusion of a period of 45 days from the date of their circulation or on a later date to be specified by the modifying Member, provided no objection has been raised by a Member on the ground that the draft schedule does not correctly reflect the results of the action under Article XXI and/or that the modification or withdrawal contained in the draft schedule exceed those initially notified. A Member making an objection should to the extent possible identify the specific elements of the modifications which gave rise to that objection. At the end of the 45-day period, if no objection has been raised, the Secretariat shall issue a communication to all Members to the effect that the Certification procedure has been concluded, indicating the date of entry into force of the modifications.
- 21. Any Member wishing to object shall submit a notification to that effect to the Secretariat for circulation to all Members and shall enter into consultations with the modifying Member with a view to reaching a satisfactory resolution of the matter as soon as possible. When an objection has been notified,

the Certification procedure shall be deemed concluded upon the withdrawal of the objection by the objecting Member or the expiry of the period in which objections may be made, whichever comes later. Such a withdrawal shall be communicated to the Secretariat. When more than one objection has been raised, the Certification will be deemed concluded upon the withdrawal of the objections by all objecting Members. The Secretariat shall issue a communication informing all Members of the withdrawal of the objection(s) and the conclusion of the Certification procedure, indicating the date of entry into force of the modifications.

22. If the consultations referred to in paragraph 21 result in any changes to the draft schedule submitted for Certification, the modifying Member shall promptly submit them to the Secretariat for circulation to all Members. This modification shall enter into force provided no objection has been raised by a Member within 15 days from the date of its circulation or on later date to be specified by the modifying Member, on the grounds referred to in paragraph 20. A Member making an objection should to the extent possible identify the specific elements of the modification which gave rise to that objection. If no objection is raised by the end of the 15-day period, the Secretariat shall issue a communication to all Members to the effect that the Certification procedure has been concluded, indicating the date of entry into force of the modifications. If an objection has been raised, the procedure described in paragraph 21 shall apply.

General Provisions

- 23. In the application of these procedures Members shall take full account of the special situations of individual developing countries, in particular the least developed countries.
- 24. Following the lapse of three years from entry into force of these Procedures, the Council for Trade in Services shall, at the request of any Member, review the operation of these Procedures. In such a review, the Council for Trade in Services may agree to amend any of the provisions of the Procedures, including those relating to arbitration.

2-7-B. Modification of gambling concessions by the United States

Meeting of the Dispute Settlement Body on May 22, 2007

Minutes of the Meeting, WT/DSB/M/232

(...)

- 4. United States Measures affecting the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services: Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by Antigua and Barbuda
- (a) Report of the Panel (WT/DS285/RW)
- 41. The <u>Chairman</u> recalled that at its meeting on 19 July 2006, the DSB had decided, in accordance with Article 21.5 of the DSU, to refer to the original Panel the matter raised by Antigua and Barbuda concerning the implementation by the United States of the recommendations and rulings of the DSB pertaining to this dispute. The Report of the Panel contained in document WT/DS285/RW had been circulated on 30 March 2007 as an unrestricted document. The Panel Report was now before the DSB for adoption at the request of Antigua and Barbuda. This adoption procedure was without prejudice to the right of Members to express their views on the Panel Report.

(...)

- 46. As pleased as [the representative of Antigua and Barbuda] was by this Panel Report, it was deeply saddened by the announcement by the United States on 4 May 2007 that it intended to withdraw its commitment for gambling and betting services under Article XXI of the GATS. This astounding and unprecedented action not only ran contrary to the object and purpose of the GATS, the DSU and the other WTO Agreements, but also boded very poorly for the future of dispute resolution by small, developing countries at the WTO. In the first place, it was not a little ironic that in the face of the concept of liberalization written into the GATS and the objectives of the Doha Round, the United States would be taking action at this time directly contrary to those objectives. It was difficult to see how the United States could on the one hand encourage and perhaps insist that other Members expand their commitments in services while simultaneously erecting a new barrier to trade in services from other Members. This was particularly so when one considered that the US component of the remote gambling industry was estimated to be in excess of US\$10 billion annually.
- 47. His delegation also did not believe that this type of action was a suitable tactic in dispute resolution. There was something clearly wrong with the concept that after a long, difficult struggle covering years of dispute resolution at the WTO, an offending Member could ultimately avoid the consequences of its loss by withdrawing the commitment that had given rise to the claim in the first place. And, his delegation intended to actively resist this effort by the United States. As far as Antigua and Barbuda was concerned, this dispute had been resolved and the United States remained obligated to comply. If the United States wanted to try to shut out potential future liability to other Members, it was welcome to try. But this dispute was settled and Antigua and Barbuda was entitled to and would be expecting market access.
- 48. His delegation noted that in its public statements regarding the proposed withdrawal, the United States was apparently trying to limit the potential impact of its action, by stressing it was "clarifying" its schedule, rectifying a "mistake" that no other Members could have "reasonably expected" to result in a commitment to the cross-border provision of gambling and betting services due to "strong domestic laws against" gambling services. Of course, this assertion was untenable, particularly to the 100 or more of

fellow Members who had been able to exclude gambling from their respective schedules under the GATS. All also understood that WTO Members were entitled to rely on the commitments made in the schedules of other Members without having to evaluate those commitments in light of domestic law. Even if it were, however, a cursory look at United States law and its domestic market would support exactly the contrary conclusion with respect to the voracious US appetite for and interest in remote gambling. The United States was the world's largest consumer and exporter of gambling services. Also, as the Article 21.5 panel in this case recognized, the United States had a large, sanctioned domestic industry. While the withdrawal of a commitment might be at least understandable if the United States had possessed a strongly anti-gambling culture, this was certainly not the case here. The unavoidable conclusion was that the United States sought with this action to erect a trade barrier to foreign competition in order to protect and enhance its own, flourishing domestic industry.

- 49. His delegation noted as well that if the United States believed it had made the commitment in error, it would have made sense to inform Antigua and Barbuda and other WTO Members much earlier than at the end of this hard-fought dispute. Back in 1997, senior US Administration officials had met with then Director of Offshore Gaming to discuss suggestions as to how to improve our regulatory scheme and offer assistance in Antigua government's efforts to supervise the industry. If a "mistake" had been made, why not tell us then? He believed that all knew the answer to that question. What was particularly disturbing was that the United States was proposing this unprecedented step without having made any attempt whatsoever to compromise this dispute or to enter into any kind of settlement with Antigua and Barbuda. In fact, despite repeated pleas to the United States to do so, it had never engaged with Antigua and Barbuda in any discussions with a view to settlement or compromise. The only solution Antigua and Barbuda had ever been offered by the United States was for Antigua and Barbuda to abandon its claim and go away.
- 50. In a system that was replete with sincere references to good faith, fair dealing and cooperative resolution of disagreements, it was this failure to engage with Antigua and Barbuda at all that was most troubling. His delegation was unable to understand why there was no effort to find some middle ground. It was and remained ready to find a fair and reasonable solution. But it needed the other side to show up to do so. Antigua and Barbuda had been told simply that the United States "cannot change its laws" and "cannot stop enforcing its laws". One might be excused for expecting the United States to do just that. Indeed, was that not what was required in many if not most circumstances when a Member was asked to bring its measures into compliance with recommendations and rulings of the DSB?
- This action, particularly in light of the very difficult, expensive and time-consuming process that WTO dispute resolution required, during all of which the United States had been aggressively seeking to destroy his country's industry through prosecution, threat of prosecution and interference with financial instruments and other normal means of commerce, reinforced Antigua's grave concern over whether WTO dispute resolution was actually a viable alternative for small countries. As the United States had apparently decided it would not comply with the DSB's rulings in this case, his country was left in a position of assessing what real recourse was left. Encouraged in large part by the United States itself back in the mid-1990s, his government had invested heavily in the development of this industry over more than a decade. A very sizable portion of its slender resources had been used to develop, regulate, supervise and legitimize this industry. Such an investment did not come lightly, nor was it easily replaced or replicated.
- 52. Antigua and Barbuda did not think that this assault on the system could be abided. Allowing this tactic to succeed and not only prevent this small country from reaping the benefits it was led to expect from WTO dispute resolution, but also enabling the United States to erect a high and firm barrier to international competition was in no one's best interest. His country was resolved to continue the process as far and for as long as it could be pursued. It intended to put this system to the full and final test. At the same time, his delegation asked other WTO Members to let their views on this be known. For starters, it

strongly encouraged all member States to submit a claim for compensatory adjustment from the United States as a result of the proposed withdrawal of the commitment. Article XXI of the GATS allowed any Member who might be affected by the withdrawal to submit a claim for compensation. As every claim was generally prospective, it should not matter whether a Member had a current industry to sustain a claim. Not only did his country think that Members should press claims for compensatory adjustments as a matter of economic self-interest, but it also believed it important that the process was made as difficult as possible for the United States. His country in fact sincerely hoped that the United States would realize that a withdrawal of the commitment was in no one's long term interest and reversed this ill-advised course of action. His country would also encourage other Members who were opposed to this action to express themselves to the United States delegation and publicly. While this case might involve services that some Members might not choose to offer or consume, at the end of the day the commodity was irrelevant. What was relevant were the systemic issues raised by this dispute. To a large extent his country had been fighting these issues alone over the past few years. His country would hope that others might add their voices to the chorus if the WTO was to reach its potential as a truly fair and balanced international trading system. He than thanked the Chairman and the DSB Members for their attention to this matter of most urgent concern to his country. His country again recommended the adoption of the Panel Report and looked forward to support and encouragement as his country pressed on.

- 53. The representative of the <u>United States</u> said that his delegation wished to begin by thanking the members of the compliance Panel and the Secretariat for their hard work throughout the course of this dispute. The United States also wished to note that it was pleased that the Panel had recognized that, depending on the nature of the DSB's recommendations and rulings, there may be circumstances in which compliance could be achieved without changing the text of a measure at issue, for example where the factual or legal context for that measure had changed. This dispute involved the regulation of cross-border gambling. In the United States, as well as in many other countries, gambling was viewed as an issue of public morals and public order that included the protection of children and other vulnerable groups. As a result, gambling was highly regulated. The threshold issue in this dispute was whether the United States had any obligation under the GATS with respect to cross-border gambling. In particular, the United States schedule did not even include the word "gambling", and the United States believed that its schedule was sufficiently clear in not covering gambling services. The United States had never intended such a commitment.
- 54. Indeed, in the course of the dispute, the United States had emphasized that its interpretation of its own schedule was supported, among other things, by the circumstances surrounding the negotiations. In particular, the United States had explained that under federal criminal laws, the international transmission of wagers by means of wire transmission had been unlawful since at least the early 1960s. Accordingly, the United States had explained that no one involved in the Uruguay Round negotiations in the mid-1990s could possibly have thought that the United States would make a market access commitment on cross-border gambling. No Member had suggested otherwise during the Round, nor had any Member raised the possibility that the United States would include a gambling commitment in its schedule. Likewise, most other major WTO economies had not included cross-border gambling in their schedule of services commitments. In sum, cross-border gambling services had not been an issue of negotiation during the Uruguay Round.
- 55. The first time that any WTO Member had ever raised the possibility that the US GATS schedule covered cross-border gambling was when Antigua and Barbuda had initiated this dispute in 2003 ten years after the US schedule had been drafted. The original Panel had found that the US schedule had not been drafted with sufficient clarity to ensure that gambling services had been excluded from the broad category of "recreational services". The United States would emphasize, however, that the Panel had also explicitly acknowledged that the US coverage of gambling services appeared to be unintentional. The United States reiterated, because it was an important point, that the Panel had appreciated that the United States did not intend to cover gambling services in its schedule of services commitments.

- 56. The Appellate Body had upheld the Panel's construction of the US schedule, but on different grounds. Finding that the US schedule was ambiguous on its face, the Appellate Body had looked to a UN system of services classification for an interpretation of the coverage of "recreational services". It was important to note that although many Members had used that system as the basis for constructing their GATS schedules, the United States had not. Despite the unexpected findings that the United States GATS schedule had extended to cross-border gambling, the United States believed that it had other valid defences to the claims raised by Antigua. And in fact, the Appellate Body had agreed with the United States that the US federal statutes at issue in the dispute were "measures ... necessary to protect public morals or to maintain public order" within the meaning of Article XIV(a) of the GATS. However, the Appellate Body had also found that on one narrow issue, the United States could not meet the requirements of the GATS Article XIV chapeau. In particular, the Appellate Body had found that the United States had not shown that US legal prohibitions applied equally to foreign and domestic suppliers of remote betting services for horse racing. Unfortunately, the United States had not been able to persuade the Article 21.5 Panel that - as the US Department of Justice had long maintained - US gambling laws governing horse racing applied equally to foreign and domestic suppliers. Given that this was largely a factual issue, the United States had decided not to appeal the Panel's findings, and instead to accept the result.
- 57. The United States was thus left with a finding of GATS-inconsistency with respect to an area of services regulation that it had never intended to be included in its GATS schedule, and that was viewed in the United States as an issue of public morality and public order, involving the protection of children and other vulnerable groups, as opposed to an issue of international trade. Accordingly, the United States had decided to invoke the established multilateral procedures addressed to situations in which a Member believed it must modify its GATS schedule of services concessions. In particular, on 4 May 2007, the United States had initiated the procedure provided for under Article XXI of the GATS. In this way, the United States intended to bring its GATS obligations into conformity with a long-standing and well-recognized public policy. As provided under those procedures, this matter would be discussed at the next meeting of the Council for Trade in Services.
- 58. In sum, the United States accepted the results of the dispute settlement process, which included a finding that the United States had not shown that its gambling laws were consistent with WTO rules. In order to bring the United States into compliance and to resolve this dispute permanently, the United States had decided to invoke the procedures provided for under the GATS to modify the schedule of US commitments. This modification would ensure that the US GATS schedule reflected the original US intent of excluding gambling from the scope of US commitments.
- 59. The representative of the <u>European Communities</u> said that the GATS allowed WTO Members to regulate or ban internet gambling services for reasons of public policy, including morality and consumer protection. However, this had to be done in a non-discriminatory fashion. This was what the United States had refused to do, as established by the Appellate Body and now confirmed by the compliance Panel to be adopted at the present meeting. The EC regretted this. The EC had hoped for a non-discriminatory solution, with the same rules applying to US and foreign companies. The United States had now notified its intention to modify its commitment on "Other Recreational Services" in its GATS Schedule of Specific Commitments, by removing gambling and betting services from the sub-sectoral coverage. This showed that the United States was not willing to bring the relevant legislation into line with the US current GATS commitments which it, therefore, needed to modify. Article XXI of the GATS was the right procedure in this context. The EC wished to thank the Panel for the useful guidance that it had provided with regard to what was a "measure taken to comply" with the relevant recommendations and rulings. This should help all Members ensure prompt and adequate compliance with the rulings of the DSB with regard to any measures that had been subject to dispute settlement.